

# Debates in Post-Development and Degrowth: Volume 1

Edited by Alexander Dunlap, Lisa Hammelbo Søyland, & Shayan Shokrgozar



Editors: Alexander Dunlap, Lisa Hammelbo Søyland, and Shayan Shokrgozar

Volume: 1

Year of Publication: August, 2021 Sponsors: Velferdstinget Copy editing: Cristiana Voinov

Designers: Ida Moen and Lisa Hammelbo Søyland

Design Printer: Merkur Grafisk

Circulation: 190

Cover photo: "Mina De Chuquicamata, Calama, Chile" (2016), photograph by Diego Delso (HTTP://DELSO.PHOTO), LICENSE

CC-BY-SA.

Photo 1: "The Only Sustainable Growth is Degrowth" (2014), photograph by Paul Sableman, LICENSE CC-BY-2.0.

Photo 2: "Power line NP background of the sunset, a lot of supports for wires" (2021), photograph by Andrey Metelev, LICENSE Unsplash.

Photo 3: "Kid's attraction park in abandoned town Pripyat near Chornobyl Nuclear Power Plant" (2020), photograph by Dasha Urvachova, LICENSE Unsplash.

Photo 4: "Light on" (2019), photograph by Elia Mazzaro, LICENSE Unsplash.

ISSN number (online): ISSN 1893-5834 ISSN number (print): ISSN 1893-5605

We would like to extend our sincere gratitude and thanks to our contributors as well as to our sponsor: Kulturstyret

Address: Tvergastein, c/oSUM, Postboks 1116 Blindern 0317 OSLO

E-mail: tvergastein.journal@gmail.com

Web: www.tvergastein.com

Facebook: https://www.facebook.com/tvergastein



## **TABLE OF CONTENTS**

Editorial Introduction: Situating Debates in Post-Development and Degrowth Alexander Dunlap, Lisa Hammelbo Søyland, and Shayan Shokrgozar	7				
Fear and Other Options: Three Responses to the Ecological Abyss Sarah K. B. Schubert	33				
ENERGY, POLITICS AND STRUGGLE IN NORWAY					
A Hard Sell: Thoughts on Degrowth's Apparent Lack of Appeal to Normal People Lars Henning Wøhncke	58				
Framing, Funding and Justifying Energy for Development Vilde Norenes Hilleren					
The Case for Degrowth Energy Technologies Shayan Shokrgozar	94				
CRITICAL ENGAGEMENTS WITH DEGROWTH					
"The Population Question" in Degrowth and Post-Development Lisa Hammelbo Søyland	112				
Democratizing Degrowth: Putting Transformation of the Democratic System at the Heart of the Project Sanne van den Boom					
Degrowth and Eco-Marxism: Against the narcissism of small differences Peder Ressem Østring	150				
LIFE IN RESISTANCE					
Agroecology as resistance within degrowth and post-development Joanna Svärd	170				
Can Degrowth Struggle? The Lines of Affinity Between Degrowth and Rote Zora Jenna Stepanic					
Knowledge, Energy, Life: Possibilities for Conservation in Post-Development Alejandro Ruelas	210				

## EDITORIAL INTRODUCTION: SITUATING DEBATES IN POST-DEVELOPMENT & DEGROWTH

ALEXANDER DUNLAP, LISA HAMMELBO SØYLAND,
AND SHAYAN SHOKRGOZAR

This journal, Debates in Post-Development & Degrowth: Volume 1, published in collaboration with Tvergastein, emerges from the conversations, thinking, and course papers of the Spring 2021 course Debates in Post-Development & Degrowth at the Centre for Development and the Environment (SUM), University of Oslo, Norway. The University of Oslo (UiO) and, particularly, SUM – as we will discuss below – continues to sit at an important juncture between rejecting and embracing the ideology of "sustainable development" and "green growth." This journal seeks to discuss this history, struggle, and (lack of) debate. The enthusiasm of students, eager participation, and their critical engagement with the course material inspired the making of this journal, which provided students with a publication outlet to air their thoughts, concerns, provocations – and, overall, join this rapidly evolving conversation. Here, we offer exciting new papers and engagements that have undergone editorial and literal peer review by staff and students. The journal's intention is to not only widen engagements in the post-development conversation, but also expand the political thought and practice at SUM, which includes academic debates concerning the problems of development, resistance, so-called "energy transition" and, most of all, the propagation of the green growth myth.

#### Why Post-Development and Degrowth?

Unfamiliar readers might wonder: Why post-development and degrowth? The answer is simple. They are two interdisciplinary and mutually reinforcing academic schools of thought critically assessing, and even refusing, the stubborn narratives and practices of development and economic growth: the existential motivation and propulsive force of capitalist accumulation. This has resulted in welcoming the "Necrocene" – as opposed to the narcissism of the

Anthropocene (Bonneuil & Fressoz 2016) – that recognizes the "age of die-off, of mass extinction of life on earth" that future fossil records will reveal (Clark 2020, 10). Currently, 40% of the planet's soils are severely degraded: earthworm biomass has dropped 83%; 85% of global fish stocks are depleted; "marine animals are disappearing at twice the rate of land animals"; 1 million species are at risk of extinction within decades; extreme storms have doubled since the 1980s; there have been multiple pollinator and insect die-offs; there has been an increase in forest fires, and the list goes on (see Hickel 2020b, 6-16; Wallace-Wells 2019). There is no shortage of new and even more alarming statistics, as increasing heatwaves break records, forests burn, and "more than 1 billion marine animals" die off in western Canada and United States (Bekiempis 2021). Meanwhile, Germany, Belgium, and the Netherlands experience extreme flooding with "at least 58 dead" (Oltermann 2021). The socio-ecological disasters are no longer restricted to Island States and the Global South: Earth has already entered the era of the Necrocene. This state of the world stresses the importance of expanding not only the conversation around post-development and degrowth but taking actions from these conversations to create concrete institutional transformations (away from "green growth") and to spread a diversity of direct action everywhere against this death-driven political trajectory.

While mutually reinforcing in attempts to stop the spread of capitalist relationships, accumulation patterns, and socio-ecologically destructive development projects, post-development and degrowth have different origins and emphasis. The school of post-development emerged from the early observations of the deleterious – and geopolitically motivated – effects of imposing capitalist development in Latin America. The original contention, as Ivan Illich (1970) expressed it, was that the model of development spread across the world by the US and Europe was intensifying pre-existing material inequalities, ecological damage, and psychosocial poverty, thereby continuing the process of European colonial conquest and destruction. In short, development as planned poverty, continuing existing colonial forms of organization and development. The new international development standards reinforced and spread new standards – similar to imposed colonial standards – mandating capitalist markets, labor

regimes, resource extraction, Western schooling (Berman 1983; Daggett 2019) and national planning. The "benevolent production of underdevelopment," explained Illich (1970, 162), "allows 'rich nations' to 'impose a strait jacket of traffic jams, hospital confinements, and classrooms on the poor nations, and by international agreement call this 'development.'" The post-development school was inspired by Illich – but more so the collective efforts of people at the Intercultural Documentation Center in Cuernavaca, Mexico, notably Paulo Freire, André Gorz, Susan Sontag, Erich Fromm, among others (Hartch 2015). Post-development challenges the colonial pattern of facilitating and imposing development predicated on hierarchical forms of organization (e.g. bureaucracy, administrative decentralization), which take place through the imposition of particular Western-centric knowledge regimes (e.g. the engineer, see Daggett 2019; Davies 2021), regulated sexualities, and racialized and gendered divisions of labor that enforce ecologically destructive relationships and high-energy consumption patterns (see Kothari et al. 2019). Guided by political and Insurgent Indigenous movements in South and Central America, post-development questions the dominant technological, capitalist, and consumerist form of development, and corresponding methods of subjugation and authoritarian politics. Post-development, moreover, contends that there are ecologically, socially, and culturally appropriate alternatives to development that work with and strengthen ecosystems and peoples – and that do not require political subjugation and ecological destruction.

More recently – taking hold in the early 2000s – and with similar intellectual roots to post-development, is degrowth. Inspired by Ivan Illich, Jaque Ellul, Nicholas Georgescu-Roege, and André Gorz (Demaria et al. 2019), degrowth contends that in order to avert socio-ecological catastrophe, a planned reduction of energy and resource throughput must be organized until the economy is back in "balance with the living world in a way that reduces inequality and improves human well-being" (Hickel 2020a, 2). The expansive tendencies of capitalism – to take more than it gives – that consume labor, hydrocarbon, mineral, timber, and kinetic energy resources is placed front and center in their analysis. A key strength of degrowth is that its focus on material throughput entails a critical stance to

extractivisms, industrialisms and productivisms of different kinds – whether capitalist or not. Unlike others operating under the umbrella of post-development, degrowth is highly influenced by ecological economics and has a "stronger tie to the project of rethinking the economy" and "can be said to remain more anthropocentric" than post-development, explains Arturo Escobar (2015, 6). While these gaps are in process of being filled (Hickel 2020b), degrowth is revealing the flaws of "sustainable development," ecological modernism, and "green growth." This includes empirically demonstrating that technological and efficiency improvements will not allow capitalist economics to "decouple" Gross National Product (GDP) from ecological impacts so the global economy can grow forever. "[T]here [is] no empirical evidence supporting the existence of a decoupling of economic growth from environmental pressures on anywhere near the scale needed to deal with environmental breakdown," concludes The European Environmental Bureau (Parrique et al. 2019, 3). The summary findings also maintain, "perhaps more importantly, such decoupling appears unlikely to happen in the future" (Parrique et al. 2019, 3). Degrowth scholars have been at the forefront of debunking the myths of "green growth," (Hickel 2020b; Kallis et al. 2020) but also offering viable policy solutions to avoid ecological and climate catastrophe. This editorial introduction proceeds by locating SUM in post-development and degrowth struggles. This entails briefly examining the struggle between sustainable development – later to morph into "green growth" - and deep ecology, as this struggle underlined the formation of SUM. Thereafter, the introduction argues that the post-development school, of which degrowth is a part, both share commonalities and offer corrections to the deep ecology movement prevalent in Norway in the 1970s-1990s. Arne Næss, a prominent philosopher and a key figure at SUM, first articulated the ideals/principles and platform of deep ecology, which would inspire Norwegian and other Western environmental movements across the world. We demonstrate the great similarities between post-development, degrowth, and (some strains of) deep ecology, but also the shortcomings of the latter. Interestingly, similar shortcomings persist with degrowth, though this is changing as we write. Finally, we introduce the contributors to this volume before returning to SUM and ponder the role of insights from post-development and degrowth in further discussions.

### SITUATING SUM: DEEP ECOLOGY, SUSTAINABLE DEVELOPMENT, AND POST-DEVELOPMENT CRITICS

How did state-inflected market-based mechanism become the dominant approach to mitigating biodiversity loss and climate change? The quick answer points towards University of Oslo economists, and Norwegian politicians and diplomats. After the 1992 Rio Earth Summit, Peder Anker (2018, 38) explains, "Norwegian diplomats spent a large amount of time trying to convince the leaders of the world's poorest nations of the virtues of carbon emissions trading." Through abstracting how and where the emission "cuts" are made, carbon markets tend to disproportionately effect disadvantaged communities (Lohmann 2008) and generate dangerous equivalences through devising "metrics" that make environmental health and harm the same regardless of location. Sullivan (2013, 86), for example, argues, "no offset can fully replace the specific spatial and temporal ecological qualities of that which is harmed through development, making offsets a technology that creates biodiversity casualties even as it proposes biodiversity conservation." Carbon capture and storage (CCS) technologies, Anker (2018, 38) contends, was "Norway's equivalent" to the United States "moon-landing," propagating an idea which would give way to payments for ecosystem services, REDD+, and other green capitalist schemes (Cavanagh & Benjaminsen 2017; Dunlap & Sullivan 2020). The struggle to prevent the rise and globalizing of green capitalism and sustainable development, however, goes back to the 1970s when deep ecology was born and spread like wildfire into the minds of the ecologically concerned.

Deep ecology, a movement and a philosophical platform originally formulated by Arne Næss, became a noticeable player in Norway in the late 70s. "[A]t its peak in the late 1970s," explains Anker (2018, 31), deep ecology "was one of the largest (and certainly the most vocal) environmental organization in Norway, attacking industrialization and economic growth, particularly hydro-power developments." Deep ecologists, though concerned about climate change, primarily challenged the present trends of ecological degradation and destruction. Through direct action, Norwegian deep ecologists resisted the

technocratic approach and policies of Gro Harlem Brundtland, who served as the Environmental Minister and later as the Norwegian Prime Minister. After Norway's discovery of large oil reserves and Brundtland Labor party's approach, deep ecologists began witnessing Norway's progressive abandonment of strong environmental policies in favor of capitalism, industrialization, and ecological extraction. One of their first civil disobedience actions was the opposition to the Mardøla waterfall hydro-power project in the summer of 1970. A few years later in 1977, the Ekofisk oilfield Bravo pipeline exploded, causing a week-long and 20,000-ton oil spill (ITOPF 2018). This led to repeated waves of new protests organized by deep ecologists. The height of their civil disobedience was the Alta case in 1979. another hydro-power project. Saami, environmentalists (among them deep ecologists), and locals organized protests and blocked the access to the road (Andersen & Midttun 1985). Later, in 1980, Saami protesters camped in front of the parliament and went on hunger strikes. In 1981, for the first time in Norwegian history, the Prime Minister's office was occupied when Saami women refused to leave a meeting with Gro Harlem Brundtland that was cut short due to her dismissal of their concerns. In Alta, the civil disobedience continued with protesters chaining themselves to the construction site that same year. While more actions were taking place in the 1970s and 1980s across Norway, deep ecology - alongside Saami resistance - was igniting environmental political concerns and action amongst the Norwegian public.

In the 1990s, Brundtland established SUM and the Center for International Climate Environmental Research (CICERO) to provide science for the politicians to realize the goals of Our Common Future, also known as the Brundtland Commission report (UN 1987). This globally influential report popularized the term "sustainable development," and was (like Brundtland's other policies) quite technocratic and oriented toward "green growth." It also relied on the explanatory model of "unsustainable population pressures," and instrumentalized women's health and education as a means to reduce population growth (Wilson 2017). SUM was born out of this report and the absorption of the existing Council for Nature and Environmental Studies at the University of Oslo, which since its inception in

<sup>1</sup> The Alta dam was met with harsh criticism from the inception of its plan in 1968 and the resistance continued until 1982 when the Supreme Court ruled the development was legal, which led to the dissolution of the actions.

1972 had opposed Brundtland. As pointed out by Anker (2018), its members were marginalized throughout the 90s, as the center was unable to decide whether it should question the foundations of society or produce facts for politicians. Arne Næss, then an aging scholar, was the only one from the council to remain in their office by the late 90s (Anker 2018). Sustainable development, with the organized backing of the UN, corralled and defanged the critiques of deep ecology. This struggle, however, between "dark" and "light" green continues to persist, at not only SUM, but across the world. While deep ecology challenged anthropocentrism, economic growth, and industrial society, advocating various forms of contextually specific non-violent direct action (Næss 1999a/1988), post-development and degrowth – albeit from different geographies and perspectives – continue these fights against the myths of sustainable development and green growth.

# DEEP ECOLOGY, POST-DEVELOPMENT, AND DEGROWTH: LINKS AND SIMILARITIES

There are numerous commonalities and lines of affinity between post-development, degrowth, and deep ecology, which we will sketch out below. However, it is important to note from the outset that there are equally important differences between, as well as within, these schools. In the US, parts of the deep ecology movement have been deeply troubling in its engagement with racist anti-immigration sentiments, nationalism, population discourse, and colonial mindsets regarding the "protection" of wilderness in national parks (Guha 1999; Watson 1989). With this in mind, we focus on Arne Næss' writings about deep ecology as they are more aligned with post-development and degrowth, for reasons that will become clear in the next section about differences and critiques.

A foundational, even indispensable, root between deep ecology, post-development and, more recently, degrowth (Escobar 2015; Hickel 2020b), is challenging anthropocentrism and speciesism. The first point of the deep ecology platform states: "The well-being and flourishing of human and nonhuman life on Earth have value in themselves (synonyms: inherent worth, intrinsic value, inherent

value). These values are independent of the usefulness of the nonhuman world for human purposes" (Næss & Sessions 1984).

Deep ecology recognizes and challenges human supremacy, which development and the ideology of progress – along with racism and patriarchy – has long subsisted. If the "rights" framework was to exist at all, Arne Næss (2005a/1993, 214) stressed to include "ecosystemic rights" in order to, as the Alta conflict anti-dam slogan proclaimed, "Let the river live!" This supports, albeit from the context of the "Global North," respecting different ontologies, ecological relationships, and "the rights of nature," (Ulloa 2020) which is foundational to post-development.

Contrary to other deep ecological writers, Næss' deep ecology emphasized solidarity, relationality, and interdependence, and as well as philosophical/ecosophical pluralism, rather than sameness or oneness with the natural world (Warren 1999), which is far more aligned with the post-development pluriverse (as opposed to a one-world world) (Kothari et al. 2019). Further, the importance of protecting the diversity of cultures, peoples, religions, and spiritualities are recurring topics in Arne Næss' writings (2005b). The deep ecological principle of biocentrism entails breaking down the hierarchical status of humans above nonhumans and ecosystems, as well as understanding humans as a part of nature. Næss, however, importantly pointed out the pitfalls of embracing this uncritically because of the way animality has been weaponized throughout history. In the anthropocentric hierarchy of beings, those who are degraded to animality are also subject to violence and brutality (Næss 2005b).

In line with both degrowth and post-development, he understood the dismantling of hierarchical structures as a necessary step toward a "greener society," (Næss 2005a, 206) and lamented the fact that "among deep ecology theorists there are so few who are able to write extensively from within the areas of social and political theory" (Næss 1999b, 271). Related to this, Næss' articulations of deep ecology were aligned with, and informed by, ecofeminism. This entails cooperation in dismantling patriarchy, an emphasis on care, and a critique of masculinism within deep ecology (Næss 1999b).

These themes, as many are aware, are also central to post-development and degrowth. Næss' critical stance against hierarchies also includes the centralized nature of large-scale industry, as well as national and international structures, all of which he suggested be toned down in favor of local and peripheral populations (Næss 2005a, 210). Further, he maintained that "green politics become shallow when lacking a class perspective or wider political perspective, when focused on spectacular animals or when taking advantage of the rigorous standards for scientific evidence that leave room for cautious or contradicting conclusions and cherry-picking of arguments" (Næss 2005a, 211). It is not surprising then that Næss (2005a, 216) understood the deep ecology movement as moving "more in the direction of nonviolent anarchism than toward communism."

In deep ecology's sixth principle, the affinities with post-development and degrowth are clear: "The changes in policies affect basic economic, technological, and ideological structures. The resulting state of affairs will be deeply different from the present" (Næss & Sessions, 1984). Contrary to much of "green economics," which he argued often disregards contextual, social, and societal influences on consumption and production patterns (Næss 2005a, 206), he supported the idea that there is enough – only if industrial societal lifestyles are not the global goal (Næss 2005, 202). Like degrowth, Næss (2005a, 217) advocated living simply and "to limit the use of energy to vital needs" in industrial states. Though Næss "suppose[d] every, or nearly every kind of green society will have some industrial production," his deep ecological idea of a future green society was decidedly not industrial (Næss 1999b). In line with refusals of techno-fixes in post-development and degrowth literature, Næss' deep ecology rejected "the superstition that a few years of research and technical development can solve any major ecological problem of any kind" (Næss 2005, 210). Green growth, closely related to such ignorant faith in technological progress, was already a problem in the 1980s: "Green politics cannot have as a part of its program the increase of GNP, which perhaps should be read as 'gross national pollution" (Næss 2005a, 208). Næss was correct in this assertion, highlighting a problem still with us today and that is taken up by degrowth.

Another commonality between post-development and deep ecology is found in that Næss' deep ecology recognized the absurdity of development. "It is a good sign that the term development now is more of a dyslogism [pejorative] than a eulogism." asserts Næss (2005b/1988, 266), continuing: "threatened cultures are small and so-called underdeveloped – i.e., not on the (wrong) way to becoming like us." What is "wrong," in fact, is the very consumption patterns and lifestyles of the rich industrialized countries and the power elites of poor countries which are not "ecologically universalizable," as he puts it (Næss 2005b, 269). Næss emphasized the dominating role of economic development, writing, "the ideology of 'progress,' Western style, is still used when cultures are invaded" (Næss 2005b, 270). Akin to the skepticism towards technology in post-development and degrowth, Næss connected "violent extinction of cultures" to the "mindless introduction of Western technology" (Næss 2005b, 270). Moreover, Næss (2005b, 266) recognized how development aid causes conflicts "between those who will profit form 'helping' them on the way to being like us, and those who try - mostly with little effect – to help the minorities who are critical of this help." Criticizing utilitarianism and echoing critical agrarian studies (White et al. 2012; Fairhead et al. 2012), Næss (2005b, 266) saw how Indigenous territories, and nature in general, are wrongly perceived as "underutilized." Moreover, Næss' deep ecology made the connection between resisting neocolonialism and protecting nonhuman life (Næss 2005b, 269-271), and explicitly problematized the lack of links between the "movement to protect nonindustrial cultures" and the ecology movement.

Sharing similar political commitments as Ivan Illich (1978) over the importance of civil liberties more than rights, Næss himself supported direct action (Andersen & Midttun 1985). The relationship to action was important for Næss. A proponent of Ghanaian nonviolence, he could still empathize with different contexts requiring expanded forms of nonviolence that include "sabotage" and "vandalism" (Næss 1999a, 227). While, in his mind, militant actions were not appropriate for the Norwegian context because "the establishment is of an orderly, approachable, moderate kind and not of vast dimension" (Ibid.). Interestingly, in matters of self-defense he had greater

tolerance for "violent" actions.<sup>2</sup> Speaking to the Sami context, Næss (2005a, 228) explained:

"When a Sami [Lapp, sic!] in Arctic Norway, a member of a very different culture from the Norwegian, tried to blow up a bridge made by "invading" Norwegians, he defended a place where he belonged. He said it was part of himself. A defense of "where one belongs" is mostly made in great distress and anger. Non-violent means of defense is obviously ethically justifiable. If violence is used I would in many cases refrain from any negative judgments."

and post-development – empathetic towards both "violent" and non-violent Sami direct action against mega-project incursions (Næss 2005b, 1999a) from what he called the "powerful invaders" or "powerful industrial neighbors" of the Norwegian state and corporations (Næss 2005b, 268). Through his own involvement in ecological direct action and solidarity, he was among those arrested in the Alta hydroelectric dam conflict (Andersen & Midttun 1985). Speaking to the issue more generally, he wrote: "the rich nations with great coercive power have no right to reduce the diversity of cultures with less power, less ability to survive invasion – whether territorial, technical, economic, or cultural" (Næss 2005b, 270). Deep ecology demonstrates clear concerns with Indigenous solidarity and anti-colonial ecological struggle, demonstrating a strong affinity with post-development.

As such, Næss was – in clear affinity with anti-colonial sentiments

<sup>2</sup> For an extended discussion on the violence vs. nonviolence debate, see Peter Gelderloos (2013).

> Deep ecology created an important platform for rejecting anthropocentrism. This also affirms the interconnection of "the web of life;" rejecting the present industrial and economic growth models; embracing solidarity and cooperation with social justice movements; creating lines of solidarity with Indigenous cultures; and supporting wide readings of non-violence direct action, which even extends to accepting violence in matters of self-defense, specifically by those self-identifying with their lands. Thereby, post-development and degrowth continue and expand deep ecological sentiments, making important additions and corrections, to which we now turn.

## DIFFERENCES, CRITIQUES, AND WAYS FORWARD

Deep ecology has faded from the academic foreground, though it remains embedded in environmental thought. Degrowth and post-development's convergence has since then filled important theoretical and practical spaces left abandoned, incomplete, and unrealized by deep ecology. This includes reconciling numerous shortcomings in deep ecology worth recognizing, which we highlight to avoid repeating in theory and practice, but we also acknowledge how post-development and degrowth (at least authors within) have mostly recognized these issues. To reiterate the first shortcoming: Saami and Indigenous issues, while mentioned positively by Næss, were largely underwritten in deep ecology. Also, by promoting biocentrism, deep ecology tended towards a broad brush of reaction against all humans, or Humanity as a totality (Bookchin 1999).3 The consequence was needlessly reinforcing human versus nature dichotomies, which resulted in largely "strawman" debates between Bookchin and Foreman (1991) – yet the two found more in common than realized. Post-development, rooted in Indigenous struggles (e.g. Buen Vivir, Zapatistas, and countless movements), has certainly remedied this tension. Meanwhile, post-developmental influence pollinates degrowth (Nirmal & Rocheleau 2019), which has only been reinforced by anti-colonial politics (Hickel 2020b; Hickel 2021). In this sense, post-development and degrowth are antidotes and extensions of the shortcomings of deep ecology.

The more disastrous shortcoming, however, was deep ecology's reinforcement of the "pristine nature" myth. According to the myth, all humans are destructive forces, alien to intact ecosystems and, in effect, require segregation from ecosystems and/or habitats. This remains the guiding ideology in conservation, through "fortress conservation," (Brockington 2002) which deep ecology tended towards or explicitly reinforced (Guha 1999; Watson 1989). The pristine nature myth has historically reinforced genocidal campaigns against various Indigenous groups in North America (Dowie 2009), England (Perelman 2007), and continue to justify warfare campaigns and land grabbing in Africa, Asia, and Latin America (Fairhead et al. 2012;

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Note that Bookchin's critique of deep ecology in this text (originally a speech) was harsh and oversimplified as it did not differentiate between different deep ecologists, which is problematic given that differences are large and consequential (Guha 1999). Nonetheless, on the point of the all-encompassing Humanity of the deep ecological platform, as well as the lack of analysis of the social roots of ecological destruction, Bookchin's critique is warranted.

Dunlap & Fairhead 2014; Marijnen et al. 2021). Political ecology, in accordance with environmental anthropology and sociology, have revealed this myth to be false. Landscapes viewed as "pristine" were in fact shaped by various Indigenous populations (Fairhead & Leach 2003; Erikson 2008), demonstrating the fact – well-known by Indigenous peoples themselves – that colonialism and those humans acclimated to industrial political economy are the people reproducing socio-ecologically destructive habits. Deep ecology's (or segments thereof) promotion of "fortress" thinking and exclusionary conservationism extended into moments of racism, anti-Indigenous, and anti-immigration sentiments (Watson 1989; e.g. Sale in Witoszek & Brennan 1999). Contrary to Næss' articulations, such authoritarian tendencies pervaded uncritically within deep ecology. This might be due to the wideness of the general platform of deep ecology, which in Bookchin's (1999, 283) words, "reduces richly nuances ideas and conflicting traditions to their lowest common denominator" in a way that *does not* enable solidarity but rather, prevents it.

The pristine nature myth and the broad strokes of Humanity against Nature coincided with – and in part provoked – a careless approach to population growth, reinforcing existing authoritarianism, racism, misogyny, heterosexism, and even genocidal trajectories. On the topic of population growth, some deep ecologists – notably Dave Foreman – have made erroneous, horribly careless, xenophobic, and racist comments, which he later retracted (Bookchin and Foreman 1991), but which demonstrate how privileging the pristine nonhuman world can produce colonial practices (Watson 1989; e.g. Sale in Witoszek & Brennan 1999). While flirting with the pristine nature myth, Næss' deep ecology was more attuned to social justice than others' (Warren 1999). Yet, he also concerned himself with population growth as an ecological issue. Næss maintained (2005a, 213) that "either a complete restructuring of economy and technology, or population reduction" was necessary to envision a green society. The fourth principle of deep ecology, in fact, reads that "The flourishing of human life and cultures is compatible with a substantial decrease of the human population. The flourishing of nonhuman life requires such a decrease" (Næss & Sessions 1984, emphasis added). While balancing the life-support capacities of ecosystems should remain

a concern, mainstream framings of "the population issue" deserve careful and critical consideration

Næss himself vehemently rejected coercive population reduction (Næss 2005, 202), and conceived of the process as one that might take place over hundreds of years. Further, his deep ecological perspective was acutely aware of the fact that the environmental impact of people in rich countries was far greater than that of people in poorer countries - he therefore advocated the "gradual decrease of population in the rich countries." (Næss 1999c) As he put it: "one more baby in the overdeveloped countries is a much graver ecological threat" than those born in the Global South (Næss 2005a, 213). This stands in stark contrast to comments like those made by Foreman in the 1980s, along the lines of "let them starve" and "keep them out" (Watson 1989), or the writings of an anonymous essayist who claimed that the HIV/AIDS epidemic was good population control for the earth (see Bookchin 1999). While this is an extreme and marginal perspective, and later retracted by Foreman (Bookchin and Foreman 1991), it demonstrates how disproven environmental logics and broad-stroked "lowest denominator" principles can create doorways to cultivating forms of ecological fascism.

We have shown the many strengths within deep ecology, but also the significant shortcomings deserving of acknowledgment. To reiterate: paying insufficient attention to Indigenous self-determination and resistance; reinforcing human-nature dichotomies that lent themselves to coercive and racist conservation policies; and reinforcing dangerous approaches to population dynamics, which ignore racist, misogynist, and colonialist policy realities, but also the necessity of bodily autonomy. Careless engagements with "the population issue" we note (see Søyland, this issue), have also carried over to some proponents of degrowth. Our purpose is to stress the continuity and strengths of deep ecology, post-development, and degrowth, while learning from the mistakes of the past.

# ISSUE CONTRIBUTIONS: ENERGY POLITICS, CRITIQUE, AND RESISTANCE

The contributors to this volume discuss a wide range of topics, highlight under-theorized themes in degrowth, and reveal important historical and practical connections in need of further attention and work. The issue is broken into three sections: "Energy, Politics and Struggle in Norway," "Critical Engagements with Degrowth," and "Life in Resistance." The first section applies post-development and degrowth approaches to examine and analyze political and developmental phenomena related to Norway. The section thereafter identifies various concerns, shortcomings, and areas in need of greater consideration, principally within degrowth. The final section explores how post-development and degrowth ideas can better connect and expand practices of resistance.

The sections are first introduced by Sarah K. B. Schubert's article "Fear and Other Options: Three Responses to the Ecological Abyss." This article provides an excellent introduction by reviewing the three scenarios outlined by Wolfgang Sachs' forward in Pluriverse: The Post-Development Dictionary (Kothari 2019). The article reviews Sachs' "Fortress, Globalism, and Solidarity" pathways, which represent three distinct ways of confronting socio-ecological catastrophe. Schubert's article then develops and emphasizes the importance of the solidarity pathway, developing an abolitionist approach that contends as "climate emergency deepens," so should "solidarity, mutual aid, cooperation, plurality in resistance." Schubert's article provides an instructive overview, better preparing readers to go further into the various facets of energy politics, critique, and resistance developed by the other contributors. The following offers an overview of each contribution, before concluding with the necessity and importance of expanding post-developmental fields of research and practice.

#### Energy, Politics and Struggle in Norway

The section "Energy, Politics and Struggle in Norway" begins with Lars Henning Wøhncke's article: "A Hard Sell: Thoughts on Degrowth's Apparent Lack of Appeal to Normal People." It argues "normal people" are now officially a distinct category of voters in Norway, catered to as such by the Norwegian labor party, who desperately has attached its fate to them in the lead-up to the 2021 parliamentary elections. The article begins by exploring who normal people are thought to be, and muses on why degrowth – as an alternative to a capitalism that is collapsing in front of our eyes, dragging what is left of a livable planet down with it towards the abyss – is failing to get a foothold among them. It argues two central prerequisites of degrowth – scrutinizing the history of capitalism and one's place in it and accepting the likely need for insurrectionary transformation – demonstrate the challenge of making degrowth palatable to normal people by academic proponents of degrowth. The conclusion reflects on what the two prerequisites might entail for the academic proponents of degrowth and suggests a change of approach.

Next in energy politics is the article "Framing, Funding, and Justifying Energy for Development" by Vilde Norenes Hilleren, which interrogates the Oil for Development (OfD) scheme. In 2020, the Norwegian Agency for Development Cooperation (Norad) presented two different alternatives for extending its long-running OfD program into a broad Energy for Development (EfD) program. Since 2005, OfD has worked to promote sustainable petroleum management through legal and regulatory reforms, institutional capacity building, and improving public sector transparency. In light of the Paris Agreement and changing energy markets, Norad is now proposing to strengthen the environmental aspects of the program and contribute to energy transitions in partner countries. The article critically analyzes Norad's conceptualization of energy transitions by drawing on energy history, degrowth, and post-development literature, arguing that the proposed Energy for Development program contributes to energy additions rather than transitions. Starting by presenting their vision for energy additions primarily aimed at generating economic growth as an ambitious contribution to combating climate change, Norad is fueling the capitalist logic of endless accumulation that is at the heart of the climate crisis

Finally, Shayan Shokrgozar's article explores the appropriation of wind power to serve a degrowth society. The article titled "The Case for Degrowth Energy Technologies" argues the climate mitigation discourse of "green" growth further exacerbates social fragmentation and ecological degradation in the epoch of the Necrocene. The article then explores an alternative future in which a convivial, appropriate, feasible, and viable energy system serves the values of a degrowth society. It argues through engaging with issues of scale, ownership, landscape relationship, and appropriate tool-use it is possible to produce renewables, as opposed to Fossil Fuel+, currently being produced by utility scale wind "farms." It concludes by calling for communing the necessary implements of life and resisting their capture by forces of death.

#### Critical Engagements with Degrowth

The special issue's second section about critical engagements with degrowth begins with Lisa Hammelbo Søyland's article titled "The Population Question' in Degrowth and Post-Development." Søyland's article discusses how erroneous and politically dangerous Malthusian and neo-Malthusian arguments continue to underpin parts of the conversation about mitigation of social and ecological issues within degrowth literature. Further, it reveals the limited and uncritical attention degrowth has devoted to the ways that population discourse perpetuates colonialist, racist, misogynist, and heterosexist harm and violence. Cautioning against calls for "population degrowth" or population reduction — which can inadvertently support contemporary coercive and hierarchical practices of population control — the article argues that degrowth should center intersectional and anti-colonial feminist analyses and focus its attention on equitable reductions of material throughput and redistributive justice.

Next, the article "Democratizing Degrowth: Putting Transformation of the Democratic System at the Heart of the Project," by Sanne van den Boom, discusses the ambiguous role of democracy in degrowth literature, questioning whether the emancipatory degrowth vision can be implemented in today's democracies. The article interrogates the role of private actors in electoral processes, as well as the closed arenas of economic decision-making. Because of how degrowth

proposals go against the interests of the most powerful actors in our societies and in current highly centralized, representative democracies, van den Boom argues there are serious obstacles to countering the economic growth paradigm. Subsequently, van den Boom purports that the degrowth project should entail a transformation of the democratic system in the direction of smaller scale, decentralized, and more direct forms of decision-making, which move power from economic institutions and elected representatives to citizens.

Finally, Peder Ressem Østring's article draws upon the ecology found in Marxism and the ecosocialism of André Gorz to examine the convergences and contradictions between Eco-Marxism and degrowth. Østring argues that degrowth can draw on Eco-Marxism to strengthen its strategies for change and its conceptual toolkit, and that Eco-marxists can learn from degrowth's emphasis on reducing material throughput as a vaccine against productivism. It is argued that degrowth and Eco-Marxism have more in common than not, particularly in their critiques of capitalism and its impact on the environment. Østring finishes by purporting that any such differences between the two fields can and should be overcome.

#### Life in Resistance

The final section turns to examine resistance and direct action through the lens of post-development and degrowth. "Agroecology as resistance within degrowth and post-development," by Joanna Svärd, demonstrates how agroecology can be viewed, and pursued, as a form of slow resistance. Outlining the different environmental and social problems of conventional agriculture, the article views agroecology as a meeting point between degrowth and post-development, and discusses the existing literature on degrowth and post-development from the perspective of food and agroecology. The article argues for the necessity of democratizing food systems and acknowledging a plurality of ecological knowledge, which includes conceptualizing agroecology along Latouche's "eight Rs" framework (i.e. re-evaluate, re-conceptualize, restructure, redistribute, re-locate, reduce, reuse, and recycle). "Real change," Svärd concludes, "requires the combined effort of grassroots movements across the world, built on mutual solidarity and support, allowing for a pluriverse of approaches "

Switching to examining a more confrontational approach to resistance, Jenna Stepanic's article, "Can Degrowth Struggle? - Lines of Affinity Between Degrowth and Rote Zora," demonstrates the affinity between the feminist direct action group, Rote Zora, and degrowth. While valuing and celebrating the degrowth position, this article responds to the criticisms by scholars that degrowth's political strategy and relationships to struggle is ambiguous and limited. Employing a historical approach, Stepanic discusses the formation of anti-authoritarian autonomist action groups in Western Germany in the 1970s and 1980s. The article focuses specifically on Rote Zora, who were responsible for numerous sabotage and explosive actions, and reviews and relates their actions to degrowth. Stepanic contends that by drawing a historical bridge between "more feminist ideas and the use of militant tactics as a strategically legitimate means," we may "[move] forward the degrowth agenda." By referencing history and drawing lines of affinity between militant feminist action and degrowth, the article offers an important and confrontational challenge to proponents of degrowth.

Moving to the realm of conservation, and concluding the section, Alejandro Ruelas' article, "Knowledge, Energy, Life: Possibilities for Conservation in Post-Development," examines how to resist and appropriate current conservation regimes. Recognizing conservation as another frontier in land control and capital accumulation, the article asks, how "can conservation be made compatible with a post-development future?" Complementing ideas of convivial conservation, the article proposes three alternative meanings for conservation: knowledge, energy, and life. The "conservation of knowledge" refers to conserving other ways of knowing and relating to the world. While the "conservation of energy" refers to preserving the vital force that connects and allows all beings to exist. Finally – connecting the latter - the "conservation of life" is a reminder of what conservation should do, and that it cannot do it as long as it is wedded to a capitalist agenda. Such conceptual shifts, Ruelas contends, "could have practical implications and aid in the transition towards a pluriverse." Advocating people to rise up against environmental calamity, Ruelas concludes "there is no need to invent anything new" and that conservation must support local knowledges and ecological aspirations, not a "system that thrives on death."

#### CONCLUSION

This editorial has introduced post-development and degrowth in relationship to SUM and deep ecology. Post-development and degrowth embody important concerns and propositions, which necessitates greater academic space and popular experimentation. Yet, despite insight from post-structuralism and feminism that rattled and re-positioned anthropology, geography, and all studies to various degrees since the 1970s, the academy still hears this phrase muttered in its hallways: "We are academics, not activists." This phrase asserts separation, or distinction, from politics, and attempts to create and reinforce an "objectivity" claim. Academic activity, as we all know, is always performing a form of activism. Rooted in Cartesian separation (Wynter 2015; Sullivan 2017), this objectivity claim attempts to divorce itself from the political realities that engulf institutions, shape research agendas, journal metrics, organizational technologies, and inform power relations overall. Critical work influenced by anarchist, feminist, Marxist, queer, and black radical scholars are deemed "activist," as if other positions are "neutral" and "objective." Infrastructural design, heating, office layouts, market relationships, dominant ideologies, discrimination practices (e.g. sexism, classism, racism, ableism, queerphobia, anthropocentricism), funding requirements, and so on are clear - and by no means complete - factors in forming research subjectivities and agendas. There are disproportionate standards, issues unquestioned in theory and practice, while socio-ecological and climate catastrophe takes greater hold.

At best, academic research can be explicit about its (unspoken) bias, necessitating methodological and positionality reveals, which remain lacking across disciplines (e.g. political science, international relations). Political ecology, we should remember, was a reaction to the faulty "a-political" framing or objectivity claims of ecology (Robbins 2012). Remembering the realities of industrialization, capitalism, and the socio-ecological cost of resource extraction, all academics are preforming a type of activism – some just benefit from business as usual and the objectives of the dominant culture (e.g. capitalism, liberalism, bureaucracy) more than others, especially given

that research fuels the publishing and university industries. While there are many ways "activism" can be used as self-branding (Dunlap 2020), academics, whether they accept it or not, remain activists. Given the planetary situation, and all the local forms of injustice and ecological degradation, we need to clarify what kind of "activism" our work creates and reinforces. We argue that post-development and degrowth pathways remain fundamental to confronting the problems of socio-ecological degradation, discrimination, and climate change. We need research critically assessing the key issues of our time, which means questioning the root of socio-ecological crisis and learning to act on it, be it as individuals, communities, or institutions.

<sup>4</sup> In the first printed edition of this journal, this sentence incorrectly read: "Was faulty conservation politics in connection with the "environmentalism of the poor" (Martínez-Alier 2002) a lethal inhibitor of solidarity, movement building, and action?" Here it is corrected to emphasize the intended meaning, which was the *lack of connection* with "environmentalism of the poor."

Weaving together the history of Brundtland's policies, the Norwegian Deep Ecology group, post-development, degrowth, and our location at SUM, we wonder what impact the choices of deep ecology had in the struggle between "dark" and "light" green environmentalism. Was branding industrial development and capitalism "green" a political checkmate too powerful for deep ecologists? Was faulty conservation politics instead of connection with the "environmentalism" of the poor" (Martínez-Alier 2002) a lethal inhibitor of solidarity, movement building, and action? <sup>4</sup> Finally, did the institutionalization of deep ecology slowly acquiesce Næss and others away from publicly promoting environmental struggle and direct action, including "Monkey Wrenching" (e.g. vandalism & sabotage)? After all, Næss (1999a) clearly believed that combative environmental protest was inappropriate for the Norwegian context, referencing the language of politicians (e.g. calling civil disobedience "terrorism") and the potentiality of unfavorable legal regimes, believing "the establishment is of an orderly, approachable, moderate kind and not of vast dimension" (Næss 1999a, 227). We contend, these overlapping factors remain noticeable inhibitors for deep ecology to adequately challenge sustainable development.

Despite promoting anarchism, Næss (2005a, 216) would contend that "it seems inevitable to maintain some fairly strong central political institutions." Næss (2005a, 216) believed in central institutions to mitigate population growth and war, and, going further, stressed that "[e]xperience suggest that the higher the level of local

self-determination, the stronger the central authority must be in order to override local sabotage of fundamental green policies." How can we read Næss' statement today? Sustainable development, or green growth today, we might say emerged as a reaction to deep ecology and Indigenous environmental struggle and uprisings, North and South of the Globe. Reflecting on what green politics have become in Norway – the flag wavers of green growth – the issues identified might serve as important lessons for degrowth as it becomes increasingly popular within universities, NGOs and, to a degree, policy circles. Næss and the Norwegian deep ecology movement prioritized institutional engagement, displaying a type of Norwegian exceptionalism. Meanwhile, deep ecologists backed away from direct action and grassroots struggle, and promoted institutional centralization to "override local sabotage of fundamental green strategies" or, more in hindsight, "capitalist strategies." These remain important lessons as wind turbines and other industrial projects are further colonizing Saami territory (Fjellheim 2020; Normann 2020; Shokrgozar, this issue), degrading the Norwegian countryside as oil exploitation operations expand largely unquestioned (see Hilleren, this issue). Green capitalism - its infrastructure, mining, market-based conservation and technologies – was a force underestimated by deep ecologists.

Local resistance and sabotage, like elsewhere, appears as the last line of defense as environmental and civil concerns are systematically ignored in favor of political economic agendas. The mainstreaming or co-opting of deep ecology remains more relevant than ever for how "radical" ideas – or honest concerns – can be subdued and diluted to the imperatives of capital accumulation and political control (e.g. representative democracy). Given the popularity of degrowth and post-development, these are issues and conversations that deserve greater attention and experimentation, which we can only hope spread through Norway and beyond. Here is our contribution.

#### REFERENCES

Anker, Peder. 2018. "A pioneer country? A history of Norwegian climate politics." Climatic Change 151 (1): 29-41.

Andersen, Svein S., and Atle Midttun. 1985. "Conflict and Local Mobilization: The Alta Hydropower Project 1." Acta Sociologica 28 (4): 317–35. https://doi.org/10.1177/000169938502800402.

Bekiempis, Victoria. 2021. "Record-breaking US Pacific north-west heatwave killed almost 200 people." The Guardian, July 9, 2021. https://www.theguardian.com/us-news/2021/jul/08/pacific-northwest-heatwave-deaths.

Benjaminsen, Tor A., and Hanne Svarstad. 2021. Political Ecology: A Critical Engagement with Global Environmental Issues. Cham: Palgrave MacMillan.

Berman, Edward. 1983. The Ideology of Philanthropy: The Influence of the Carnegie, Ford, and Rockefeller Foundations on American Foreign Policy. Albany: State University of New York Press.

Bonneuil, Christophe, and Jean-Baptiste Fressoz. 2016. The shock of the Anthropocene: The earth, history and us. New York: Verso Books.

Bookchin, Murray. 1999. "Social Ecology versus Deep Ecology: A Challenge for the Ecology Movement." In Philosophical Dialogues: Arne Næss and the Progress of Ecophilosophy, edited by Nina Witoszek and Andrew Brennan. Oxford: Rowman and Littlefield.

Bookchin, Murray, and Dave Foreman. 1991. Defending the Earth: Debate Between Murray Bookchin and Dave Foreman. Montreal: Black Rose Books Ltd.

Brockington, Dan. 2002. Fortress Conservation. Bloomington: Indian University Press.

Cavanagh, Connor Joseph, and Tor Arve Benjaminsen. 2017. "Political ecology, variegated green economies, and the foreclosure of alternative sustainabilities." Journal of Political Ecology 24: 200-341.

Clark, John. 2020. "What is eco-anarchism?" The Ecological Citizen 3 (Suppl C): 9-14.

Daggett, Cara New. 2019. The birth of energy: fossil fuels, thermodynamics, and the politics of work. Durham: Duke University Press.

Davies, Archie. 2021. "The coloniality of infrastructure: Engineering, landscape and modernity in Recife." Environment and Planning D: Society and Space: 02637758211018706.

Demaria, Federico, Giorgos Kallis, and Karen Bakker. 2019. "Geographies of degrowth: Nowtopias, resurgences and the decolonization of imaginaries and places." Environment and Planning E: Nature and Space 2 (3): 431-450.

Dowie, Mark. 2009. Conservation Refugees: The Hundred-Year Conflict Between Global Conservation and Native Peoples. Cambridge: MIT Press.

Dunlap, Alexander. 2020. "The direction of ecological insurrections: political ecology comes to daggers with Fukuoka." Journal of Political Ecology 27 (1): 988-1014.

Dunlap, Alexander, and James Fairhead. 2014. "The Militarisation and Marketisation of Nature: An Alternative Lens to 'Climate-Conflict." Geopolitics 19 (4): 937–961.

Dunlap, Alexander, and Sian Sullivan. 2020. "A faultline in neoliberal environmental governance scholarship? Or, why accumulation-by-alienation matters." Environment and Planning E: Nature and Space 3 (2): 552-579.

Erickson, Clark L. 2008. "Amazonia: the historical ecology of a domesticated landscape." In The handbook of South American archaeology, 157-183. Springer.

Escobar, Arturo. 2015. "Degrowth, postdevelopment, and transitions: a preliminary conversation." Sustainability Science 10 (3): 451-462.

Fairhead, James, and Melissa Leach. 2003. Science, Society and Power: Environmental Knowledge and Policy in West Africa and the Caribbean. London: Cambridge University Press.

Fairhead, James, Melissa Leach, and Ian Scoones. 2012. "Green Grabbing: a new appropriation of Nature?" Journal of Peasant Studies 39 (2): 237-261.

Fjellheim, Eva Maria. 2020. "Through our stories we resist: Decolonial perspectives on south Saami history, indigeneity and rights." In Indigenous knowledges and the sustainable development agenda, edited by Anders Breidlid and Roy Krøvel, 207-226. New York: Routledge.

Gelderloos, Peter. 2013. The Failure of Nonviolence: From Arab Spring to Occupy. Seattle: Left Bank Books.

Guha, Ramachandra. 1999. "Radical American Environmentalism Revisted." In Philosophical dialogues: Arne Næss and the progress of ecophilosophy, edited by Nina Witoszek and Andrew Brennan, 473-479. Oxford: Rowman & Littlefield.

Hartch, Todd. 2015. The Prophet of Cuernavaca: Ivan Illich and the Crisis of the West. New York: Oxford University Press, USA.

Hickel, Jason. 2020. Less is more: How degrowth will save the world. London: Random House.

———. 2020. "What does degrowth mean? A few points of clarification." Globalizations: 1-7.

Hickel, Jason. 2021. "The anti-colonial politics of degrowth." Political Geography: 1-3.

Illich, Ivan. 1978. Towards a History of Needs. New York: Pantheon Books.

——. 1970. "Planned Poverty: The End Result of Technical Assistance." In Celebration of Awareness: A Call for Institutional Revolution. London: Marion Boyars.

Kallis, Giorgos, Susan Paulson, Giacomo D'Alisa, and Federico Demaria. 2020. The case for degrowth. London: Polity.

Kothari, Ashish, Ariel Salleh, Arturo Escobar, Federico Demaria, and Alberto Acosta. 2019. Pluriverse: A Post-Development Dictionary. Delhi: University of Colombia Press.

Lohmann, Larry. 2008. "Carbon Trading, Climate Justice and the Production of Ignorance: Ten Examples." Development 51 (3): 359–65. https://doi.org/10.1057/dev.2008.27.

Marijnen, Esther, Lotje De Vries, and Rosaleen Duffy. 2021. "Conservation in violent environments: Introduction to a special issue on the political ecology of conservation amidst violent conflict." Political Geography: 1-3.

Martínez-Alier, Joan. 2002. The Environmentalism of the Poor: A Study of Ecological Conflicts and Valuation. Northampton: Edward Elgar.

Nirmal, Padini, and Dianne Rocheleau. 2019. "Decolonizing degrowth in the post-development convergence: Questions, experiences, and proposals from two Indigenous territories." Environment and Planning E: Nature and Space 2 (3): 465-492.

Næss, Arne. [1988] 1999a. "Letter to Dave Foreman, 23 June 1988." In Philosophical dialogues: Arne Næss and the progress of ecophilosophy, edited by Nina Witoszek and Andrew Brennan, 227-231. Oxford: Rowman & Littlefield.

——. [1988] 1999b. "Ecofeminism versus Deep Ecology Debate." In Philosophical dialogues: Arne Næss and the progress of ecophilosophy, edited by Nina Witoszek and Andrew Brennan, 270-273. Oxford: Rowman & Littlefield.

——. [1988] 1999c. "A European Looks at North American Branches of the Deep Ecology Movement." In Philosophical dialogues: Arne Næss and the progress of ecophilosophy, edited by Nina Witoszek and Andrew Brennan, 222-224. Oxford: Rowman & Littlefield.

——. [1993] 2005a. "The Politics of the Deep Ecology Movement." In The Selected Works of Arne Næss; Deep Ecology of Wisdom Explorations in Unities of Nature and Cultures, edited by Harold Glasser, Alan Drengson, Arne Næss, Bill Devall and George Sessions, 201-218. Dordrecht: Spriner Nature.

——. [1988] 2005b. "Cultural Diversity and the Deep Ecology Movement." In The Selected Works of Arne Næss; Deep Ecology of Wisdom Explorations in Unities of Nature and Cultures, edited by Harold Glasser, Alan Drengson, Arne Næss, Bill Devall and George Sessions, 263-273. Dordrecht: Springer Nature.

Næss, Arne, and George Sessions. 1984. "The Deep Ecology Platform." Foundation for Deep Ecology. Accessed July 20, 2021. http://www.deepecology.org/platform.htm.

Normann, Susanne. 2020. "Green colonialism in the Nordic context: Exploring Southern Saami representations of wind energy development." Journal of community psychology: 1-18.

Oltermann, Philip. 2021. "At least 58 dead in Germany as heavy rains bring catastrophic flooding." The Guardian, July 14, 2021. https://www.theguardian.com/world/2021/jul/14/firefighter-drowns-and-army-deployed-amid-severe-flooding-in-germany.

Parrique, Timothée, Jonathan Barth, François Briens, Christian Kerschner, Alejo Kraus-Polk, A Kuokkanen, and JH Spangenberg. 2019. "Decoupling debunked." European Environment Bureau (EEB). Accessed Februrary 20, 2021. https://mk0eeborgicuypctuf7e.kinstacdn.com/wp-content/uploads/2019/07/Decoupling-Debunked.pdf.

Perelman, Michael. 2007. "Primitive Accumulation from Feudalism to Neoliberalism." Capitalism, Nature, Socialism 18 (2): 44-61.

Robbins, Paul. 2012. Political Ecology: A critical introduction Malden: John Wiley & Sons.

Somma, Mark. 2006. "Revolutionary Environmentalism: An Introduction." In Igniting a revolution, edited by Steven Best and Anthony J Nocella, 37-46. Oakland: AK Press.

Sullivan, Sian. 2017. "What's ontology got to do with it? On nature and knowledge in a political ecology of the 'green economy." Journal of Political Ecology 24: 217-242.

Wallace-Wells, David. 2019. The Uninhabitable Earth: Life after Warming. First edition. New York: Tim Duggan Books.

Warren, Karen. 1999. "Ecofeminist Philosophy and Deep Ecology." In Philosophical dialogues: Arne Næss and the progress of ecophilosophy, edited by Nina Witoszek and Andrew Brennan, 270-273. Oxford: Rowman & Littlefield.

Watson, David. 1989. How Deep is Deep Ecology? A Challenge to Radical Environmentalism. New York: Times Change Press.

White, Ben, Saturnino M. Borras, Ruth Hall, Ian Scoones, and Wendy Wolford. 2012. "The new enclosures: critical perspectives on corporate land deals." Journal of Peasant Studies 39 (3-4): 619–647.

Wilson, Kalpana. 2017. "Re-centring 'Race' in Development: Population Policies and Global Capital Accumulation in the Era of the SDGs." Globalizations 14 (3): 432-449.

Witoszek, Nina, and Andrew Brennan. 1999. Philosophical dialogues: Arne Næss and the progress of ecophilosophy. Oxford: Rowman & Littlefield.

Wynter, Sylvia. 2015. Unparalleled Catastrophe for Our Species? Or, to Give Humanness a Different Future: Conversations, edited by Katherine McKittrick. Durham, NC: Duke University Press.



## FEAR AND OTHER OPTIONS: THREE RESPONSES TO THE ECOLOGICAL ABYSS

SARAH K. B. SCHUBERT

On April 19, 2021, United Nations Secretary-General Antonio Guterres presented the stark conclusion of the World Meteorological Organization's (WMO) State of the Global Climate report: "We are on the verge of the abyss" (UN News 2021). In 2016, the Paris Climate Agreement indicated the optimal warming range to be 1.5 to 2.0 °C. Focused only on temperature rise and carbon emissions, this report warns that "at current levels of global greenhouse gas emissions, the world remains on course to exceed the agreed temperature thresholds of either 1.5 °C or 2 °C above pre-industrial levels, which would increase the risks of pervasive climate change impacts beyond what is already seen" (World Meteorological Organization 2021, 34). Though impacts will be felt everywhere, presently there is profound devastation for communities that are disproportionately vulnerable: poor, Indigenous, and people of color. Even at a 2 °C threshold, the UN fully understands that the rate of death due to climate change will eliminate certain African and island countries (Pulido 2018). The average global temperature in 2020 was approximately 1.2 °C above the pre-industrial level.

We are now in the Capitalocene, the era of anthropogenic changes caused by ever-expanding capitalist colonialist systems of oppression that disenfranchises and exploits both the human world and the more-than-human world (Moore 2017, 2018). The era is further understood as the *thermocene*, a legacy of commodification and extraction of fossilized resources to form polluting combustibles, filling the needs of industrial expansion. It is an era of energy *additions* (Bonneuil & Fressoz 2016). The imperialist capitalism that accompanies fossil fuel driven conquest necessitates subjugation of material, earth, and bodies by rationalizing "an energetic racism that reinforced hierarchies of gender, race, and class" (Daggett 2019, 135).

Based on the rapidity of global temperature rise in the WMO report, science predicts a catastrophic future. Meanwhile, governmental representatives and multilateral spokespeople express shock from within a hegemonic framework. UN and governmental bodies assure the world the universal goal to limit temperature rise and its attendant impacts will be achieved by cutting emissions while continuing life as usual. Many nations manifest these assurances through initiatives like "green" new deals, which propose economic impetus towards "clean" energy infrastructure. As discussed below, scientists, activists, and academics are skeptical of so-called green politics as performative gestures that are neither genuinely ecologically reparative nor socially transformative. Instead, these initiatives deny the expansive industrial cause of human-induced climate change and insist a solution can be found managerially – through policy and market-driven technologies. Indeed, some argue the fostering and management of apocalyptic fears is essential to the continuing cultural politics of capitalism (Swyngedouw 2010).

There are other ontological perspectives and activities, historically oppressed and repressed, resurging in this time of fear. They are counterhegemonic and provide examples deserving exploration. These are lived realities of human existence in alliance with socially marginalized people and the earth. Such communities of practice are living the change they desire, rather than waiting for systemic change, though this is certainly desirable. These communities of practice or resistance are an indication that another way is possible.

To illustrate these counterhegemonic pathways, this article expands on three responses to the fear of climate crisis as posited by Wolfgang Sachs (2019): the narratives of *Fortress*, *Globalism*, and *Solidarity*. These narratives coexist presently in tension, and forecast dynamics and possibilities for resilience as the crisis deepens. Each of these three fear narratives will be examined in turn. By exploring Sachs' framework, I argue the Solidarity narrative is the strongest pathway to preserving life in global climate destabilization. Lastly, examples of the solidarity framework as practiced in recent political movements are provided for further exploration.

## THREE RESPONSES TO FEAR, THREE PRESENT POSSIBILITIES

Wolfgang Sachs (2019) outlines three responses to fear: the narratives of the *fortress*, *globalism*, and *solidarity*. These narratives distinguish likely paths forward for human society in the face of apparent ecological collapse. Fortress thinking is characterized by neo-nationalism, authoritarianism, occasional religious fundamentalism, and "affluence chauvinism." Globalism champions free-trade economics, "green growth," and smart technologies. The third narrative, solidarity, is a resistance to the dominant narratives of fortress and globalist thinking and a positive assertion of an alternative.

Fortress Narrative: Militarization, Authoritarianism, Green Fascism

The fortress narrative champions isolationism, nationalism, competition, militarization, and vertical orientations. As a response to fear of ecological collapse, this camp opts to protect their resources and territory from any opposition. For example, the United States, the nation with the largest military budget, issued its Annual Threat Assessment of the US Intelligence Community in April 2021 which posits that climate change and environmental degradation "will create a mix of direct and indirect threats, including risks to the economy, heightened political volatility, human displacement, and new venues for geopolitical competition that will play out during the next decade and beyond" (18). Thus, nations justify preparations against these destabilizing threats by reinforcing arms and borders in advance of internal and external social unrest, mass migration, and political competition for natural resources. Climate change and environmental degradation will involve dangerous consequences for society through mass extinctions, changing weather, disruption to resource access, social conflict, disease, and exposure – with disproportionate devastation along racialized and class lines. However, the actions of the fortress thinkers - who control weaponry and enforce authoritarian policy – will evoke further devastation that is otherwise within human control.

Along the state-sanctioned militarization, there is a rise of rightt-wing movements encouraged by "dog-whistle" politics, and a "drift toward authoritarianism from India to the USA and Europe" (Kothari et al. 2019, xxiii). The emboldened right has begun blurring the lines of extremism with the growth of hate groups and eco-fascism. Militarized hate groups have begun shedding their visible white supremacy ethos to embrace people from a variety of walks, disenchanted by any number of societal or governmental factors (Rowley 2021).

The resulting ideologies are warped and often contradictory. They meet the complexity of climate crisis with an over-simplistic framing of "enemies," which are largely figured as racial or ideological Others. The conflicting ideological framework has made strong inroads on both the political right and left through conspiracy theories. Climate change geopolitical conspiracies involving COVID-19 have aided the neo-fascist agenda (Ross & Bevensee 2020). In the US, because of stay-at-home orders, the fruition of disinformation is displayed in anti-mask demonstrations, storming of state capitol buildings, plots to assassinate political opponents, culminating in an insurrection at the US Congress chambers in January of 2021. The pluralism of the conspiratorial fascist messaging attracted a diverse attendance of neonationalists, evangelicals, militant hate groups, and libertarians. The convergence of different groups exemplified how a single decentralized hate group could be both anti-police and pro-police (Rowley 2021).

Authoritarianism is not just attractive to those on the ideological right. Alexander Reid Ross and Emmi Bevensee (2020, 4) argue that "fascists have worked since the 1910s to apply misleading left-wing jargon and ideas such as environmentalism to its own geopolitical designs." In response to rising climate crisis fear, the ecofascist agenda will (and is) expanding because of the complexity and intersectionality of both environmental and social concerns:

"[R]adical green and anti-imperialist politics exist in complex relation to other tendencies, including racism, misogyny, ableism, and a desire for extreme violence [...] ideology is no longer sufficient for the left to understand the rise of fascism and the Anthropocene. Like climate change, fascism manifests complex problems and requires complex approaches to combat it. While green politics and anti-imperialism are rightly associated with the left [...] they can and have

been wielded by anyone who seeks radical change, including fascists [...] there is a chance that a significant authoritarian turn in the green movement could take place, with terrible consequences for poor and marginalized populations." (Ibid., 8)

In crisis, the modern ideological hegemony will fall short, leaving an existential void for fortress thinking to flourish as a simple story with tangible enemies and consolidated leadership. This framing of the climate change narrative in the public and governmental sphere leverages the apocalyptic fears in concert with a growing populism across the globe (Swyngedouw 2010). The dangerous tone of such rhetoric and posturing has very real consequences for social and environmental actors. This narrative is a significant threat to all other modes of life

The narrative of globalism tends toward political centrists and leftists (Burkart et al. 2020) but is equally fluid across political affiliations. Fortress thinking and globalism have deep roots in colonialist imperialist conquest, as the development narrative sustained on creating Others. In the Capitalocene, we recognize that the industrial machinations of the globalist narrative and the racist militarization of fortress thinking come from the same ideological source. The outcome of their activities is ecologically devastation. This is of course much more nuanced. As Ross and Bevensee (2020, 28) conclude, more research is necessary to "understand the inherently complex root causes of both climate change and the rise of the global far-right as interconnected."

Globalism: Development, Financialization, and Reformism

In response to climate crisis fear, globalism leverages fear and apocalyptic rhetoric (Swyngedouw 2010) to promote technological fixes, funded by public-private partnerships and transnational organizations. These fixes aim to improve sustainability or make "green" the systems that already exist. The globalist narrative has proven disastrous for the poor in all societies and earth others. It is focused on neoliberal financialization logics and a universalizing mission to "develop" countries to an imposed notion of advancement. As a mechanism designed to counter Cold War upheaval, it creates access to manipulate resources, labor, and the financial standing of countries. This development ambition created the IMF and World Bank – instruments of extractive, colonialist logics and home to global capitalist finance (Sassen 2013, 2016). Development promises an entry into global markets by way of commodification and debt, agri-monoculture technologies, removal of common lands and lifestyles, and implementation of the educational and social regimes of universal narratives of progress.

"The problem lies not in lack of implementation, but in the conception of development as linear, unidirectional, material, and financial growth, driven by commodification and capitalist markets. Despite numerous attempts to re-signify development, it continues to be something that 'experts' manage in pursuit of economic growth, and measure by Gross Domestic Product (GDP), a poor and misleading indicator of progress in the sense of well-being. In truth, the world at large experiences 'maldevelopment', even in the very industrialized countries whose lifestyle was meant to serve as a beacon for 'backward' ones." (Kothari et al. 2019, xxi – xxii)

These pillars of globalism – development and financialization – are undergirded by power over technology and resources and a deep hegemony. Ivan Illich ([1971] 1997, 97) called this maldevelopment the "benevolent production for underdevelopment." This underdevelopment creates dependency on markets, debt, wage labor, and the planned obsolescence of commodities throughout the world. It also solidifies a manner of linear thinking that all societies "advance" on a universalized trajectory in economics, science, industry, technology, and governance structures.

As with the evolving fortress narrative, the pervasive hegemonic rationality of techno-fixes and purported apolitical financialization abounds across nations, regardless of political alliance. "There is a fuzzy line between the Right and the orthodox Left when it comes to productivism, modernization, and progress. Moreover, each such ideology builds on Eurocentric and masculinist values, so

reinforcing the status quo" (Kothari et al. 2019: xxiv). In the 1970s, Illich ([1971] 1997, 100) forecasted:

"There is a normal course for those who make development policies, whether they live in North or South America, in Russia or Israel. It is to define development and to set its goals in ways with which they are familiar, which they are accustomed to use in order to satisfy their own needs and which permit them to work through the institutions over which they have power or control. This formula has failed, and must fail. There is not enough money in the world for development to succeed along these lines, not even in the combined arms and space budgets of the superpowers."

Nonetheless, the status quo of international governments was reasserted in the UN Millennium Development Goals redux as the UN Sustainable Development goals (Sachs 2017). Today, the mission of globalism is "sustainability" whereby commodities and economic growth are rendered "green" by "decoupling" polluting industrial emissions from GDP. Globalism proposes that social and environmental ills can be separated or resolved with administrative fixes while continuing capitalist exploitation, production, consumption, and application of efficient technologies. This camp of economists and modernists advocate that growth is not the source of the problem, and a capitalist economy can continue to expand while mitigations are applied to curb pollution (Gómez-Baggethun 2020).

The most direct pronouncement of the views in this camp comes from An Ecomodernist Manifesto (Asafu-Adjaye et al. 2015) written by a collective of scientists and economists who reject any interest in working with nature. They argue specifically to intensify human activities in a (supposedly) efficient way to use less land. The scattered argument "advocates urbanization, centralized production, industrialization, agricultural intensification, and nuclear power as means to protect the environment" (Gómez-Baggethun 2020, 4). This vision enables passive entry for fortress thinking by ignoring questions of human rights or causality, "but instead treat them as irrelevant to socio-environmental challenges at hand, excluding from the text any mention of class, worker, ecosocial, race, racialization, feminism, patriarchy, reproduction, colonialism, equity, or justice" (Paulson 2021, 2). Capitalism, imperialism, fossil fuel technological

industry, environmental degradation, and racial and gendered subjugation are inextricably linked (Daggett 2019). To separate them ensures a continuation of this system. In ecomodernism, more of the same thing that caused the ecological and social abhorrence is presented as humanity's salvation.

The green growth theory is treated as a de facto national and international policy standard as a response to ecological breakdown advocated by the UN, European Union, World Bank, etc. (Hickel & Kallis 2020; Gómez-Baggethun 2020). Scholars and activists, particularly proponents of degrowth, have debunked the theory of decoupling and techno-fixes. A review (Hickel & Kallis 2020, 469) of the UN Environment Program and Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change reports recently concluded, "there is no empirical evidence that absolute decoupling from resource use can be achieved on a global scale against a background of continued economic growth, and absolute decoupling from carbon emissions is highly unlikely to be achieved at a rate rapid enough to prevent global warming over 1.5 °C or 2 °C, even under optimistic policy conditions." The recent WMO data that global warming reached 1.2 °C in 2020, roundly reinforces this conclusion. Even the 2021 US Intelligence (18-19) report acknowledges the high correlation between economic growth and carbon emissions, as evident by the 2020 pandemic economic and emissions rebound.

Further, the emissions mitigation proposals in these reports promote the highly controversial bioenergy with carbon capture and storage (BECCS) technology. BECCS is the hope of multilateral technocrat globalists, but it is a high risk, experimental, worse-case-scenario technology. "The allure of BECCS is due to the fact that it allows politicians to postpone the need for rapid emissions reductions" which would threaten the economic stability of the world (Hickel & Kallis 2020, 478). This speculative technology, along with the theoretical geoengineering (climate manipulation) can hold degrading and unknown effects on biodiversity, land, and water resources (Ribeiro 2019, 55).

However, it "is empirically feasible to achieve green growth within a carbon budget for 2 °C with the most aggressive possible mitigation policies if the growth rate is very close to zero and if mitigation starts immediately" (Hickel & Kallis 2020, 480). This would entail a low energy and low consumption society – an entirely different social, economic, and cultural structure. "An ecologically sustainable world economy would have to be delinked from the drive for profits and ordered instead around the principle of deploying human capabilities to meet human needs, within the limits of Earth's biocapacity" (Burton & Somerville 2019, 103). This proposal for a zero-growth reality holds little water to the decision makers who are invested in the political order and profiteering. Thus, a series of reformist policy solutions have proliferated from degrowthers and globalists alike.

While critical of "green growth," some degrowth advocates suggest reformist policy to address core issues like industrialization and poverty. The reformist policy tends to be more progressive than "green new deals" and approaches a kind of "ecosocialist" agenda. These policies include cuts to industrial production/construction/distribution, a shortened working week, cuts to consumption in the developed world and global elites, electric heating from renewables, public transport (electric, hydrogen fuel), and expanding agroecology practices (Burton and Somerville 2019).

These reforms are presented with a political message: "by favoring redistribution over expansion, the degrowth utopia represents a frontal attack on the core ideology of modern industrial capitalism" (Gómez-Baggethun 2020, 5). Degrowth reformers admit these types of changes are unlikely to happen but acknowledge "there is no obvious reason to expect that the capitalist and socialist variants of the modernist project should bring essentially different environmental outcomes. If it came into being, the socialist variant shall be expected to bring a more equitable distribution of wealth, but to the extent that it still relies on an expansionary vision of the economy (and consequently on increased dissipation of resources) there is no reason to think that the effects on climate and the environment would be different from those of capitalist growth" (Gómez-Baggethun 2020, 5). "The mitigated capitalism of a 'green new deal' will be little help,

because it leaves the overall system of commodification, and the motors of expansion, firmly in place" (Burton & Somerville 2019, 104). Perhaps ecosocialist degrowth reforms are insufficient to challenge the rooted hegemony of modern lifestyles and political will.

Yet, there are others in the degrowth movement who advocate a radically different vision of a low-scale, autonomous society (self-regulating direct-democracy, sovereign, and emancipatory) in that it is beyond capitalism, industrialization, western modernity, and patriarchy (see Esteva 2018). Such a society engenders a new "ethico-political" individual with an expanded sense of egalitarian relationality between humans and more-than-humans. This vision strives for alternative existence altogether, with open possibility for experimentation. This is a stark contrast to common notions of state or corporate order (Siamanta 2021). There is a definitive difference in the long-standing split in reformist and emancipatory ideals. "As argued by world system theorist Immanuel Wallerstein, not only are the world's economic and political elites divided between globalists and authoritarians, there is also a split within the left, between the progressive productivists who – in the tradition of the socialist and social democratic labor movement – focus on growth, productivity gains and redistribution and tend to prefer vertical forms of organization, and those movements that, closer to the tradition of anarchism, rely on self-organization from the bottom up and fundamentally question economic growth" (Burkart et al. 2020, 9-10).

This deep split is colored with critiques from another angle. Decolonial<sup>1</sup> scholars wonder: "Will ecosocialists develop one master plan, modeled on the [Ecomodernist] Manifesto's blueprint for reorganizing and intensifying global farming, forestry, and settlement? Or will they resist projecting Euro-American visions and values onto others, and join degrowth efforts to learn from diverse communities and socio-environmental justice movements?" (Paulson 2021, 2). This beckons a distinct move toward the solidarity narrative, but the conclusions from resistance movement advocates is clear: the tendency to reform a system of oppression and degradation is a tried and fruitless endeavor.

<sup>1</sup> This term signifies a specific emancipatory struggle. Per Eve Tuck and K. Wayne Yang (2012, 1): "Decolonization brings about the repatriation of Indigenous land and life. It is not a metaphor for other things we want to do to improve our societies [...] social justice, critical methodologies, or approaches that decenter settler perspectives have objectives that may be incommensurable with decolonization." Decolonization is also critical of these movements as complicit with settler colonialism. This is "unsettling" for coalition projects but understanding decolonization as specifically for Indigenous sovereignty and futurity, and incompatible with reconciliation with settler colonialism, is crucial for potential efforts of Solidarity. One can add, this unsettled Solidarity cannot be depicted in broad strokes; it is fluid at certain junctures, as seen in the growing 2020-2021 #LandBack actions or The Red Deal - both Indigenous movements in so-called North America that use abolitionist frameworks and intentionally acknowledge the liberation of black, Indigenous, and people of color (BIPOC) in coexistence with Indigenous futurity (NDN Collective n.d.; The Red Nation 2021).

"The mainstream or reformist development solutions can be said to be proven false. In responding to the ecological crisis, 'experts' in the global North take the categories of One World responsible for devastation of the planet as the very point of departure for their alleged solutions" (Kothari et al. 2019, xxxiii). Considering the acceleration of the ecological crisis facing humanity and the following exacerbation of social strife, it is time to try another path.

Solidarity: Autonomy, Antidote, and the Otherwise

It is essential to explore possibilities for a society that enables the best possible life outcomes for all inhabitants of the earth. We can see plainly how fortress and globalist narratives cannot afford this possibility. They are more of the same processes that caused the climate crisis, earth degradation and subjugation.

As Sachs (2019, xvi) states, there are "many paths to a social transformation that places empathy with humans and non-human beings first. These visions stand firmly in opposition to both xenophobic nationalism and technocratic globalism." The anti-capitalist, anti-state, decolonial, anti-racist and feminist solidarity narrative is one of these paths that can engender a process to dismantle these latter visions.

Solidarity is most readily understood as cooperation. It is an innate and resilient impulse, embodied across species, as theorized in Peter Kropotkin's evolutionary cooperation thesis: species survive by reliance on others. The theory of survival-by-cooperation balances the prevailing evolutionary notion of competition, or "survival of the fittest." But this is the basis of all life on the planet, and it is visible in the daily reciprocal practices of people everywhere – friendships, neighborly reciprocity, giving directions to a stranger. "Life itself is an intricate and beautiful complex web of mutual aid relations" (Springer 2020, 113).

This rooted knowledge has persisted under threat from dominant hegemonic powers as the state and capitalism worked in concert to destroy this cooperative impulse – known in modern society as mutual aid – by 1) imposition of private property; 2) replacing community bonds with a national allegiance (rooted in obedience and othering

rather than compassion and care); and 3) transforming reciprocal exchange into transaction of assumed value relative to scarcity (Springer 2020, 113). Despite this, the cooperation instinct persists across all society (particularly in the absence of the management of the State and the failure of capitalist economic structures, as during the proliferation of mutual aid during the COVID-19 pandemic).

The solidarity pathways remain under threat because they are forms of resistance that directly confront unjust systems under capitalism and legacy of colonialist empires while offering alternatives. The oppression of these prefigurative and resistance movements historically takes two general forms: recuperation and repression.

Recuperation is the process whereby those who resist "current power structures are induced to rejuvenate those power structures or create more effective ones" (Gelderloos 2013, 20). It is coercive in that it appears a benign, effective tool but ultimately it remains within the hegemonic structures. This could take the form of instituting instruments positioned to make "change within the system" by negotiating reforms, creating "better" capitalist enterprises, or placating those in resistance. Commonly, recuperation involves the creation of nonprofit, NGO, charity, or mission-based entities that "mostly replicate, legitimize, and stabilize the system" (Spade 2020, 26). While some of these entities can be useful in a larger strategy toward emancipation (i.e., the creation of a non-profit bail fund as practical part of a broader strategy to abolish the carceral industrial complex, etc.). such activities can often remain in a space of compromise within the hegemonic structure rather than breaking free from it. This pitfall must be avoided for the possibility of flourishing solidarity pathways.

Repression is an effort to quash oppositional presence by force and manipulation. It is inevitable in any struggle against authority. These tools are employed by governments, military, and corporations, and range from the threat-of or acts of physical violence, surveillance, internal communication sabotage, social-psychological manipulations, influencing media representation and public discourse, resource deprivation, and criminalization. It is imperative for solidarity

proponents to learn the lessons and histories of previous groups who engaged in resistance movements and faced repression. This history is usually obfuscated or hidden by authorities invested in maintaining the status quo.

The solidarity impulse is threatened by state and capitalist interests but is an innate trait across species. Can this type of cooperation operate within the systems of modernist, dominant hegemony at all? Or is it relegated only to the gaps and failures of economic or state order? Esteva and Escobar (2017, 2564) described three paths for contemplating cooperation with development or reformist operators within the globalist canon:

"(1) Cooperation as development aid: this is the standard form of cooperation, practiced by institution such as US AID, the World Bank and mainstream NGOs. It takes for granted the dominant world (in terms of markets, individual actions, productivity, etc.). Cooperation under this rubric might lead to some improvements for some people but it can only reinforce colonialist understandings of development and, so, dispossession. To this I'd say: let's keep the doors tightly closed on them; (2) cooperation as, or for, social justice: this is the kind of cooperation practiced with the intention of fostering greater social justice and environmental sustainability; it embraces human rights (including gender and ethnic diversity), environmental justice, the reduction of inequality, direct support for grassroots groups, and so forth. Oxfam might serve as paradigm for this second trajectory. In this case I'd say: let's keep the door open, while applying pressure on them to move towards the third trajectory; (3) could go under several names, such as cooperation for civilizational transitions or cooperation for autonomy. Those practicing this option would be, in my view, radical Post-Development's natural allies. What is interesting is that this form would go beyond the binary of 'us' (who have) and 'them' (who need), and embrace all sides in the same, though diverse, movement for civilizational transitions and inter-autonomy, that is, coalitions and meshworks of autonomous collectives and communities from both the Global North and the Global South. There are no ready-available models for this third kind of solidarity cooperation, but there are groups here and there that approach it."

In this logic, solidarity cannot flourish within the systems which thrive on powerful capitalists, coloniality, degradation of earth, dualism, patriarchy, marginalization, and individualistic competition concepts. It becomes an oppositional response against these, operating despite the hegemony, in either bold defiance or under-acknowledged areas of life. The solidarity narrative sits in active alignment with others in resistance to modernist globalism and authoritarian fortress thinking. It is a positive assertion of another way of being and aligns with ontological *difference*. It means, "phasing out the imperial way of life that industrial civilization demands, and redefining forms of frugal prosperity," by thinking globally and acting locally (Sachs 2019, xv).

Different from reformist degrowth camps, degrowthers focused on autonomy provide a "connecting thread" for a "matrix of alternatives" that depart from a society which fetishizes growth toward a construction of a new, different collection of ways of being that challenge the dominant hegemony of growth (Demaria & Latouche 2019, 149). It is not a "fixed concept" (Burkhart et al. 2020, 15), but a heterogenous solidarity narrative that "hypothesizes possible futures and involves multiple strategies at different scales: oppositional activism, building alternatives, institutional politics, research, dissemination, education and art (Demaria et al. 2013). "Sharing', 'simplicity', conviviality', 'care' and the 'commons' are terms used to describe what these alternative futures might look like" (Demaria, Kallis & Bakker 2020, 432).

This project is informed by and in conversation with postcolonial, post-development, cooperative and insurrectionist anarchism, antiracism, and feminist scholars and movements. These social networks are living examples of direct resistance to capitalist extraction, expansion, pollution, and displacement.

Some of these living histories and contemporary solidarity movement activities are explored in university scholarship. The post-development notion of the "pluriverse" draws examples from Latin American communities in struggle against industrial extractivist projects of capital and the state, where being in community is critical to

<sup>2</sup> Escobar has been criticized for dichotomous framing, idealization of social movements, hierarchical approach to ethnography, and being prone to generalizing statements (Knudsen 2008). On this latter point, Kiran Asher and Joel Wainwright (2019) illustrate Escobar as using "broad strokes" to depict Indigenous practices, resistance formations, and ontologies as uncomplicated and singular. This simplification is used neatly to support a theory of a heterogenous, pluriversal world-of-many-worlds. This type of romanticization, and essentialism, is an extractive, exploitative practice. Asher and Wainwright (2019, 35) apply Gayatri Spivak's theories on subaltern representation to illustrate this further, stating Spivak "challenges subaltern knowledge retrieval and shows the post-development desire to represent subaltern subjectivity to be rooted in European episteme." It is the "double bind," and aporia that adequate representation of identities and difference in others is both

autonomous existence, such as in Zapatista, Oaxacan, and Chiapas territories. This causes a further reckoning with hegemonic constructs in reconstructing cooperative instincts, as we see "communal worlds are relational worlds, defined as those worlds in which nothing pre-exists the relations that constitute it (reality is relational through and through), as opposed to the dualist ontologies that predominate in modern worlds, where entities are seen as existing on their own (the 'individual', 'nature', 'the world'), prior to their inter-relations" (Escobar 2015, 460).<sup>2</sup>

However, degrowth scholarship, situated within modernist institutions, has been criticized by Padini Nirmal and Dianne Rocheleau (2019, 466) for failing to critically engage "with ontological, epistemological, and cultural difference as well as gender, class, ethnic, racial, religious, and colonial difference." To do so, scholars need to examine their positionality and center intersectionality, striving to revalue and restore other knowledge(s) and practices, so possibility can emerge or resurge. According to Nirmal and Rocheleau (Ibid., 482), this work entails

"re-centering resistance within the discourse, while recognizing that most autonomists are committed to other worlds, not to armed violence and violent resistance. A decolonized degrowth must be what the growth paradigm is not, and imagine what does not yet exist: our separate, networked, and collective socio-ecological futures of sufficiency and celebration in the multiple worlds of the pluriverse."

necessary and impossible – particularly within the canon of modernist institutions. This requires vigilance and constant critique – an ongoing process and essential practice in social transformation projects, as in this article.

The critique offered here is important beyond degrowth scholarship. As one prioritizes an extension of cooperation with others who are "being differently," this turn necessitates an examination of the hegemonic constructs that exist through and in each of us. The remembering, revaluing, and restoring of the impulse to cooperation is a form of "living-in-resistance," and is an ongoing process.

Solidarity means learning to embrace complexity, conflict, and difference. The tension in difference is strength, and enables resilience in diversity of perspectives and methods. As Peter Gelderloos (2013, 17, emphasis added) illuminates, the practice of a broad solidarity that embraces conflict makes movements and peoples more difficult to repress:

"We learn from difference, and we are stronger when we communicate across this difference, criticizing one another but also helping one another, and all the while respecting our fundamental divergence. There are many totally erroneous or backstabbing forms of struggle, and these should be criticized vehemently, not protected behind a polite relativism. But the goal of our criticism should be solidarity, not homogeneity."

Indeed, as Gelderloos (2013, 18-19, emphasis added) asserts, embracing conflict is essential to both the transformative labor of broad solidarity practice and its success:

"Perhaps the demands for a philosophical unity are themselves antithetical to the project of liberation, since we ourselves are so obviously neither identical nor unified. . . The end result of this debate is not a single definition of revolution nor a common, correct practice, since we do not represent a homogenous humanity with the same needs and experiences. The result is a multiplicity of practices that are more intelligent and more effective, and that either complement one another or clearly evince the unbridgeable chasm between themselves."

Broad solidarity then resists the impulse for universalization, which is common to the practices of hegemony, and finds value in communicating across tension. As Eve Tuck and K. Wayne Yang (2012, 3) describe in the context of decolonial movements and human or civil rights projects "Solidarity is an uneasy, reserved, and unsettled matter that neither reconciles present grievances nor forecloses future conflict." This is a useful recognition in considering the tensions of the broad solidarity described in Gelderloos' comments. Broad solidarity requires a wholly different relationality, and because of this, can become an antidotal element of emancipatory struggle.

For those living-in-resistance in Indigenous or poor communities, forms of mutual aid become necessary practice for survival. As the crisis of industrial capitalism continues, broad solidarity, cooperation, and mutual aid will be necessary for resilience of diversity of communities. As stated by the Green Anarchy Collective (2005, 10):

"Solidarity, support, and attempts to connect with native and anti-colonial struggles, which have been the frontlines of the fight against civilization, are essential as we attempt to dismantle the death-machine. It is also important to understand that we, at some point, have all come from earth-based peoples forcibly removed from our connections with the earth, and therefore have a place within anti-colonial struggles."

While solidarity is the antidote, it is – and has been – threatened by globalists and fortress thinkers alike. The struggle is both cultural and external as much as internal and personal. "One overcomes this situation not by destroying capitalism, because capital is within us, but by developing a love for life, something that cannot be created artificially. Maybe that kind of love will only be reborn when humanity's fear of self-annihilation becomes so strong that it compels us to put a sense of responsibility before the whims of our desires" (Hardt & Reyes 2012, 188-189). This narrative has not been favored, and it is where our best chances of adapting to crisis lie – embodied solidarity, learning from difference, acting from plurality, and love.

### FURTHER EXAMPLES OF EMANCIPATORY STRUGGLE AND PREFIGURATIVE MOVEMENTS

While Indigenous communities and practices of poor neighborhoods are often sites of a *lived* broad solidarity, so too are the social networks holding together politicized movements. Examples from recent moments of protest can be found within the societies closest to the nexus of capitalist hegemony in:

"a new wave of prefigurative social movements [...] movements that 'embody their ultimate goals and their vision of a future society through their ongoing social practices, social relations, decision-making philosophy and culture.' And it can be seen in the emergence of what have been called 'transformative economies' [...] new economic models and practices around commons, agroecology and cooperativism aiming at transforming the existing economic system." (Burkart et al. 2020, 9)

It is in the transformation of public space into commons, direct-democracy, political action, and post-capitalist imagination of the Occupy Wall Street movements (Mayer 2013; Spade 2020), which evoked the cry, coined by artist Rachel Schragis, that "All our grievances are connected" (Myerson 2011). The challenges of the squatting movement in Europe and North America to capitalist notions of private property and State infrastructure, along with tenant organizing, living in community, and political engagement are other examples (Mayer 2013).

The transformative elements go beyond economy in the sense of monetary exchange. It is exhibited in community gardens and rewilding and food bombing. Certain small-scale community renewable energy ecologies herald abundant post-capitalist futures (Siamanta 2021). The phenomena of free, locally sourced vegetarian food supplied by Food Not Bombs organizations or the Really Really Free Market (Free Store) movement provide space for nonreciprocal, non-monetary sharing of material items and skills. These latter examples trace back to the organizing efforts of the Black Panthers or the Young Lords, with even deeper lineages worthy of examination (Izlar 2019; Spade 2020). This speaks to a long-standing abolitionist praxis in the US focused on the centrality of women, relearning histories, rethinking the politics of possible, solidarity across racial lines, relations of repair, being in liberation struggle, and creating freedom by placemaking (Heynan & Ybarra 2021).

This expansive horizon of social relationality is visible in the resistance communities of the ZAD and NoTAV movements in France and Italy, where "defending territory from the outset brought together extremely eclectic and diverse groups of people around that goal [...] soldering together black bloc anarchists and nuns, retired farmers and vegan lesbian separatists, lawyers and autonomistas into a tenacious and effective community" (Ross 2018, xxii).

These examples of emancipatory activities seem a world away from globalized financialization, social stratification, and environmental degradation. They are localized and plural in their relational anti-capitalist intentions and strategies. They demand and deserve deep

study. "This living, pre-figurative politics is based on the principle of creating right now the foundations of the worlds we want to see come to fruition in the future; it implies a contiguity of means and ends" (Kothari et al. 2019, xxxv). Social movements and autonomous communities are *lived* and embodied efforts of solidarity. But, as mutual aid cooperation is a daily activity, we might see clearly how this prefigured future is here with us, in the now.

#### CONCLUSION

This article argues that the fear of human-driven ecological crisis drives broad reactions, as Wolfgang Sachs outlined: the narratives of fortress, globalism and solidarity. These concurrent reactions are driving present activities and forecast potential futures. The fortress narrative leads to authoritarian rule, militarism, fascism, racist misogyny, and resource stockpiling – regardless of political leaning. Globalism enables populist political frameworks, which leads to fortress narratives. It champions technocratic, universalistic, administrative, or economic reformism based within the same logics and activities that created the ecological and social crises of this era. These narratives are both deadly and lead to devastating outcomes The third approach – offering a multitude of pathways – is solidarity. This framework is based in the innate impulse for survival through cooperation and finds strength in complicated and critical dialogue across differences. The solidarity impulse has been repressed and recuperated by hegemonic power structures, and as with any obfuscated idea, it must be practiced to be (re)learned, while the fortress and globalist thinking within us is actively challenged. The transformative social, ecological, and economic practices of indigenous, poor, and politicized social movements can uncover the solidarity pathway(s) and rich histories of mutual aid. It is yet within human control to mitigate the crises ahead, and the solidarity narrative provides the most viable path for survival.

The rationalizing logic, or hegemony, of the capitalist, imperialist thermocene that dominates and demeans social difference (by creating *Otherness*) and degrades ecosystems (as a thing to master, control, and use) "has arguably become so dominant in the modern West as

to crowd out other possible ways of imagining energy" (Daggett 2019, 20). One could add the impossibility of imagining alternative social or economic pathways. This hegemony insists on a hierarchy of value - in people, knowledges, species - thus enabling domination through a universalizing, prescriptive narrative. By limiting imagination, it also obfuscates alternatives. This is the "coloniality of knowledge" which is "the difference made between European and non-European knowledges and symbolic systems. The latter are seen as inferior and are deprived of scientific validity. Defined as "traditional." they are considered to have only practical and local applicability, and their theoretical relevance is limited to their status as objects of study which allow for the comprehension of local modes of life" (Álvarez & Coolsaet 2020, 53, emphasis added). "The modern colonial capitalist patriarchal world system thus marginalizes and demeans forms of knowing, such as caregiving and non-Western law, science, or economics" (Kothari et al. 2019, xxiii).

The keepers of the hegemony fail to engage outside of their framework, and an effort to start may be too little too late. The acceleration of the climate emergency is here, now - runaway effects and tipping points are evident while mass migration, water shortages, drought, death, disease, extinction, and weather disruptions are apparent. That which we considered as a distant "maybe" is a present reality. UN Secretary-General Guterres's announcement was meant to strike a sense of urgency in the missions of governments, but it also evokes fear. While some find hope in reforming existing social, political, and economic systems, there are similar preparations to shelter-in-place, close borders, and guard resources through militarized defenses. These two paths do not rise to the crises in any radical way. They are more of the same. There is an *Other* way, a pluriverse where many worlds can fit - adapting to the changing climate while dismantling the dominant hegemony through revaluing and restoring the otherwise knowledges and practices.

Yet there has always been an "otherwise." It persists and resists domination. As the earth rebels against the abuses against it, so do those subjugated by imperialist, racialized, colonial, patriarchal capitalism. As resilient – and heterogeneous – as the oppression has

been, so too is the plurality of emancipatory paths. Scholars from post-development, degrowth, diverse economies, and feminist camps engage this effort bringing forth the possibility of social-cultural transformation to address the increasingly uninhabitable planet and incredible social strife. "A pluriversal world overcomes patriarchal attitudes, racism, casteism, and other forms of discrimination. Here, people re-learn what it means to be a humble part of 'nature', leaving behind narrow anthropocentric notions of progress based on economic growth" (Kothari et al. 2019, xxviii). These practices are prefigurative acts – living examples of "being the change" desired – but doing it now. Prefigurative actions are a crucial site of resistance, an act from the radical, abolitionist imagination. These resistance formations provide examples of the community needed to dismantle the hegemonic capitalist paradigm and its attendant oppressions against earth and people.

As the climate emergency deepens, solidarity, mutual aid, cooperation, plurality in resistance, and diversity in tactics are the social constructs and enhanced personal practices required for transformative relationships. These are necessary to counter deadly fortress thinking and complicit globalism. This is the best beginning to learn how to adapt – together. This is how we face the abyss.

#### REFERENCES

Álvarez, Lina and Brendan Coolsaet. 2020. "Decolonizing environmental justice studies: a Latin American perspective." Capitalism Nature Socialism 31, no. 2: 50-69. https://doi-org.ezproxy.uio.no/10.1080/10455752.2018.1558272.

Asafu-Adjaye, John, Christopher Foreman, Rachel Pritzker, Linus Blomqvist, David Keith, Joyashree Roy, Stewart Brand et al. 2015. An ecomodernist manifesto. https://www.ecomodernism.org/manifesto-english.

Asher, Kiran and Joel Wainwright. 2019. "After post □ development: On capitalism, difference, and representation." Antipode 51, no. 1: 25-44. https://doi-org.ezproxy.uio.no/10.1111/anti.12430.

Bliss, Sam and Giorgos. 2018. "Ecomodernism." Pluriverse: A Post-Development Dictionary, edited by Ashish Kothari, Ariel Salleh, Arturo Escobar, Federico Demaria, and Alberto Acosta, 43-36. New Delhi: Tulika Books.

Bonneuil, Christophe and Jean-Baptiste Fressoz. 2016. "Thermocene: A political history of CO2." In The shock of the Anthropocene: The earth, history and us. New York: Verso Books.

Burkart, Corinna, Matthias Schmelzer, and Nina Treu. 2020. "Introduction: Degrowth and the Emerging Mosaic of Alternatives." Degrowth in Movement(s): Exploring pathways for transformation, edited by Corinna Burkhart, Matthias Schmelzer, and Nina Treu, 9-28. Winchester: Zero Books.

Burton, Mark and Peter Somerville. 2019. "Degrowth: a defense." New Left Review 115: 95-104. https://newleftreview.org/issues/ii115/articles/mark-burton-peter-somerville-degrowth-a-defence.

Daggett, Cara New. 2019. "The Novelty of Energy." In The birth of energy: fossil fuels, thermodynamics, and the politics of work, 15-32. Durham: Duke University Press.

——. 2019. "The Imperial Organism at Work." In The birth of energy: fossil fuels, thermodynamics, and the politics of work, 132-161. Durham: Duke University Press.

Demaria, Federico and Serge Latouche. 2019. "Degrowth." Pluriverse: A Post-Development Dictionary, edited by Ashish Kothari, Ariel Salleh, Arturo Escobar, Federico Demaria, and Alberto Acosta, 148-151. New Delhi: Tulika Books.

Demaria, Federico, Giorgos Kallis, and Karen Bakker. 2019. "Geographies of degrowth: Nowtopias, resurgences and the decolonization of imaginaries and places." Environment and Planning E: Nature and Space 2, no. 3: 431-450. https://doi-org.ezproxy.uio.no/10.1177/2514848619869689.

Escobar, Arturo. 2015. "Degrowth, postdevelopment, and transitions: a preliminary conversation." Sustainability Science 10: 451-462. https://doi-org.ezproxy.uio.no/10.1007/s11625-015-0297-5.

Esteve, Gustavo. 2018. "Autonomy." In Pluriverse: A Post-Development Dictionary, edited by Ashish Kothari, Ariel Salleh, Arturo Escobar, Federico Demaria, and Alberto Acosta, 99-101. New Delhi: Tulika Books.

Esteva, Gustavo and Arturo Esobar. 2017. "Post-Development @ 25: on 'being stuck' and moving forward, sideways, backward and otherwise." Third World Quarterly 38, no. 12: 2559-2572. https://doi-org.ezproxy.uio.no/10.1080/01436597.2017.1334545.

Gelderloos, Peter. 2013. "Chapter 2: Recuperation is How We Lose." In The Failure of Nonviolence: From Arab Spring to Occupy, 18-22. London: Active Distribution.

Gómez-Baggethun, Erik. 2020. "More is more: Scaling political ecology within limits to growth." Political Geography, 76 (January): 102095. https://doi-org.ezproxy.uio.no/10.1016/j.polgeo.2019.102095.

Green Anarchy Collective. 2005. "What is Green Anarchy? An Introduction to Anti-Civilization Anarchist Thought and Practice." Green Anarchy Collective. https://theanarchistlibrary.org/library/anonymous-what-is-green-anarchy.

Hardt, Michael and Alvaro Reyes. 2012. "New Ways of Doing: The Construction of Another World in Latin America: An Interview with Raúl Zibechi." South Atlantic Quarterly 111, no. 1: 165-191. https://doi-org.ezproxy.uio.no/10.1215/00382876-1472648.

Heynan, Nik and Megan Ybarra. 2021. "On Abolition Ecologies and Making 'Freedom as a Place." Antipode: A Radical Journal of Geography 53, no. 1: 21-35. https://doi-org.ezproxy.uio.no/10.1111/anti.12666.

Hickel, Jason and Kallis, Giorgos. 2020. "Is Green Growth Possible?" New Political Economy 25, no. 4: 469-486. https://doi-org.ezproxy.uio.no/10.1080/13563467.2019.1598964 https://doi.org/10.1080/13563467.2019.1598964.

Illich, Ivan. 1973. "Chapter 2: Convivial Reconstruction." In Tools for Conviviality, 23-29. London: Calder & Boyars.

Illich, Ivan. [1971] 1997. "Development as Planned Poverty." The Post-Development Reader, edited by Majid Rahnema and Victoria Bawtree, 94-102. London: Zed Books.

Izlar, Joel. 2019. "The Case for Prefigurative Feminist Organizing." Journal of Progressive Human Services 30, no. 1: 1-10. https://doi-org.ezproxy.uio.no/10.1080/10428232.2019.1575089.

Knudsen, Ståle. 2014. "Is Escobar's Territories of Difference Good Political Ecology? On Anthropological Engagements with Environmental Social Movements." Social Analysis 58, no. 2: 78-107. https://doi-org.ezproxy.uio.no/10.3167/sa.2014.580205.

Kothari, Ashish, Ariel Salleh, Arturo Escobar, Federico Demaria and Alberto Acosta. 2019. "Introduction: Finding Pluriversal Paths." Pluriverse: A Post-Development Dictionary, edited by Ashish Kothari, Ariel Salleh, Arturo Escobar, Federico Demaria, and Alberto Acosta, xxi – xl. New Delhi: Tulika Books.

Mayer, Margit. 2013. "Preface." Squatting in Europe: Radical Spaces, Urban Struggles, edited by the Squatting Europe Kollective, 1-10. New York: Minor Compositions.

Moore, Jason. 2017. "The Capitalocene Part I: on the nature and origins of our ecological crisis." The Journal of Peasant Studies 44, no. 3: 594-630. https://doi.org/10.1080/03066150.2016.1235036.

2018. "The Capitalocene Part II: accumulation by appropriate and the centrality of unpaid work/energy." The Journal of Peasant Studies 45, no. 2: 237-279. https://doi.org/10.1080/03066150.2016.1272587.

Myerson, JA. 2011. "How Do You Illustrate Corruption? Artist Rachel Schragis Explains." Truthout, November 5, 2011. https://truthout.org/articles/how-do-you-illustrate-corruption-artist-rachel-schragis-explains/.

NDN Collective. n.d. "LANDBACK Manifesto." LANDBACK. Accessed April 30, 2021. https://landback.org/manifesto/.

Nirmal Padini and Dianne Rocheleau. 2019. "Decolonizing degrowth in the post-development convergence: Questions, experiences, and proposals from two Indigenous territories." Environment and Planning E: Nature and Space 2, no. 3: 465-492. https://doi-org.ezproxy.uio.no/10.1177/2514848618819478.

Paulson, Susan. 2021. "Decolonizing technology and political ecology futures." Political Geography 88 (June): 102369. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.polgeo.2021.102369.

Pineault, Eric. 2020. "Chapter 1 The Growth Imperative of Capitalist Society." In Degrowth in Movement(s): Exploring pathways for transformation, edited by Corinna Burkhart, Matthias Schmelzer, and Nina Treu, 29-43. Winchester: Zero Books.

Pulido, Laura. 2018. "Racism and the Anthropocene." In The Remains of the Anthropocene, edited by Gregg Mitman, Robert Emmett, and Marco Armiero, 116-128. Chicago: University of Chicago Press. https://www.laurapulido.org/copy-of-publications.

Red Nation. 2021. The Red Deal: Indigenous Action to Save Our Earth. Brooklyn: Common Notions.

Ribeiro, Silvia. 2019. "Geoengineering." In Pluriverse: A Post-Development Dictionary, edited by Ashish Kothari, Ariel Salleh, Arturo Escobar, Federico Demaria, and Alberto Acosta, 53-56. New Delhi: Tulika Books.

Ross, Alexander Reid and Emmi Bevensee. 2020. "Confronting the Rise of Eco-Fascism Means Grappling with Complex Systems." CARR Research Insight 2020. London, UK: Centre for Analysis of the Radical Right. https://usercontent.one/wp/www.radicalrightanalysis.com/wp-content/uploads/2020/07/Ross Bevensee 2020.3.pdf?media=1627744502.

Ross, Kristin. 2018. "Preface: Making a Territory." In The Zad and NoTAV: Territorial Struggles and the Making of a New Political Intelligence, edited by Kristin Ross, ix-xxiii. New York: Verso Books.

Rowley, Richard, dir. 2021. American Insurrection. PBS: FRONTLINE, Midnight Films, ProPublica, Berkeley Journalism and Exploring Hate, WGBH Educational Foundation. https://www.pbs.org/wgbh/frontline/film/american-insurrection/.

Sachs, Wolfgang. 2017. "The Sustainable Development Goals and Laudato si': Varieties of Post-Development?" Third World Quarterly 38, no. 12: 2573-2587. https://doi-org.ezproxy.uio.no/10.1080/01436597.2017.1350822.

——. 2019. "Forward: The Development Dictionary Revisited." In Pluriverse: A Post-Development Dictionary, edited by Ashish Kothari, Ariel Salleh, Arturo Escobar, Federico Demaria, and Alberto Acosta, xi-xvi. New Delhi: Tulika Books.

Sassen, Saskia. 2013. "Land Grabs Today: Feeding the Disassembling of National Territory." Globalizations 10, no. 1: 25-46. http://saskiasassen.com/PDFs/publications/SS%20LandGrabs.pdf.

——. 2016. "Economic Cleansing: Failure Dressed in Fine Clothes." Social Research 83, no. 3: 673-687. http://saskiasassen.com/PDFs/SS\_EconomicCleansing.pdf.

Siamanta, Zoi C. 2021. "Conceptualizing alternatives to contemporary energy development: Community Renewable Energy Ecologies (CREE)." Journal of Political Ecology 28, no. 1: 47-69. https://doi.org/10.2458/jpe.2297.

Spade, Dean. 2020. Mutual Aid: Building Solidarity During This Crisis (and the next). London: Verso.

Springer, Simon. 2020. "Caring geographies: The COVID-19 Interregnum and a Return to Mutual Aid." Dialogues in Human Geography 10, no. 2: 112-115. https://doi.org/10.1177/2043820620931277.

Swyndedouw, Erik. 2012. "Apocalypse forever? Post-political populism and the spectre of climate change." Theory, Culture and Society 27, no. 2: 213-232. https://doi-org.ezproxy.uio.no/10.1177/0263276409358728.

Tuck, Eve and K. Wayne Yang K. 2012. "Decolonization is not a metaphor." Decolonization: Indigeneity, Education & Society 1, no. 1: 1-40. htt-ps://clas.osu.edu/sites/clas.osu.edu/files/Tuck%20and%20Yang%202012%20Decolonization%20is%20not%20a%20metaphor.pdf.

U.N. News. 2021. "World on the verge of climate 'abyss', as temperature rise continues: UN chief." April 19, 2021. https://news.un.org/en/story/2021/04/1090072.

U.S. Office of the Director of National Intelligence. 2021. Annual Threat Assessment of the US Intelligence Community. https://www.dni.gov/files/ODNI/documents/assessments/ATA-2021-Unclassified-Report.pdf.

World Meteorological Organization. 2021. State of the Global Climate 2020. Report No. WMO-1264. https://public.wmo.int/en/our-mandate/climate/wmo-statement-state-of-global-climate.

## ENERGY, POLITICS AND STRUGGLE IN NORWAY



# A HARD SELL: THOUGHTS ON DEGROWTH'S APPARENT LACK OF APPEAL TO NORMAL PEOPLE

LARS HENNING WØHNCKE

#### INTRODUCTION

To get it out of the way right from the start, the term *normal people* is borrowed from the Norwegian labor party's most recent campaign slogan: "Now it's normal peoples' turn." More on that is to follow below. The idea that there is such a group within society comprises an assumption that they represent sociological norms in some way and make up the majority of citizens within a given society. Under conditions of democracy, then, this group will have a decisive say of how society shall be organized. It follows that if capitalism is to be supplanted by something else, like a society organized along the principles of degrowth for instance, it must be desired, or at least accepted, by that majority. *Normal people*, it can thus be said, hold the key to changing the social order into an alternative one that respects natural limits of resource extraction and energy use.

Starting from this assumption, this commentary will first briefly explore who these normal people actually are thought to be. It will then draw up some key questions that arise from the degrowth literature that at the same time can be suspected to trouble the acceptance of degrowth as a concept among *normal people*. The commentary closes with some thoughts on of how to proliferate the idea of degrowth beyond academic circles and what this means for the promoters of a degrowth agenda.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Translated from Norwegian: "Nå er det vanlige folks tur" (Arbeiderpartiet 2021).

#### CAPITALISM IN CRISIS

The British documentary maker Adam Curtis (2021, 0:00:27) starts his newest work *Can't Get You Out of My Head*, a 6-episode series collaged in his trademark eclectic style, with the following observation:

"We're living through strange days. Across Britain, Europe and America societies have become split and polarized, not just in politics, but across the whole culture. There is anger at the inequality and the ever-growing corruption, and widespread distrust of the elites. Yet at the same time there is a paralysis, a sense that no one knows how to escape from this."

This core question, asking why it is so hard for us to imagine an alternative reality despite the one we are living through being so obviously inadequate, seems to be at the core of what Curtis attempts to approximate answers to in the remainder of the series.

It is also highly relevant for degrowth advocates. Indeed, degrowth makes for an appealing alternative concept to contemporary capitalism, a social order that is undeniably in a deep crisis of legitimacy, as Curtis rightly observes.

Put simply, "[d]egrowth is a planned reduction of energy and resource throughput designed to bring the economy back into balance with the living world in a way that reduces inequality and improves human well-being" (Hickel 2020b, 2). It abandons the growth fetish that is so central to capitalism and replaces it with an ambition of realizing a good life for everyone in harmony with nature. Though such a framing might not immediately trigger enthusiasm in every corner of modern society, when explained and reflected upon it is difficult to see how it would not make for a more attractive alternative than the current glaringly disintegrating capitalism. Yet, degrowth thinking remains mysteriously elusive outside the ivory towers of academia. Why is it that hardly anybody outside the academy is talking about degrowth?

For Curtis, technology and our relationship to it seems to be an important part of the puzzle. Although this would be an excellent rabbit hole to dive into in the context of degrowth, this commentary resists that temptation and instead explores the question of why degrowth seems to be so unappealing to *normal people*, as the Norwegian labor party calls them. To do that, however, one must first understand who *normal people* actually are.

#### NORMAL PEOPLE

The Norwegian labor party's aforementioned recent reorientation towards normal people marks the latest of several desperate attempts to evade the fate of their European social democratic sister-parties. a destiny fittingly named pasokification (The Economist 2016) after the Greek labor party Pasok – a party that pioneered the now universal trend of steady decline into political insignificance among social democratic parties all over Europe. Abandoning the urban elites from which most of their top political personnel is recruited, and whose votes are increasingly hard-fought in the face of a crowded party landscape, can of course be suspected to be more of a strategic choice than an ideological one. This assumption can easily be derived from a brief glimpse at the current political terrain and the dynamics that drive it in the lead-up to the soon-to-be held parliamentary elections. It remains to be seen whether it will have been a wise decision in the medium and longer term. Be that as it may, this commentary does not intend to analyze this deeper. Of value for the topic at hand, however, is the political notion of *normal people* reflected in the slogan above, and what it can contribute to better understanding the task of advancing new ideas like degrowth in the public discourse.

The Norwegian labor party's recent turn towards *normal people* in the domestic context overlaps significantly with a turn to the periphery. Yet, while the centre-periphery cleavage has long been recognized as one of the more defining conflict lines in Norwegian politics (Rokkan 1967), it is far from the only antagonism at play in Norwegian politics today. Needless to say, wealth and income are still valid indicators of class divisions, especially in times of rapidly increasing inequality (Aaberge, Modalsli & Vestland 2020). However, as in oth-

er countries, there seems to be another split across western societies that cannot be described by geography or inequality alone, nor be grasped through traditional left-right scales. The economist Thomas Piketty (2018, 3) describes this other-dimensional rupture as "a 'globalists' (high-education, high-income) vs 'nativists' (low-education, low-income) cleavage." The British journalist David Goodheart spans the line between anywheres and somewheres (Goodhart 2017), the former being the mobile and educated beneficiaries of globalization, the latter making up the stuck-in-place losers. He also attributes the emergence of identity politics to this division. The anthropologist David Graeber (2019) drew up the conflict as one between the managerial class and the caring classes (care understood in a wider than conventional sense, also including all unpaid care work). The novelty of these tools for political analysis lies in the observation that they run along dimensions that are not only political, but also markedly cultural.

All of these concepts would probably fit the labor party's perception of *normal people* nicely (nurses and teachers are for example often mentioned as examples of *normal people* in speeches and debate contributions from the labor party these days, matching Graeber's category of the caring classes). Goodhart seems to be more read among Norwegian labor party functionaries (e. g. Støre 2021), however. The observation that *normal people* (sometimes implicitly, sometimes explicitly) tend to be contrasted with an equally vague notion of *elites*, gives another clue to where *normal people* may be located on these scales. As referred to explicitly by the labor party's campaign but doubtlessly thought of as such by many more, *normal people* can thus safely be assumed to be equal to those on the less (formally) educated and lower-paid end of the described scales: the nativists, somewheres, or caring classes.

This exaggerated depiction is of course aware of the inevitable shortcomings of caricaturing complex political conflicts along such simple lines. As also the labor spin-doctors will be aware of, these are stereotypes that will rarely be observed in real life. One should also be cautious not to overestimate the structural explanatory utility of these models, certainly in the Norwegian case (Jenssen 2021). Needless to say, one could also problematize the attempt of defining

these boundaries from arguably the very elite standpoint that one tries to delimit. But this is not the place to go any deeper into this because, again, the only thing we are after here is an operationalizable notion of *normal people* for the purpose of this commentary, however rudimentary. In essence, all we need to take away from this is that *normal people*, by and large, do not include academics. This is relevant, because it is almost exclusively academics who theorize about degrowth (certainly in the global North). If degrowth is going to develop in Norway, however, this cleavage needs to be bridged. The following sections will look closer at where challenges lie.

#### DEGROWTH -AN ALTERNATIVE TO CAPITALISM

Recalling that capitalism is in a severe crisis, one would assume that this would be fertile ground for alternative ideas of how to organize society, such as degrowth. Yet, as Curtis reminds us, that is not at all the case. People seem to be frightened of change, despite the mayhem all around us and climate and environmental crises rapidly worsening. The often-cited expression that "[i]t is easier to imagine the end of the world than the end of capitalism," (Jameson 2003, 76) is one manifestation of this fear of change.

Still, alternative ideas have emerged. As one of the more prominent ones, drawing on inspiration from environmental activism (Jordan 2020), indigenous resistance movements (Nirmal & Rocheleau 2019; Demaria, Kallis & Bakker 2019), as well as postcolonial and post-development theory (Escobar 2015; Esteva & Escobar 2017; Gudynas 2019), degrowth is now rapidly gaining traction across academic disciplines to the point where it seems to be on the verge of spillover to society at large. This, however, has not happened yet.

What are the main barriers holding back such a spillover? The following tries to outline some central aspects of degrowth thinking, selected by virtue of the resistance they are likely to encounter among *normal people* that do not think about concepts like these for a living.

#### REINTERPRETING HISTORY

One immediately striking feature of degrowth literature is that it often tends to start with tracing the historical origins of modern capitalism. That is, a capitalism with perpetual growth at its core, an element without which it would cease to be what it is; in Hickel's (2020a, 40) words:

"When we think of capitalism we think of things like markets and trade, which seem natural and innocent enough. But this is a false equivalence. Markets have been around for many thousands of years, in different times and places. Capitalism, however, is relatively recent — only about 500 years old [...] What makes capitalism distinctive isn't that it has markets, but that it is organised around perpetual growth. It is a system that pulls ever-expanding quantities of nature and human labour into circuits of accumulation."

One debate where this view has manifested itself was sparked by the proliferation of the term *the Anthropocene*. The term is generally accredited to Paul Crutzen (2002) and is widely accepted. The reasoning behind the term is that Earth, for the first time in its age-old history, finds itself geologically shaped by the forces unleashed by human activity.

There is a myriad of problems with this term, of which only a few can be mentioned here. To begin with: it displays an anthropocentrism that is in itself part of the problem (Somma 2006, 39). Furthermore, rather than speaking of *the* Anthropocene, or a singular climate crisis, it makes more sense to describe the situation humanity faces as multiple "mounting capitalogenic environmental crises" (Siamanta 2021, 48). A number of critical engagements with the term find that it would be more appropriate to speak of a *Capitalocene*. This, it is argued, is because the geologically determining factors, such as the spectacular rise in climate gas emissions, coincides not with human activity per se, but with the unprecedented levels of extraction and accumulation characteristic to a capitalist organization of human societies, which is a much more recent phenomenon (Moore 2017; Bonneuil & Fressoz 2016; Hickel 2020a). Alternatively, John Clark

(2020, 10) argues for naming a geological epoch not according to what has caused it but according to what is occurring within it: "the most accurate, Earth-centered, term is 'Necrocene', the 'new era of death.' Ours is the age of die-off, of mass extinction of life on Earth, and this is what the fossil record will record."

Whatever terminology one prefers, degrowth rejects the notion that humanity and nature principally stand in conflict with each other. On the contrary, its advocates argue that humans and the natural world can live – and for most of human existence have lived – in reciprocal harmony with each other. That is, as long as natural limits are not exceeded in the name of growth – which under capitalism tends to the benefit very few, and kills off everything that gets in its way. The latter point adds an important social dimension to the critique of capitalism. Degrowth, therefore, challenges both the premise that humans are by nature competitive rather than cooperative, as exemplified by the concept of *homo economicus* (Demaria & Latouche 2019), and the antagonistic human/nature dualism that is necessary for any extractive relationship with Mother Earth (Hickel 2020a).

As Arturo Escobar writes, "[e]nvironmental struggles are often ontological struggles, that is, they involve contests over the basic definition of life and the world" (Escobar 2015, 460). If it is also true that "[h]istorical capitalism is not only a social formation but an ontological one," (Moore 2017, 600) understanding degrowth perspectives necessitates critically confronting the mainstream and internalized assumptions of our current economic reality and how it came about. Hence, the task at hand is to unlearn, as a society, the myths that have underpinned western culture and education at least since the Washington Consensus. Many argue that it goes much further back, some as long as 500 years, coinciding with the advancement of enclosure in Europe in the early 1500s and colonization abroad, beginning with the discovery of America by Columbus in 1492 (Hickel 2020a, 45–54).

Already Ivan Illich (1973, 18), one of the intellectual ancestors of degrowth, knew that

"[o]ur present attitudes toward production have been formed over the centuries. Increasingly, institutions have not only shaped our demands but also in the most literal sense our logic, or sense of proportion. Having come to demand what institutions can produce, we soon believe that we cannot do without it."

Needless to say, undoing five centuries of capitalist cultural programming is no small task.

To return to the Norwegian example once more, the issue is complicated further by what Anne Terese Gullberg (2014, 372) has called *collective cognitive dissonance* in the context of the paradoxical self-image of Norway being a "climate-friendly oil nation." Elisabeth Eide et al. (2014, 18) put it more carefully:

<sup>2</sup> Translated from Norwegian: "klimavennlig olienasjon" (Gullberg 2014, 372).

"Is it perhaps the case that politicians, with their advisors and their daily or weekly press appearances dressed in media-friendly rhetoric, reach through to their audience easier with their political realism, defined by the desire to win the next election (four-year perspective) than what researchers with their threatening and complicated hundred-year-perspectives do?"<sup>3</sup>

Translated from Norwegian: "Er det kanskje slik at politikere, med sine rådgivere og sine daglige eller ukentlige medieopptredener iført medievennlig retorikk, når lettere frem til publikum med sin politiske realisme, preget av ønsket om å vinne neste valg (fireårsperspektiv) enn det forskerne med sine truende og kompliserte hundreårspespektiver gjør?" (Eide et al. 2014, 18).

Affirming the cognitive dissonance diagnosis, they go on to speculate that from this viewpoint, people are not critical because they question the soundness of the research, but because of what it would mean for them if it were true (Eide et al. 2014). In other words, critically engaging with the history of the Necrocene entails scrutinizing one's own role in it. As in any country, to expect *normal people* to do this is a tall order in a place like Norway, a country where the boomer generation especially has benefited from fossil fuel extraction, while its environmental and social costs have been largely externalized. Although Norway seems to be an extreme case, the phenomenon of collective cognitive dissonance is by no means limited to Norway but a universal phenomenon across western civilization (see Hickel & Kallis 2020; Hickel 2020a; Jordan 2020).

#### TRANSITION VS. TRANSFORMATION

As indicated in the foregoing section, one of the appealing features of the degrowth argument is that if the human/nature dualism is a false premise, and if the exploitation of nature goes along with the exploitation of humans, the environmental and the social question are inseparable. The question that follows from this, then, is: how can the current and unsustainable capitalist social order be overcome? This is not a trivial question, but it necessarily follows from the above realization.

Still, degrowth advocates – certainly the more mainstream ones – are reluctant to address this question directly, which is understandable considering the effects insurrectionist labels can have on academic reputations and careers (Aall 2018). Nonetheless, the degrowth debate – especially when contrasted with green growth – is closely related to the debate between transition versus transformation. It therefore seems appropriate to briefly outline this debate, but first the term *green growth* should be explained.

Green growth is the dominant strategy in academic and policy responses to the climate catastrophe. Some of its proponents label themselves ecomodernists, attempting to occupy the position of modernism and thereby relegating alternative schools of thought to the opposite. The attribute *modern* is narrowly interpreted in technological terms in this discourse. Accordingly, "[e]comodernism foresees salvation in technology" (Bliss & Kallis 2019, 43). However, green growth is also advocated by more moderate, pro-market eco-reformists (Bliss & Kallis 2019). Green growth "rests on the assumption that absolute decoupling of GDP growth from resource use and carbon emissions is feasible [...] and at a rate sufficient to prevent dangerous climate change and other dimensions of ecological breakdown" (Hickel & Kallis 2020, 469). As such, it is conceptually much closer to contemporary capitalism and would therefore require much lesser societal change than degrowth, let alone a radical departure from the ruling capitalist logic. Unfortunately, however, it is also a deeply flawed idea, both empirically (Hickel & Kallis 2020), logically (Ward et al. 2016), and operationally (Dunlap 2021).

The terms *transition* and *transformation* have been widely used in academic literature, both in environmental contexts and beyond, so they naturally have many (sometimes contradictory) meanings. Michael Child and Christian Breyer (2017, 19) have made the effort to streamline both terms in the context of the debate on "change in the progress towards future sustainable energy systems." They found that "there currently seems to be an overlapping of the semantic representations and usage of the terms transition and transformation. In some cases, it also appears that the words are being used interchangeably." Although they start from a rather "soft" understanding of transformation – which may be owed to their focus on energy *systems* – their research highlights an important point: To fruitfully discuss different concepts there first has to be an agreement on language and usage of terms.

Andrew Stirling (2014, 13) has offered a more pronounced distinction between the two terms:

"Societal transitions, it may be recalled, are mediated mainly through technological innovation implemented under structured control, presided over by incumbent interests according to tightly-disciplined knowledge, towards a particular known (presumptively shared) end [...] Social transformations, on the other hand, are based more around wider innovations in social practices as well as technologies [...] driven by incommensurable, tacit and embodied knowledges, involving more diverse, emergent and unruly political re-alignments that challenge incumbent structures pursuing contending (even unknown) ends."

If green growth strives to maintain the growth regime, just under different (non-)material conditions, while degrowth aims at reconfiguring social and human/nature relations entirely by doing away with growth, it is not difficult to see how these concepts pair with the transition/transformation duality. While degrowth proponents, in general, understand that degrowth will have to be brought about by "transformation strategies" that span over a range of diverse and unruly movements and alliances, green growth advocates "tend to prefer vertical forms of organization" (Burkhart, Schmelzer & Treu 2020, 20, 10).

Though still juxtaposing fossil fuel with so-called renewable energy (see Dunlap 2021 for why this is a misleading term), Peter Newell (2019, 26) criticizes transition approaches for having a narrow, so-cio-technological focus whilst continuing "to neglect questions of politics and power beyond specific management strategies and governance practices." While ecomodernism in essence views climate change as "a technical challenge that does not require social or cultural transformation" (Bliss & Kallis 2019, 45), Newell (2019, 27) maintains that a

"more explicitly political and historical analysis allows us to move beyond glib statements about 'green growth' and 'win-win solutions' to the climate crisis to reveal the conflicts, trade-offs and compromises implicit in a fundamental re-structuring of an economy and the relations of power that will determine which pathways are pursued."

Introducing the Gramscian term *trasformismo* to the energy debate, Newell goes on to argue that disregarding questions of power risks co-opting alternative ideas by absorbing them into the old hegemony and thereby frustrating the emergence of organized opposition. In Newell's words, "trasformismo is the political attempt to manage this terrain: to ensure that politics and policy reinforce a market liberal approach to transitions within capitalism as opposed to more sweeping transformations of it" (Newell 2019, 29). Whether or not green growth exemplifies trasformismo in this sense is a question that lies beyond the scope of this commentary. However, it is a useful concept to illustrate that compliant reform of capitalism would at the very least be complicated.

Degrowth scholars tend to doubt that it is at all possible for capitalism to transition away from destructive growth, or even just into a lower gear, because aggressive growth is its defining characteristic: "The history of capitalism is one of dramatic ups and downs. Periods of unprecedented growth are followed by catastrophic crises of value destruction (including by war) clearing the ground for fresh accumulation [...] Prices are not adjusted so much by the market, as they are by crises and devaluations, at the peril of the most vulnerable segments of the population [...] [Schumpeterian] [c]reative destruction is the distinctive feature of capitalism [...] Capitalism does degrow, but not by choice and not stably. A smooth price adjustment to an externally imposed limitation, such as a cap, is therefore unlikely." (Kallis, Kerschner & Martinez-Alier 2012, 177)

Thus, a transition (in Stirling's sense as quoted above) into a "tamed" or "friendly" version of capitalism is deemed unlikely by most degrowth scholars. Indeed, it would oppose the very nature of capitalism. The limited theoretical possibility for a smooth transition – as well as the experienced history of the opposite – can be said to be central to the emergence of degrowth as an idea in the first place. Hence, at best, degrowth may need to be brought about by a "fortuitous combination of popular struggle and collapse of the capitalist system" (Burton & Somerville 2019, 104).

Mark Somma (2006, 38) unsentimentally asserts (though in a more general environmentalist context) that, "[t]he change required is *revolutionary* – it is systemic and far-reaching in scope: it demands a different conceptual paradigm, new values and lifeways, and a dramatically different set of social institutions." Echoing the voices cited above, he adds that "[1]ike a vehicle not equipped with brakes, the momentum of economic growth seems to have an inertia that can only be stopped with a crash" (Ibid., 41). While it is not necessarily required that everyone engages in active resistance,

"without a culture where acts of resistance (from protest to sabotage) are supported by a wider population than that which is actually ready to take part in them, we will not have the systemic change necessary to achieve justice and avoid the collapse of our life support systems on this planet." (Jordan 2020, 68–69)

This insight also does not bode well for the prospect of awakening an appetite of degrowth among *normal people*. If Curtis is right and people already are paralyzed out of fear of change as it is, the prospectof an unruly uprising against capitalism makes it unlikely that a sufficient number of *normal people* would buy into the idea of degrowth before things get significantly worse. One of the reasons for this morbid complacency could be that, as Serge Latouche (2014) has highlighted, "when we speak of the colonization of the imaginary we are dealing with a mental invasion in which we are the victims and the agents. It is largely self-colonization, a partly voluntary servitude." Thus, challenging the ruling social order means challenging our role in upholding it. As with reinterpreting one's position in history, this can be an unpleasant exercise.

#### CONCLUDING THOUGHTS

These concerns go much deeper than the more common prompt for degrowth to "become as sexy as capitalism is" (Jordan 2020, 67). Even if degrowth manages to shake off its unjustified image of a mode of existence that has to say no to everything and instead also in popular mainstream culture becomes the positive vision that it is, a break from a capitalist interpretation of history and a readiness for unruly transformational change remain necessary requirements for accepting the idea. In the current climate of fear of any change, that Curtis so aptly portrays, one can perhaps understand why the Norwegian labor party, fighting for its life, goes down the safer avenue of promising a politics that sounds a lot like the "good old days" – days we cannot return to because we are running out of planet. It nonetheless seems irresponsible.

As for academia, could it also be that *normal people* reject the idea of degrowth – or any alternative path for that matter – because it is handed down from above by lofty academics, the anywheres, who have detached themselves from *normal people* to an extent that they no longer understand their reality? Is the problem perhaps not just

the message, but also the messengers? Without wanting to overtax the old image of the ivory tower, much suggests that academics need to reconnect with *normal people*, or better, become more like *normal people* in a structural sense. Philosophizing about the epistemological and ontological underpinnings of degrowth is not without virtue, but it is far from enough if the ambition is that degrowth shall actually see the light of day at some point. If academics, as an undeniable part of a societal elite, continue to soar above *normal people* without genuinely desiring their involvement and companionship, degrowth is doomed to remain in the lofty realms of theory. A credible engagement with *normal people*, on the other hand, requires that academics put themselves into their struggles and demonstrate a sincere will to listen and to understand – and beyond that to combat the trend of ever-expanding inequality between elites and *normal people*.

Yet, even if all that should succeed, time is short. Under ordinary circumstances, the process of de-colonizing our minds (Kothari et al. 2019, xvii) is a multi-generation project. As the capitalist order continues to bleed legitimacy, the demand for new ideas might accelerate. Still, despite the age-old calls for a "spiritual awakening, ecological education and fundamental political and economic change" (Somma 2006, 42), it is hard to see all that materialize in the short time left to avert total environmental collapse (in favor of mere disaster). This poses uncomfortable questions to the individual agency of those of us who have the insight and the ability to confront necrocenic capitalism on a more direct level. But it does not foreclose the importance of building and participating in communities that work towards re-adjusting our imaginaries towards a degrowth reality. It is not a binary relationship. On the contrary, perhaps what is needed to prepare the ground for a degrowth reality for people, regardless of where they stand, is exactly direct involvement both on the individual and the community level.

#### REFERENCES

Aaberge, Rolf, Jørgen Heibo Modalsli, and Ola Lotherington Vestland. 2020. "Ulikheten – betydelig større enn statistikken viser." SSB Analyse 2020. Oslo: Statistisk sentralbyrå (SSB)/Official Statistics of Norway. https://www.ssb.no/inntekt-og-forbruk/artikler-og-publikasjoner/ulikheten-betydelig-storre-enn-statistikken-viser.

Aall, Carlo. 2018. "Fokus på vekst splitter våre samfunn." Harvest (blog). October 25, 2018. https://www.harvestmagazine.no/pan/forskere-ber-eu-bli-uavhengig-av-vekst.

Arbeiderpartiet. 2021. "Nå er det vanlige folks tur." Arbeiderpartiet. https://www.arbeiderpartiet.no/aktuelt/na-er-det-vanlige-folks-tur/.

Bliss, Sam, and Giorgos Kallis. 2019. "Ecomodernism." In Pluriverse: A Post-Development Dictionary, edited by Ashish Kothari, Ariel Salleh, Arturo Escobar, Federico Demaria, and Alberto Acosta, 43–46. New Delhi: Tulika Books and Authorsupfront.

Bonneuil, Christophe, and Jean-Baptiste Fressoz. 2016. The Shock of the Anthropocene: The Earth, History and Us. London: Verso.

Burkhart, Corinna, Matthias Schmelzer, and Nina Treu, eds. 2020. Degrowth in Movement(s). Winchester, UK/Washington, USA: Zero Books.

Burton, Mark, and Peter Somerville. 2019. "Degrowth: A Defence." New Left Review, no. 115: 95-104.

Can't Get You Out of My Head. 2021. "Bloodshed on Wolf Mountain." BBC video. February 11. https://www.bbc.co.uk/programmes/p093wpgw.

Child, Michael, and Christian Breyer. 2017. "Transition and Transformation: A Review of the Concept of Change in the Progress towards Future Sustainable Energy Systems." Energy Policy 107: 11–26. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.enpol.2017.04.022.

Clark, John. 2020. "What Is Eco-Anarchism?" The Ecological Citizen 3 (Suppl C): 9-14.

Crutzen, Paul J. 2002. "Geology of Mankind." Nature 415 (6867): 23. https://doi.org/10.1038/415023a.

Demaria, Federico, Giorgos Kallis, and Karen Bakker. 2019. "Geographies of Degrowth: Nowtopias, Resurgences and the Decolonization of Imaginaries and Places." Environment and Planning E: Nature and Space 2 (3): 431–50. https://doi.org/10.1177/2514848619869689.

Demaria, Federico, and Serge Latouche. 2019. "Degrowth." In Pluriverse: A Post-Development Dictionary, edited by Ashish Kothari, Ariel Salleh, Arturo Escobar, Federico Demaria, and Alberto Acosta, 148–50. New Delhi: Tulika Books and Authorsupfront.

Dunlap, Alexander. 2021. "Does Renewable Energy Exist? Fossil Fuel+ Technologies and the Search for Renewable Energy." In A Critical Approach to the Social Acceptance of Renewable Energy Infrastructures – Going beyond Green Growth and Sustainability, edited by Susana Batel and David Rudolph. London: Palgrave Macmillan.

Eide, Elisabeth, Dag Elgesem, Siri Gloppen, and Lise Rakner. 2014. "Norske paradokser. Mediene, politikken og opinionen." In Klima, medier og politikk, edited by Elisabeth Eide, Dag Elgesem, Siri Gloppen, and Lise Rakner, 334. Oslo: Abstrakt Forlag.

Escobar, Arturo. 2015. "Degrowth, Postdevelopment, and Transitions: A Preliminary Conversation." Sustainability Science 10 (3): 451–62. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11625-015-0297-5.

Esteva, Gustavo, and Arturo Escobar. 2017. "Post-Development @ 25: On 'Being Stuck' and Moving Forward, Sideways, Backward and Otherwise." Third World Quarterly 38 (12): 2559–72. https://doi.org/10.1080/01436597.2017.1334545.

Goodhart, David. 2017. The Road to Somewhere: The Populist Revolt and the Future of Politics. London: Hurst & Company.

Graeber, David. 2019. Bullshit Jobs. A Theory. London: Penguin Random House UK.

Gudynas, Eduardo. 2019. "Value, Growth, Development: South American Lessons for a New Ecopolitics." Capitalism Nature Socialism 30 (2): 234–43. https://doi.org/10.1080/10455752.2017.1372502.

Gullberg, Anne Therese. 2014. "Bokanmeldelse: Elisabeth Eide, Dag Elgesem, Siri Gloppen and Lise Rakner (red.): Klima, medier og politikk." Tidsskrift For Samfunnsforskning 56 (3): 372–81.

Hickel, Jason. 2020a. Less Is More. How Degrowth Will Save the World. London: Penguin Books.

——. 2020b. "What Does Degrowth Mean? A Few Points of Clarification." Globalizations, 1–7. https://doi.org/10.1080/14747731.2020 .1812222.

Hickel, Jason, and Giorgos Kallis. 2020. "Is Green Growth Possible?" New Political Economy 25 (4): 469–86. https://doi.org/10.1080/135 63467.2019.1598964.

Illich, Ivan. 1973. Tools for Conviviality. New York, Evanston, San Francisco, London: Harper & Row.

Jameson, Fredric. 2003. "Future City." New Left Review, no. 21: 65-79.

Jenssen, Anders Todal. 2021. "Populisme mot elitisme: Teoretiske utfordringer og et måleproblem." Norsk statsvitenskapelig tidsskrift 37 (01): 26–49. https://doi.org/10.18261/issn.1504-2936-2021-01-02.

Jordan, John. 2020. "Artivism: Injecting Imagination into Degrowth." In Degrowth in Movement(s), edited by Corinna Burkhart, Matthias Schmelzer, and Nina Treu, 59–72. Winchester, UK/Washington, USA: Zero Books.

Kallis, Giorgos, Christian Kerschner, and Joan Martinez-Alier. 2012. "The Economics of Degrowth." Ecological Economics 84: 172–80. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecolecon.2012.08.017.

Kothari, Ashish, Ariel Salleh, Arturo Escobar, Federico Demaria, and Alberto Acosta, eds. 2019. Pluriverse: A Post-Development Dictionary. New Delhi: Tulika Books and Authorsupfront.

Latouche, Serge. 2014. "Imaginary, Decolonization Of." In Degrowth: A Vocabulary for a New Era, edited by Giacomo D'Alisa, Federico Demaria, and Giorgos Kallis, 1st ed. New York, London: Routledge. https://doi.org/10.4324/9780203796146.

Moore, Jason W. 2017. "The Capitalocene, Part I: On the Nature and Origins of Our Ecological Crisis." The Journal of Peasant Studies 44 (3): 594–630. https://doi.org/10.1080/03066150.2016.1235036.

Newell, Peter. 2019. "Transformismo or Transformation? The Global Political Economy of Energy Transitions." Review of International Political Economy 26 (1): 25–48. https://doi.org/10.1080/09692290.2018.1511448.

Nirmal, Padini, and Dianne Rocheleau. 2019. "Decolonizing Degrowth in the Post-Development Convergence: Questions, Experiences, and Proposals from Two Indigenous Territories." Environment and Planning E: Nature and Space 2 (3): 465–92. https://doi.org/10.1177/2514848618819478.

Piketty, Thomas. 2018. "Brahmin Left vs Merchant Right: Rising Inequality & the Changing Structure of Political Conflict." 2018/7. World Inequality Lab Working Papers. Paris: World Inequality Lab.

Rokkan, Stein. 1967. "Geography, Religion, and Social Class: Crosscutting Cleavages in Norwegian Politics." In Party Systems and Voter Alignments: Cross-National Perspectives, edited by Seymour M. Lipset and Stein Rokkan, 367–444. New York/London: Free Press.

Siamanta, Zoi Christina. 2021. "Conceptualizing Alternatives to Contemporary Renewable Energy Development: Community Renewable Energy Ecologies (CREE)." Journal of Political Ecology 28 (1): 47–70. https://doi.org/10.2458/jpe.2297.

Somma, Mark. 2006. "Revolutionary Environmentalism: An Introduction." In Igniting a Revolution. Voices in Defense of the Earth, edited by Steven Best and Anthony J. Nocella, 37–46. Chico, California: AK Press.

Stirling, Andy. 2014. Emancipating Transformations: From Controlling 'the Transition' to Culturing Plural Radical Progress. STEPS Working Paper 64. Brighton: STEPS Centre.

Støre, Jonas Gahr. 2021. "Kronikk: Ingen er trygge før alle er trygge." Dagens Næringsliv, April 9, 2021. https://www.dn.no/med-egne-ord/globa-lisering/pandemi/klima-og-miljo/kronikk-ingen-er-trygge/for-alle-er-trygge/2-1-992787.

The Economist. 2016. "Rose Thou Art Sick." The Economist, April 2, 2016. https://www.economist.com/briefing/2016/04/02/rose-thou-art-sick.

Ward, James D., Paul C. Sutton, Adrian D. Werner, Robert Costanza, Steve H. Mohr, and Craig T. Simmons. 2016. "Is Decoupling GDP Growth from Environmental Impact Possible?" PLOS ONE 11 (10): e0164733. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0164733.

# FRAMING, FUNDING AND JUSTIFYING ENERGY FOR DEVELOPMENT

VILDE NORENES HILLEREN

In the autumn of 2020, the Norwegian Agency for Development Cooperation (Norad) proposed two different pathways for extending its long-running Oil for Development (OfD) programme into a broad energy programme (Norad 2020a). Since 2005, OfD has worked to promote "economically, environmentally and socially responsible management of petroleum resources which safeguards the needs of future generations" (Norad 2021). The overarching goal of the programme is to reduce poverty through "sustainable economic growth and welfare for the citizens," which it aims to achieve through strengthening regulatory frameworks, building institutional capacity, and fostering public sector transparency (Norad 2020a, 4).1 In their newly proposed Energy for Development (EfD) programme, Norad suggests that "climate concerns" should be considered equally important to the goal of reducing poverty, and provide two options for achieving this. The first option consists of merging Oil for Development with Norad's Clean Energy Initiative (Ren), which aims to improve clean energy access and production in countries in the Global South,<sup>2</sup> as well as to increase the focus on climate and the environment in both these programmes. The second alternative involves combining this merge with funding mechanisms for the production of renewable energy (Norad 2020a).

This article will analyze three related, but distinct aspects of Norad's EfD proposals: its conception of "energy transitions"; its introduction of financing mechanisms for energy sources to replace coal and oil; and its understanding of the global responsibilities of rich countries to curtail the current climate crisis. The article argues that by presenting large-scale renewable energy production aimed primarily at generating economic growth as a viable pathway to mitigate climate change and reduce poverty, Norad is reinforcing the capitalist logic of endless accumulation that is at the heart of the climate crisis.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> OfD's current partner countries include Benin, Colombia, Cuba, Ghana, Iraq, Kenya, Lebanon, Mozambique, Myanmar, Somalia, South Sudan, Sudan, and Uganda (Norad n.d.).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Ren's partner countries include Bhutan, Ethiopia, Haiti, India, Indonesia, Liberia, Mozambique, Myanmar, Nepal, Palestine, South Sudan, Tanzania, Timor-Leste, and Uganda (Norad 2017, 64).

The first part of the article will give a brief overview of the OfD programme in its current form, followed by a review of different histories and literatures of energy transitions and their relationship to growth, development, and the climate crisis. Building on the literature of degrowth and post-development scholars in particular, the article will then analyze how the EfD proposals conceptualize energy transitions. The third part of the article focuses on the second EfD alternative and examines its proposed funding mechanisms for expanding renewable energy production. Drawing on research about the material consequences of growth-driven extraction for renewable energy, it also problematizes some of the report's assumptions about the development of "clean" energy sources. Finally, it contrasts Norad's portrayal of Norway's global responsibility in climate crisis mitigation with literature on historical and contemporary ecological debt.

### OIL FOR DEVELOPMENT

Oil for Development was launched in September of 2005, with the aim of transferring Norwegian petroleum management expertise to partner countries. Since its inception, the programme has focused on good governance, capacity building, and transparency, with an overarching goal of contributing to poverty reduction by generating stable oil revenues. A government press release from the launch of the programme also highlights OfD's strategic importance for Norway's influence on global oil production, stating that "the government wants Norway to play a central and clearly defined role in the international dialogue on oil and development" (The Norwegian Ministry of Foreign Affairs 2005). Former Minister of Petroleum and Energy Thorhild Widvey is quoted as saying that "increasing the stability and reliability of petroleum production in developing countries will also boost global petroleum supply security" (Ibid.). Some of the ways the programme works to achieve its aims include influencing petroleum legislation and regulation in partner countries, holding training sessions for relevant public sectors, and working with civil society organizations to promote petroleum sector transparency and accountability. Between its establishment in 2005 and 2019, the

annual OfD budget grew from 50 to over 230 million NOK, and in the same time period the programme has operated in 30 different partner countries.

A common argument across these country partnerships is that OfD helps "face the petroleum curse" (Norad 2008; 2013; 2020a; 2020b). In an OfD report from 2008 (Norad 2008, 2), then-Minister of the Environment and International Development Erik Solheim writes the following:

"Oil should be a blessing, not a curse. Governments should use petroleum revenues to provide essential services for the many, and not line the pockets of the few; local communities should experience new economic opportunities from petroleum activities, and not the destruction of their livelihoods through environmental degradation; countries rich in petroleum should prosper, and not slide into violent conflict and political chaos."

The premise of the so-called resource curse is that many countries with rich sources of oil and minerals also experience lower levels of economic growth and other measurements of development than other countries. Norad claims that there are a mix of political and economic reasons for this, including governments that were either unable to manage resources due to the volatility of the market, or that "were weak, unstable or corrupt, and thus directed resources into private pockets rather than activities for the public good" (Norad 2013, 74). This analysis leads to the conclusion that OfD can help counter the "resource curse" by strengthening institutional petroleum management in partner countries.

OfD envisions "a holistic approach to petroleum management," which entails a "profitable and sustainable management of petroleum resources" (Norad 2015, 3). In order to achieve this, institutions should create frameworks that provide "a fair share" of petroleum income to the state and ensure that investors and producers retain "sufficiently attractive returns."

Norad does not specify what a "fair share" consists of, nor how this amount is determined. The environmental concerns of the approach focus on disaster prevention, taking the environment into account during "all phases of petroleum exploration and production" as well as "issues related to climate change" (Ibid.). Some OfD annual reports refer to specific environmental successes, such as developing petroleum-related Health, Safety and Environment regulations of partner countries (Norad 2016), boosting environmental data management capacity (Norad 2018), or helping relevant institutions address the challenges of gas flaring (Norad 2019). However, the language of "addressing" and "accounting for" climate change or environmental impact remains incredibly vague and says little to nothing about the material consequences these considerations will have for petroleum production. Promoting environmental responsibility that ends after the point of production also enables petroleum companies and oil-producing countries to frame their ever-expanding extraction as "green." This narrative is also present in the EfD proposals, in which Norad argues that the continuation of OfD in a broader energy program will enable Norway to push petroleum production in a less pollutive direction (Norad 2020a, 3).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> For example, Equinor's 2020 sustainability report boasts about the "record-low operational CO2 emissions" of the newly opened Johan Sverdrup field, despite its potential to increase Norwegian oil production by 37 per cent (Equinor 2020, 2; Helgesen 2011).

### HISTORIES OF ENERGY TRANSITIONS

A key justification for broadening Oil for Development into Energy for Development is to contribute to partner countries' energy transitions, purportedly in the hopes that this will reduce emissions and help stop climate change. However, critical historical analyses tell a different story about these transitions and their transformative potential. Historically, changes in energy production and consumption have been tightly connected to economic growth and increasing energy demand. Despite its positive reputation in mainstream development, the logic of continuous growth is at the heart of the climate crisis, thus technological energy innovations alone do not challenge the root causes of climate change.

In his book Energy transitions: history, requirements, prospects, Vaclav Smil (2010, vii, emphasis original) defines energy transitions as the "change in the composition (structure) of primary energy supply, the gradual shift from a specific pattern of energy provision to a new state of an energy system." Energy historian Arnulf Grubler (2012) argues that the energy transitions of the past were driven by technological innovation, improved efficiency, and the scaling up of new forms of energy production. The study of historical changes in energy production, he argues, "can reveal patterns, dynamics, and drivers of past changeovers" that can inform contemporary strategies for the transition of the future (Ibid., 8). York and Bell (2019) argue that energy transitions cannot just be defined as *changes* in energy provision, but instead entail a simultaneous process of "developing the infrastructure for and expanding the production of a new energy source" and "a transition away from (i.e., a genuine decline in the use of) more established energy sources" (Ibid., 40, emphasis original). Building on this definition, they challenge recent announcements such as that of Michelle Grayson (2017, 133) in Nature, who claims that "the transition from fossil fuels is well underway." It is true that the consumption of renewable energy has increased by an annual average of 13.7 per cent in the past decade, and that this consumption was the highest on record in energy terms in 2019 (British Petroleum 2020, 53). However, this has not led to a proportional reduction in fossil fuel consumption. Between 2008 and 2018, global

oil consumption increased by an annual average of 1.4 per cent, coal increased by an average of 0.8 per cent and natural gas increased by an average of 2.5 per cent (Ibid., 20, 47, 36). While these developments do reflect changes in the global energy mix, they do not fit the definition of energy transitions.

From a historical perspective, Bonneuil and Fressoz (2016, 91, emphasis original) similarly argue that "the history of energy is not one of transitions, but rather of successive additions of new sources of primary energy." Contrary to mainstream energy historians, they argue that "there has never been an energy transition" (Ibid.). For example, both Smil (2010) and Grubler (2012) consider coal's shrinking percentage of the energy mix as the use of oil, gas and electricity to be a successful past energy transition that contemporary policy makers can learn from. Meanwhile, Bonneuil and Fressoz (2016, 91) highlight that although "the use of coal decreased in relation to oil, it remains that its consumption continually grew; and on a global level, there was never a year in which so much coal was burned as in 2014." Moreover, they emphasise that the history of energy transitions and additions is not one of technical innovation, substituting scarce or depleted resources or improving economic efficiency. Instead, they argue that this history is "above all one of political, military and ideological choices" (Ibid., 94). Thus, not only do mainstream histories of shifting energy use and production "[obscure] the persistence of old systems," (Ibid., 92) they also depoliticise the reasons for these changes.

In his book *Fossil Capital*, Andreas Malm (2016) provides a historical account of the political drivers in changes of energy production. More specifically, he demonstrates how the advance of steam power cannot be reduced to its efficiency gains or innovative technology. When it was first adopted, the steam engine was less energy efficient and more expensive than many other available energy sources. However, the mobility of the steam engine allowed capitalists to move factories from rivers in the countryside to factories in the middle of growing cities. This gave factory owners more control over production, and more control over labour, which was much more replaceable in urban areas than in rural ones. In reference to Malm, Cara Daggett

(2019, 30) writes that "the demand for profit by some at the expense of others drove capitalists toward a fuel that could be mobile, privatized, highly controlled, and burned all night." In this sense, Malm (2016, 272) argues that "the steam mill did not give us society with the industrial capitalist, but precisely the other way around."

This energy history tells a very different story about the drivers of change than the narratives that present technological developments as independent of politics and the logic of capital accumulation. Situating industrial growth and expansion at the centre of recent energy history brings attention to different "patterns, dynamics, and drivers of past changeovers" than the ones Gruble emphasises (2012, 8). This allows us to not see fossil fuels in themselves as the only problem to be solved in order to end the climate crisis, but also the infinite logic of growth and accumulation that the production of these energy sources has been used for.

## HISTORIES OF GROWTH AND THE CLIMATE CRISIS

Jason Moore (2018, 269) coined the term Capitalocene to describe how the current climate crisis has not been created by an undifferentiated category of human activity, but rather by "the endless accumulation of capital." He argues that the project of capitalism functions by attempting to externalise nature from society and human relations, cheapening nature and putting it at the service of economic growth (2017). Understanding how this dualism works to devalue both life and land is therefore essential to understanding the origins of capitalism's social, economic, and environmental crises. In the case of Energy for Development, this means paying attention to the ways in which nature continues to be devalued through capitalist "solutions" to the climate crises, as well as how human and nonhuman relations are severed in the process.

One way to counter this is through degrowth, which describes a "matrix of alternatives" to capitalism and economic growth (Demaria & Latouche 2019, 149). Degrowth scholars argue that building alternatives to the capitalist reliance on continuous expansion must

involve a reduction of the overall throughput of industrial economies, i.e., "the materials and energy a society extracts, processes, transports and distributes, to consume and return back to the environment as waste" (Kallis 2010, 874). This rejects the notion that economic growth is innately positive, or that it can continue globally as long as it is fuelled by renewable energy. In response to the green growth claim that improved energy efficiency and the substitution of fossil fuels for renewable energy can produce ecologically sound economic growth, Hickel and Kallis (2020) illustrate that the decoupling of GDP from carbon emissions is both historically unprecedented and extremely unlikely. They argue that in order to meet the already detrimental levels of global warming stated in the Paris agreement, global throughput must be considerably reduced. In order to reach the goal of 1.5 degree warming<sup>4</sup> specifically, global energy demand must be reduced by 40 per cent within the next three decades (Ibid., 480). The proposals for Energy for Development are, in part, motivated by efforts to achieve the goals of the Paris Agreement. Nevertheless, Norad (2020, 1) justifies continued petroleum aid as long as it is complemented by financing renewables, on the basis that "petroleum will continue to be produced to meet the world's growing energy demand for decades to come."

<sup>4</sup> The treatment of the 1.5-degree goal as merely preferable rather than vital also illustrates the racist indifference towards the catastrophic effects global warming will have on island states and many African countries. During the 2009 UN climate summit in Copenhagen, African delegates called the 2-degree warming goal a "death sentence for Africa," and protested it saying "two degrees is suicide," "1.5 degrees to survive," and "we will not die quietly." (Pulido 2018, 120)

Post-development scholar Arturo Escobar (2015) critiques the tendency for some degrowth scholars to argue that it is only rich countries that must degrow, whereas poorer countries should continue to "grow" or "develop" in the name of poverty reduction and the eradication of inequalities. Escobar highlights that growth should not be seen as the driver for reducing poverty or inequality. Instead of portraying economic development as the path to better living standards for the poor, Escobar calls for transitions that centre the rights of nature and Buen Vivir. Buen Vivir means "Good Life or collective wellbeing according to culturally appropriate conceptions" (Ibid., 455), and is rooted in Indigenous struggles in Latin America. It is also a central aspect of post-development, which decentres development and growth-oriented extractivism as the hallmarks of progress.

Nirmal and Rocheleau (2019) provide another perspective on the ways that degrowth can better engage with and learn from Indigenous struggles in the Global South against growth by deterritorialization, often involving large-scale extractive projects in the name of development. These critiques emphasise that economic development is not a positive project that rich countries must sacrifice for the good of the planet, but instead involves deterritorialization, dispossession, and environmental degradation at all levels in the quest of capital accumulation and growth. In light of these histories and ongoing challenges, Norad's technocratic presentation of energy transitions without reductions, and conflation of renewable energy production, economic growth, and poverty reduction require closer analysis.

## VISIONS FOR TRANSITION IN ENERGY FOR DEVELOPMENT

Norad emphasizes the need for energy transitions as one of the key justifications for widening the scope of its energy aid. They argue that changing Oil for Development into Energy for Development will contribute to "developing and implementing an energy transition strategy, including mapping, planning and financing projects for renewable energy and energy efficiency" (Norad 2020a, 2). Financing energy production would introduce a new dimension to Norad's energy aid programmes, as the Oil for Development programme has been restricted to governance measures and capacity building rather than direct funding. The report states that "Norwegian aid to the petroleum sector is not about funding infrastructure or projects, but rather focuses on managing the sector responsibly" (Ibid., 8). Norad, however, does offer financial support to "suppliers of offshore oil and gas industry" through its grant scheme, which is currently separate from the Oil for Development programme (Norad n.d.). Other potential contributions to energy transitions mentioned in the report include "policy development, knowledge of sources of finance, capacity building, risk analysis, employment opportunities, cooperation with private investors, et cetera" (Ibid., 14). They emphasise the need for renewable sources of energy to make up "a continuously increasing share of the energy mix," (Ibid., 9) but also highlight that "the development of natural gas resources can contribute to

replacement coal power plants" (Ibid., 8). On this basis, they present the identification possibilities for natural gas extraction as a substitute for coal as one of several ways that the new Energy for Development project could contribute to the goals of the Paris agreement.

All of the suggested contributions to the energy transitions of partner countries focus on energy additions rather than reductions. Norad writes that the aim of their report was to "review the profile and aims of the Oil for Development programme, as well as considering aligning the programme with the Paris agreement's goals of reducing greenhouse gas emissions" (Ibid., 1). The authors argue that it seems reasonable to consider gradually dissolving petroleum aid down the line, but current debates about dissolving the programme altogether is considered beyond the scope of their task. They do raise questions about the legitimacy of petroleum related aid but justify the continuation of OfD based on its contributions to responsible resource management in countries with little responsibility for global emissions. Based on the prediction that oil will continue to be produced for many years to come, they argue that continued energy aid through Energy for Development can contribute to a greener, more "environmentally friendly petroleum production" (Ibid., 8). Thus despite the claims that Energy for Development will be considerably more environmentally ambitious than its predecessor, it remains committed to absolve petroleum producers of their ecological responsibility beyond the point of production.

The vision for energy transitions without reductions is symptomatic of the contemporary and historical narratives of energy transitions outlined by York and Bell (2019) and Bonneuil and Fressoz (2016). Through its proposed energy additions, Energy for Development may production, and changing the energy mix of partner countries, but this in itself is not an energy transition. It could be argued that it is not Norway's role to call upon its partner countries to dismantle their petroleum production when this has not only been the historical source of Norway's economic wealth, but is also continuously produced and actively searched for both domestically and internationally today.

However, by presenting the financing of renewable energy additions and managing as an ambitious plan for contributing to climate change mitigation, Norad fuels the dominant, yet false narrative that technological innovation and expert-led resource management is a sufficient, desirable, or even possible pathway for mitigating the ecological crisis. The portrayal of a win-win-win scenario of economic growth, greenhouse gas reduction, and poverty reduction obscures the ways in which development and its associated processes of capital accumulation create both poverty and environmental degradation. This includes the extractive processes involved in the supply chains of renewable energy production (Dunlap forthcoming; Baka 2017; Yenneti et al. 2016). While it may not be the place of an oil nation to call for reductions in fossil fuel production in partner countries, Norad is contributing to the idea that renewable energy production on its own can reduce carbon emissions through market mechanisms. By putting renewable energy production at the service of economic growth, and by centering economic growth as the pinnacle of progress, the Energy for Development proposals reinforce some of the very same capitalist dynamics behind the poverty and "climate concerns" the programme seeks to address.

## THE BUSINESS OF RENEWABLE ENERGY AID

Through its introduction of funding mechanisms that require increased productive capacity and continuous growth in job creation, Energy for Development is embedding renewable energy production into the same growth-based imperatives of capital accumulation that have led to the bloating of the global economy. As research documenting the dispossession, violence, and ecological degradation involved in wind, solar, and hydropower production grows (Yenneti et al. 2016; Baka 2017; Dunlap forthcoming), there is an increasing need to challenge the conflation of renewably fuelled economic growth, environmental protection, and poverty reduction.

In its second alternative for a broader, more climate-oriented programme for energy aid, Norad (2020a, 16-17) presents three existing development financing mechanisms that Energy for Development can incorporate to help finance renewable energy in partner countries by incorporating existing development finance mechanisms. The first of these is the continuation of existing bilateral aid, which includes financing the expansion of renewable energy production and transmission and distribution grids, as well as the impact assessments related to these projects. The second involves financial support for multilateral funds related to climate and energy, including the Green Climate Fund. The final mechanism relates to encouraging commercial investments in renewable energy through business incentives and risk-aversions for the private sector, as well as direct investments through Norfund.

The encouragement of commercial investments prioritizes the continuous growth in the capacity and scale of renewable energy projects. The first of these financing mechanisms is Norad's grant scheme for businesses, which aims to contribute to economic growth and energy access in the Global South by reducing investment risk for the private sector. Energy access is framed as particularly important because of its importance for "business development and job creation in developing countries" (Norad n.d.). The support to the energy sector includes both renewable energy and providers for the oil and gas industry.

Although reduced emissions from the energy sector is an objective for the grant scheme, the performance criteria do not involve any environmental requirements. They do, however, require documentation of increased productive capacity and private sector job creation. In this sense, Norad's current grant scheme may contribute to both strengthening the supportive base of the petroleum industry and adding renewable energy sources to the energy mix, but this in itself cannot be characterized as an energy transition.

The second mechanism is the State investment fund for business in developing countries (Norfund). Around 50 percent of Norfund's investment portfolio is invested in wind, solar, and hydropower in Latin America, Asia, and Africa. The businesses Norfund invests in range from producers of mini-grids and grids for household use, to large scale power plants. Similar to Norad's grand scheme, Norfund highlights that it invests in "clean energy" because "lack of access to energy is a key constraint for businesses in low-income countries," and across their website they highlight the constraints that lacking energy access puts on economic growth (Norfund n.d.). In their theory of change, Norfund portrays the development of clean energy sources as merely an issue of mobilizing sufficient financing and effective project designs (Norfund 2020). Furthermore, this theory highlights the need for private investments specifically, because "reliance on state utilities drains public resources and is less efficient" (Norfund 2020, 7). In presenting these arguments as evident facts, Norfund obscures the ways in which producing solar, wind, and hydropower for the purpose of economic growth and business expansion reproduces many of the same issues as petroleum production, albeit with lower emissions.

In recent years, a growing number of researchers have critically analyzed the environmental injustices produced by the use of large-scale construction of solar, wind, and hydropower. Yenneti et al. (2016) write about the construction of large-scale solar parks in Charanka in the Indian state of Gujarat. The land allocated to these parks was located in state-owned areas considered "wasteland," however, many of these areas were important grazing and farming lands for the local Rabari population.

The enclosure of these areas for the construction of solar power plants thus removed important local sources of livelihood, and the developmental promises of economic growth and job creation did not materialise into better living conditions for the people affected. Baka (2017) introduces the term "energy dispossessions" to describe how energy-related development projects cause dispossessions and the enclosure of commons in the name of "providing forms of energy incommensurate with local needs" (Ibid., 977). Dunlap (forthcoming) writes about how large-scale renewable energy production not only creates sacrificed zones to make space for new power plants, but also to mine the materials necessary for the production of "clean" energy. In light of the immense amount of mineral extraction and fuel needed for "mining, processing, manufacturing, and transporting raw materials and manufactured components" for both the energy production and transmission lines predicted in a renewable energy transition, Dunlap argues that "renewable energy" is better described as "fossil fuel+" (Ibid., 7). This research complicates the binary of bad fossil fuels and good renewable energy which permeates much of energy transition discourse (Ibid., 1). As marginalised communities in the Global South bear the brunt of environmental injustices and degradation caused by industrial renewable energy production, the narrative that reducing throughput reserved for the Global North distorts the consequences of capitalist economic development in poor countries.

## GLOBAL RESPONSIBILITIES AND ECOLOGICAL DEBT

Norad states that part of its motivation for broadening the Oil for Development programme is to better align Norwegian developmental programmes with the aims of the Paris Agreement, as well as Norway's responsibility as a rich country in global climate change mitigation. The report states that "rich countries are expected to contribute with the largest reductions, and should additionally aid developing countries to reach their national climate goals through technology and knowledge transferral, as well as financial support" (2020a, 6).

In the book No More Looting and Destruction: We the Peoples of the South are Ecological Creditors, Aurora Donoso (2003, 13) defines ecological debt as the contemporary and historical debts that the Global North owes to countries of the Global South "for having plundered and used of their natural resources, exploited and impoverished their peoples, and systematically destroyed, devastated and contaminated their natural heritage and sources of sustenance." She argues that some of the mechanisms that have accumulated ecological debt include: the structural imposition of privatization, facilitation of foreign direct investments, and expansion of the energy supply and natural resource extraction in order to increase production. The fossil fuel and mining industry are two of the book's key areas of focus in analyses of contemporary accumulations of ecological debt.

Norad's recognition of rich countries' responsibility in global climate change mitigation perhaps seems more motivated by its obligations according to the Paris Agreement than by its historical responsibility for the climate crisis or an attempt at settling its ecological debt. However, the portrayal of financing and investing in renewable energy production as a purely environmentally friendly endeavour obscures the reliance on fossil fuels and intensified mineral production for large-scale wind, solar, and hydropower production. This narrative also hides the processes of dispossession, displacement, and violence that the enclosure of commons and creation of sacrifice zones for energy production often entails. The promise that these projects will

generate economic growth and in turn reduce poverty also distract from the historical and contemporary ways in which industrial energy production has produced poverty and deepened inequalities.

### CONCLUSION

The developmental projects of rich oil states are perhaps not the most constructive places to look for transformative, anti-capitalist solutions to the climate crisis. The purpose of this article was to identify the ways in which state-led development projects, such as the proposed Energy for Development programme, can contribute to deepening the crisis when put at the service of continual capital accumulation. This article argued that by presenting large-scale renewable energy production aimed primarily at generating economic growth as a viable pathway to mitigate climate change and reduce poverty, Norad is reinforcing the capitalist logic of infinite growth that is at the heart of the current planetary predicament. By portraying renewable energy additions as synonymous to "energy transitions," Norad is contributing to the narrative that wind, solar, and hydropower will slowly make fossil fuels obsolete through innovation, competition, and other mechanisms of the market. Contrary to this, the research of York and Bell (2019) and Bonneuil and Fressoz (2016) illustrate that energy sources that have shrunk in proportion to others have continued to grow in absolute terms. Furthermore, it obscures the reliance on fossil fuels and intensive mineral extraction in the supply chains of renewable energy, as demonstrated in Dunlap's research (forthcoming). The funding mechanisms for renewable energy production further cater to business expansion and necessitate continuous growth in productive capacity and job provision. Petroleum production and private-sector focus on economic development are only some of the ways in which Norway has accumulated ecological debt towards countries and communities in the Global South. However, this debt cannot be settled through the same growth-based logics that have brought about climate change. As states ramp up their responses to the climate crisis, there is an increasing need for critical attention to proposed solutions that deepen the structural operations that are fuelling the current climate crisis.

### REFERENCES

Baka, Jennifer. 2017. "Making space for energy: Wasteland development, enclosures, and energy dispossessions." Antipode 49 (4): 977-996.

Bonneuil, Christophe and Jean-Baptiste Fressoz. 2016. "Thermocene: A political history of CO2." In The Shock of the Anthropocene, translated by David Fernbach, 90-107. London: Verso Books.

British Petroleum. 2020. BP Statistical Review of World Energy, 69th edition. London: British Petroleum.

Daggett, Cara New. 2019. The Birth of Energy: fossil fuels, thermodynamics, and the politics of work. Durham: Duke University Press.

Demaria, Federico and Serge Latouche. 2019. "Degrowth." In Pluriverse: A Post-development Dictionary, edited by Ashish Kothari, Ariel Salleh, Arturo Escobar and Federico Demaria, 148-151. New Delhi: Tulika Books.

Donoso, Aurora. 2003. "We are not debtors, we are creditors." In No More Looting and Destruction: We the Peoples of the South are Ecological Creditors, edited by Rowil Aguillon, Nimmo Bassey, Elizabeth Bravo, Aurora Donoso, FEstus Iyaye, Esperenza Martínez, Karin Nansen, José Augusto Padua, Miguel Palacín, Silvia Ribeiro, Silvia Rodríguez, Isaac Rojas, Daniela Russi. Quito: Southern Peoples' Ecological Debt Creditors Alliance.

Dunlap, Alexander. Forthcoming. "Does Renewable Energy Exist? Fossil Fuel+ Technologies and the Search for Renewable Energy." In A critical approach to the social acceptance of renewable infrastructures: going beyond green growth and sustainability, edited by Susana Batel and David Rudolph. London: Palgrave.

Escobar, Arturo. 2015. "Degrowth, postdevelopment, and transitions: a preliminary conversation." Sustainability Science 10: 451-462.

Equinor. 2020. 2020 Sustainability Report. Stavanger: Equinor.

Grayson, Michelle. 2017. Energy transitions. Nature 551: 7682, S133.

Grubler, Arnulf. 2012. "Energy transitions research: insights and cautionary tales." Energy Policy 50: 8-16.

Helgesen, Ole K. 2011. "Aldous kan gi 800 000 fat per dag." Teknisk Ukeblad, November 7, 2011. https://www.tu.no/artikler/aldous-kan-gi-800-000-fat-per-dag/249129.

Hickel, Jason and Giorgos Kallis. 2020. "Is green growth possible?" New Political Economy 25 (4): 469-486.

Kallis, Giorgos. 2010. "In defense of degrowth." Ecological Economics 70: 873-880.

Malm, Andreas. 2016. Fossil Capital: The Rise of Steam Power and the Roots for Global Warming. London: Verso.

Moore, Jason W. 2017. "The Capitalocene Part I: on the nature and origins of our ecological crisis." The Journal of Peasant Studies 44 (3): 594-630.

——. 2018. "The Capitalocene Part II: accumulation by appropriation and the centrality of unpaid work/energy." The Journal of Peasant Studies 45 (2): 237-279.

Nirmal, Padini and Dianne Rocheleau. 2019. "Decolonizing degrowth in the post-development convergence: Questions, experiences, and proposals from two Indigneous territories." Environment and Planning E: Nature and Space 2 (3): 465-492.

Norad. 2008. Oil for Development 2008. Oslo: Norad.

The Norwegian Ministry of Foreign Affairs. 2005. Oil for development. New initiative from the government [Press release], September 2, 2005. https://www.regjeringen.no/no/dokumentarkiv/Regjeringen-Bondevik-II/ud/Nyheter-og-pressemeldinger/2005/oil\_for\_development-new\_initiative/id258200/.

Pulido, Laura. 2018. "Racism and the Anthropocene." In The Remains of the Anthropocene, edited by Gregg Mitman, Robert Emmett and Marco Armiero, 116-128. Chicago: University of Chicago Press.

Rignall, Karen Eugenie. 2016. "Solar power, state power, and the politics of energy transitions in pre-Saharan Morocco." Environment and Planning A: Economy and Space. 48 (3): 540-557.

Smil, Vaclav. 2010. Energy Transitions: History, Requirements, Prospects. Santa Barbara: Praeger.

Yenneti, Komali, Rosie Day and Oleg Golubchikov. 2016. "Spatial justice and the land politics of renewables: Dispossessing vulnerable communities through solar energy mega-projects." Geoforum 76: 90-99.

York, Richard and Shannon Elizabeth Bell. 2019. "Energy transitions or additions? Why a transition from fossil fuels requires more than the growth of renewable energy." Energy Research & Social Science 51: 40-43.

## THE CASE FOR DEGROWTH ENERGY TECHNOLOGIES

SHAYAN SHOKRGOZAR

#### INTRODUCTION

Recent decades have witnessed the onset of the Anthropocene, which in no small part is a result of "an unprecedented upsurge in energy mobilization: first with coal, then with hydrocarbons and uranium" (Bonneuil & Fressoz 2017, 9). This epoch is witnessing an upsurge of forest fires and hurricanes, among other "natural" disasters, alongside record-breaking temperatures. These realities impose the threat of anthropogenic climate change, ozone depletion, and ocean acidification. Together, they threaten the lives of human and more-than-human worlds, and lead to catastrophic effects on societies and ecosystems (see Wallace-Wells 2019). Beyond the Anthropocene, Clark (2020, 10) argues that Earth's history is "a struggle between the forces of life, regeneration and creation, or Eros, and those of death, degeneration and domination, or Thanatos," arguing these times are better describe as the Necrocene, or the new era of death, consisting of mass extinction of life on Earth.

The threats of ecological depletion and climate change have led to scientists advocating for rapid response (e.g., IPCC 2018), and they have been joined by international agencies e.g., UNEP 2011), policymakers (e.g., Ministry of Environment 1989), and environmental NGOs (e.g., Zero 2018). Proposals for combating the crisis have primarily come through "green" growth and, before that, a "sustainable" development approach (Anker 2018). Today, these efforts are spearheaded by a vocal group of Ecomodernists who advocate a technological and innovation-based response to the climate crisis (see Asafu-adjaye et al. 2015). On the other hand, and often away from the pomp of technocratic and bureaucratic institutions,

Deep Ecologists and the advocates of Degrowth and Post-Development have called for a social and ethical change to how we live (see Næss & Sessions 1984; Kothari et al. 2018; Hickel & Kallis 2019).

Drawing from the literature on Degrowth and Post-Development, this article argues that the climate mitigation discourse of the Ecomodernist and "green" growth variety further exacerbates social fragmentation and ecological degradation. It instead calls for a Degrowth-oriented approach that seeks to reduce energy and material throughput fundamentally, in a socially just and redistributive manner. To exhibit an example of how a Degrowth-oriented technology would differ from one based on the values of "green" growth, this article investigates Degrowth energy technology. More specifically, the appropriation of windmills to serve the values of a Degrowth Society.

### BACKGROUND

The debate amongst those who favor social and ethical modifications to our lives and societies and those who think more technology will solve the problems caused by technology go back several decades. The Club of Rome and their publication of *Limits to Growth* (Meadows 1972) is one event that brought this debate to the forefront. In modern days, this debate is carried out between the advocates of Ecomodernism and those of Degrowth.

Ecomodernists such as Asafu-adjaye and colleagues (2015) have called for populations to move to cities to allow for using less land; modern energy infrastructures (including nuclear energy) to "decouple" development from nature; and the preservation of "wild nature for aesthetic and spiritual reasons" (27) – describing meaningful climate mitigation as "fundamentally a technological challenge" (21). They call for significant governmental spending to fund the research necessary for making the crucial technological breakthroughs required in these times (Bliss & Kallis 2019). Alongside Ecomodernism, there is a sizeable institutional momentum for "green" growth, which in essence calls for furthering human well-being and growing income "while significantly reducing environmental risks and ecological

scarcities." (UNEP 2011, 16) Within the "green" growth paradigm, one finds oneself in the company of OECD, UNEP, and the World Bank. As pointed out by Hickel and Kallis (2019, 2), institutions such as UNEP and OECD come from a tradition of believing "technological change and substitution will improve the ecological efficiency of the economy, and that governments can speed this process with the right regulations and incentives." These hegemonic institutions, which sit atop the current modality, are in the company of nation-states such as Norway, where this article is written.

Norway, in fact, has been at the forefront of arguing for a technological, financial, and innovation-based response to climate change. As pointed out by Anker (2018), much of the beliefs about carbon taxation, carbon trading, and technological solutions stem from how Norwegian politicians, starting with the Brundtland administration, increasingly looked to technology to be a climate pioneer while extracting fossil fuels – attempting to reconcile growth patterns, Petro-fueled wealth, and consumption with its "green" and Nordic profile. The Center for Development and the Environment (SUM) and CICERO were developed in the early '90s to provide scientific knowledge to politicians according to realizing the World Commission's vision for "sustainable" development (Anker 2018).

The limitations of lower-carbon energy infrastructure and carbon taxes in allowing Norway to reach its climate and emission goals have led it to further investment in carbon capture and storage (CCS) technologies, with a commitment of NOK 16.8 billion towards the world's first full-scale CCS project, dubbed Longship. Longship will pump CO2 emissions to a reservoir beneath the sea through pipelines (Ministry of Petroleum and Energy 2020). Longship, and the transport and storage elements dubbed Northern Lights will be a joint project between the three fossil fuel giants Equinor, Shell, and Total.

These technological responses and investments further cement incumbent powers such as investment banks and large energy companies. The existence of multi-national incumbent powers is also prevalent in the so-called "transition" to lower-carbon energy, according to Giotitsas and colleagues (2015, 32):

"[I]nstead of creating a new energy regime, renewable energy sources are considered as substitute for conventional ones in the same system, leading to efforts for renewable energy production that are, like their predecessors, detrimental to the environment and may cause severe problems to local communities."

Deep Ecologists such as the Norwegian philosopher, Arne Næss, have called such bureaucratic and technocratic responses a form of shallow ecology, which consists of "a reform oriented, technocratic outlook that seeks accommodation with the existing corporate economic and interest-group political system." (Næss in Somma 2006, 37)

## REFLECTIONS ON DEGROWTH AND ENVIRONMENTAL JUSTICE

Hickel and Kallis (2019), in their review of historical trends and model-based projections of "green" growth, conclude that absolute decoupling cannot be empirically supported. They argue even under optimistic predictions, attaining an absolute decoupling at a rate to keep global warming below 1.5 or 2 degrees Celsius is unfeasible. Furthermore, infinite growth and attaining absolute decoupling in the long term are unattainable since there is a thermodynamically defined maximum efficiency (Ward et al. 2016). In other words, since material footprint is growing just as quickly (if not faster) than GDP (Wiedmann et al. 2015), energy and material use will continue to expand even at maximum efficiency. These variables lead to recognizing that it is imperative to explore alternatives to "green" growth. One such option is Degrowth.

Given the power of incumbent powers, such as fossil fuel corporations, charting a new trajectory remains an uphill battle. In reflecting on these issues, Ivan Illich (1997, 100-101) argues:

"Defining alternatives to the products and institutions which now preempt the field is difficult, not only, as I have been trying to show, because these products and institutions shape our conception of reality itself but also because the construction of new possibilities requires concentration of will and intelligence in a higher degree than ordinarily occurs by chance."

Despite these challenges, the past decade has witnessed the rise of Degrowth across much of the global North – growing in popularity and momentum, as shown in the growing number of publications on the topic in recent years. Degrowth, Hickel (2020, 2) argues, is "a planned reduction of energy and resource throughput designed to bring the economy back into balance with the living world in a way that reduces inequality and improves human well-being." Degrowth "emerged largely via grassroots activist critical of globalization and capitalism, who lived and advocated simpler living" (Demaria et al. 2019). Degrowth aims to work towards disaccumulation, decommodification, and decolonization (Hickel 2020). Degrowth is often confused as a strategy for reducing GDP, which it is not. Instead, Degrowth is an effort to reduce energy and material throughput in a just manner. Degrowth faces an uphill battle today, for the same reason it did decades ago, which Illich (1974, 58) described as:

"Most people have staked their self-images in the present structure and are unwilling to lose their ground. They have found security in one of the several ideologies that support further industrialization. They feel compelled to push the illusion of progress on which they are hooked."

Thus, reformist efforts are often pushed ahead, such as the "energy transition" agenda, which intends to move capitalist economies from fossil fuel energy systems to lower-carbon infrastructures (Mc-Cauley & Heffron 2018). However, as discussed by the historians Bonneuil and Fressoz (2017, 91), if "history teaches us one thing, it is that there has never been an 'energy transition,'" instead they believe the "history of energy is not one of transitions, but rather of successive additions of new sources of primary energy." This is noticeable in the growing emissions from fossil fuels in Norway (Skjærseth & Jevnaker 2018) and globally (IEA 2020). The limitations of "energy transition" aside, there is a growing literature on attaining such as transition through a fair and equitable manner, often described as a just transition (Jenkins et al. 2018), such as through energy democracy. Burke and Stephens (2018, 89) describe energy democracy as an:

"immediate resistance to fossil fuels coupled with the deployment of renewable energy systems at a pace that sustains and can be sustained by democratic governance, lest projects of democratization collapse and renewable solutions rapidly transform into the next human catastrophe."

> Nevertheless, even advocates of a transition carried out in a just and democratic way admit that these frameworks fail to adequately address modernism, industrialism, and human progress, especially with regards to the spatial reconfiguration of social, economic, and political patterns (Burke & Stephens 2018). Therefore, such frameworks are inherently reform-oriented, built on assumptions about the benefits of growth and bureaucracies and state mechanisms. And given the reliance of lower-carbon energy infrastructures on roads and fossil fuels, they comprise a part of Infrastructural brutalism "in which industrial capitalism has met the limits of its expansion and domination, and yet continues to press for unprecedented commitments to build more oil pipelines, more large dams, more roads, more paved surfaces than at any time in human history," (Truscello 2020, 4) which lower-carbon energy infrastructures also rely on (Sovacool et al. 2020). Dunlap and Jakobsen (2020) describe these infrastructures and systems as the Worldeater, manifesting itself as a mega-machine entity causing climate change and the Anthropocene as it consumes the planet.

> Furthermore, energy justice fails to question the extreme forms of violence inflicted on peoples, especially non-European and Indigenous societies, in the name of "progress" and "development" (Dussel 2013; Álvarez & Coolsaet 2018). It also fails to see modernism as a mode of life that values material accumulation over human and more-than-human worlds (Dussel 2013). As pointed out by Hickel (2021, 1):

"Economic growth in the North relies on patterns of colonization: the appropriation of atmospheric commons, and the appropriation of Southern resources and labour [...] Just as Northern growth is colonial in character, so too "green growth" visions tend to presuppose the perpetuation of colonial arrangements. Transitioning to 100 percent renewable energy should be done as rapidly as possible, but scaling solar panels, wind turbines and batteries requires enormous material extraction, and this will come overwhelmingly from the global South."

Thus, Degrowth in the North allows southern economies to shift away from being a source of cheap labor and raw materials and instead focus "on developmentalist reforms: building economies focused on sovereignty, self-sufficiency, and human well-being" (Hickel 2020, 5). According to Nirmal and Rochealeau (2019, 482), "a decolonized Degrowth must be what the growth paradigm is not, and imagine what does not yet exist: our separate, networked, and collective socio-ecological futures of sufficiency and celebration in the multiple worlds of the pluriverse."

Here is where the literature on Post-Development shines through, which calls for the rejection of development and instead advocates for alternatives to development, as opposed to development alternatives (Ziai 2015). Moreover, unlike reformist frameworks such as energy justice, Post-Development not only scrutinizes capitalism but also extends that critique to power relations in modernity – reflecting on discourse, representation, and identity.

### WIND ENERGY DEVELOPMENT

Recent years have witnessed a significant increase in wind energy development in Norway (Statistics Norway 2020) and throughout the world. The debates around "renewable" energy production capture the multiplicity of issues at play here, such as modernity and growth. Industrial wind turbines rely on a lifecycle consisting of extraction, processing, transportation, manufacturing, installation, operation, and decommissioning – which entail labor and ecological challenges – extending from the global South to the North (Sovacool et al. 2020; Dunlap & Jakobsen 2020; Dunlap 2021). The proliferation of voluntary UN standards such as Corporate Social Responsibility, private

auditing firms, and free, prior, and informed consent processes are "Band-Aid solutions," which under a particular light could even be perceived as coercive pacification technologies (Verweijen & Dunlap 2021; Dunlap 2021). Moreover, the use of lower-carbon energy infrastructure, instead of reorienting society for confronting the climate crisis, is geared towards the continuation of green capitalism (Cavenagh & Benjaminsen 2017).

In Norway, wind energy development, which the government initially advocated in 1999 through adopting a 3 TWh wind power generation plan 2010 (St. meld nr. 29 1998-1999), has been growing in its share of the energy mix. At about 9.9 TWh of wind power in 2020, amounting to 6.4% of energy production, and expected to increase to 13.1% in 2021, wind power generation capacity is rising in Norway (Energifaktanorge 2021). These targets were initially adopted to increase the diversity of production methods in the energy mix and for national security reasons (Blindheim 2013). They were later strengthened by international agreements such as the Renewable Energy Directive (EC 2021). This development, however, has come under solid contestation and controversy in recent years (Shokrgozar forthcoming).

<sup>1</sup> Saepmi is the Indigenous Saami territory that spans the nation-states Norway, Sweden, Finland, and Russia.

On the one hand, conservationists are upset about the loss and infringement upon nature, calling this development the industrialization of mountains. Within Saepmi, these developments have led to even further controversy due to the loss of pastureland, forcing Saami herders to buy pellets to feed their herds (Nilssen 2019), which the president of the Saami parliament has contested as green colonialism (Normann 2020). As explained by Blindheim (2013, 342): "implementation of onshore wind power in Norway has also been controversial. Environmental impact, local acceptance, demands for national plans and regulations of land use for wind power purposes, have been the most disputed issues, in addition, to support schemes."

Norway is witnessing multiple direct actions against wind factories in recent years. Organizations such as Motvind have organized land protection efforts by setting up tents, barricading themselves, and blocking roads leading to development with chains to stop the blasting work in the mountains (Imeland 2020). When the Minister of Oil

and Energy tried to open up the new Utsira Nord wind factory, she was confronted by protesters. Thus, the projects are contested but are still being carried out, such as the upcoming Øyfjellet industrial wind "farm," where land defenders have blocked access to the roads (Strøm & Olaisen 2021).

Advocates of lower-carbon energy infrastructure, such as Burke and Stephens (2018), argue that these energy infrastructures offer advantages that exceed simple fuel switching beyond its ability to reduce emissions. These advantages include broader availability of distributed energy sources and their ability to allow for new forms of ownership (Soutar & Mitchell 2018; Siamantha 2021). At the same time, so-called "renewables" are harnessing vital wind forces (Dunlap 2021), changing atmospheric turbulence, and enhancing landscape roughness (Abbasi et al. 2016). Scholars, such as Dunlap (2020, 122), argue:

"The green economy has renewed the infrastructural colonizing force that creates more climate change and more ecological and habitat disruption, but also psychological fragmentation with the so-called "clean" or "green" infrastructures. In the end, infrastructural colonization necessitates an insensitivity toward habitats, nonhuman entities, and people themselves, an insensitivity and carelessness that root the onslaught of climate and ecological catastrophe."

In the face of such realities, how can such projects be considered renewable? And more so, how can energy infrastructure be compatible with a Degrowth Society?

### DISCUSSION: ALTERNATIVE FUTURES

Some scholars argue Degrowth technologies have the potential of assisting with the effort to reorient societies in the face of the climate crisis and ecological depletion (see Kerschner & colleagues 2018). The spectrum of Degrowth technologies, however, is vast. Though a precise definition of Degrowth technologies remains contested, Metze (2018, 1743) describes them as ones that are downscaled, decentralized, and based on "renewable energy technologies." Likavčana and Scholz-Wäckerleb (2018) call for reorienting technology to serve Degrowth goals instead of markets and neoliberal growth.

Along the same lines, Illich (2001 [1975], 37) argues, "it would be a mistake to believe that all large tools and all centralized production would have to be excluded from a convivial society." On average, convivial, appropriate, feasible, and viable technologies are supported by a majority in the Degrowth community (Kerschner et al. 2018; Eversberg & Schmelzer 2018). Degrowth technologies are, furthermore, built on the principles of reducing overproduction, increasing the lifespan of products, lowering energy and material use, and decentralizing production (Hankammer & Kleer 2018). Through these efforts, as pointed out by Likavčana and Scholz-Wäckerleb (2018), technology can be reoriented to serve Degrowth's goals.

Despite the advantages of Degrowth Technologies, it remains imperative to lower energy and material throughput, through which much of the necessity for new infrastructure can be eliminated. Lower consumption is important since all technological efforts consistently face the dangers of unintended side effects such as solving one problem while creating another, known as the hydra effect (Kerschner et al. 2018). This includes the deployment of infrastructures in ways that harm others. Thus scholars within the Degrowth tradition call for a conscious minimization of technology use in our lives (Kerschner et al. 2018).

According to Smil (2010), up to about 110 GJ per capita energy use leads to an increase in the quality of life, after which there is no measurable benefit to the quality of life. Smil (2010, 724) further argues that:

"[A] society concerned about equity, determined to extend a good quality of life to the largest possible number of its citizens and hence willing to channel its resources into the provision of adequate diets, good health care, and basic schooling could guarantee decent physical well-being with an annual per capita use (converted with today's prevailing efficiencies) of as little as 50 GJ."

Illich (1974) goes so far as to suggest there is a technological threshold which, if passed, would lead to adverse environmental and social impacts without satisfying demand.

For wind energy, playing with the elements of scale, ownership, and materials used, when combined with a spirit of living a subsistence-based lifestyle, allows for the production of what may resemble renewable energy. Without these elements in place, so-called "renewable energy" is simply Fossil Fuel+, as not only does it rely on fossil fuels for extraction and manufacturing, but it also requires large-scale control of natural resources (Dunlap 2021).

Fossil Fuel+ entails corporate industrial wind "farms" with materials mined in other parts of the world instead of a locally sourced wind turbine for a small community, shared in common. However, before discussing an energy system based on the principles of a Degrowth Society, it is vital to recognize a point made by Gómez-Baggethun (2020), which is that engaging with a technological utopia of modernism instead of one based on Degrowth reinforces the status quo and offers a false solution to environmental challenges. The Degrowth utopia advocated by Gómez-Baggethun (2020) is one that is ecologically and scientifically informed, thus a concrete utopia (see Martinez-Alier 1992). A concrete utopia is in sympathy with Illich's (2001, 27) argument in favor of guidelines for action instead of fantasy. He argues: "A modern society, bounded for convivial living, could generate a new flowering of surprises far beyond anyone's imagination and hope. I am not proposing a Utopia, but a procedure that provides each community with a choice of its unique social arrangements."

Wind turbines can be sustainable if, instead of fiberglass, the blades are made of wooden blocks. Fiberglass is not recyclable and requires a large amount of material and energy use. Based only on wind turbines in service in 2015, Ramirez-Tejeda and colleagues (2016) estimate under conservative circumstances, composite materials from wind turbine blades worldwide will reach 418,000 tons per year by 2040. In addition, alongside the blades, the towers of turbines are made from steel and other metals, and while steel is recyclable and easier to repurpose, it still relies on a toxic lifecycle to produce, which includes extracting and burning fossil fuels (Sovacool et al. 2020). Industrial-scale wind factories require clearing forests, destroying wildlife habitats, and compacting soil to create the space for their operation. They, furthermore, need large foundations for concrete, along with other chemicals. During their operation, they leak oil, which damages the land for grazing and pollutes the water

(2021, 60) offers a nuanced approach to concerns about scale, technology use, and ownership by calling for Community Renewable Energy Ecologies (CREE) which: 1) acknowledges interrelationships; 2) goes beyond individual and local collective benefits; 3) embodies care for and affective relations between humans and between humans and earth others; and 4) is oriented towards a commons-based economy for more 'thriving' and egalitarian sustainabilities.

Giotitsas and colleagues (2015) call for a commons-based peer production (CBPP) of energy, with the principles of producing use-value, as opposed to profits. CBPP comes from the same tradition as free/open-source software (FOSS) in which many people, often voluntarily, contribute to a project that others are allowed to use and modify. An example of FOSS in the energy domain is provide by Kostakis and colleagues (2013), who designed and printed a wind turbine, dubbed the Helix\_T. Their work demonstrates the potential of "design global" and "manufacture local" (DGML) energy hardware.

These variables bring us to practicing alternatives while resisting the growth paradigm and creating movements that can show desirable alternatives, while being prepared to resist the current system (Jordan 2020). Undoing the current modality and moving towards being and sharing the world requires "confronting and dismantling unjust structures of power to make way for other cultures to flourish" (Jordan 2020, 69). Thus, the effort to move away from structures of domination and destruction, which industrial-scale lower-carbon energy infrastructures are a part of, towards a harmonious and convivial society within a pluriverse allows for a Degrowth Society.

### CONCLUSION

The article has explored the various paths to climate change mitigation. It started by exploring mitigation efforts to address the climate crisis through CCS, carbon taxation, and lower-carbon energy infrastructure ("energy transition"), most strongly advocated by eco-modernists. It then described the limitations of such approaches, like the high energy and material use levels that their implementation entails, as well as lack of vision in bringing about a new modality. It furt-

hermore argued that reform-oriented efforts such as energy justice fail to account for the violence that new infrastructural development projects entail along their lifecycle and supply chain on human and more-than-human worlds. For a project to be renewable, it must first address issues of industrial development, energy consumption, injustices, and exploitative labor relations across its lifecycle. It must then benefit the local community, often through co-ownership, and finally made sustainably to be considered renewable energy. Thus, utility-scale energy infrastructures fail to produce renewable energy.

This article then discusses deep ecology, Degrowth, and Post-development as an alternative to the "energy transition" and "green" growth discourse. It explores what a convivial, appropriate, feasible, and viable energy system aligned with the spirit of a Degrowth Society would entail. It argued that working towards a Degrowth utopia, as opposed to "green" growth, empowers societies and resists incumbent powers that have brought about the climate crisis.

This article used the example of wind energy to highlight different variables of social, political, and technological issues within climate change mitigation, discussing what it would actually mean to make sustainable wind energy. It argues that renewable energy needs to engage with scale, ownership, landscape relationship, and appropriate tool-use to be considered renewable, and not an example of Fossil Fuel+. This article calls for communing the necessary implements of life to strengthen Eros and resisting their capture by the forces of Thanatos

### REFERENCES

Abbasi, S. A., Tabassum Abbasi, and Tasneem Abbasi. 2016. "Impact of Wind-Energy Generation on Climate: A Rising Spectre." Renewable and Sustainable Energy Reviews 59 (June): 1591–98. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.rser.2015.12.262.

Álvarez, Lina, and Brendan Coolsaet. 2018. "Decolonizing Environmental Justice Studies: A Latin American Perspective." Capitalism Nature Socialism 31 (2): 50–69. https://doi.org/10.1080/10455752.2018.1558272.

Anker, Peder. 2018. "A Pioneer Country? A History of Norwegian Climate Politics." Climatic Change 151 (1): 29–41. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10584-016-1653-x.

Asafu-Adjaye, John, Christopher Foreman, Rachel Pritzker, Linus Blomqvist, David Keith, Joyashree Roy, Stewart Brand et al. 2015. An ecomodernist manifesto. https://www.ecomodernism.org/manifesto-english.

Blindheim, Bernt. 2013. "Implementation of Wind Power in the Norwegian Market; the Reason Why Some of the Best Wind Resources in Europe Were Not Utilised by 2010." Energy Policy 58 (July): 337–46. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.enpol.2013.03.033.

Bliss, Sam, and Giorgos Kallis. 2019. "Ecomodernism." In Pluriverse: a post-development dictionary, edited by Ashish Kothari, Ariel Salleh, Arturo Escobar, Federico Demaria, and Alberto Acosta. New Delhi: Tulika Books and Authorsupfront.

Bonneuil, Christophe, and Jean-Baptiste Fressoz. 2017. The Shock of the Anthropocene: The Earth, History and Us, translated by David Fernbach. London New York. NY: Verso.

Burke, Matthew J., and Jennie C. Stephens. 2018. "Political Power and Renewable Energy Futures: A Critical Review." Energy Research & Social Science 35 (January): 78–93. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.erss.2017.10.018.

Cavanagh, Connor Joseph, and Tor A. Benjaminsen. 2017. "Political ecology, variegated green economies, and the foreclosure of alternative sustainabilities." Journal of Political Ecology 24 (1). https://doi.org/10.2458/v24i1.20800.

Clark, John. 2020. "What is eco-anarchism?" The Ecological Citizen 3: 9-14.

De Decker, Kris. 2019a. "Reinventing the Small Wind Turbine." Low Tech Magazine (blog), June 1, 2019. https://www.lowtechmagazine.com/2019/06/small-wooden-wind-turbines.html.

——. 2019b. "How to Make Wind Power Sustainable Again." Low Tech Magazine (blog), June 1, 2019. https://www.lowtechmagazine.com/2019/06/wooden-wind-turbines.html.

Demaria, Federico, Giorgos Kallis, and Karen Bakker. 2019. "Geographies of Degrowth: Nowtopias, Resurgences and the Decolonization of Imaginaries and Places." Environment and Planning E: Nature and Space 2 (3): 431–50. https://doi.org/10.1177/2514848619869689.

Dunlap, Alexander. 2019. Renewing destruction: wind energy development, conflict and resistance in a Latin American context. London, New York: Rowman & Littlefield International.

——. 2021a. "Does Renewable Energy Exist? Fossil Fuel+ Technologies and the Search for Renewable Energy." In A critical approach to the social acceptance of renewable energy infrastructures: Going beyond green growth and sustainability, edited by Susana Batel and David Rudolph. London: Palgrave.

——. 2021b. "The Politics of Ecocide, Genocide and Megaprojects: Interrogating Natural Resource Extraction, Identity and the Normalization of Erasure." Journal of Genocide Research 23 (2): 212–35. https://doi.org/10.1080/14623528.2020.1754051.

Dunlap, Alexander, and Martín Correa Arce. 2021. "Murderous Energy' in Oaxaca, Mexico: Wind Factories, Territorial Struggle and Social Warfare." The Journal of Peasant Studies: 1–26. https://doi.org/10.1080/03066150.2020.1862090.

Dunlap, Alexander, and Jostein Jakobsen. 2020. The Violent Technologies of Extraction: Political Ecology, Critical Agrarian Studies and the Capitalist Worldeater. 1st ed. Palgrave Pivot. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-26852-7.

Dussel, Enrique D. 2013. Ethics of Liberation in the Age of Globalization and Exclusion. Durham: Duke University Press.

European Commision. 2021. Renewable Energy Directive. https://ec.europa.eu/energy/topics/renewable-energy/renewable-energy-directive/overview\_en

Energifakta Norge. 2021. Electricity Production. Norwegian Ministry of Petroleum and Energy, updated Februrary 2, 2021.

Eversberg, Dennis, and Matthias Schmelzer. 2018. "The Degrowth Spectrum: Convergence and Divergence Within a Diverse and Conflictual Alliance." Environmental Values 27 (3): 245–67. https://doi.org/10.3197/096327118X15217309300822.

Giotitsas, Chris, Alex Pazaitis, and Vasilis Kostakis. 2015. "A Peer-to-Peer Approach to Energy Production." Technology in Society 42 (August): 28–38. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.techsoc.2015.02.002.

Gómez-Baggethun, Erik. 2020. "More Is More: Scaling Political Ecology within Limits to Growth." Political Geography 76: 1–6. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.polgeo.2019.102095.

Hankammer, Stephan, and Robin Kleer. 2018. "Degrowth and Collaborative Value Creation: Reflections on Concepts and Technologies." Journal of Cleaner Production 197 (October): 1711–18. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jclepro.2017.03.046.

Hickel, Jason. 2020. "What does degrowth mean? A few points of clarification." Globalizations 0 (0): 1–7. https://doi.org/10.1080/147477 31.2020.1812222

—. 2021. "The Anti-Colonial Politics of Degrowth." Political Geography 88 (April): 102404. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pol-geo.2021.102404.

Hickel, Jason, and Giorgos Kallis. 2019. "Is Green Growth Possible?" New Political Economy 0 (0): 1–18. https://doi.org/10.1080/135634 67.2019.1598964.

IEA. 2020. "Coal 2020: Analysis and forecast to 2025." https://iea.blob.core.windows.net/assets/00abf3d2-4599-4353-977c-8f80e9085420/Coal 2020.pdf.

Illich, Ivan. 1974. Energy and equity. New York: Harper & Row.

——. 1997. "Development as Planned Poverty." In The post-development reader, edited by Majid Rahnema and Victoria Bawtree. London, Halifax, Cape Town, Dhaka: Zed Books, Fernwood Pub.

——. 2001. Tools for Conviviality. London: Marion Boyars.

Imeland, Vilde Sagstad. 2020. "Vindkraftkommuner Føler Seg Lurt." Morgenbladet, April 23, 2020. https://www.morgenbladet.no/aktuelt/reportasje/2020/04/23/vindkraftkommuner-foler-seg-lurt/.

IPCC. 2019. Global warming of 1.5°C An IPCC Special Report on the impacts of global warming of 1.5°C above pre-industrial levels and related global greenhouse gas emission pathways, in the context of strengthening the global response to the threat of climate change, sustainable development, and efforts to eradicate poverty. https://www.ipcc.ch/sr15/.

Jasanoff, Sheila. 2018. "Just Transitions: A Humble Approach to Global Energy Futures." Energy Research & Social Science 35 (January): 11–14. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.erss.2017.11.025.

Jenkins, Kirsten, Darren McCauley, Raphael Heffron, Hannes Stephan, and Robert Rehner. 2016. "Energy Justice: A Conceptual Review." Energy Research & Social Science 11 (January): 174–82. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.erss.2015.10.004.

Jordan, John. 2020. Degrowth in movement(s), edited by Nina Treu, Matthias Schmelzer, and Corinna Burkhart. Ridgefield, CT: Zero Books.

Kaczynski, Theodore John. 2019. Technological slavery, 3rd ed. Scottsdale, AZ: Fitch & Madison Publishers.

Kerschner, Christian, Petra Wächter, Linda Nierling, and Melf-Hinrich Ehlers. 2018. "Degrowth and Technology: Towards Feasible, Viable, Appropriate and Convivial Imaginaries." Journal of Cleaner Production 197 (October): 1619–36. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jcle-pro.2018.07.147.

Kostakis, Vasilis, Michail Fountouklis, and Wolfgang Drechsler. 2013. "Peer Production and Desktop Manufacturing: The Case of the Helix T Wind Turbine Project." Science, Technology, & Human Values 38 (6): 773–800. https://doi.org/10.1177/0162243913493676.

Kothari, Ashish, Ariel Salleh, Arturo Escobar, Federico Demaria, and Alberto Acosta. 2019. Pluriverse: a post-development dictionary. New Delhi: Tulika Books and Authorsupfront.

Likavčan, Lukáš and Manuel Scholz-Wäckerle. 2018. "Technology Appropriation in a De-Growing Economy." Journal of Cleaner Production 197 (October): 1666–75. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jclepro.2016.12.134.

McCauley, Darren, and Raphael Heffron. 2018. "Just Transition: Integrating Climate, Energy and Environmental Justice." Energy Policy 119 (August): 1–7. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.enpol.2018.04.014.

Meadows, Donella H., Dennis Meadows, Jorgen Randers, and William Behrens. 1972. The Limits to Growth: A Report for the Club of Rome's Project on the Predicament of Mankind, 2nd ed. New York: Universe Books.

Metze, Tamara. 2018. "Framing the Future of Fracking: Discursive Lock-in or Energy Degrowth in the Netherlands?" Journal of Cleaner Production 197 (October): 1737–45. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jclepro.2017.04.158.

Ministry of the Environment. 1989. "Miljø og utvikling: Norges oppfølging av Verdenskommisjonens rapport." Stortinget, St.meld. Nr. 46, 1988-1989. https://www.stortinget.no/no/Saker-og-publikasjoner/Stortingsforhandlinger/Lesevisning/?p=1988-89&paid=3&wid=d&psid=DIVL401&pgid=d 0355.

Ministry of Petroleum and Energy. 1999. "Om energipolitikken." Regjeringen, March 19, 1999. https://www.regjeringen.no/no/dokumenter/Stmeld-nr-29-1998-99-/id192287/.

——. 2020. "The Government Launches 'Longship' for Carbon Capture and Storage in Norway." Regjeringen, September 21, 2020. https://www.regjeringen.no/en/aktuelt/the-government-launches-longship-for-carbon-capture-and-storage-in-norway/id2765288/.

Sovacool, Benjamin K., Andrew Hook, Mari Martiskainen, Andrea Brock, and Bruno Turnheim. 2020. "The Decarbonisation Divide: Contextualizing Landscapes of Low-Carbon Exploitation and Toxicity in Africa." Global Environmental Change 60 (January): 102028. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.gloenvcha.2019.102028.

Statistics Norway. 2020. "This Is Norway." Statistics Norway, August 20, 2020. https://www.ssb.no/en/befolkning/artikler-og-publikasjoner/ attachment/435044? ts=17550180990.

Shokrgozar, Shayan. Forthcoming. "We have been invaded: Norwegian Wind Factories in Åfjord and Their Implications for Life and Liberty in Saepmi." Globalizations, forthcoming.

Strøm, Petter, and Sofie Retterstøl Olaisen. 2021. "Nekter å male rotorblader for å hindre fugledød: – Svært arrogant." NRK, May 7, 2021. https://www.nrk.no/nordland/eolus-nekter-a-male-vindturbiner-pa-oyfjellet-i-vefsn-for-a-hindre-fugledod.-motvind-reagerer-1.15486128.

Truscello, Michael. 2020. Infrastructural brutalism: art and the necropolitics of infrastructure. Cambridge: The MIT Press.

UNEP. 2011. "Towards a Green Economy: Pathways to Sustainable Development and Poverty Eradication." The United Nations Environment Programme. https://sustainabledevelopment.un.org/content/documents/126GER synthesis en.pdf.

Verweijen, Judith, and Alexander Dunlap. 2021. "The Evolving Techniques of the Social Engineering of Extraction: Introducing Political (Re)Actions 'from above' in Large-Scale Mining and Energy Projects." Political Geography 88 (June): 102342. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.polgeo.2021.102342.

Wallace-Wells, David, ed. 2019. The uninhabitable Earth: life after warming. New York: Tim Duggan Books.

Ward, James D., Paul C. Sutton, Adrian D. Werner, Robert Costanza, Steve H. Mohr, and Craig T. Simmons. 2016. "Is Decoupling GDP Growth from Environmental Impact Possible?" PLOS ONE 11 (10): e0164733. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0164733.

Wiedmann, Thomas O., Heinz Schandl, Manfred Lenzen, Daniel Moran, Sangwon Suh, James West, and Keiichiro Kanemoto. 2015. "The Material Footprint of Nations." Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences 112 (20): 6271–76. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1220362110.

Zero. 2018. Flytende havvind på 1-2-3 Norges neste offshoreeventyr? https://zero.no/wp-content/uploads/2018/11/Havvind-notat-ABB-ZERO-2018.pdf.

Ziai, Aram. 2015. "Post-Development: Premature Burials and Haunting Ghosts." Development and Change 46 (4): 833–54. https://doi.org/10.1111/dech.12177.

Nilssen, Trond Risto. n.d. "South Saami Cultural Landscape Under Pressure." In The Indigenous Identity of the South Saami, 171–86. https://link.springer.com/chapter/10.1007/978-3-030-05029-0\_9.

Nirmal, Padini, and Dianne Rocheleau. 2019. "Decolonizing Degrowth in the Post-Development Convergence: Questions, Experiences, and Proposals from Two Indigenous Territories." Environment and Planning E: Nature and Space 2 (3): 465–92. https://doi.org/10.1177/2514848618819478.

Normann, Susanne. 2020. "Green Colonialism in the Nordic Context: Exploring Southern Saami Representations of Wind Energy Development." Journal of Community Psychology 49 (1): 77–94. https://doi.org/10.1002/jcop.22422.

Næss, Arne, and George Sessions. 1984. "Basic Principles of Deep Ecology." The Anarchist Library.

Ramirez-Tejeda, Katerin, David A. Turcotte, and Sarah Pike. 2016. "Unsustainable Wind Turbine Blade Disposal Practices in the United States: A Case for Policy Intervention and Technological Innovation." NEW SOLUTIONS: A Journal of Environmental and Occupational Health Policy 26 (4): 581–98. https://doi.org/10.1177/1048291116676098.

Skjærseth, Jon Birger, and Torbjørg Jevnaker. 2018. "Norway's Low Carbon Strategy. Internal and External Drivers." In National Pathways to Low Carbon Emission Economies: Innovation Policies for Decarbonizing and Unlocking, edited by Kurt Hübner, 1st ed.: 147–68. New York, NY: Routledge. https://doi.org/10.4324/9780429458118.

Siamanta, Zoi Christina. 2021. "Conceptualizing Alternatives to Contemporary Renewable Energy Development: Community Renewable Energy Ecologies (CREE)." Journal of Political Ecology 28 (1). https://doi.org/10.2458/jpe.2297.

Smil, Vaclav. 2010. "Science, energy, ethics, and civilization." In Visions of discovery: new light on physics, cosmology, and consciousness, edited by Raymond Y. Chiao, 709–29. Cambridge, New York: Cambridge University Press.

Somma, Mark. 2006. "Revolutionary Environmentalism: An Introduction." In Igniting a revolution: voices in defense of the Earth, edited by Steven Best and Anthony J. Nocella. Oakland, CA: AK Press.

Soutar, Iain, and Catherine Mitchell. 2018. "Towards Pragmatic Narratives of Societal Engagement in the UK Energy System." Energy Research & Social Science 35 (January): 132–39. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.erss.2017.10.041.

# CRITICAL ENGAGEMENTS WITH DEGROWTH



# "THE POPULATION QUESTION" IN DEGROWTH AND POST-DEVELOPMENT

LISA HAMMELBO SØYLAND

### INTRODUCTION

At a time when social inequalities, systemic oppression of various kinds and environmental destruction are rampant, transformation is needed. Degrowth and post-development are distinct yet overlapping movements that locate the problems with the model of perpetual growth and techno-industrial progress underpinning many transnational processes today, and formulate the needed transformations as degrowth or alternatives to growth-based development. Their case against growth is rooted in the harmful ecological and social consequences that the pursuit of growth entails. While some proponents emphasize natural limits and irreparable environmental degradation as barriers to perpetual growth, others focus on political, social, and cultural reasons to choose alternatives to growth because of its harmful effects.

Some interrelated topics that are often sidelined in mainstream debates in degrowth and post-development are those of reproduction, the global "population" and "population growth." The "problem" of population growth is a common-sense understanding that proves pervasive and persistent across many movements and schools of thought. Because the idea of population growth is often cited as a driver of environmental destruction and poverty, it is of the utmost importance to interrogate what kind of a role it plays in any proposed transformation. Precisely that is the focus of this article, which begins by considering what population and reproduction might be understood as, followed by an introduction to degrowth. Then the article will discuss how degrowth, and some of its post-development influences, relate to "the population question," before turning to the realities of

population control that some degrowth proponents seemingly overlook or implicitly accept by way of careless referrals to population growth. The article argues that the specter of neo-Malthusianism lingers within parts of degrowth and post-development, as in many other movements, with potentially dire implications for bodily autonomy and reproductive justice.

# WHAT IS POPULATION?

The concept and science of "population" is key to what Michelle Murphy describes as "the economization of life" – a valuation regime for the worth of life based in quantification and calculation, which serves the macro-perspective of the economy (Dow & Lamoreaux 2020, 476-477). At this conceptual scale, "human beings recede from view, rendering "population" as an experimental object (lab rat, guinea pig) in need of governance" (Clarke 2018, 14). Critically, the idea of the population as an entity for states to govern or manage involves preoccupations with increasing (pro-natalism) or restricting (anti-natalism) the reproduction of different (groups of) people (see Foucault 2003 [1975]). The wealth of states has always depended on their population and their ability to produce, allocate, and manage the "labor" or "human" resources of a country, in competition with other civilizations and nations – what Foucault (1998, 26) calls "the political economy of population."

As Dow and Lamoreaux (2020) state, when it comes to reproduction, population, the economy and the environment, the importance of scale cannot be understated. It has been noted by several others that narratives of global population growth are very grand-scale, unspecific, detached, and disembodied (Wilson 2017; Dow & Lamoreaux 2020; Harcourt 2020) – prime examples of what Donna J. Haraway (1991, 188) calls the "god-trick of seeing everything from nowhere." Disembodied statistics and references to population growth in general serve to obscure inequality and preclude specificity in favor of blaming population growth rates and demographic dynamics (Wilson 2017, 440). Abstract notions of the governable global population pair well rhetorically with the abstract notion of the whole earth in need

of saving. As Markantonatou (2016, 37) writes, the earth is instrumentalized in ongoing concerns about overpopulation and "the number of humans that 'Earth can support.'" While the term "population" may sometimes designate local scales, debates on "overpopulation" often focus on local populations in the global South and the growing total global population, for which the global South is made responsible.

# WHAT IS REPRODUCTION?

In order to consider how degrowth and post-development proponents deal with reproduction and "population," it is necessary to first establish how reproduction might be understood. Debates on reproduction, reproductive rights, and justice often center on individual choice, reproductive healthcare, access to contraception, and access to abortion. While these elements are vital to ensure bodily autonomy, and the struggles for them are ongoing, such rights are often framed in ways that resemble individualized consumer choice (Gaard 2010). Further, the assumed "reproductive agent" is the Woman – whose personhood is reduced to motherhood, woman reduced to womb – despite the facts that reproduction requires more than a single person, and that sex/gender and sexuality does not always neatly fit the binary understanding of the modern/colonial system of gender (Lugones 2007).1 The assumed "site" of reproduction is the (White) heterosexual, monogamous nuclear family, in which reproductive and care labor is divided by sex and feminized. There has been much resistance to this kind of control over women's bodies, as well as the control over sexuality (in the form of compulsory heterosexuality) and reproduction. This is clear in anarchist and feminist refusals of procreation or reproductive labor, like that advocated by Emma Goldman, who theorized that "once women withdraw their reproductive, commercial and affective labour, the cogs of capitalism, militarism and religious ideology will grind to a halt" (in Hemmings 2014, 62). It is also clear in queer refusals of heteronormativity, homonormative reproduction and futurity (see Edelman 2004).

Reproductive injustices such as coercive reproductive control, sterilization, and sexual violence are also highly gendered, targeting

<sup>1</sup> My discussion of reproduction therefore does not assume the heterosexual, feminized reproductive subject, but acknowledges that this is the dominant category and an important (but non-exclusive) category for struggle.

feminized subjects. Despite this, reproductive rights are currently often co-opted and equated to mean only "abortion rights, family planning, and population control" (Nirmal & Rocheleau 2019, 468). Contrary to this narrow and individualist notion of reproduction, Dow and Lamoreaux (2020, 476) understand reproduction as less about "individual (decision) making" and more about the "inequalities and infrastructures that make reproduction (im)possible and that make environments (in)capable of supporting life." Reproduction reaches beyond the realm of the reproductive body - or rather, reproduction and bodies cannot be separated from the social and naturalcultural environments of which they are a part (see Alaimo 2010). Dow and Lamoreaux (2020) also discuss the notion of "distributed reproduction," which draws attention to the unequal socioeconomic conditions under which reproduction takes place, while the notion of "environmental infrastructures" describes the degree to which different environments are capable of supporting life, and by extension how they make reproduction possible or impossible. The infrastructures of reproduction are thereby not only understood as contexts for the bearing, but also the rearing, of children. Therefore, environmental and socioeconomic infrastructures of reproduction also affect different groups' possibilities of reproducing their cultures and ways of life (Ibid.).

Unequal socioeconomic conditions and (un)livable environments are deeply interrelated, which is clear when considering access to housing, land, food security, non-toxic environments – or their opposites: environmental racism, exposure to toxicity and localized pollution, and housing or food insecurity (Ibid.). Displacement, dispossession of land rights, extraction, and accumulation constitute corporate and state-led violent disruptions to reproduction, and these issues should therefore not be neatly separated from reproductive justice (Wilson 2017). With increasingly and unevenly polluted environments, waste and toxicity are important aspects of the infrastructures of reproduction. Toxic environments affect reproduction both in immediate and intergenerational (epigenetic) ways by changing bodies, increasing infertility, and causing harm (Lee & Mykitiuk 2018). Additionally, exposure to ubiquitous, but unequally concentrated, toxic and endocrine-disrupting substances trouble the stubborn common understanding of sex as a binary in ways that require careful response to

avoid feeding into queerphobia, misogyny, and ableism (Agard-Jones 2013; Davis 2015; Lee & Mykitiuk 2018).

The ways that reproduction, social, and natural environments are inextricably intertwined each other make the coalitions between reproductive and environmental justice seem obvious and necessary - and in recent years there have been several calls for environmental reproductive justice as a framework (see Sturgeon 2010; Hoover in Dow & Lamoreaux 2020).2 Such coalitions will not exist through the connections proposed by narratives of degradation, scarcity and population reduction, but on the basis of intersectional attention to the interrelations between socioeconomic structural inequalities, racism, heterosexism, ableism, colonialism, misogyny, environmental degradation, and pollution due to industrial extraction, production, consumption, and waste. As Michelle Murphy (2018, 109) writes, "reproductive justice bleeds into environmental justice, which includes water, land, and non-human relations, as well as policing, food, shelter, schools, reserves, carceral systems, war, structural unemployment, and pollution. If you cannot drink the water, there is no reproductive justice." In this regard, it is noteworthy that both the environmental justice movement and the reproductive justice movement were, from the beginning, born out of struggles against the intersections of racist, misogynist, and classist oppressions

# in terms of justice has been argued to assume the state as a provider of justice, even when state and corporate actors often perpetuate environmental and reproductive harms. The environmental and reproductive justice I argue for is not necessarily provided by states. See: Demaria et al. 2019; Demaria & Latouche 2019; Nirmal & Rocheleau 2019; Álvarez & Coolsaet 2020.

<sup>2</sup> Despite the term "justice" being a result of the critique of the term "rights," the framing

# DEGROWTH AND NEO-MALTHUSIANISM

Introducing Degrowth and Post-Development

Degrowth is the umbrella term for a heterogeneous movement and strain of thought that seeks to abandon the ideology of endless growth, interrogate the social and environmental harms that "growth" cause, reduce the material throughput of production and consumption, and downscale in an equitable, democratic, and redistributive way (Markantonatou 2016).<sup>3</sup> The concept of "degrowth" (décroissance) is understood to have emerged in the 1970s in Europe when the French philosopher André Gorz made his critique of capitalist growth based on how it interferes with ecological considerations and the possibilities of climate change mitigation (Demaria et al. 2019, 432). According to Fabrice Flipo's speech at the *First International Conference on Economic Degrowth for Ecological Sustainability and* 

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Arguably, this is a far too wide umbrella term, as degrowth is often critiqued for vague and unsubstantial proposals, as well as Eurocentric universalism. My discussion will also make clear the glaring contradictions that are subsumed under the heading of "degrowth."

Social Equity in 2008, the main conceptual roots of degrowth include concerns with natural constraints, carrying capacity, ecological equilibrium, protection of the biosphere, relocalization (or anti-globalization), overpopulation, and the negative impacts of technology (see Markantonatou 2016, 31). Parts of the degrowth movement are explicitly anti-capitalist, while others are not.

The early degrowth movement brought the political ecological critiques of productivism and economism together with the critique of international development projects and aid offered by post-development scholars (Demaria et al. 2019). These post-development critiques of growth-based modes of development often understand development as a continuation of the colonial project of expansion and control driven by the narrative of linear progress (Ibid.). In recent years, degrowth scholars and advocates have increasingly been in conversation with those of post-development with the (sometimes) shared goal of finding alternatives to growth-based development, though tensions and differences between the movements remain (Escobar 2015). Post-development has brought important interventions and perspectives into debates within degrowth by focusing on colonialism, imperialism, and extractivism in the global South – all of which widen the scope of what are understood as the main problems and needed transformations.

There are, however, certain tensions between mainstream degrowth and its decolonial, intersectional feminist, and post-development proponents. Several authors critique degrowth from within, stating that "the thorny distributive questions (who gets to decide new limits, whose voice is going to be heard in those processes, who will suffer and how will that suffering be justified) have not yet been the focus of extensive concrete analysis" (Demaria et al. 2019, 435). Rather, much of the writing on degrowth is conceptual, philosophical, and normative (policy-oriented), with the issues painted in broad strokes and from macro perspectives – whereas more empirical, situated studies are just beginning to emerge (Ibid.). As such, several have made the point that "the degrowth imaginary often abstracts and universalizes" (Kallis in Nirmal & Rocheleau 2019, 472; Demaria et al. 2019, 439). Critical studies and discussions of the roles

that intersectional issues of race and gender play in growth-oriented development, colonization, industrial extraction, and capitalist accumulation are also lacking in much of the degrowth literature (Demaria et al. 2019). More optimistically, new scholarship increasingly engages with decolonial struggle, pluriversal post-development, environmental justice, the importance and de-/re-valuation of care work, intersectionality, gender equality and situated case studies (Ibid.). It is nonetheless important to remain critical of the ways that subsuming various movements, struggles, and people under the umbrella and exonym of degrowth may perpetuate Eurocentric appropriation and cause harm – particularly in the context of academia (see Tuck & Yang 2014).

# Scarcity, Limits and the Specter of Malthus

Surrounding the birth of the degrowth movement, public debates about the environment, population growth, and human relationships with the nonhuman world were, at the time, particularly driven by narratives of scarcity, environmental destruction, and monolithic notions of humanity. Garrett Hardin's influential article, "Tragedy of the Commons," and Paul R. Ehrlich's best-selling book, The Population Bomb, were both published in 1968, and both based their arguments on resource scarcity and the destructivity of humans. Degrowth emerged in the same decade as, and was in part prompted by, the infamous Limits to Growth report (1972), which argued that population growth and infinite production could not be sustained on a finite planet with limited resources. Demaria et al. (2019) maintain that degrowth was already then more political than the seemingly apolitical Limits to Growth report, as it was concerned with social issues, democracy, justice, and development. This focus also sets degrowth apart from sustainable development, which hardly poses a threat to capitalism and growth-based development (Ibid.). They also state that degrowth operated with a different notion of limits than the report, which understood limits as the result of external and natural scarcity, while degrowth already then understood limits as socially constructed (Ibid.). This genealogical sketch might, however, be destabilized by the fact that degrowth is a heading applied to many different movements and proponents, some of whom were preoccupied with natural limits and overpopulation, and some of whom still are.

In the recent book Limits: Why Malthus Was Wrong and Why Environmentalists Should Care (2019), the degrowth scholar Giorgos Kallis rethinks the role of economist Thomas Robert Malthus in how limits, resource scarcity, and population growth are understood. It is commonly held that Malthus predicted the limits to growth by arguing that overpopulation drives scarcity; therefore, as Kallis (2019, 18) writes, "the adjective "Malthusian" is reserved today for those who believe natural resources are limited and thus put a limit on growth and on our numbers." Shifting this narrative, Kallis proposes that Malthus was "a prophet of growth" who sought to prove the inevitability of inequality and the impossibility of there being "enough for all to have a decent share" (Ibid., 21-22). According to this logic, it is due to the limitless reproductive potential and desire of humans that "nature's bounty is scarce" (Ibid., 22-23). By bringing scarcity, population growth, productivity, and inequality together, "Malthus was not an advocate of limits, but someone who invoked the specter of limits to justify inequality and call for growth" (Ibid., 25).

These shifts in the understanding of Malthus entail the need for careful attention to the ways that scarcity-driven narratives are dubbed "Malthusian" or "neo-Malthusian." The two can be distinguished from one another in that the Malthusian argument was about bountiful resources, limitless human desire, propelled growth, and justified inequality, while neo-Malthusian arguments have to do with the finitude of natural resources and their clash with the growth paradigm (both economic and population-wise). Unlike Malthus himself, neo-Malthusians like Garrett Hardin and Paul Ehrlich "attributed scarcity to the nature of resources and land, not human nature," and therefore "called for birth control or coercive restrictions on populations by the state" (Ibid., 66). While some degrowth advocates and scholars maintain that limits are social and political constructions rather than natural truth (see Demaria et al. 2019; Kallis 2019), others remain very explicitly rooted in the limits to growth-thinking about the finitude and scarcity of the natural world (Markantonatou 2016).

As several scholars focused precisely on the "population question," transnational feminism, and environmental issues maintain, this notion of scarcity and finitude is intimately connected to neo-Malthus-

ian ideas about carrying capacity, food security, poverty, and population growth (see Wilson 2017; Dow & Lamoreaux 2020; Hendrixson & Hartmann 2019). However, closer considerations of agribusiness and industrial food production (often predicated upon the dispossession of land) in food-insecure and so-called "overpopulated" places find that such practices drive the very food insecurity they purport to solve (McMichael 2016). Further, McMichael (Ibid., 686-687) states that there is "an emerging scientific consensus that the relative yields of organic/agro-ecological versus non-organic farming are sufficient to provision the current daily average consumption of calories across the world," and small farms are in fact more productive than large farms. Still, the persistence of the narrative is clear: "the constant specter that stalks population discourse is food insecurity" (Dow & Lamoreaux 2020, 480). In the following, I turn to how different degrowth proponents reproduce or refuse Malthusian and neo-Malthusian arguments in their considerations of population growth.

# Reproducing Population Growth in Degrowth Literature

As mentioned, different strains of degrowth deal with the "issue of population," or refute it, to varying degrees. While some degrowth proponents do emphasize "the need to link population issues to feminist emancipatory politics," (Escobar 2015, 457) mentions of population growth, "overpopulation" or reproduction remain unspecified in many accounts. Many degrowth adherents do not engage with population discourse at all, purportedly because "their concerns are not primarily demographic in nature" (Demaria et al. 2019, 32). Nonetheless, population growth is often mentioned in texts about degrowth, "although somewhat obliquely," as Escobar (2015, 457) writes.

In many cases, unsustainable population growth is referred to as a driver of social and environmental issues without much further explanation: the scarcity/overpopulation narrative seems to be held as an inevitable, immutable truth. In an article that focuses on various degrowth-oriented approaches to technology, Kerschner et al. (2018, 1620) begin with the IPAT-model (crafted by the aforementioned Paul Ehrlich) which purports that harmful environmental and social impacts can be mitigated by "either reducing the human (P)opulation

(for example, by decreasing fertility), by reducing the consumption of materials and energy (Affluence) or by advances in (T)echnological developments." In their article, the reference to this model serves only to pick out the T – technological developments – and critically review the possibilities and pitfalls of degrowth-oriented technologies. While the authors are quick to declare the IPAT-model controversial and population control "highly controversial," they nonetheless reproduce the notion that population growth is one of the key issues at stake in staying within "biophysical limits," (Ibid.) and do not further engage with "the population question."

<sup>4</sup> At a roundtable discussion in 2015, Daly once again brought "the population issue" to the fore, stating that "degrowth currently pays too little attention to population growth" (Daly 2015). It is also noteworthy that Daly raised some rather vague concerns about population growth from net immigration in this same roundtable. Despite being somewhat differently positioned because he argues for steady-state economics, Herman Daly is an active participant in degrowth debates.

Similarly, the degrowth proponents Burton and Somerville (2019, 100-101) quote ecological economist Herman Daly in their article "Degrowth: A Defense," maintaining that "environmental impact is the product of the number of people times per capita resource use." Burton and Somerville reaffirm Daly's position on population growth: "Daly is correct to argue that population size is an important part of environmental impact" (Ibid., 100-101). While they correctly point out that population growth has slowed significantly while emissions still rise, thereby placing less emphasis on the impact of population size, they go on to rehash the argument for *stabilization* of the global population, this time by way of ensuring "rising living standards, urbanization and education, particularly for women, [...] primary health care as well as modern contraception" (Ibid., 100-101).

The connections between degrowth and arguments for population reduction/control are more explicit in other cases. In 1991, Herman Daly also claimed that ecological disaster was bound up with population growth, and continues to do so (see Daly 2015).<sup>4</sup> To mitigate ecological disaster, he suggested the introduction of "birth licenses" that would empower states to mandate the right to bear one child for every woman, as well as legalize the punishment of "excessive" childbearing (see Markantonatou 2016, 35-36). This suggestion included not only state control and policing of reproduction, but also the establishment of a market in which women could purchase or sell their birth licenses according to their desires for large families or their need for more money (Ibid., 35-36). Daly furthermore had the audacity to argue that this system could *benefit* poor people, when it

might better be described as a classist system of reproductive control or a market-mediated state eugenics. As Dow and Lamoreaux (2020, 482) caution when discussing another imagined system of population reduction.<sup>5</sup>

"One doesn't need to be immersed in science fiction to imagine the dark sides of this thought project, where individually allocated to-kens would be bought and sold internationally, or controlled and distributed through mechanisms of reproductive governance. Indeed, scholarship that documents the realities of transnational surrogacy and cross-border reproductive care perhaps forecasts how such a scheme could play out."

As a counterargument to top-down or institutionalized population reduction proposals such as Daly's and others', Martínez-Alier and Masjuan have argued for "bottom-up action and empowerment of women" with the explicit goal of *population degrowth* (Martínez-Alier & Masjuan in Markantonatou 2016, 36). This is understood as necessary in order to "halt the increase in global population (and the impact of population on ecosystems and biodiversity)" (Ibid.). Martínez-Alier (2012) dubs this *feminist neo-Malthusianism*, and in so doing, references that same IPAT-equation.

These degrowth proponents' engagements with "the population question" vary greatly and exemplify some tendencies within debates on the topic. Some, like Kerschner et al. (2018), are meager mentions, without specification of what reduction would entail. Others, like Martínez-Alier (2012) are calls for bottom-up action, for cultural change, and personal accountability. Then, there are policy suggestions for state-controlled population reduction like Daly's, and finally, the newer family planning development schemes like what Burton and Somerville (2019) propose. What they all share is an underlying assumption – in Markantonatou's words, that "these ideas are variants on the key Malthusian idea that an "objective" problem exists, namely an excess of human beings on earth" (Markantonatou 2016, 37).6 For these degrowth proponents, "overpopulation" may not be the main problem they seek to address, but it is nonetheless a part of the equation that is considered important enough to receive recurring mentions.

<sup>5</sup> The system Dow and Lamoreaux discuss is Haraway's from Making Kin Not Population (2018), in which people of reproductive age in rich parts of the world would commit to "a sliding-scale approach to global reduction in human numbers,' in which tokens are distributed to all people of 'reproductive age' and to become 'bio-parents,' individuals would need to collect a certain number of tokens from other individuals, who have opted out of bioparenting" (Dow & Lamoreaux 2020, 481-482). While Daly's and Haraway's suggestions differ fundamentally in terms of how such a system would be reinforced, and in the fact that Haraway focuses her suggestion on rich and high-consuming regions, Dow and Lamoreaux's caution nonetheless holds.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> Keeping with Kallis' discussion of Malthusianism thought, these variants are of the neo-Malthusian kind.

# Refusing Population Growth in Degrowth Literature

Contrary to Markantonatou's (2016) summarization of the growth critiques in degrowth, there are proponents who explicitly oppose the Malthusian or neo-Malthusian premises of discussions about environmental degradation and growth – and, by extension, the valorization of population growth. For example, Erik Gómez-Baggethun (2020, 3) plainly states: "Degrowth is not sympathetic to Malthus neither to top-down population control." Gómez-Baggethun understands limits as politically constructed, and acknowledges the "racist, classist and patriarchal underpinnings of reactionary discourses on environmental degradation and overpopulation, as well as the misuse of limits to shift responsibilities to the poor or marginalized" (Ibid., 2). In line with this understanding, Kallis refers to Hartmann's empirical studies of the racist, classist, misogynist, and colonialist violence of actions targeting "overpopulation" or the "inappropriate presence" of humans in protected natural environments (Kallis 2019, 97). Nirmal and Rocheleau (2019, 468) also oppose the use of neo-Malthusian arguments in degrowth imaginaries, specifically Martínez-Alier's "bottom-up feminist neo-Malthusianism," which they claim, "raises the specter of population control, which can bring a most unfeminist framing and enforcement of control over women's bodies." This might be understood as a caution against how even bottom-up tactics, such as what Martínez-Alier and Masjuan propose, can reinforce the dangerous narratives that feed reproductive coercion and control. Instead, Nirmal and Rocheleau align themselves with decolonial and post-development proponents who understand concerns about population growth in relation to genocide, eugenics, and violent repercussions "for women based on racial, ethnic, cultural, and class status, sexual orientation and religious affiliation" (Ibid., 468). Finally, they urge degrowth proponents to engage with intersectional feminist thought (Ibid.). These examples make clear that there is a growing body of work focused on socially just degrowth that critically interrogates population discourse and its relations to environmentalism.

To get a clearer understanding of what it is some degrowth proponents implicitly touch when *uncritically mentioning* population growth as an environmental issue in need of action, I will turn to a discussion of some of the histories and ongoing practices of popula-

<sup>7</sup> Interestingly, Emma Goldman and other feminists who advocated the refusal of reproduction as feminist, anti-imperialist and anti-capitalist tactics are also called feminist neo-Malthusians (Martínez-Alier 2012, 54). While I am empathetic to refusal as a tactic, there are certainly tensions between bodily autonomy, tactics of struggle and the ways that Malthusianism and neo-Malthusianism are bound up with top-down coercion. For this reason, I remain skeptical of the underlying assumptions about scale and scarcity that the language of neo-Malthusianism implies. See Kallis (2019) for his argument that Goldman was in fact far from (neo-)Malthusian.

tion control and racist, misogynist, colonialist reproductive/contraceptive technologies.

# ON POPULATION: DISCOURSE, TECHNOLOGIES AND CONTROL

Population discourse, and thereby also population control, are related to degrowth and environmentalism through their (sometimes) shared neo-Malthusian reasoning. Kalpana Wilson (2017) maintains that overpopulation discourse has historically grown out of racial capitalism, eugenics, and neo-Malthusianism, which together legitimize the logic of poverty following population growth rather than poverty being the manifestation of inequalities produced by capitalism (Hendrixson & Hartmann 2019). Similarly, Dow and Lamoreaux (2020) connect the concept and "science" of population to legacies of racism, misogyny, colonialism, and eugenics. In the early twentieth century, racialized others that were conceived as a threat to national security in the global north became subject to direct interventions that sought to limit these populations, legitimized by what seemed to be a technical, policy-oriented science of demography (Wilson 2017). These legacies linger on today, as gendered and racialized representations of vulnerable brown women and aggressive brown men serve to justify efforts at "providing reproductive rights," likened by Wilson to what Gayatri Spivak has called "[saving] brown women from brown men" (Spivak in Wilson 2017, 436). Population control has also functioned to intensify the gendered, classed, and racialized labor of women in the global South by increasing their productive participation in global market wage labor at the cost of their reproductivity (Ibid.).

With the rise of environmentalism in the 1970s, such population discourses fused with the narrative of degradation, which blamed poor people living in "overpopulated" places in the global south for environmental destruction (Ibid.). The valorization of population growth diverts critical attention from the key role of high and unequal consumption patterns globally, as well as the extraction and production which underpins these structural inequalities (Ibid.). According to Wilson, this idea was central to the emerging discourse of "sustainable development," which in the Brundtland report instru-

mentalized women's health and education as a means to reduce population growth (Ibid.). Today, population growth is still often cited as a driver of environmental degradation, climate change, or a barrier to their mitigation (Ojeda, Sasser & Lunstrum 2020). Contemporary population discourses are neo-Malthusian in the ways that they interweave issues of migration, climate change, and conflict under the banners of "family planning," "women's empowerment," "gender equality," and "reproductive rights and choice" (Hartmann 2016; Wilson 2017; Hendrixson & Hartmann 2019). While these banners may sound benign, there are reasons to be wary: critical feminist scholarship has shown that development aid focused on women's empowerment, health, and education has often been advocated "only to the extent that they serve [its] population control objectives" (Hartmann 1997, 542).

As several feminist scholars make clear through empirical studies, population control through direct interventions is not a thing of the distant past (Hartmann 1997; Wilson 2017; Hendrixson 2018; Bendix et al. 2020). Development aid (especially from the US but also other governments), non-governmental organizations, the United Nations, the World Health Organization, and corporate actors make up what Betsy Hartmann (1997) calls "the Population Establishment." In recent years, the population establishment has sought to reframe itself in terms of "family planning" and "women's empowerment," in part by explicit – and exaggerated – distancing from the violence and coercion of earlier population control and eugenics. This distancing provides ground for the rhetoric of "breaking taboos" when speaking of population growth or overpopulation (Wilson 2017). Yet, as Dow and Lamoreaux (2020, 477) echo, the narrative of "population has never really gone away," but persists in ecological sciences, development, and the mainstream imaginary.

A recent and horrific example is the Family Planning 2020 project launched in 2012 by the Bill and Melinda Gates Foundation (one of the largest development aid foundations in the world), which aimed to "encourage" 120 million women and girls to engage in family planning by 2020 (Hendrixson 2018). The plethora of methods used – which added up rather than replaced one another – include often dangerous (sometimes deadly) sterilizations, implant contraceptives

that are impossible to control for the user, contraceptives discontinued in the global North, and contraceptives with extreme side effects (such as increased HIV risk, which are then administered in regions where HIV is prevalent). In some places, the effectiveness of spreading these population control technologies was encouraged by privatization and the setting of targets backed up with economic incentives. In India alone, 4.5 million sterilizations have taken place every year since 2000, against the backdrop of the continued erosion of the Indian health care system (Wilson 2017). These unacceptable coercive practices are enabled by abstract narratives like those attached to "overpopulation," environmental destruction, development, and women's empowerment.

## CONCLUSION

As I have argued, the "facts" of detrimental population growth, "overpopulation," natural scarcity and carrying capacity still escape critical consideration in degrowth and may therefore be reproduced even when the argument is seemingly tangential to the debates. By referring to the scale of population, it is as if the *mere presence* of "humans" — "too many humans" in general and "too many of certain humans" in particular — is understood as a driver of scarcity in a finite world. These are precisely the universalized and abstracted elements that so often quietly coalesce into Malthusian acceptance of inequality and neo-Malthusian fear of population growth and generalized destruction — in environmentalisms of nearly all kinds, the development establishment and regimes of security, policing, and militarization (Hendrixson & Hartmann 2019). Therefore, these notions require careful and critical attention from anyone devoted to socially just societal transformation.

Though I am certainly not claiming that all degrowth advocates reproduce the inevitability of inequality or promote contemporary population control because of it, it seems clear that neo-Malthusian arguments continue to underpin parts of the conversation, and as such, their deeply problematic implications often pass unnoticed or unaddressed. As this brief peek into the continued practices of population control shows, it is dangerous to reproduce the extremely ge-

neralized argument that "overgrown" population size is a key driver of environmental degradation. Moreover, this *does not make sense in highly unequal societies*. The capitalist system clearly is not the only problem, as parts of degrowth do capture in critiquing the productivism of different techno-industrial systems of extraction, production, and consumption. Nonetheless, to the extent that degrowth is preoccupied with population (de)growth, it obfuscates the issues at hand and risks, as Dow and Lamoreaux (2020, 479) write, "[letting] capitalism off the hook." In making clear the way that population growth diverts attention from the role of capitalism, racism and other systems of oppression, Murphy (cited in Dow & Lamoreaux 2020, 479) writes:

"The fantasy of simply reducing human numbers is so attractive because it does not require the rearrangement of all the other world orders, and particularly the orders of too much accumulation that have accreted in sites with low fertility rates, such as North America, Europe, and East Asia" (in Dow & Lamoreaux 2020, 479).

With these understandings in mind, the solutions should not be located within population reduction or urged individual choice to not procreate, but in reducing material throughput in an equitable fashion, in redistributing wealth and power, in dismantling systems of oppression that fuel inequity and injustice – and in deconstructing the pro- and anti-natalism as well as the heteronormativity that population discourse brings with it. Proponents of post-development, postcolonial scholars, transnational feminists, and Indigenous feminists seem much more attuned to the problems of population discourse and population control in imperialist and developmentalist activities, past and present. The post-development concept of the pluriverse, as opposed to the One World-world (Kothari et al. 2019), is far more aligned with critical and situated understandings of environmental infrastructures and socioeconomic conditions of reproduction, as well as environmental degradation. Returning, finally, to what reproduction is, it seems that some proponents of degrowth and alternatives to growth-based development still operate with a narrow notion of what reproduction entails and how it relates to many complex and interrelated socio-environmental conditions. There is little attention to the ways in which reproductive (in)justice and environmental (in)justice – as well as ecological degradation, pollution, toxic waste, and destructive extraction – are deeply intertwined. Following environmental reproductive justice approaches, degrowth and post-development proponents should move towards considering and struggling against situated and intersectional connections between environmental damage, systems of oppression, and socioeconomic relations, rather than risk leaving the door open for population discourse and its related deeply harmful practices of contemporary population control.

## REFERENCES

Agard-Jones, Vanessa. 2013. "Bodies in the System." Small Axe 17 (3): 182-192.

Alaimo, Stacy. 2010. Bodily Natures: Science, Environment, and the Material Self. Indianapolis: Indiana University Press.

Álvarez, Lina, and Brendan Coolsaet. 2020. "Decolonizing Environmental Justice Studies: A Latin American Perspective." Capitalism Nature Socialism 31 (2): 50-69.

Bendix, Daniel, Ellen E. Foley, Anne Hendrixson, and Susanne Schultz. 2020. "Targets and technologies: Sayana Press and Jadelle in contemporary population policies." Gender, Place & Culture 27 (3): 351-369.

Burton, Mark, and Peter Somerville. 2019. "Degrowth: A Defense." New Left Review 115: 95-104.

Clarke, Adele E. 2018. "Introducing Making Kin Not Population." In Making Kin Not Population, edited by Adele E. Clarke and Donna J. Haraway, 1-39. Chicago: Prickly Paradigm Press.

Daly, Herman. 2015. "Contribution to GTI Roundtable 'On Degrowth': An exchange on the viewpoint The Degrowth Alternative." Great Transition Initiative. https://greattransition.org/commentary/herman-daly-the-degrowth-alternative-giorgos-kallis.

Demaria, Federico, Giorgos Kallis, and Karen Bakker. 2019. "Geographies of degrowth: Nowtopias, resurgences and the decolonization of imaginaries and places." ENE: Nature and Space 2 (3): 431-450.

Demaria, Federico, and Serge Latouche. 2019. "Degrowth." In Pluriverse: A Post-Development Dictionary, edited by Ashish Kothari, Ariel Salleh, Arturo Escobar, Federico Demaria, and Alberto Acosta, 148-151. New Dehli: Tulika Books.

Davis, Heather. 2015. "Toxic Progeny: The Plastisphere and Other Queer Futures." philoSOPHIA 5 (2): 231-250.

Dow, Katharine, and Janelle Lamoreaux. 2020. "Situated Kinmaking and the Population 'Problem." Environmental Humanities 12 (2): 475-491.

Edelman, Lee. 2004. No Future: Queer Theory and the Death Drive. Durham: Duke University Press.

Escobar, Arturo. 2015. "Degrowth, postdevelopment, and transition: a preliminary conversation." Sustainability Science 10 (3): 451-462.

Foucault, Michel. 1998. The Will To Knowledge: The History of Sexuality 1. London: Penguin Books.

——. 2003. "17. March 1976." In Society must be defended: Lectures at the College de France 1975-1976, edited by Mauro Bertani & Alessandro Fonatana, translated by David Macey, 239-263. New York: Picador.

Gaard, Greta. 2010. "Reproductive Technology, or Reproductive Choice? An Ecofeminist, Environmental Justice Perspective on the Rhetoric of Choice." Ethics & the Environment 15 (2): 103-129.

Gómez-Baggethun, Erik. 2020. "More is more: Scaling political ecology within limits to growth." Political Geography 76: 2-6.

Haraway, Donna J. 1991. "Situated Knowledges: The Science Question in Feminism and the Privilege of Partial Perspectives." In Simians, Cyborgs, and Women: The Reinvention of Nature, 183-202. New York: Routledge.

Haraway, Donna J. 2015. "Anthropocene, Capitalocene, Plantationocene, Chthulucene: Making Kin." Environmental Humanities 6: 159-165.

——. 2018. "Making Kin in the Chthulucene: Reproducing Multispecies Justice." In Making Kin Not Population, edited by Adele E. Clarke and Donna J. Haraway, 67-100. Chicago: Prickly Paradigm Press.

Harcourt, Wendy. 2020. "Review Essay: Unravelling the 'P' Word in Environment and Development." Development and Change 51 (6): 1628-1639

Hartmann, Betsy. 1997. "Population Control II: The Population Establishment Today." International Journal of Health Services 27 (3): 541-557

— 2016. Reproductive Rights and Wrongs: The Global Politics of Population Control. Chicago: Haymarket Books.

Hemmings, Clare, 2014, "Sexual freedom and the promise of revolution: Emma Goldman's passion," feminist review 106: 43-59.

Hendrixson, Anne. 2018. "Population Control in the Troubled Present: The '120 by 20' Target and Implant Access Program." Development and Change 50 (3): 786-804.

Hendrixson, Anne, and Betsy Hartmann. 2019. "Threats and burdens: Challenging scarcity-driven narratives of 'overpopulation." Geoforum 101: 250-259.

Kallis, Giorgos. 2019. Limits: Why Malthus Was Wrong and Why Environmentalists Should Care. Stanford: Stanford University Press.

Kerschner, Christian, Petra Wächter, Linda Nierling, and Melf-Hinrich Ehlers. 2018. "Degrowth and Technology: Towards feasible, viable, appropriate and convivial imaginaries." Journal of Cleaner Production 197: 1619-1636.

Kothari, Ashish, Ariel Salleh, Arturo Escobar, Federico Demaria, and Alberto Acosta, eds. 2019. Pluriverse: A Post-Development Dictionary. New Dehli: Tulika Books.

Lee, Robyn, and Roxanne Mykitiuk. 2018. "Surviving difference: Endocrine-distrupting chemicals, intergenerational justice and the future of human reproduction." Feminist Theory 19 (2): 205-221.

Lugones, María. 2007. "Heterosexualism and the Colonial/Modern Gender System." Hypatia 22 (1): 186-209.

Markantonatou, Maria. 2016. "Growth Critique in the 1970s Crisis and Today: Malthusianism, Social Mechanics, and Labor Discipline." New Political Science 38 (1): 23-43.

Martínez-Alier, Joan. 2012. "Environmental Justice and Economic Degrowth: An Alliance between Two Movements." Capitalism Nature Socialism 23 (1): 51-73.

McMichael, Philip. 2016. "Food Security, Land, and Development." In The Palgrave Handbook of International Development, edited by Jean Grugel and Daniel Hammett, 671-693. London: Palgrave Macmillan.

Murphy, Michelle. 2018. "Against Population, Toward Alterlife." In Making Kin Not Population, edited by Adele E. Clarke and Donna J. Haraway, 101-124. Chicago: Prickly Paradigm Press.

Nirmal, Padini, and Dianne Rocheleau. 2019. "Decolonizing degrowth in the post-development convergence: Questions, experiences, and proposals from two Indigenous territories." ENE: Nature and Space 2 (3): 465-492.

Ojeda, Diana, Jade S. Sasser, and Elizabeth Lunstrum. 2020 "Malthus's specter and the anthropocene." Gender, Place & Culture 27 (3): 316-332.

Tuck, Eve, and K. Wayne Yang. 2014. "R-Words: Refusing Research." In Humanizing Research: Decolonizing Qualitative Inquiry with Youth and Communities, edited by Django Paris and Maisha T. Winn, 223-248. Thousand Oaks: Sage Publications.

Wilson, Kalpana. 2017. "Re-centring 'Race' in Development: Population Policies and Global Capital Accumulation in the Era of the SDGs." Globalizations 14 (3): 432-449.

# DEMOCRATIZING DEGROWTH: PUTTING TRANSFORMATION OF THE DEMOCRATIC SYSTEM AT THE HEART OF THE PROJECT

SANNE VAN DEN BOOM

Degrowth is presented as not just an economic proposal – "a planned reduction of energy and resource throughput" (Hickel 2020, 2) – but also as a political project. Latouche (2010, 519), one of the most influential degrowth thinkers, characterizes degrowth as "a political slogan with theoretical implications." Parrique (2019) also emphasizes the evolving nature of the degrowth discourse through his analysis of the concept over time. In this analysis, he has observed an evolution of degrowth that moves from an environmental, to emancipatory, to utopian based denotation. The question that this article takes up is: can the emancipatory degrowth vision be implemented in today's democracies or would that entail a radically different politics? As Deriu (2012, 554) puts it:

"[D]oes the theme of degrowth represent a reading of conflict and a political view that may be proposed as one 'theme' or 'objective' among others, simply to be picked up by one or more traditional parties (or possible new parties) without any discussion of the forms and processes of political institutions? Or does the perspective of degrowth imply also the need for a deep reform of the institutions and of the democratic forms of participation?"

When one looks at degrowth proposals like reducing working hours or changing the taxation system it may seem that degrowth can compete with other political programmes on equal footing, as the first question suggests. However, in current highly centralized, representative democracies there are serious obstacles to countering the economic growth paradigm. Therefore, a transformation of the democratic system in the direction of smaller scale, decentralized,

and more direct forms of decision-making should be a central aspect of the degrowth project.

Before reaching this conclusion, the article will take several steps. In the first section, the ambiguity in the literature about degrowth as a political project will be explored. Here, idealised narratives about democracy are identified which are found to minimize the power relations at play. The second section will go more into the relationship between democracy and degrowth, which is always assumed but often undertheorized. The third section will discuss a proposal for a liberal version of degrowth which is understood to be the theoretical justification for the idealised narrative about democracy just mentioned. The fourth section then, will problematize this version of liberal degrowth which relies on the capacity of a society to correct its course of action based on public deliberation. The conclusion contends that when it comes to a working economy this does not hold true because the democratic mechanisms to alter the societal course of action are weak. The final section argues that to counter these weaknesses we need smaller scale, decentralized, and more direct forms of decision-making. Because degrowth has been derived mainly within the western context, this article also focuses on these countries. In other words, it focuses on representative democracies characterized by a high degree of centralization and technocracy.

# DEGROWTH AS A POLITICAL PROJECT

While there is agreement on the need to counter the economic growth paradigm, there is no agreement on the kind of politics needed to move towards a degrowth society, nor on the political implications of reducing production and consumption. Therefore, we can say that there is ambiguity about degrowth as a political project. This section discusses how this ambiguity is present in several ways.

First, within the degrowth movement, there is a diversity of political and ideological views, some of which may be in fundamental conflict with each other. Eversberg and Schmelzer (2018, 247), who surveyed the attitudes of people that associate themselves with degrowth at the 2014 International Degrowth Conference, identify five currents within the *degrowth spectrum*: "sufficiency-oriented critics of civilisation; immanent reformers; voluntarist-pacifist idealists; the modernist-rationalist Left; and the alternative practical Left." For instance, while the first group rejects contemporary industrial civilization and is focused on building small-scale alternatives, the second group promotes "a pragmatic and gradualist transformation within existing institutions" (Eversberg & Schmelzer 2018, 258). This diversity of political views inevitably leads to disagreements concerning the "how" question: when we roughly agree on what a degrowth society would look like, how can we get there?

Then, there is the paradox, first noted by Cosme et al. (2017, 331) in their extensive review of the degrowth literature, that "although degrowth is often described as a bottom-up local process, the proposals are largely top-down with a national focus." Indeed, some of the recurring proposals are taxing pollution and resource use, putting caps on CO2 emissions and extraction, reducing working hours, restricting advertisements and creating a basic income (Cosme et al. 2017). All of these require top-down intervention, which suggests the need for a strong state. Kallis et al. (2020, 116) add to that the need for "a strengthening of the mechanisms of international governance, such as the UN, the EU, and the IPCC." In contrast to what

these top-down proposals suggest, however, much of the degrowth discourse revolves around grassroots action, bottom-up transformations, the autonomy of local communities and values like conviviality, care, and simplicity.

<sup>1</sup> From Ivan Illich's (1973) Tools of Conviviality where he chose to endow the concept with a different connotation: "a technical term to designate a modern society of responsibly limited tools." Barkin (2019, 136) puts it this way: "conviviality is a platform from the forging of a new society, one that transcends the profound limitations of our present world, to move towards a socialism that would require 'an invasion of our present institutions and the substitutions of convivial for industrial tools' [Illich 1973: 12]."

Related to this paradox of describing degrowth as a bottom-up process while proposing top-down interventions is the general underdevelopment of a theory of social change in much of the degrowth literature. What or who is supposed to bring about change, what structures act as fundamental barriers, and how does power play into this? We can surely be critical of this shortcoming but should also keep in mind that degrowth is still a relatively young field. For instance, D'Alisa and Kallis (2020, 1-2) admit that their earlier work has neglected the question of the state, "a core force in social change," and that the scholarship on degrowth transformations "has not questioned sufficiently power asymmetries or shed light on structural obstacles." Their current work is more concerned with theorizing about how necessary political transformation can take place. Still, their comment about Tim Jackson's (2008) Prosperity without Growth seems to apply to some of the degrowth literature as well, mainly those proposing topdown interventions such as caps and taxes:

"Like other policy advice it appeals with reason to enlightened policy makers who are supposed to serve the public. What if though, as Jackson recognizes, the state machinery is not neutral but part and parcel of the pursuit of economic growth?" (D'Alisa & Kallis

The relationship between the state – which pursues increasing GDP – and the economic growth paradigm is certainly not absent in the degrowth literature, but it is often not given nearly enough weight. Here we can think of the rather optimistic characterisation of politics that is given in *The Case for Degrowth*:

"As degrowth-supporting practices and ideas circulate and take root in everyday culture and civil society, conditions ripen for their expressions in official politics. Ideas that are talked about and desired among constituents are taken up and advanced by some political parties and attacked by others." (Kallis et al. 2020, 113)

This narrative in which good ideas will eventually be taken up by official politics when the time is right may be hopeful, and even true, but it can also be misleading. The fact that political parties embrace some proposals (perhaps reducing working hours or taxing pollution) does not mean they stand for the full degrowth vision as ideas will always be co-opted. Furthermore, this narrative neglects the power of vested interests (beyond parliament) as well as the struggles of those who are fighting against these interests.

The optimism in question is found in much of the degrowth discourse that envisions a world in which we all care about each other and our environments. But degrowth proposals go against the interests of the most powerful actors in our societies and the degrowth community has no choice but to grapple with that fact. As Cosme et al. (2017, 328) aptly articulate:

"Although a transition to a degrowth society is idealised as democratic and voluntary, history tells us that changes in the status quo are usually not free from violence, controversy, and/or public contestation. Economic globalisation is the current reality, led by powerful transnational corporations, focused on increasing profit and maintaining power. A change towards a more autonomous and convivial society will not bring advantages to the existing power structures, and so how to effectively deconstruct these structures is a debate that degrowth proponents should engage in."

Degrowth, therefore, needs to take seriously the power involved, and should critically examine official politics and the ways in which it is lacking. That includes acknowledging that the location of decision-making power in current democracies gives little reason to think that the capitalist system and the economic growth paradigm will be parted with any time soon.

# DEGROWTH AND DEMOCRACY

Despite the disagreements and ambiguity about several aspects of degrowth as a political project, it is made clear in all literature that the degrowth project goes beyond material degrowth, i.e. reducing the throughput of the economy. In their survey of the degrowth community. Eversberg and Schmelzer (2018, 247) find that there is consensus about two main pillars: "the insistence that economic growth as such is destructive, requiring a reduction of the level of material wealth in the Global North; and the demand that this be achieved in a peaceful, democratic and generally emancipatory manner." Democracy, we must acknowledge, is mentioned in almost all discussions of what degrowth entails. Degrowth authors always make sure to associate their ideas with democracy and reject eco-authoritarian ideas. In a discussion on extraction and emission caps, Kallis and Martinez-Alier (2010, 1573) warn of the risk of eco-authoritarian tendencies that might come with a-political or technocratic proposals, from which they explicitly distance degrowth:

"People might democratically choose to destroy the environment for the sake of short-term growth. But democracy should not be suspended under any circumstance, even for the sake of perceived environmental problems of survival. There is no choice between the environment and democracy; sustainable degrowth should be a democratic process of transition or nothing at all."

Not only do degrowthers side with democrats, but they often claim that degrowth goes hand in hand with further democratization and that degrowth is "also a call for a deeper democracy outside the mainstream democratic domain, including problems generated by technology" (Demaria & Latouche 2019, 148). This supposedly positive relationship between degrowth and democracy, however, is often not further elaborated on or theorized about. Rather it is assumed that the two go hand in hand without making explicit why that is the case.

An exception to this is the special issue on "Politics, Democracy and Degrowth", published by the journal *Futures* in 2012, which had the following aim: "Our special issue is motivated by the need to consider what forms of democracy and democratic institutions can make the degrowth transition possible and socially sustainable, and by the somehow inverse need to consider what are the implications of economic degrowth for democracy" (Cattaneo et al. 2012, 515). The special issue contained various interesting contributions that reflected upon the relationship between degrowth and democracy which, in much of the other degrowth literature, is more of an afterthought than the main concern. The contributions varied from Ott (2012) who argues that a Habermasian deliberative democracy is most compatible with degrowth, to Trainer (2012) who envisions a radically different "Simpler Way" with inclusive and participatory democracy at the local scale.

This article continues this conversation about the relationship between degrowth and democracy started with Cattaneo and colleagues' (2012) special issue. The transformation of democracy will be a necessary condition for moving towards a degrowth society. Even though degrowth is always associated with democracy, it is not at the heart of the degrowth proposal. For instance, The Case for Degrowth, written by some of the big names in the degrowth community (Giorgos Kallis, Susan Paulson, Giacomo D'Alisa, and Federico Demaria), mentions democracy only briefly without much elaboration (Kallis et al. 2020). Degrowth policies (as they are outlined in the literature rather than their weakened versions) will not be smoothly implemented by enlightened policymakers when people are ready because they go against the interests of governments and industries, a fact which has to be taken seriously. In the next section, I will discuss an example of a liberal version of degrowth that does not take the power involved seriously enough and instead argues for the compatibility between degrowth and liberal democracy as we see it today.

# LIBERAL DEGROWTH

The narrative in which degrowth ideas and practices circulate in society, after which they may be co-opted by political parties and implemented at a large scale as soon as there is a political majority, can be called the "liberal approach to degrowth." Strunz and Bartkowsi (2018) present a theoretical exploration of consolidating degrowth and liberalism. In the works that are specifically about the relationship between degrowth and democracy, this is certainly the most moderate view that we find. Therefore, it might seem unreasonable to focus on it but, for the purpose of this article, it serves as a valuable springboard to unpack their reformist position a bit more.

Strunz and Bartkowski (2018, 1163) warn degrowth scholars not to conflate a critique of modernity with a rejection of liberal democratic institutions and emphasize that liberal values and freedom-guaranteeing institutions cannot be taken for granted:

"Imagine this scenario: disappointment with existing institutions leads to welcoming institutional breakdown in the hope of rebuilding a more just society out of the debris, whereupon 'true democracy' fails to materialize and the values of liberal cosmopolitanism are sacrificed somewhere along the way."

Instead of opting for radical change, the authors urge the degrowth movement to hold on to Habermas' notion of the *unfinished project of modernity*: "the striving for a just society via the autonomous development of science, morality, law and the arts" (Strunz & Bartkowski 2018, 1159). They characterize liberal democracy, then, as the current institutional embodiment of this unfinished project and use the following minimal definition for liberal democracy: "(i) it is egalitarian in terms of rights; (ii) it is nondictatorial in Arrow['s] (1951) sense; and (iii) its institutions allow for corrections of the societal course of action on the basis of public discourse" (Strunz & Bartkowski 2018, 1159). It is the third requirement which remains important, the so-called *ideal of self-correction*. In liberalism, the need to allow for corrections of the societal course of action follows from the principle of limited knowledge (which also motivates liberalism's push for maximising personal freedoms): there always is the

possibility of being wrong, especially regarding moral values. Therefore, society should not be "locked-in" to a course of action but instead be "open" to change. Following Habermas (and others), Strunz and Bartkowski emphasize that continuous open and free discourse is at the core of a liberal (or open) society.

They then relate degrowth to this ideal of the liberal society by focusing on language as a force of social change. Based on Rorty's pragmatist perspective, they frame degrowth as an attempt to promote new vocabularies: "vocabularies represent a means of re-describing and re-framing the world, and thus of introducing new ideas which, if taken up by the 'audience', would contribute to the achievement of the goals of the degrowth movement" Strunz & Bartkowski 2018, 1163). The task of the degrowth movement, then, is to tell attractive stories about the degrowth lifestyle and to promote the use of notions like "sufficiency" and "conviviality." This will proceed slowly but is crucial to create a political majority. A focus on language as a force for change is often present in debates about sustainability, although people usually do not give a theoretical justification for such a focus, as these authors do. In this article, the focus on language ultimately relies on a sense of trust in liberal democracy and its ability to act based on deliberation in the public sphere.

In summary, Strunz and Bartkowski defend liberalism because of its essential value of self-correction through public discourse, which is why they understand degrowth to essentially be a challenge of promoting new vocabularies. They do admit that representative democracy has become rather unresponsive, which is why they suggest that it has to be complemented by formalised as well as informal public deliberation. However, they do not see a fundamental problem with degrowth competing against other political programmes in liberal democracies. In what follows, the article demonstrates that this idealised version of liberal democracy in which "institutions allow for corrections of the societal course of action on the basis of public discourse" (Ibid., 1159) does not hold true in practice when it comes to challenging the economic growth paradigm.

# BARRIERS TO SELF-INSTITUTION

To understand the barriers to democratic self-correction as described above, it is helpful to bring in Castoriadis' work on autonomy. Castoriadis defined autonomy as "the capacity of a society to collectively and continuously reflect upon (i.e. put in question and change) its norms and institutions" (Cattaneo et al. 2012, 516). Autonomy is the process of self-institution, and an autonomous society makes its own laws while being aware of doing so (Asara et al. 2013). Democratic rule should not be understood as a guarantee for autonomy as "most of the instruments of coercive power that we consider oppressive in a monarchy, or a dictatorship operate no differently in a democracy" (CrimethInc. 2017, 28). The opposite of autonomy, according to Castoriadis, are religious dogmas as these cannot be questioned (Cattaneo et al. 2012). Thus, autonomy cannot only be hindered by material or legal barriers, but also by mental or ideological ones. This is a nuance that is missing in the liberal depiction of self-correction, as outlined by Strunz and Bartkowsi (2018). Castoriadis' idea of collective and continuous reflection seems similar to liberalism's focus on public discourse, but the presence of an arena for public deliberation does not guarantee that this discourse is also unconstrained. In fact, Castoriadis (1985) holds that in secular capitalist society the notion of economic growth works as a religious dogma. That means that the desirability of growth is generally assumed and questioning it has no place in the public discourse. Discussion of the economy is hardly part of the public sphere: "In Western societies economists are the secular experts who hold the truth of the economy, the only ones capable of deciphering its 'messages', akin to religion's priest" (Cattaneo et al. 2012, 516). The notion of autonomy or self-institution shows what the liberal version of degrowth is lacking. Because degrowth is going against the current paradigm of endless economic growth, it not only requires a language change but a more fundamental deconstruction of the kind of dogmatic thinking that this paradigm is characterized by.

In current highly centralized, representative liberal democracies, we cannot speak of self-institution when it comes to the economy. For this, various reasons can be given but I will focus on two of them: the

depoliticization of the economy and problems with the democratic system itself.

First, related to Castoriadis' notion of economic growth being like a religious dogma in western societies, is the increasing depoliticization of the economy, which means that part of economic decision-making or institutions are no longer part of the realm of politics, where they can be questioned and debated. Hickel (2020, 4) states that growth has become like a propaganda term, which conceals that in reality growth is, "a process of elite accumulation, the commodification of commons, and the appropriation of human labour and natural resources, a process that is quite often colonial in character." Instead of being the object of political debate like other policy objectives, economic growth has been conceived as a precondition of other political goals (Deriu 2012). As a result, economic decision-making has been moved to the realm of expertise. This undermines autonomy because it limits what a society can deal with collectively (Cattaneo et al. 2012). Centres of power like the World Bank, the IMF, Federal Reserves, Economic Ministries as well as private actors such as corporations, banks, and investors effectively make many important decisions. Furthermore, "[m]ultinational corporations and financial and economic elites are increasingly avoiding democratic control and contribution in terms of taxation, compliance with social and environmental laws, protection of workers' rights and, more generally, respect for citizens and populations" (Deriu 2012, 555).

In sum, the depoliticization of the economy has led to strong economic and market actors and weak citizen power. "The result is that citizens are in fact at the mercy of immense and impersonal powers, which are difficult to be controlled, at least with the current instruments of traditional democracies" (Deriu 2012, 556). Liberal degrowth sets its hope on altering the societal course of action through public deliberation, but because economic growth is like a dogma in western societies and economic institutions are removed from the political sphere there is no space for unconstrained collective reflection on the economy.

Second, for continuous reflection upon society's norms and institutions we mostly rely on parliament and politicians, but there are also problems with the democratic system itself. Van Reybrouck (2016) diagnoses many of the western democracies with what he calls "Democratic Fatigue Syndrome," stemming from both a legitimacy and an efficiency crisis. He argues that due to continuous media attention as well as being bound to actors and regulations ranging from multinational corporations to international agreements, official politics has become more and more about "incidentalism." Rather than continuously reflecting upon the norms and institutions of society, as is essential to self-institution, politicians are focused on the issues of the day. An important reason for this lies in the specific democratic system we have: the electoral-representative democracy. For many, the words "elections" and "democracy" have become almost synonymous, as if elections are not just a method to pick our representatives but a goal in itself. Van Reybrouck (2016, 41) calls it "electoral fundamentalism": "an unshakeable belief in the idea that democracy is inconceivable without elections and elections are a necessary and fundamental precondition when speaking of democracy." The excessive focus on elections combined with increasing media attention for every political decision makes for politicians that are constantly focused on being re-elected rather than governing their country in the long term. One could take this critique further and say that "[r] epresentative democracy offers a pressure valve: when people are dissatisfied, they set their sights on the next elections, taking the state itself for granted." (CrimethInc. 2017, 29) In that sense, the election of representatives diverts attention from the deeper problems of official politics.

One such problem is that in politics, some interests have always weighed heavier than others. That is, unsurprisingly, those interests that are financially backed. As stated above, economic institutions have been removed from the political sphere, where they cannot be controlled by the public. At the same time, however, economic and private actors heavily mingle with politics by financing electoral campaigns and using professional lobbyists (Deriu 2012, 554). To give one example, in ten years, the five largest oil and gas corporations together have spent at least €251 million lobbying the EU (CEO 2019). As another example, in the United States, Citizens Uni-

ted v. FEC decided in 2010 that restricting independent expenditures for political campaigns by corporations, wealthy billionaires, and committees established for the purpose of fundraising, went against the free speech clause. The government was therefore prohibited to implement such restrictions.

As Cagé (2020, introduction) states: "Money still occupies center stage in politics; democracy means who pays wins." She has shown how election campaigns, think tanks that advise policymakers, and media reporting on politics are all heavily shaped by money. In many places, the situation is getting worse because political parties increasingly depend on private donors and attempts to restrict the financial mingling of private actors have been inadequate (Cagé 2020). Politicians are, therefore, not only influenced by the wish to please voters in the short term to be re-elected, but also by the wealth of private actors. All of this means that long-term and citizen interests are neglected, and little real questioning of underlying norms and values is taking place in politics. Electing representatives, therefore, does not make a society autonomous and the depth of critical reflection present in current democracies is not enough to counter the growth paradigm.

### TRANSFORMING THE DEMOCRATIC SYSTEM

There is a lot of work done on how to make democracies more responsive and get more citizen participation (e.g. Van Reybrouck 2016), more deliberation (e.g. Habermas 1996), and decrease the influence of money (e.g. Cagé 2020). Some authors only propose minor changes, while others envision radically new ways of doing politics (e.g. Fotopoulos 1997). Within the degrowth literature, there is disagreement about what changes in the democratic system are necessary to reach the objective of reducing consumption and production in a socially emancipatory manner:

"Some see this as possible within a plausible evolution of parliamentary democracy, while others see a fundamental interconnection between liberal democracies, capitalism and economic growth, calling for a radical overhaul of the political-economic system and a re-institution along lines of direct, localized democracy and economy." (Cattaneo et al. 2012, 517)

To get more autonomous societies, in which there is critical reflection on the economy, technology, production, consumption, and more, democratic transformation towards smaller scale, more direct, and decentralized forms of decision-making is necessary.

First, for a society to be autonomous or self-instituting, it must be small-scale. Of great importance here is Illich's work on the inverse relationship between scale and democracy (Illich 1973). The larger a system, the more complex it becomes and, therefore, the more reliant a society becomes on experts (Bonaiuti 2012). This creates a ruling class and an unequal distribution of power (Cattaneo et al. 2012). Because "only small-scale systems can be democratically and collectively controlled," (Cattaneo et al. 2012, 516) degrowth should push for decision-making at a smaller scale if it values autonomy. This is at odds with some degrowth proposals that ask for more state regulation and, therefore, require a larger bureaucracy and a stronger national state. Of course, not only decision-making but also the economy itself has to be of a smaller scale. The global economy cannot be democratically controlled because of its scale but also because of its speed, which does not match the pace of democratic deliberation (Parrique 2019). Several new spatial arrangements have been brought forward like "ecocommunities, demoi, urban villages and bioregions," (Mocca 2020, 82) all of which share a focus on downshifting and decentralizing the economy and the exercise of political power.

Then, there is also a need for more direct forms of decision-making, in contrast to the current electoral-representative system. The premise of representative democracy is that people elect representatives who get the responsibility (and trust) to govern the country, so we, as citizens with the right to vote, do not have to spend as much time

and energy doing so. However, as discussed in the previous section, the current democratic system has proven not to be capable of dealing with long-term problems. Therefore, when we look at, for instance, climate action we see that elected representatives have not been doing nearly enough in mitigating climate change (IPCC 2018) and, overall, have failed to take responsibility. One might say that there is no guarantee that citizens will make more sustainable and fairer choices (as they are the same people that elected these politicians), especially when the choices to be made involve self-limitation. To a certain extent, this is true. That is why not only a democratic transformation but also a cultural shift towards frugality and care and away from extraction and capital accumulation is necessary.

There is, however, also evidence that citizens, when they get the time and resources to get informed and deliberate amongst each other, make more sustainable choices than their governments do. We can think of citizens' assemblies on the topic of climate change that have taken place over the last years in Ireland, the United Kingdom, and France. Here I would like to bring in the example of the French citizens' convention on the climate crisis that was held in 2019/2020. The Convention Citoyenne pour le Climat followed unrest in the country surrounding the new climate policy by President Macron. In 2018, Macron, who presents himself as a world leader in tackling the climate crisis, decided on a fuel tax. Protesters known as gilets jaunes (yellow vest movement) took to the streets to demonstrate against this tax that they perceived as unfair towards the working class and rural areas. During the violent escalations, the police used exceptionally harsh repressive measures against protesters (Fassin & Defossez 2019). The protests turned into a more general (and at times far-right) anti-government movement (Chrisafis 2018). The gilets jaunes can be characterised by the diversity of peoples' grievances and demands but Fassin and Defossez (2019) claim that the major themes are social justice and democratic renewal.

As a response to societal divisions and the protests, Macron decided on a citizens' convention on the climate crisis, promising to submit for adoption the proposals that this group of citizens came up with (through legislation, executive decree, or referendum, although he

did give himself three vetoes). This initiative of citizen participation was unprecedented in France, a highly centralized state. The citizens' assembly consisted of 150 citizens, selected by sortition (lottery) and representative of the French population in terms of gender, age, education, jobs, residency, and region. Its task was to come up with socially just proposals to reduce greenhouse gas emissions by at least 40% (compared to 1990). They convened during seven weekends for hearings of experts and deliberations in small groups. Eventually, they came up with a set of proposals that were generally perceived as very ambitious (Van Langendonck 2020). It is often assumed that lay people cannot be trusted with difficult problems like climate change or that they will just decide what is in their best interest, which is why we need experts and bureaucrats to make objective and neutral evaluations. But this citizens' convention showed that when people get the time and resources to deliberate amongst each other, they might make more sustainable and long-term decisions than their governments do.

I am not arguing, however, that this model of decision-making is what degrowth should be pushing for. In the end, power was still in the hands of the French state, not with the randomly selected group of citizens. In fact, President Macron got rid of one of the most profound proposals: making environmental conservation part of the constitution. Furthermore, he is also unwilling to go against the power of corporations which was demonstrated by him rejecting the proposal for a dividend tax (Van Langendonck 2020). In parliament, the proposal to ban short-haul domestic flights was also weakened from 4 to 2.5 hours after objections from Air France-KLM (BBC 2021). What all of this shows is that the conventional democratic mechanisms are weak when it comes to altering the capitalist system and standing up to economic powers. Indeed, "what Americans call 'free market democracy' is in fact a regime with a strong power of market actors and a weak citizen power" (Deriu 2012, 555).

The French citizens' convention, at first sight, seemed like a promising democratic experiment. Ultimately, however, it was still a tool for the centralized state. Therefore, besides smaller scale and more direct forms of democracy, decision-making needs to be decentralized. For a much more radical vision on the potential of citizens' assemblies, we can turn to Bookchin (2015) who saw political transformation as being at the heart of ecological transformation. With his theory of libertarian municipalism, he aims to provide a "democratic alternative to the nation-state and the market society" (39). The meaning of the word politics, he holds, is not simply the practice of statecraft but should instead "return to the word's original Greek meaning as the management of the community, or polis, by means of direct face-to-face assemblies of the people in the formulation of public policy and based on an ethics of complementarity and solidarity" (78). These popular neighbourhood and town assemblies are where policymaking will take place and should be open to all. Confederations of municipalities will then replace the nation-state. These confederations are purely administrative and practical, based on the interdependence of municipalities, as municipalities make their own policies. Degrowth can benefit from engaging with programs of radical democratic transformation like Bookchin's, not least because they offer first steps towards greater democratic transformation. In the case of libertarian municipalism, these minimal steps involve "initiating Left Green municipalist movements that propose popular neighborhood and town assemblies-even if they have only moral functions at first," (Bookchin 2015, 84) which is something that could easily be taken up by the degrowth movement.

#### CONCLUSION

In this article, the idealized narrative in which degrowth proposals can simply be implemented in current democratic societies, has been problematized. A liberal or reformist version of degrowth will not do and our hopes should, instead, be with the more radical currents on the degrowth spectrum. This is because, when it comes to the working of the economy, democratic mechanisms to alter the societal course of action are weak. Therefore, a transformation of the democratic system in the direction of smaller-scale, more direct, and decentralized forms of decision-making should be a central aspect of the degrowth project. This conclusion resonates with Trainer's (2012, 12) claim that "the changes associated with degrowth will permeate just about the whole of society, i.e., they will require the scrapping or remaking of many central institutions and systems." Because degrowth proposals go against the interests of the most powerful actors in society, these changes will have to include transformations in the democratic system to move power from economic institutions and elected representatives to citizens.

#### REFERENCES

Arrow, Kenneth. 1951. Social Choice and Individual Values. New York: Wiley.

Asara, Viviana, Emanuele Profumi, and Giorgos Kallis. 2013. "Degrowth, Democracy and Autonomy." Environmental Values 22 (2): 217–39. http://www.istor.org/stable/23460979.

Bonaiuti, Mauro. 2012. "Growth and Democracy: Trade-Offs and Paradoxes." Futures, Special Issue: Politics, Democracy and Degrowth, 44 (6): 524–34. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.futures.2012.03.013.

Bookchin, Murray. 2015. The Next Revolution: Popular Assemblies and the Promise of Direct Democracy: Essays by Murray Bookchin. London: Verso.

Castoriadis, Cornelius. 1985. "Reflections on 'Rationality' and 'Development." Thesis Eleven 10-11 (2): 18-36. https://doi.org/10.1177/072551368501000103.

Cattaneo, Claudio, Giacomo D'Alisa, Giorgos Kallis, and Christos Zografos. 2012. "Degrowth Futures and Democracy." Futures, Special Issue: Politics, Democracy and Degrowth, 44 (6): 515–23. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.futures.2012.03.012.

Chrisafis, Angelique. 2018. "Who are the gilets jaunes and what do they want?" The Guardian, December 7, 2018. https://www.theguardian.com/world/2018/dec/03/who-are-the-gilets-jaunes-and-what-do-they-want.

Corporate Europe Observatory. 2019. "Big Oil and Gas buying influence in Brussels." Published October 22, 2019. https://corporateeurope.org/en/2019/10/big-oil-and-gas-buying-influence-brussels.

Cosme, Inês, Rui Santos, and Daniel W. O'Neill. 2017. "Assessing the Degrowth Discourse: A Review and Analysis of Academic Degrowth Policy Proposals." Journal of Cleaner Production 149 (April): 321–34. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jclepro.2017.02.016.

CrimethInc. ex-Workers' Collective. 2017. From Democracy to Freedom: The difference between government and self-determination. Salem, Oregon. https://crimethinc.com/books/from-democracy-to-freedom.

D'Alisa, Giacomo, and Giorgos Kallis. 2020. "Degrowth and the State." Ecological Economics 169 (March): 106486. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecolecon.2019.106486.

Demaria, Federico, and Serge Latouche. 2019. "Degrowth." In Pluriverse: A Post-Development Dictionary, edited by Ashish Kothari, Ariel Salleh, Arturo Escobar, Federico Demaria, and Alberto Acosta, 148-151. New Delhi: Tulika Books.

Deriu, Marco. 2012. "Democracies with a Future: Degrowth and the Democratic Tradition." Futures, Special Issue: Politics, Democracy and Degrowth, 44 (6): 553–61. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.futures.2012.03.016.

Eversberg, Dennis, and Matthias Schmelzer. 2018. "The Degrowth Spectrum: Convergence and Divergence Within a Diverse and Conflictual Alliance." Environmental Values 27 (3): 245–67. https://doi.org/10.3197/096327118X15217309300822.

Fassin, Didier, and Anne-Claire Defossez. 2019. "An Improbable Movement? Macron's France and the Rise of the Gilets Jaunes." New Left Review (115): 77-92. https://newleftreview.org/issues/ii115/articles/didier-fassin-anne-claire-defossez-an-improbable-movement

Fotopoulos, Takis. 1997. Towards an Inclusive Democracy The crisis of the growth economy and the need for a new liberatory project. London/New York: Cassell.

Habermas, Jürgen. 1996. Between Facts and Norms: Contributions to a Discourse Theory of Law and Democracy. Cambridge, Massachusetts: MIT Press.

Hickel, Jason. 2020. "What Does Degrowth Mean? A Few Points of Clarification." Globalizations: 1–7. https://doi.org/10.1080/14747731. 2020.1812222.

Illich, Ivan. 1973. Tools for Conviviality. Glasgow: Fontana/Collins.

IPCC. n.d. Special Report on Global Warming of 1.5 °C. https://www.ipcc.ch/sr15/

Jackson, Tim. 2008. Prosperity without Growth: Economics for a Finite Planet. London: Earthscan.

Kallis, Giorgos, and Joan Martinez-Alier. 2010. "Caps yes, but how? A Response to Alcott." Journal of Cleaner Production 18 (4): 1570-1573. http://doi.org/10.1016/j.jclepro.2010.06.010

Kallis, Giorgos, Susan Paulson, Giacomo D'Alisa, and Federico Demaria. 2020. The Case for Degrowth. Cambridge: Polity.

Latouche, Serge. 2010. "Degrowth." Journal of Cleaner Production 18 (6): 519-22. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jclepro.2010.02.003.

Mocca, Elisabetta. 2020. "The Local Dimension in the Degrowth Literature. A Critical Discussion." Journal of Political Ideologies 25 (1): 78–93. https://doi.org/10.1080/13569317.2019.1696926.

Ott, Konrad. 2012. "Variants of De-Growth and Deliberative Democracy: A Habermasian Proposal." Futures, Special Issue: Politics, Democracy and Degrowth, 44 (6): 571–81. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.futures.2012.03.018.

Parrique, Timothée. 2019. "Degrowth: a realistic demand for the impossible." Stockholm Resilience Centre. May 2019. Video, 54:37. https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=VQfV23a5ZNQ&t=1584s.

Strunz, Sebastian, and Bartosz Bartkowski. 2018. "Degrowth, the Project of Modernity, and Liberal Democracy." Journal of Cleaner Production 196 (September): 1158–68. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jclepro.2018.06.148.

Trainer, Ted. 2012. "De-Growth: Do You Realise What It Means?" Futures, Special Issue: Politics, Democracy and Degrowth, 44 (6): 590-599. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.futures.2012.03.020.

Van Langendonck, Gert. 2020. "Frans burgerparlement wil referendum over 'ecocide." NRC, June 21, 2020.https://www.nrc.nl/nieuws/2020/06/21/frans-burgerparlement-wil-referendum-over-ecocide-a4003504.

Van Reybrouck, David. 2016. Against Elections: The Case for Democracy. London: The Bodley Head.

## DEGROWTH AND ECO-MARXISM: AGAINST THE NARCISSISM OF SMALL DIFFERENCES

PEDER RESSEM ØSTRING

"[...] like-minded people working to solve the same problem will engage in continuous civil war with each other over methods, thus destroying their chances of success. Why does that happen, do you think? The narcissism of small differences. That's an odd name. It's Freud's name. Means more regard for yourself than for your allies or the problems you both face."

Kim Stanley Robinson, The Ministry for the Future

Degrowth and Eco-Marxism agree on the central point that growth for growths' sake is better suited to describe the ideology of a cancer cell – not as a principle for society. Despite overlapping stances when it comes to fighting the unwanted social and natural consequences of an unrestrained free-market economy, the two traditions differ on several key points such as the role of the working class, general strategies for change, and technology. Nevertheless, through a critical engagement with one another, degrowthers can expand their roadmaps for change and conceptual toolkit, while Eco-Marxists can learn to avoid the pitfalls of blind productivism.

Degrowth is a movement which has recently gained traction. The term and body of work has manifested itself most notably in western academia, but also with activists centered around issues such as climate justice mobilizations in Germany and the Zone à Defendre (ZAD) movement in France (Andreucci & Engel-Di Mauro 2019). Jostein Jakobsen, a researcher at Norway's Centre for Development and the Environment (SUM), laments the limited discussion of degrowth in Norwegian discourse, and highlights the absence of degrowth in the Marxist journal *Gnist*'s special issue on climate and capitalism as a case in point (Jakobsen 2021).

This article aims to rectify this lack of discourse between Eco-Mar-

xism and degrowth by sketching out a preliminary assessment of the convergence and contradictions between them, helping facilitate meaningful exchange and dialogue between the two. This article defines Eco-Marxism as the critique of capitalism in its inherent tendency towards ecological destruction, based on the seminal works of Karl Marx and Friedrich Engels. The term ecosocialism is used somewhat interchangeably throughout the text as a similar concept, with more emphasis on a positive program for change rather than mere critique of capitalism, and with lesser connotation to the founding fathers of Marxism

## THE ECOLOGY OF ANDRÉ GORZ AND THE REALM OF FREEDOM

An early figure at the intersection of Marxism and degrowth was André Gorz. He coined the term décroissance in 1972, after having inquired whether a steady state economy would be possible under capitalism. Gorz was inspired by Ivan Illich's concept of convivial tools, where only those technologies that could be controlled by a community, enhance autonomy, and promote reproduction of life should be developed (Barca 2019). However, in contrast with Illich, Gorz was not fundamentally against industrialization and automation, and his vision of technology was to be subjected to principles of autonomy, not the other way around (Leonardi 2019). For Gorz, the "promethean" project of mastering or domesticating nature was not necessarily incompatible with a concern for the environment, if non-renewable resources were carefully managed, and renewables were not depleted to the extent where they could no longer regenerate at sufficient rates. He reasoned that all culture relies on the modification of the biosphere and encroachment upon nature to some extent (Gorz [1980] 1997, 21). On the left, such a "prometheanism" would find resonance with socialist modernists like Leigh Phillips (2015), Matthew Huber (2021), or – in its most extreme form - Aaron Bastani (2019) and his vision of a fully automated luxury communism, which includes transhumanism and a hyper-modernist program of space mining as means to overcome our current crisis. For Gorz, however, self-imposed limits to the scale of productive technologies were central to his utopian vision, as well as a rejection

of certain technologies deemed fundamentally destructive and authoritarian like nuclear power (Gorz 1980). Gorz thus represents a middle ground between primitivism and eco-modernism, in that his pragmatic endorsement of the use of technology is contingent on its liberatory potential.

Gorz' anti-work ethos can be tied to the Marxist concept of expanding the "realm of freedom" over the "realm of necessity" (Koch 2019). This does, however, rest on the ability to have productive power that can sustain lives where people are free to pursue their own diverse interests, without being confined to an exclusive sphere of activity imposed by the division of labor as a means of maximizing profit. Expanding the realm of freedom is not just a goal because of normative notions of justice and the full development of human potential, but also a precondition for a new sensible relation with nature (Saito 2017a). Even though several Eco-Marxists – most notably American sociologist John Bellamy Foster (2000) – argue against notions of Marx as productivist and "promethean," such ideas can be read into certain passages in his work, such as the ambiguous assessment of capital as a "civilizing influence," found in *Grundrisse* (Marx 1993, 458).

For Marx, however, it was capitalism, in all its destructive and alienating force, that would provide the productive forces on which to build communism – thus shifting productive forces towards human needs (Koch 2019). Such a vision does not need to be in contradiction with degrowth, since values lead to a quite different demand than in an economic system governed by *exchange* values, in that it can reach levels of saturation (Kallis 2017). Through placing use value and the maximization of the realm of freedom as the guiding principles of economic relations, growth goes from being a hegemonic concept and a goal in itself, to becoming something historically specific to capitalist society, paving the way for communism – or post-growth.

There are many different views on technology coming from the degrowth camp (Kerschner et. al. 2018). Through drawing on Gorz and Marx, however, common ground can be located between degrowthers

1 This point can be read from the following passage in The German Ideology: "For as soon as the division of labour comes into being, each man has a particular, exclusive sphere of activity, which is forced upon him and from which he cannot escape. He is a hunter, a fisherman, a shepherd, or a critical critic, and must remain so if he does not want to lose his means of livelihood; whereas in communist society, where nobody has one exclusive sphere of activity but each can become accomplished in any branch he wishes, society regulates the general production and thus makes it possible for me to do one thing today and another tomorrow, to hunt in the morning, fish in the afternoon, rear cattle in the evening, criticise after dinner, just as I have a mind, without ever becoming hunter, fisherman, shepherd or critic." (Marx & Engels 1970, 53).

with a pragmatic stance towards modernity, the application of technology and productive forces derived from capitalism, and certain Eco-Marxists. On the other hand, tendencies engaging with the degrowth movements such as revolutionary romanticism, primitivism, or broader anti-civilization critiques would not be compatible with the ecological visions of Gorz, neither with Marx's ontology of social change, as his historical materialist critique of utopian socialism makes clear.<sup>2</sup> Gorz did, however, distance himself from the traditional Marxist class-based strategy (Barca 2019), an issue to which the article will now turn.

#### STRATEGY AND CLASS

After being elaborated as an academic concept and area of inquiry in the 1970's, degrowth resurfaced as a provocative slogan during the anti-globalization demonstrations of the early 2000s – a term which aimed to cut right to the core of commonsensical growth ideology. As a biting slogan, it was hoped degrowth would avoid the same co-opting which terms such as "sustainability" had undergone before (Demaria & Latouche 2019). However, Trantas (2021) warns that degrowth might not be resistant to such a subsumption into hegemonic bourgeois discourse. Furthermore, degrowthers are inclined towards bottom-up approaches to social change, eschewing party politics and full blown ecosocialist political programs in favor of more general principles of transition. The problem with this is a strategic one, in which the actual manifestations of degrowth are hypothesized to only work in the fringes of capitalist modes of production (Huber 2019; Trantas 2021). The structural power of labor should be acknowledged within degrowth, wherein often the construction of ecovillages or academic arguments are without regard for the working class and its structural labor power. In this way, strategies that have so far been atomized and which have largely disregarded workers agency could come together in a potent alliance against the death drive of capital. In other words: an emphasis on class politics along with an explicit critique of capitalism would be the best vaccine against capital, but also against the potential co-opting of degrowth.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Marx did not advocate for a return back to a harmonious past before the rise of class society, but rather for taking the capitalist mode of production as the point of departure for revolutionary political organization. His oft-quoted passage from The Eighteenth Brumaire reveals a lot in this respect: "Men make their own history, but they do not make it as they please; they do not make it under self-selected circumstances, but under circumstances existing already, given and transmitted from the past." (2006 11)

The death drive of capital, however, also requires including reproductive labor in working class struggle. Barca (2019, 229) has pointed towards a fundamental contradiction within the environmentalist labor movement which she calls the eco-modernist dilemma of labor: "The advancement of a working class ecological consciousness was consequential to the development of the forces of production, in the sense that only an advanced industrial apparatus could grant the occupational levels and political strength that were necessary for workers to develop their role as defenders of the environment." Her narrative, drawing on the Marxist author and literary critic Raymond Williams, holds that the failure to see the realm of reproduction as the common ground between the labor and environmental movement made way for the labor movement finally embracing capitalist and eco-modernist ecologies. She further holds that eco-feminism would be a necessary component in a true "qualitative alteration of socialism" – away from productivism and on to a green path. The movement for a reduction of the working day is but one example of how production, reproduction, and the environment are all intrinsically linked together.

Degrowth has been criticized for being a slogan in search of a program (Pollin 2018). To go beyond the ivory tower and a strategy confined to the fringes of capitalism would require actively pursuing change that people involved in the direct production of value under capitalism would also embrace - not because the working class is the most marginalized, but because of their strategic position in the economic system. However, a strategic emphasis on workers does not have to fetishize production, since the sphere of reproduction is also essential to fuse environmental and labor issues (Federici 2018). It is first under capitalism that production (of exchange value) is put center stage (Postone 1996). New social movements advocating different causes such as feminism or just cities are thus also important arenas for working class struggles and should not be shrugged off as "identity politics." The challenge is to build bridges and articulate the common interests of all these movements, without saving a final farewell to the working class.3 When it comes to engaging in the working class struggle however, degrowth advocates might have set up a difficult task for themselves.

<sup>3 &</sup>quot;Farewell to the working class" was the revealing title of an essay by Andre Gorz (1980), where he explained why the position of the industrial workers had been weakened to the point where new social movements would take its place as a driver for progressive change.

#### NAMING THE BEAST

Those with even the most rudimentary insight into degrowth literature would see through certain bad-faith critiques of degrowth. One such critique comes from economist Robert Pollin (2018), who sidelines degrowth with austerity. As degrowthers are at pains to establish, this is not the case, as a transition to a degrowth economy would involve a planned descaling of material and energy throughput in accordance with just and democratic principles (Hickel 2020). Nevertheless, the problems of navigating deeply entrenched discursive elements like growth is no easy task: "When people say 'growth' they normally mean growth in GDP, so one might reasonably assume that degrowth is likewise focused on reducing GDP. Proponents of degrowth are therefore condemned to perpetually clarify that degrowth is not about reducing GDP, but rather about reducing material and energy throughput" (Hickel 2020, 2). Degrowth is then packaged as a "missile" word, spearheading a discursive crusade against the "one-way future consisting only of growth," to use the words of science-fiction author Ursula K. Le Guin (1982). In the quest for developing a provoking slogan while simultaneously creating a broad movement capable of societal change, degrowthers ride two horses at the same time.

In the same article, Hickel reinforces that the total minimizing of throughput in the economy is the key issue, and that there can be room for certain forms of growth in the Global South as well as for those balancing on the edge of subsistence. Giorgos Kallis (2017) agrees that certain use values might have to increase, but does not want to name this growth, given the modern economic use of the word. But if we go back to the etymology of the word, and to nature, growth suddenly has a different meaning – trees, plants, and babies all grow – which is a good thing. It is under capitalism that this concept is perverted in its disregard of limits. Ecosocialists and degrowthers agree on the impossibility of an eternal, exponential growth. If one, instead, focused on growth of use values (which Kallis explicitly mentions cannot grow forever), convergence between degrowth and ecosocialism becomes possible, at least on what counts as a "desirable" society.

Faced with a working class that has seen stagnant wages and lived under harsh policies of austerity and neoliberalism, "degrowth" might not be the best choice of name. This is not because of its content when elaborated, but because of the pedagogical challenges of explaining what is really meant by a word that is ideologically entrenched and etymologically ambiguous. Instead of focusing on the symptom – growth – the main goal should be to strike at the disease, which is capitalism. By putting the symptom center stage, degrowth is liable to the pitfall of focusing on the realm of consumption (Huber 2019). Such an approach eschews what Marxists has always emphasized, namely, ownership relations. Capitalism, and with it the privileging of exchange value over use values, cannot be reduced to growth, as it also relies on enclosing the commons, imperialist wars, extractivism and universal alienation. Altering these relations would require a strategy that goes beyond small scale projects of "nowtopia" (Carlsson & Manning 2010).

## WHO WILL FORCE THE CAKE SPATULA AWAY FROM THE HANDS OF THE BOURGEOISIE?

Growing the economy and increasing wages have been key accumulation strategies under Fordism. By "baking a bigger cake" and making sure workers gets a slice of economic growth, inequality can persist along with a relatively pacified working class. However, without economic growth as the relief valve for social tension, class struggle will have to commence. It is likely that the bourgeoisie will not hand over the cake spatula voluntarily, and that intense struggles over the distribution of the remaining cake will follow in full force. In the words of Kallis (2017, 202): "In a capitalist world without growth, exploitation increases and social tensions and redistributive conflict intensify. This is not something socialists should be afraid of. If the pie cannot grow, then it is time to share it. Given that capitalism cannot redistribute without passing through barbarity, these are times for socialism."

When it comes to addressing this aforementioned problem, degrowth falls short by lacking an effective strategy and analysis of power for a way out of the growth paradigm. This becomes clear when compared to propositions such as the green new deal (GND) as articulated by socialists on both sides of the Atlantic, which speaks to people's concerns over jobs and welfare. They have formulated a cohesive list of demands for reforms and non-reformist reforms – that is, reforms which go beyond the capitalist status quo and pave the way for revolutionary change. Degrowth's pluriversal strategy cannot match the specificity and perceived realism of the GND. A few general programmatic points about a reduction of the working day, expansion of public goods and services and progressive taxation are mentioned (Hickel 2020), but how to get there remains strikingly vague, and is reduced to pointing to different bottom-up "nowtopian" processes, or to the concept of coevolution between "humans, more-than-humans, cultures, things, bodies and so on coming together in networks, as well as nature and society evolving together" (Siamanta 2021, 59) .These buzzwords lack straightforward operationalizability as well as inciting potential. The Bolsheviks did not manage to topple the tsar by chanting "we want a pluriversal co-evolution now!" but rather through calling for peace, land, and bread. Given that those who profit from the fossil economy and environmental destruction will not give up their privilege without a struggle, it is also worth taking a critical look at degrowth's methods.

Degrowth has been criticized for not engaging with movements that have successfully made use of a diversity of tactics and direct action (Dunlap 2020). While degrowth has ambitious goals, its tactical toolbox is surprisingly modest. I believe there can be no a priori assessment of nonviolence as the best strategy for a movement that aims to curtail the warming of the planet. Rather, the proper tactics must be evaluated case-by-case. Environmental struggles have a long but often obscured history of direct action and sabotage which continues today, often informed by autonomist and anarchist traditions (Tsolkas 2015, Mauvaise Troupe Collective 2018). Recently, Andreas Malm (2021) has also argued from an ecosocialist position that the environmental movement should not fetishize pacifism, and that the natural conclusion that should be drawn from state governments and the unwillingness of big oil to stop the systematic heating of the planet, should be to target their infrastructure in an organized fashion, not stopping short of attacking property and infrastructure to stop the

structural violence of global warming. He points to how movements as diverse as the suffragettes and Earth First! have obtained concessions from capital and the state, not by playing by the liberal democratic rules but by actively pursuing direct action. When it comes to strategy and tactics then, Marxist currents like Leninism and autonomism have long traditions of engaging with diverse tactics and are thus in a better position to adjust action in accordance with the problem one is confronted by, be it the colonialism described by Franz Fanon or the structural violence of climate change. However, this is a delicate topic whose further elaboration is well beyond the scope of this article. From the very practical discussion of tactics, I will now turn to the more abstract – but still fundamental – philosophical position of nature in Marxism.

## THE PHILOSOPHICAL UNDERPINNINGS OF ECO-MARXISM

A critique of Eco-Marxism is that the very political foundation on which this tradition stands – the writings of Karl Marx and Friedrich Engels – are oblivious to environmental concerns. The criticisms start out at the ontological level, where Marx is accused of anthropocentrism and a subsequent dualist split of humans with nature, separating two entities that are intrinsically linked. Such a split is conceived to stem from enlightenment thinking, applying Cartesian dualism to a whole array of other concepts, legitimizing devastation of the natural world, as well as sexism, racism, and colonialism (Kothari et al. 2019). This makes Marxism into a modernist driver of the domination of nature (Escobar 2008, 8). There is criticism even from within Marxist circles. For instance, Jason W. Moore (2015) has criticized John Bellamy Foster and his concept of metabolic rift for falling into said dualisms. If Marxists are to "break radically with the ideology of linear progress and with the technological and economic paradigm of modern industrial civilization" (Löwy 2005, 16), it is necessary to see what the philosophical underpinnings of Eco-Marxism actually are.

<sup>4</sup> The natural scientific notebooks from Marx's later life is available in German through the latest addition of the Marx-Engels Complete Works [Die Marx-Engels-Gesamtausgabe (MEGA), IV, 18 Exzerpte und Notizen. Februar 1864 bis August 1868].

Kohei Saito (2017a) offers a response to these objectives, particularly in regard to the problem of dualist thinking. Saito draws on Marx's central works and his natural scientific notebooks, published only recently and still being translated.<sup>4</sup> The metabolic rift is elaborated from Marx's conception of ecological crisis under capitalism, where the metabolic relation between man and earth is thwarted by the dominance of capitalist social relations which leads to the separation of town and country, and alienation of the worker from both her own labor and from nature. According to Marx: "[Capitalist production] disturbs the metabolic interaction between man and the earth, i.e., it prevents the return to the soil of its constituent elements consumed by man in the form of food and clothing; hence it hinders the operation of the eternal natural condition for the lasting fertility of the soil. Thus, it destroys at the same time the physical health of the urban worker, and the intellectual life of the rural worker." (Marx 1976, 637)

However, this process of division is best understood as ideologically produced by capitalist relations, and human independence from and mastery over nature can only be an idealist creation, since nature is the trans-historical prerequisite for labor (Saito 2017a). This conceptual unity of humanity and nature in Marx can already be revealed in his early writings: "Man lives from nature, i.e., nature is his body, and he must maintain a continuing dialogue with it if he is not to die. To say that man's physical and mental life is linked to nature simply means that nature is linked to itself, for man is a part of nature." (Marx 1977, 328) Later, in the *Grundrisse* (489), a similar position is taken where the metabolic rift can also be identified:

"It is not the unity of living and active humanity with the natural, inorganic conditions of their metabolic exchange with nature, and hence their appropriation of nature, which requires explanation or is the result of a historic process, but rather the separation between these inorganic conditions of human existence and this active existence, a separation which is completely posited only in the relation of wage labour and capital."

Marx's ecology can best be understood if one takes into consideration his philosophy of internal relations and dialectics, where concepts like "humanity" and "nature" cannot be grasped independently. but only by their relations of interdependence in a totality (Ollman 2003).5 It is thus capitalism, through a reification of nature (conceiving it as a "thing") and alienation of the worker, that upsets an otherwise stable process of metabolism between people and ecosystems, that is, a metabolism in which humans contribute to a balanced exchange of nutrients to the soil. The natural and the social realm are dialectically interlinked in a totality, and as long as humans work, their consciousness and existence is conditioned by nature. The process of alienation and metabolic rift is also a result of the value form intrinsic to capitalism, where value only reflects labor time, all the while eschewing natural and social forces of reproduction that are essential for capitalism, but not given value (Saito 2017b, 287; Saito 2017a).

<sup>5</sup> Dialectics and the philosophy of internal relations in Marx, thoroughly laid forth by Bertell Ollmann (2003), can help explaining how Marx can speak of both nature and society as different abstractions, withouht claiming that the two terms represent independent spheres of reality.

#### DEGROWTH AND THE METABOLIC RIFT

In his article "Is Less More ... or Is More Less?", political ecologist Paul Robbins (2020) tries to show the potential for socialist modernism which involves automation and industrial technology at scale as a way to obtain "freedom from drudgery" (Robbins 2020, 2). Even if the article proclaims to identify a common ground between degrowth and modernist environmental improvement, he comes down (rather bluntly) in favor of the latter as the preferred strategy. His position stands in stark contrast with degrowth, in particular Illich's (1973) concept of convivial tools and low-entropy energy as well as Kallis' (2017) claim that all surplus in practice rests on exploitation. However, metabolic rift theory shows how Robbins' idea of socialist modernism has no root in Eco-Marxism – and should more correctly be labeled eco-modernism. Marx's (1973) earlier insights explicitly point to capitalist agriculture as a driver of the metabolic rift, which Robbins ignores in his vision of fully automated mega-farms. By enclosing the commons, creating vast infrastructures of communication and large-scale agriculture, the natural cycle of nutrients in the soil is disturbed, and what used to be nutritious manure for the field

<sup>6</sup> Phosphorus mining and monocultures of soy play a big role in modern agribusiness and both can be regarded as contemporary manifestations of extractivism. is turned into excess waste which again pollutes urban rivers. Just as the large-scale farm described by Robbins would require a large amount of external input (e.g., fertilizers, pesticides, and pellets for feeding of livestock) so did the intensive agriculture of Marx's time require large imports of wheat, guano, and bone meal. This was described by Marx in terms of robbery, both in the sense of robbing the soil of its nutrients, but also the robbery of distant countries by the imperialist metropole – and not development (Saito 2017a; Foster & Clark 2020). The imperialist and exploitative relations that supported this system can easily be translated to contemporary literature on the extractivist industries involved in mining or monocultures (Dunlap & Jakobsen 2020).6

Marx also showed how modernizing agriculture did not necessarily result in better conditions for the working class, pointing to Ireland as an example where colonial relations resulted in the great famine in the mid-nineteenth century (Saito 2017a). For Marx, a sensible and rational treatment of the earth had to break radically with the extractivist logics of capitalist modernization. Contemporary voices on the left such as La Vía Campesina and the grassroots movement for agroecology also share the strategy for a minimization of external input in the (agricultural) economy (Rosset & Val 2018), a demand which is fully in line with degrowth. Furthermore, Marxist epidemiologists have also warned of how large-scale agriculture (of which Robbins's case is a prime example) has worked as a pressure cooker for new zoonotic diseases and mutations, because of the density of livestock in modern farms (Wallace et al. 2020). The land footprint of agribusiness is also leading to the displacement of wild animals and their habitat, increasing the likelihood of contact between feral and domestic animals, as well as humans.

In his discussion of the growth-technology-environment nexus then, Robbins has not articulated a convincing reconciliation between socialist modernism and degrowth. Rather, he has helped highlight a convergence between degrowth and Eco-Marxism, which share a fundamental critique of his proposed socialist modernism in which the rational management of the metabolism between people and nature is disregarded.

#### LIMITS

Ever since the Club of Rome released their report Limits to Growth in 1972, the question of material limits has been connected to the environmental debate. For Marx, his deep dive into agrochemistry and metabolism at the end of his life contributed to his understanding of limits. Capital must always expand, lay claim to more and more of the earth's resources and drive the exploitation of workers to its maximum. Yet, all these internal drives in capitalism have certain absolute biophysical limits. However, these limits always have to be perceived as mere barriers that can be transcended by capital itself: "capital is the endless and limitless drive to go beyond its limiting barrier [...] Every limit appears as a barrier to be overcome" (Marx 1993, 334, 408). Long before taking an interest in the chemistry of the soil, Marx and Engels clearly articulated there being a point of saturation in the development of the productive forces: "In the development of productive forces there comes a stage when productive forces and means of intercourse are brought into being, which, under the existing relationships, only cause mischief, and are no longer productive but destructive forces (machinery and money)" (Marx & Engels 1965 [1846], 92).

Marx and Engels thus share the conception of limits which is central within the degrowth movement, which stands in stark contrast to strategies such as ecomodernism (Asafu-Adjaye et al. 2015). On the same note, scholars engaging with degrowth have dealt thoroughly with the second law of thermodynamics, asserting that green growth is not possible in practice due to the basic workings of entropy (Dagget 2019, Hickel & Kallis 2020).

Locating these limits, however, is a constant struggle for narratives, and in the end also an epistemological question, where political ecology traditionally has challenged Malthusian assumptions of limits to population, and more recently the notion of planetary boundaries

(Robbins 2020). In a retort to Robbins, Gómez-Baggethun (2020) contends that even though limits have a certain flexibility - the world will not be a blazing inferno at the very moment the atmosphere hits a CO2 level of 450 ppm – this does not make them less relevant. He goes on to mention how the flexibility of capital accumulation, with its propensity for temporal and spatial fixes, can allow for the coexistence of capitalism along with environmental decline for a long time. Such a conception of limits stresses the importance of doing away with the destructive economic system, because leaning back and hoping for its inevitable demise would not be a viable alternative, as highlighted by the Swedish ecosocialist and human geographer Ståle Holgersen (2020). André Gorz has also criticized the notion that experts could determine some exact limits "out there," a posture deemed as anti-democratic. For Gorz, self-limitation went hand in hand with both governing the metabolism with nature and regaining autonomy and control over production (Demaria, Kallis & Bakker 2019). This idea resonates well with Marx's call for free associated producers' conscious and self-regulated socio-natural metabolism (Saito 2017a).

The epistemological dimension of limits is also highlighted by Gómez-Baggethun (2020, 3). Through deconstruction, post-modern scholars aimed at dethroning naïve realist assumptions about the world, but ended up producing an intellectual climate where meaningful analysis of reality was made increasingly difficult. This, in turn, paved the way for the reduction of very real phenomena like climate change to mere discourse. Degrowth could benefit from taking an active stance in epistemological discussions, drawing on Marxian-inspired philosophy of science to avoid the intellectual fog of postmodernism. Critical realism is such a framework, which asserts that questions of what the world is like (ontology) should not be reduced to what can be known about the world (epistemology). This is what critical realists describe as the epistemic fallacy, which is committed by constructivists and positivists alike (Sayer 2000). When thinking about the concept of limits then, a critical realist approach would be to acknowledge that all knowledge is fallible, and that we cannot get an exact operationalization of how to avoid crossing certain tipping points or planetary boundaries. Nevertheless,

said limits should still be deemed real, and such an assessment would require applying precautionary principles and an active strategy to stop the mechanisms driving us closer to the precipice.

#### CONCLUSION

Since the very beginning, degrowth can be said to have "coevolved" together with Eco-Marxism. This article has identified both eco-modernism and its socialist counterpart, socialist modernism, as common enemies for Eco-Marxists and degrowthers alike. Furthermore, both would agree that compound growth amounts to a "madness of economic reason." in the words of David Harvey (2017). Capitalist relations must be uprooted – although this point appears much less explicit in degrowth literature. The reluctance to take a firm anti-capitalist stance among certain degrowth advocates might have contributed to friction between Marxists and degrowthers. While on the other hand, Giorgos Kallis's call for a socialism without growth has contributed to healing the rift, articulating how degrowth principles are contradictory to fundamental workings of capitalism (Andreucci & Engel-Di Mauro 2019). These later developments in degrowth discourse, as well as its genesis, the writings of Andre Gorz, shows how it can coexist comfortably with Eco-Marxism and that they have more in common than not. While this article has stressed how degrowth might draw lessons from ecosocialist emphasis on class and its strategies and tactics for change, the focus on a descaling of the material throughput of society serve as an important reminder for any socialist movement concerned with the impacts of climate change.

Faced with the current crisis, it is imperative that the anti-capitalist environmental movements go beyond the narcissism of small differences. Our collective energy should be reserved for the real enemy, rather than nitpicking comrades. To take a pluriversal approach in the dialogue between degrowth and Eco-Marxism, would be to acknowledge that there might be room for a certain division of labor and differing tactics to invoke change, where both the counter-hegemonic struggle of degrowth, and the Marxist movements more inclined towards direct action, reform, and revolution, could have their place.

#### REFERENCES

Andreucci, Diego, and Salvatore Engel-Di Mauro. 2019. "Capitalism, Socialism and the Challenge of Degrowth: Introduction to the Symposium." Capitalism Nature Socialism 30 (2): 176–88.

Asafu-Adjaye, John, Christopher Foreman, Rachel Pritzker, Linus Blomqvist, David Keith, Joyashree Roy, Stewart Brand et al. 2015. An ecomodernist manifesto. https://www.ecomodernism.org/manifesto-english.

Bastani, Aaron. 2019. Fully Automated Luxury Communism: A Manifesto. London & New York: Verso Books.

Barca, Stefania. 2019. "Labour and the ecological crisis: The eco-modernist dilemma in western Marxism(s) (1970s-2000s)." Geoforum 98: 226–235.

Daggett, Clara. 2019. "The Novelty of Energy." In The Birth of Energy: Fossil Fuels, Thermodynamics, and the Politics of Work, 15-32. Durham: Duke University Press.

Demaria, Federico, and Serge Latouche. 2019. "Degrowth." In Pluriverse: A Post-Development Dictionary, edited by Ashish Kothari, Ariel Salleh, Arturo Escobar, Federico Demaria, and Alberto Acosta, 148-150. New Delhi: Tulika Books.

Demaria, Federico, Giorgos Kallis, and Karen Bakker. 2019. "Geographies of degrowth: Nowtopias, resurgences and the decolonization of imaginaries and places." ENE: Nature and Space 2 (3): 431–450.

Carlsson, Chris, and Francesca Manning. 2010. "Nowtopia: Strategic Exodus?" Antipode 42 (4): 924-53.

Dunlap, Alexander. 2020. "Recognizing the 'De' in Degrowth: An Anarchist and Autonomist Engagement with Degrowth." Undisciplined Environments, December 2, 2021. https://undisciplinedenvironments.org/2020/12/02/recognizing-the-de-in-degrowth/.

Dunlap, Alexander, and Jostein Jakobsen. 2020. The Violent Technologies of Extraction: Political Ecology, Critical Agrarian Studies and the Capitalist Worldeater. London: Palgrave.

Escobar, Arturo. 2008. Territories of Difference: Place, Movements, Life, Redes. Durham: Duke University Press.

Federici, Silvia. 2018. "On Reproduction as an Interpretative Framework for Social/Gender Relations." Gender, Place & Culture 25 (9): 1391-1396.

Foster, John Bellamy. 2000. Marx's Ecology: Materialism and Nature. New York: NYU Press.

Foster, John Bellamy, and Clark, Brett. 2020. The Robbery of Nature: Capitalism and the Ecological Rift. New York: NYU Press.

Gelderloos, Peter. 2018. How Nonviolence Protects the State. Berkeley: Detritus Books.

Gorz, André. [1980] 1997. Farewell to the Working Class: An Essay on Post-industrial Socialism. London: Pluto Press. ———. 1980. Ecology as Politics, Montreal: Black Rose Books.

Gómez-Baggethun, Erik. 2020. "More Is More: Scaling Political Ecology within Limits to Growth." Political Geography 76: 102095.

Harvey, David. 2017. Marx, Capital and the Madness of Economic Reason. London: Profile Books.

Hickel, Jason. 2020a. "What does degrowth mean? A few points of clarification." Globalizations 0 (0): 1-7.

———. 2020b. Less is More: How Degrowth Will Save the World. Penguin Random House.

Hickel, Jason, and Giorgos Kallis. 2020. "Is Green Growth Possible?" New Political Economy 25 (4): 469-486.

Holgersen, Ståle. 2020. "Miljø Og Økonomi: Refleksjoner Rundt Kapitalismens Kriser." Gnist - Marxistisk Tidsskrift 3.

Huber, Matthew T. 2019. "Ecological Politics for the Working Class." Catalyst Journal 3(1).

2021 [in press]. "The Case for Socialist Modernism." Political Geography: 102352. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.polgeo.2021.102352.

Illich, Ivan. 1973. Tools for Conviviality. New York: Harper & Row.

Jakobsen, Jostein. 2021. "Norsk motvekst." Klassekampen, March 3, 2021.

Kallis, Giorgos. 2017. "Socialism Without Growth." Capitalism Nature Socialism 30 (2): 189-206.

Kerschner, Christian, Petra Wächter, Linda Nierling, and Ehlers Melf-Hinrich. 2018. "Degrowth and Technology: Towards Feasible, Viable, Appropriate and Convivial Imaginaries." Journal of Cleaner Production, Technology and Degrowth 197: 1619–36.

Koch, Max. 2019. "Growth and Degrowth in Marx's Critique of political economy." In Towards a Political Economy of Degrowth, edited by Ekaterina Chertkovskaya, Alexander Paulsson, and Stefania Barca, 69-82. Maryland: Rowman & Littlefield.

Kothari, Ashish, Ariel Salleh, Arturo Escobar, Federico Demaria, and Alberto Acosta. 2019. "Introduction: Finding Pluriversal Paths." In

Pluriverse: A Post-Development Dictionary, edited by Ashish Kothari, Ariel Salleh, Arturo Escobar, Federico Demaria, and Alberto Acosta, xxi-xl. New Delhi: Tulika Books.

Kothari, Ashish, Ariel Salleh, Arturo Escobar, Federico Demaria, and Alberto Acosta, eds. 2019. Pluriverse: A Post-Development Dictionary. New Delhi: Tulika Books.

Leonardi, Emanuele. 2019. "The topicality of André Gorz's political ecology: rethinking Écologie et liberté (1977) to (re)connect Marxism and degrowth." In Towards a Political Economy of Degrowth, edited by Ekaterina Chertkovskaya, Alexander Paulsson, and Stefania Barca, 55-68. Maryland: Rowman & Littlefield.

Löwy, Michael. 2005. "What is Ecosocialism?" Capitalism Nature Socialism 16 (2): 15-24.

Malm, Andreas. 2016. "Fossil Capital: The Energy Basis of Bourgeois PropertyRelations." In Fossil Capital: The rise of steam-power and the roots of global warming, 279-326. London & New York: Verso.

-----. 2021. How to Blow Up a Pipeline. London & New York: Verso.

Marx, Karl, and Friedrich Engels. [1932] 1970. The German Ideology. International Publishers Co.

Marx, Karl. 1973. Kapitalet. Kritik av den politiska ekonomin, Tredje boken. Lund: Arkiv förlag.

——. 1976. Capital, Vol. 1. London: Penguin.

——. 1977. Economic and Political Manuscripts in Marx, Early Writings, New York; Penguin Books.

— 1993. Grundrisse. London: Penguin Adult.

———. [1852] 2006. The Eighteenth Brumaire of Louis Bonaparte. Project Gutenberg.

Mauvaise Troupe Collective. 2018. The Zad and NoTAV - Territorial Struggles and the Making of a New Political Intelligence. London & New York: Verso.

Moore, Jason, W. 2015. Capitalism in the Web of Life: Ecology and the Accumulation of Capital. London & New York: Verso.

Ollman, Bertell. 2003. Dance of the Dialectic: Steps in Marx's Method. Champaign: University of Illinois Press.

Phillips, Leigh. 2015. Austerity Ecology & the Collapse-Porn Addicts: A Defence of Growth, Progress, Industry and Stuff. London: Zero Books.

Pollin, Robert. 2018. "De-Growth vs a Green New Deal." New Left Review 112: 5-25.

Postone, Moishe. 1996. Time, Labor, and Social Domination. Cambridge & New York: Cambridge University Press.

Robbins, Paul. 2020. "Is Less More ... or Is More Less? Scaling the Political Ecologies of the Future." Political Geography 76: 102018.

Robinson, Kim Stanley. 2020. The Ministry for the Future. London: Orbit Books.

Rosset, Peter M., and Valentín Val. 2018. "The 'Campesino a Campesino' Agroecology Movement in Cuba." In Routledge Handbook Of Food As A Commons, edited by Jose Luis Vivero-Pol, Tomaso Ferrando, Olivier De Schutter, and Ugo Mattei, 251–265. Oxfordshire: Routledge.

Saito, Kohei. 2017a. Karl Marx's ecosocialism: capitalism, nature, and the unfinished critique of political economy. New York: Monthly Review Press.

———. 2017b. "Marx in the Anthropocene: Value, Metabolic Rift, and the Non-Cartesian Dualism." Zeitschrift fuer Kritische Sozialtheorie und Philosophie 4 (1–2): 276–295.

Sayer, Andrew. 2000. Realism and social science. London: SAGE Publications.

Siamanta, Zoi Christina. 2021. "Conceptualizing alternatives to contemporary renewable energy development: Community Renewable Energy Ecologies (CREE)." Journal of Political Ecology 28 (1): 47-69.

Trantas, Nikos. 2021. "Could Degrowth have the same fate as Sustainble Development? A discussion on passive revolution in the Anthropocene age." Journal of Political Ecology 28 (1): 224-245.

Tsolkas, Panagioti. 2015. "No System but the Ecosystem: Earth First! And Anarchism." Institute of Anarchist Studies (blog). March 31, 2015. https://anarchiststudies.org/no-system-but-the-ecosystem-earth-first-and-anarchism-by-panagioti-tsolkas-1/.

Wallace, Rob, Alex Liebman, Luis Fernando Chaves, and Rodrick Wallace. 2020. "COVID-19 and Circuits of Capital." Monthly Review: An Independent Socialist Magazine, May 1, 2020. https://monthlyreview.org/2020/05/01/covid-19-and-circuits-of-capital/

## LIFE IN RESISTANCE



# AGROECOLOGY AS RESISTANCE WITHIN DEGROWTH AND POST-DEVELOPMENT

JOANNA SVÄRD

Around the world, critical voices and resistance against industrial agriculture have emerged in full force since the mid-1900s. Following centuries of colonial agricultural expansion and export, the so-called Green Revolution of the 1960s imposed increased intensification on agricultural land, especially in the Global South. As the natural regeneration of soils became depleted, chemical fertilizers and pesticides were introduced, further creating the need for biotechnology. In India, the take-over of monopolized genetically modified (GMO) seeds have, during the last few decades, led to mass debts and the suicide of farmers (Dunlap 2015). In South America, critique against Western-imposed developmentalism and "agroextractivism" (McKay 2017) have created strong social movements uniting farmers, indigenous groups, afro-descendants, and rural populations around ideas of "buen vivir" and agroecology. The international peasant movement La Vía Campesina was founded in the early 1990s as a global grassroots resistance to corporate agriculture (La Vía Campesina n.d.). In the last year, thousands of farmers in India have been protesting new market-friendly laws that threaten their livelihoods (Mashal et al. 2021). Also, in Norway, farmers from all over the country are demanding recognition from the government (Moen Holø et al. 2021). Put into a wider context:

"Small producers are waging an ongoing agrarian struggle for a total redistribution of land and a reconfiguration of the overarching agricultural and food systems where the agroextractivist and large land-holding structures would be banned. Besides being a protest against capitalism, this refusal to coexist is also grounded in ecology, given that agroecological science has shown that a diversity of plants and animals in the fields, forests, and wilderness areas can help boost biological control, pollination, and soil fertility." (Giraldo 2019, 76)

In the Global North, especially in Europe, criticisms are first and foremost taking place within the context of organic farming, local food production, and the idea of degrowth. Contrary to the growth-based modern industrial agriculture, degrowth scholars believe transitioning to a society where the energy and material throughput (primarily within production and consumption chains) is reduced according to the biophysical limits of the planet (Demaria & Latouche 2019; Gomiero 2018). They aim for a reorganization of society where concepts such as "sharing, conviviality, care, commons, justice could stand at its foundation, and replace the call for economic growth, which is, obviously, biophysically unsustainable" (Gomiero 2018, 1824). Degrowth should not be confused with negative growth or recession (see Hickel 2020), but envisions a transformation of society altogether, including our social reality and imaginaries (Nelson & Edwards 2021; López 2018). Following the call for actual scenarios and models for a degrowth society that combines "the socioeconomic and biophysical dimensions of degrowth," (Gomiero 2018, 1825) agroecology may potentially be an answer.

In the Global South, it instead fits into the larger discourse of post-development and rejection of the West-imposed development ideas that began with colonialism and have resulted in the loss of traditional and indigenous cultures, languages, and knowledges. Essentially, post-development rejects the idea of a linear development as it is proposed by global governance institutions and Green Revolution technologies (Kothari et al. 2019). Deconstructing the universalist notion of development allows for a "pluriverse," consisting of transformative ideas, initiatives, and movements from around the globe. In their book Pluriverse: A Post-Development Dictionary, Kothari and colleagues (2019) include, for example: buen vivir (Latin America), ubuntu (southern Africa), swaraj (India), critical versions of world religions, eco-socialism, deep ecology, eco-feminism, degrowth, as well as numerous indigenous cosmovisions. The point of this so-called "world of many worlds" (from the Zapatista worldview) is that "political agency will belong to the marginalized, exploited, and oppressed" and that transformations will happen in multiple dimensions through "horizontal and respectful dialogue" (Kothari et al. 2019, xxix-xxx). Post-development emphasizes how

systems of domination and oppression (e.g., patriarchy, racism, colonialism, human-nature dualism) are linked, as a "modern colonial capitalist patriarchal world system," (Kothari et al. 2019, xxiii) and that resistance comes in many forms. In the struggle against the development project of agro-industry, agroecology stands as "a crucial scientific, technological, intercultural, and socio-political instrument that confronts the ecological and social crises of the contemporary world, as one searches for a post-industrial, alternative modernity" (Toledo 2019, 88).

This article investigates how agroecology might serve as a meeting point between degrowth and post-development, providing a (plural) path of resistance. First, it outlines the different environmental and social problems of the conventional agricultural model which motivate a shift towards degrowth and post-development approaches to food and farming. Thereafter, it discusses the existing literature on degrowth and post-development from the perspective of food and agroecology. Based on these three sections, the discussion goes on to explore how agroecology can be viewed, and pursued, as a form of slow resistance.

### PROBLEMS OF THE MODERN AGRO-INDUSTRY AND ECOMODERNIST SOLUTIONS

In his analysis of "food regimes" through modern history, McMichael (2009) presents the main processes that since colonial times have built up and deepened into a food crisis. From the early global trade networks during colonial times, to the Green Revolution of the mid-1900s, to today's mega-corporations and supermarkets, the driving force within agriculture has been capital accumulation. These processes, especially the adoption of Green Revolution technologies, land reforms, as well as institutionalized markets have left large parts of the world's arable land under the control of large-scale agro-industry, characterized by monoculture production, mechanized technology, and use of agrochemicals (fertilizers and pesticides). For large parts of the Global South, this is simply an extension of colonial domination. Land reforms have resulted in the concentration of land into the hands of few powerful actors, displacing farmers and rural populations. Moreover, seed patents and a manufactured

reliance on chemical pesticides and fertilizers, lead to a concentration of economic profit. For example, the profitability of the giant biotech company Monsanto is 1190% while the profitability of farmers is only 3.3% (López 2018). As explained by López (2018, 599), the modern agro-industry is "a type of agriculture increasingly distanced from the needs of farmers, directed towards the interests of the concentration of power of a few companies."

However, the modern agro-industry does not actually feed the world. One of the main purposes of the Green Revolution was to increase the productivity and efficiency of agriculture in order to feed a growing world population, especially in "third world countries." Despite this, and despite ambitious development goals of reducing world hunger, around 10% of the world's population is chronically hungry or malnourished (FAO et al. 2021). In 2020, this number increased dramatically, likely relating to the COVID-19 pandemic. However, the latest SOFI report states that even before the pandemic, the target of ending world hunger and malnutrition by 2030 would not be met (FAO et al. 2021). This is not due to a shortage of food, but "a problem of distribution, politics, conservation, productive chains, and marketing" (López 2018, 600). Many agricultural resources go into the massive industry of crops that become animal feed or biofuels (López 2018), while 70% of the world's food is produced by small farmers (ETC Group 2017).

Where agriculture used to be the main energy source for society, research by Infante Amate and González de Molina (2013) shows that today mainstream agriculture has become resource-intensive and highly dependent on fossil energy. Their calculation shows that "for each unit of energy available in the form of food, 6 units of energy have been consumed in its production, distribution, transportation and preparation" (Ibid., 30). They continue: "in each and every one of the processes involved in the food chain, the consumption of resources multiplies, resources that not only make the end products more expensive, but are also responsible for so many other environmental problems, such as the depletion of scarce resources, climate change or acidification" (Ibid., 31).

Other scientists agree on the environmental consequences of the modern agroindustrial form of agriculture, just in order to maintain normal levels of productivity, and even more for increasing it. These include land and soil erosion, depletion of soil fertility, loss of biodiversity, depletion of natural irrigation systems and water contamination, extensive greenhouse gas emissions, and increased vulnerability of agroecosystems to natural hazards as well as new pests and diseases (López 2018; Gordon et al. 2017). Essentially, the loss of diversity also means disappearance of alternatives, as monocultures fail because of soil or water depletion, leading to farmers losing already scarce income.

Ecomodernists' solutions take the form of continued agricultural intensification, which through technological innovation is assumed to decouple human development from environmental impacts (Asafu-Adjaye et al. 2015). Ecomodernists tend to romanticize "green growth" and view degrowth and agroecology as backwards and anti-modern (López 2018). However, despite the claimed solutions of ecomodernism, contradictions embedded in the agroindustrial model become increasingly obvious: environmental degradation (soil and water depletion, biodiversity loss, high greenhouse gas emissions etc.); socioeconomic consequences (economic vulnerability and dependency, price increases and devaluation); and health issues from agrochemical toxicity and industrial diets (López 2018). In short, the modern agro-industry is arguably a case of agroextractivism (McKay 2017). Agroecology provides some alternative solutions to these contradictions, while going against the proposal of ecomodernism. First, the article shows the links between agroecology and debates within degrowth, thereafter diving deeper into the post-development response of food sovereignty and, in the end, reconnecting to this opening section by arguing that agroecology can serve as a slow form of resistance to the modern agro-industry.

Although degrowth literature seldom focuses on agriculture or food, central concepts can be found that include local production, urban gardening, permaculture, short food chains, minimizing waste, banning agrochemicals, and self-sufficiency. The newly published book Food for degrowth (Nelson & Edwards 2021), offers a collection representing several of these central themes, and link the degrowth movement with a range of alternative food networks (AFNs) across the globe that pursue social and environmental justice, sustainability, and animal welfare in different ways. Examples include community-based agriculture (CSA), urban gardening, and organic agriculture, which all share a common ground with agroecology. The authors emphasize the degrowth principles of frugal abundance, autonomy, conviviality, commoning and decolonization, and state that food for degrowth "means working towards ecologically efficient, regenerative and convivial ways of living, producing and consuming" (Nelson & Edwards 2021, 2). Degrowth pioneer Ivan Illich (1973, 12) introduces the term "conviviality" as "the opposite of industrial productivity", where people interact with each other and their environment based on cooperation, sharing, and care, as well as interdependence. Frugal abundance refers to a sense of well-being and self-fulfillment based on the small, qualitative, and simple (Nelson & Edwards 2021).

At its heart, degrowth is about reducing energy consumption and material flows in our society. As put by Gomiero (2018, 1829), "we face the paradox that the higher the socio-economic development of a society, the lower the energy efficiency of its agriculture in terms of the energy input into agricultural activities and energy output as food." In their study on the energy efficiency of Spain's agri-food system, Infante Amate and González de Molina (2013) argue that only a transition to organic farming in combination with more vegetarian diets and a more local and seasonal food consumption can contribute to a substantial resource use reduction, and thereby a "sustainable de-growth." As two thirds of the energy consumed in the processes feeding the world population come from processes outside the farming itself, which are highly dependent on fossil fuels, degrowth

promoters need to pay attention to the whole food chain. For example, fuels, nitrogen fertilizers and animal feed together stand for over 85% of the energy consumed by agricultural production (Infante Amate & González de Molina 2013). One way of minimizing the energy consumption of these factors is through converting to organic farming. More local markets and seasonal foods also directly reduce transportation, as well as the amount of energy-intensive preservation measures (packaging) needed for long transports.

Beyond organic farming and vegetarian diets, however, degrowth also envisions social justice and restructured wealth flows. Therefore, López (2018) argues that agroecology can be one "tool" for degrowth. He uses the framework of the eight "Rs" by French economist Serge Latouche (2009): re-evaluate re-conceptualize, restructure, redistribute, re-locate, reduce, reuse and recycle. According to López (2018), agroecology re-evaluates and re-conceptualizes the understanding of modern industrial agriculture, promoting multiple new ways of organizing food systems. It restructures food production processes "from the agroecosystem to the social system, by integrating different components in order to increase its biological efficiency, productive capacity and self-sufficiency" (López 2018, 603). Agroecological practices are re-locating agriculture in the different social and ecological contexts of each farm, integrating family farming with local networks. Redistribution refers to the agroecological principle of social justice in the way productive resources are distributed and shared. This includes inputs, economic gains and losses, technologies, as well as knowledge. Agroecology also seeks to reduce as much as possible the human impact on the biosphere and "enhances the cycling of nutrients and organic matter, optimizes energy flows, conserves water and soil, balances pest populations and natural enemies, focusing on conservation and enhancement of local resources" (López 2018, 604). Lastly, reuse and recycle refers to the agroecological principles of understanding and sustaining natural cycles, in connection to both material and energy flows.

Many of these points are integrated into the approach and organization of "ecovillages" increasingly popular in the Global North. Ecovillages are "intentional human communities that use integrative

design, local economic networking, cooperative and common property structures, and participatory decision making to minimize ecological footprints and provide as many of life's basic necessities as possible in a sustainable manner" (Lockyear and Veteto 2013, 15). Unsatisfied with mainstream societal organizations (state, market, church etc.), ecovillagers seek a way of living more closely to nature and each other, rejecting nature-culture dualisms. The goal is to create communal living where social and environmental justice and sustainability is at the forefront, built on local self-reliance. However, this way of living might be considered for the few, as too much romanticizing of the local community potentially reduces solidarity with the outside world, and hides tendencies of exclusion of those who "do not belong" (more on this in coming sections).

Additionally, when talking about degrowth and the human over-exploitation of nature, it is not uncommon to mention the debate about overpopulation. For instance, Gomiero (2018) points out that to feed the world's population, a de-intensified, traditional, organic and local food system may not be enough to support the human population, but that the population itself must be contained. This argument has been heavily criticized as food security is driven by small-scale subsistence farming rather than industrial agriculture (McMichael 2016; ETC Group 2017). Additionally, different forms of population control are deeply rooted in systems of oppression and any argument in favor of population reduction runs the danger of strengthening those values. The focus should always be on the material reduction and social transformation embedded in degrowth, before approaching the argument of overpopulation. This debate is complex and sensitive and exceeds the scope of this article (see Søyland 2021, this issue).

Despite a common perception of communal living as isolated and "backwards", degrowth does not mean we have to "go primitive" and reject all modern technologies or market mechanisms. Following the eight Rs mentioned above, diets could be based more on traditional crops and wild foods, the amount and types of food available could be redistributed and diversified, and food prices could be adjusted to the actual cost of production, allowing decent incomes for farmers. Goals of self-sufficiency and autonomy have great potential here, as farmers and local populations are given control over their own im-

mediate resources (more on this in coming sections).

These ideas showcase how food and agriculture are crucial in the path towards degrowth, while also promoting the redistribution of wealth and resources across the global North and South. Furthermore, they represent ways to "decolonise productivist imaginaries," (Nelson & Edwards 2021, 2) meaning deconstructing beliefs based on growth, and opening for alternative ways of producing and relating to food. Regarding decolonization, Gomiero (2018) claims that degrowth can play an important part in pushing Western countries to recognize and correct previous injustices. However, degrowth scholars do not agree on what decolonization entails. Ted Trainer (2021, 3) criticizes Hickel (2020) for not sufficiently rejecting the "basic development path" that Third World countries are currently on, such as the modern industrial agricultural model. According to Trainer, fundamental transformation of society requires not only recognition of North-South divides or equal distribution of resources and wealth, but all countries "must abandon affluence, centralization, urbanization, large scale and globalization, and must adopt as the basic social form the small scale highly self-sufficient, self-governing and cooperative community" (Ibid., 3). Trainer also emphasizes how degrowth is a plural movement, and the importance of recognizing that not all degrowth visions, practices, and models can be applicable to all movements that identify with degrowth ideals. For example, basic assumptions of a degrowth society including equity in the form of living wage policies, expansion of public goods, and shorter working weeks, are not relevant for some indigenous groups (Ibid.). Moreover, Nirmal and Rochelau (2019) argue that degrowth fails to sufficiently dismantle structures of violence, especially in the Global South, and that resistance needs to be re-centered in the discourse. Post-development offers a deeper understanding of agroecology's potential as a force of resistance.

## POST-DEVELOPMENT: BACK TO THE ROOTS OF AGROECOLOGY

From a post-development perspective, agroecology can be viewed as the political ecology of agriculture. Essentially, "ecology became political because capital's growing interest in appropriating nature generates antagonism, conflict, and battlegrounds for the defense of territory and life" (Giraldo 2019, 75). As discussed earlier, the current growth-based agro-industrial food system is a form of agroextractivism (McKay 2017), or an "accumulation by dispossession," (Harvey 2004) resulting in disastrous consequences for farmers, indigenous populations, animals, and the environment. According to Anderson and colleagues (2018, 531), food sovereignty "has emerged as the most important global discourse around which social movements are organizing to contest and challenge neoliberal development." It seeks to transform the food system in a way that makes it more democratic, lifting the rights and autonomy of food producers over dominating elite interests. Food sovereignty is defined as "the right of peoples to healthy and culturally appropriate food produced through ecologically sound and sustainable methods, and their right to define their own food and agriculture systems" by the international peasant movement La Vía Campesina (2007).

The Nyéléni Declaration of 2015 was the official document resulting from the meeting of the International Forum for Agroecology, which consists of food producers, farmers, fishers, peasants, and indigenous peoples, etc., from all over the world. The declaration states that "the industrial food system is a key driver of the multiple crises of climate, food, environmental, public health and others" and that "agroecology within a food sovereignty framework offers us a collective path forward from these crises" (Nyéléni 2015, 2). Thereby, grassroots movements, peasants and farmers' organizations, indigenous communities, and rural populations are driving and developing agroecology as an alternative paradigm, and as a tool for resisting agro-industry and defending their territories, cultures and lifestyles, through bottom-up innovations, seed networks, and local markets (Nyéléni 2015; Toledo 2019).

Agroecology is an approach to food production that replicates and sustains the natural cycles of ecosystems – an approach that works with nature. Thereby, it increases the autonomy of food producers as local knowledge and resources are emphasized and utilized, which in itself slowly challenges existing power structures and pushes for social and ecological transformation (Anderson et al. 2018; Nyéléni 2015). The values and principles of agroecology also recognize the wide spectrum of "social, political and biocultural contingencies of place," (Anderson et al. 2018, 533) which gives each farmer or community space to learn how to best create an agroecological food production in their own local context. As such, the discourse of food sovereignty and agroecology seeks to give space and power to small-scale food producers in terms of creating their own sustainable production in their own place-specific setting.

Gutiérrez Escobar (2019, 186) prefers to talk about food sovereignty and autonomy as a dual concept, which further emphasizes the "place-based character of food production, non-liberal forms of democratic decision-making, and autonomy from state institutions." One example of this is the Zapatista Army of National Liberation (EZLN) in Chiapas, Mexico. The Zapatistas are often mentioned in connection to autonomy and self-governance, where agroecology is central for self-sufficiency in autonomous communities (see Nirmal & Rochelau 2019). The idea here is to make self-defense, food production and consumption self-sustaining and autonomous.

# AGROECOLOGY AS RESISTANCE

The many struggles against agro-industry sometimes result in violent protests, but the practice of agroecology can also be viewed as a slow, non-violent form of resistance, aimed at building a new kind of society from below. In Latin America, liberation theology played a big role in the early spread of agroecology. Together with indigenous culture, it helped enhance and bring back traditional knowledge and worldviews that were lost when the "development project", market forces and agroextractivism spread over the continent (Giraldo 2019). Central was the method of "dialogue of wisdoms" (dialogo de saberes), and a worldview centered on the spirituality surrounding human-nature relationships, instead of economic rationality. Most important in the contribution to post-development has been the "peasant-to-peasant methodology," which uses horizontal spread of agroecological knowledge and socialization on the grassroots level (Giraldo 2019). Opposed to the ecomodernist process based on "expert" knowledge, these bottom-up processes of knowledge-transfer and networking helped increase "the transformation of landholdings that initially depended on external inputs derived from fossil fuels and planted as monoculture crops but now are relatively autonomous and diversified landholdings, based on local innovation and the use of solar energy" (Giraldo 2019, 82). Outside of Latin America, the Zero Budget Spiritual Farming movement, or the Adivasi communities in India are using similar networking techniques to peasant-to-peasant methodology in order to spread agroecology, build social networks, and resist agro-industrial land-grabbing (Giraldo 2019, Nirmal & Rochelau 2019). Within post-development, both these and the Zapatistas use examples of "local, traditional or indigenous knowledge [which] constitutes a 'biocultural memory of wisdom'" (Toledo 2019, 87) – wisdom which should be recognized and part of academic research.

Viewing agroecology as a transformative project involves deep learning – questioning underlying paradigms, norms, values and governance processes (Anderson et al. 2018). In other words, it not only seeks democratization of food systems, but also of knowledge. This includes allowing for different forms of knowledge, understanding

how they are legitimatized, and by whom (Adelle 2019). Conceptualizing agroecology according to Latouche's (2009) eight Rs framework can be useful for understanding how it fits into the degrowth discourse. However, as institutions, governments, universities, NGOs, and others increasingly use the concept, the International Agroecology Forum clearly warns against appropriating the concept of agroecology and stripping it from its post-development, non-Western roots:

"[...] they have tried to redefine it as a narrow set of technologies, to offer some tools that appear to ease the sustainability crisis of industrial food production, while the existing structures of power remain unchallenged. This co-optation of agroecology to fine-tune the industrial food system, while paying lip service to the environmental discourse, has various names, including 'climate smart agriculture', 'sustainable' or 'ecological- intensification', industrial monoculture production of 'organic' food, etc. For us, these are not agroecology: we reject them, and we will fight to expose and block this insidious appropriation of agroecology." (Nyéléni 2015, 2)

For example, there are recent calls within the EU of including agroe-cology in a reform of its agricultural policy, in the name of degrowth and sustainability (European Committee of the Regions 2021). Just as there are concerns of degrowth becoming mainstreamed, as mentioned earlier, similar concerns can be expressed regarding the mainstreaming of agroecology. It is evident that agroecology has much to offer the world, but if institutionalized, the concept runs the risk of becoming just another top-down imposed knowledge from "experts". Clearly, the experts in this case are all the farmers and communities living and producing according to agroecology principles around the world.

Another important note in imagining another world is the role of language. For example, Giraldo (2019, 94) argues that "a problem with these resistance movements is that they are inevitably arising within the system that oppresses them." Therefore, using the same concepts as we do in order to understand agro-industry, such as "productivity" and "efficiency", corrupts our ability to understand agroecology as a form of resistance and imaginary of another society. The idea of mainstream development "has made thinking about truly alternative and viable practices very difficult," but the social processes of

agroecology "are precisely the space within which we can challenge development while simultaneously and dialectically imagining post-development in a pragmatic way" (Giraldo 2019, 86). As emphasized by Kothari et al. (2013): although contradictions and tensions will exist within post-development visions of the pluriverse, they may also lead to constructive exchange.

The power of the horizontal organization form is that it allows movements to grow and spread dynamically and in multiple directions, based on creativity and information sharing. Compared to the ecomodernist technocracy lead by so-called experts, this form of social organization can spread the benefits of agroecological practices in ways most natural to local communities. Furthermore, when people organize from the bottom-up, the movements become unpredictable and flexible (Giraldo 2019) – thereby more resilient to unforeseen events (insurgency, sanctions, violence, change in climate or ecology, etc.). Adapting agroecological practices to the local ecological and social conditions of place opens up the potential for new knowledge creation.

As explained by Giraldo (2019, 85), these movements have also shown that "agroecology has the ability to erode a set of supposedly unquestionable beliefs about agriculture propagated by the dominant class." According to him, this powerful grassroots organization and the horizontal exchange of knowledge is "agroecology's principal contribution to a post-development transition" (Ibid.). This is because it is able to increase "the ability of rural communities to use available resources, rekindle a network of human relationships, and restart solidarity, cooperation, and reciprocity that had been stifled by development practices and its Green Revolution technologies" (Ibid., 86). Furthermore, the agroecological movements have, through horizontal knowledge exchange, presented small-scale food producers and rural populations across the world concrete solutions to concrete problems, strengthened social bonds, and revitalized "traditional wisdom grounded in the ecological particularities of place" (Giraldo 2019, 87). As such, agroecology is also a real-world example of a decolonization of knowledge.

The dangers with a place-based focus, however, come in the form of localism. Self-sufficiency and local food systems are often promoted within degrowth – like the ecovillage, for example. Building local communal systems of living based on socioecological justice and minimized planetary impact is in itself a form of resistance. The US ecovillage "The Dancing Rabbit" have their own solar energy production, may only use locally harvested or recycled wood for building, and all food waste goes back into the soil (Lockyear & Veteto 2013, 17). However, local food systems do not by themselves mean that the production is free from exploitation, or that the people have equal representation or power within the community. In fact, the local scale is often a reproduction of the same power relations on national or global scale (A Growing Culture, 2021). There is a danger in romanticizing the community, when that same community can prove unhealthy or oppressive for individuals that "do not belong" or are excluded based on sex-gender, class, age, ethnicity or ability discrimination. As such, the pluriverse discourse needs to promote a balance between the community and the individual, and promote pluralism in bodies as well (Kothari et al. 2019).

Beyond the community, local movements, especially in the West, are often viewed as a form of resistance to the globalized industrial food system and the violence it has caused to communities around the world. Degrowth scholars often emphasize the need for degrowth in the Global North as a way to pursue decolonization in the Global South, through reduced material extractivism (Hickel 2020). However, when farmers across the world become dependent on patent seeds and agrochemicals, often in economic debt, they are stuck in this agro-industrial food system that provides their only income. By turning to local food systems, consumers in wealthier countries seal themselves off from this reality. As a consumer it may feel better, but as explained by the initiative A Growing Culture (2021), it helps little in the pursuit of actual transformation towards social justice or food sovereignty. Instead:

"If a local food movement is a space where the people who have been most marginalized are represented, centered, and in positions of leadership guiding the movement; if the movement tries to come up with creative alternative structures to fight injustice in the food system; if it grapples with the tension between standing in solidarity with the struggles of farmers around the world and working at this more tractable scale; if it builds solidarity with other localities trying to do the same work; if it grapples with and turns towards the complexity of historical forces of injustice and seeks to build redistribution into its model — then local food movements can become some of the most exciting and hopeful spaces for the future of the food system." (A Growing Culture, 2021)

According to Lockyear and Veteto (2013), ecovillages increasingly seek to build alliances beyond their own community – with other citizens, organizations or other villages. Solidarity with – and support of – movements in the Global South is a question of empowerment and representation, but also crucial in the resistance to the global agro-industrial food system. As explained by Nirmal and Rochelau (2019, 473), "the challenge is to regrow localized interdependent networks, and degrow colonial, dependent global networks while re-making the patterns and terms of connectivity across scales." For example, the Zapatistas demonstrate how degrowing the economy and pursuing autonomy does not mean isolation, but invites a world-wide web of solidarity and support.

# CONCLUDING REMARKS

Connecting the threads, there are clearly many contradictions and potential pitfalls involved in the work towards transforming the food system. Agroecology, either in the form of degrowth or post-development, is distancing itself from the structural powers (such as the state) in order to build another way of relating to each other, to wealth. to nature and, in essence, living. Within degrowth, agroecology emphasizes how food production can become re-grounded in the local socioecological potential, for example, through ecovillages. It also shows the link between reduced social metabolism and decolonization. Through post-development, agroecology challenges widespread assumptions of how food systems should function by providing horizontal on-the-ground knowledge exchange and the strengthening of social fabrics. Ranging from small-scale farmers and ecovillages to indigenous communities and Zapatista autonomy, agroecology provides a slow resistance against the modern agro-industrial food system. Real change requires the combined efforts of grassroots movements across the world, built on mutual solidarity and support, allowing for a pluriverse of approaches. As explained by Kothari et al. (2019, xxix), "honourable rhetorics of abstract justice, even spiritual paeans to Mother Earth, will not suffice to bring about the changes we want. Building a pluriversal house means digging a new foundation." Agroecology, in unifying degrowth and post-development visions, can become the path towards that transformation.

### REFERENCES

A Growing Culture. 2021. "Local food movements won't save the world: Why local and equitable are not synonymous." Medium, January 23, 2021. https://agrowingculture.medium.com/local-food-movements-wont-save-the-world-abd77031db4b.

Adelle, Camilla. 2019. "The role of knowledge in food democracy." Politics and Governance 7 (4): 214-223.

Anderson, Colin R., Chris Maughan, and Michel Pimbert. 2018. "Transformative agroecology learning in Europe: building consciousness, skills and collective capacity for food sovereignty." Agriculture and Human Values 36: 531-547.

Asafu-Adjaye, John, Christopher Foreman, Rachel Pritzker, Linus Blomqvist, David Keith, Joyashree Roy, Stewart Brand et al. 2015. An ecomodernist manifesto. https://www.ecomodernism.org/manifesto-english.

Demaria, Federico and Serge Latouche. 2019. "Degrowth." In Pluriverse: A Post-Development Dictionary, edited by Ashish Kothari, Ariel Salleh, Arturo Escobar, Federico Demaria, and Alberto Acosta, 148-151. New Delhi: Tulika Books.

Dunlap A. 2015. "The Expanding Techniques of Progress: Agricultural Biotechnology and UN-REDD+." Review of Social Economy 73 (1): 89-112.

ETC Group. 2017. Who will feed us? The industrial food chain vs. the peasant food web, 3rd ed.. https://www.etcgroup.org/content/who-will-feed-us-industrial-food-chain-vs-peasant-food-web.

European Committee of the Regions. 2021. "Agroecology: the answer to Europe's agricultural, social and environmental challenges." February 4, 2021. https://cor.europa.eu/en/news/Pages/answer-to-agricultural-social-environmental-challenges.aspx.

FAO, IFAD, UNICEF, WFP and WHO. 2021. In Brief to The State of Food Security and Nutrition in the World 2021. Transforming food systems for food security, improved nutrition and affordable healthy diets for all. Rome: FAO. https://doi.org/10.4060/cb5409en.

Giraldo, Omar F. 2019. Political ecology of agriculture: Agroecology and post-development. Switzerland: Springer Nature.

Gomiero, Tiziano. 2018. "Agriculture and degrowth: State of the art and assessment of organic and biotech-based agriculture from a degrowth perspective." Journal of Cleaner Production 197: 1823-1839.

Gordon, Line J., Victoria Bignet, Beatrice Crona, Patrik J G Henriksson, Tracy Van Holt, Malin Jonell, Therese Lindahl et al. 2017. "Rewiring food systems to enhance human health and biosphere stewardship." Environmental Research Letters 12: 1-12. https://doi.org/10.1088/1748-9326/aa81dc

Gutiérrez Escobar, Laura. 2019. "Food sovereignty." In Pluriverse: A Post-Development Dictionary, edited by Ashish Kothari, Ariel Salleh, Arturo Escobar, Federico Demaria, and Alberto Acosta: 185-188. New Delhi: Tulika Books.

Harvey, David. 2004. "The 'new' imperialism: Accumulation by dispossession". Socialist Register (2004): 63-87.

Infante Amate, Juan and Manuel González de Molina. 2013. "Sustainable de-growth' in agriculture and food: an agro-ecological perspective on Spain's agri-food system (year 2000)." Journal of Cleaner Production 38: 27-35.

Kothari, Ashish, Ariel Salleh, Arturo Escobar, Federico Demaria, and Alberto Acosta. 2019. Pluriverse: A Post-Development Dictionary. New Delhi: Tulika Books.

 $Hickel, Jason. 2020. \\ ``What does degrowth mean? A few points of clarification." Globalizations 0 (0): 1-7. DOI: 10.1080/14747731.2020.1812222.$ 

Illich, Ivan. 1973. Tools for conviviality. New York: Harper & Row.

La Vía Campesina. n.d. "The international peasants' voice." Accessed July 31, 2021. https://viacampesina.org/en/international-peasants-voice/.

— 2007. "Declaration of Nyéléni." February 27, 2007. https://viacampesina.org/en/declaration-of-nyi/.

Latouche, Serge. 2009. Farewell to growth. Cambridge: Polity Press.

Lockyer, Joshua and James R. Veteto. 2013. Environmental anthropology engaging ecotopia: Bioregionalism, permaculture, and ecovillages. Oxford: Berghahn Books.

López, Miguel A.R. 2018. "Agroecology: one of the 'tools' for degrowth." Scientia et Technica 23 (4): 599-605.

Mashal, Mujib, Emily Schmall and Russell Goldman. 2021. "Why are farmers protesting in India?" New York Times, January 27, 2021. https://www.nytimes.com/2021/01/27/world/asia/india-farmer-protest.html.

McKay, Ben M. 2017. "Agrarian extractivism in Bolivia." World Development 97: 199-211.

McMichael, Philip. 2009. "A food regime genealogy." The Journal of Peasant Studies 36 (1): 139-169.

———. 2016. "Food security, land, and development." In The Palgrave handbook of international development, edited by Jean Grugel and Daniel Hammett, 673-693. London: Palgrave MacMillan.

Moen Holø, Ragnhild, Knut Røsrud, Eilin Spolèn Juva and Iris Elin Ullvang. 2021. "Kravet fra bøndene lagt fram: -Vi vil være bønder i framtida også." NRK, April 27, 2021. https://www.nrk.no/innlandet/bonder-i-oppror-over-hele-landet-\_-i-dag-legger-bondene-fram-sitt-krav-i-jordbruksoppgjoret-2021-1.15471047.

Nelson, Anitra and Ferne Edwards. 2021. Food for degrowth: Perspectives and practices. New York: Routledge.

Nirmal, Padini and Dianne Rochelau. 2019. "Decolonizing degrowth in the post-development convergence: Questions, experiences, and proposals from two Indigenous territories." Nature and Space 2 (3): 465-492.

Nyéléni. 2015. "Declaration of the international forum for agroecology." Accessed May 6, 2021. https://www.foodsovereignty.org/wp-content/uploads/2015/02/Declaration-of-the-International-Forum-for-Agroecology-Nyeleni-2015.pdf.

Toledo, Victor M. 2019. "Agroecology." In Pluriverse: A Post-Development Dictionary, edited by Ashish Kothari, Ariel Salleh, Arturo Escobar, Federico Demaria, and Alberto Acosta, 85-88. New Delhi: Tulika Books.

Trainer, Ted. 2021. "What does degrowth mean? Some comments on Jason Hickel's 'A few points of clarification'." Globalizations 0 (0): 1-7. DOI: 10.1080/14747731.2020.1860621.

# CAN DEGROWTH STRUGGLE? THE LINES OF AFFINITY BETWEEN DEGROWTH AND ROTE ZORA

JENNA STEPANIC

Written in early May 2021, this article shadowed the anniversary of May Day, invoking thoughts of past struggles. Amy Goodman had a special on *Democracy Now!*, where she discussed the largest mass arrest in US history, the 1971 May Day actions against the Vietnam War in Washington D.C. (Democracy Now! 2021). The historian L.A. Kauffman wrote in her 2017 book, Direct Action, that the protest, "influenced grassroots activism for decades to come, laying the groundwork for a new kind of radicalism – decentralized, ideologically diverse and propelled by direct action." (23) Further back in May Day history, Tim Parrique (2019) traces the concept of degrowth to protests which occurred in a Paris university in 1968. There, students occupied a building in a revolt against imperialism, capitalism, the ongoing wars, and colonialism. It was the largest strike in the history of France. Its participants blended existentialist, Marxist, anarchist, and early feminist thought (Christie 2007), leading to the idea of a utopian education of desire which Parrique (2019) contends gave birth to degrowth.

The anniversary of May Day protests speaks to the themes discussed in this article, mainly, the organization of autonomous groups and then employment of diverse tactics to fight state violence and economic growth-based industries.

The article argues that degrowth needs to create more correspondence with autonomist action though a diversity of tactics. The focus, here, will be geographically situated in West Germany, starting from 1974. That is where an autonomous action group (participants of May Day protests) and militant feminist autonomous action group, Rote Zora, first claimed responsibility for bombings and other militant actions.

Both the 1971 and 1968 May Day actions, and the numerous actions carried out by Rote Zora in the 1970s and 1980s, were part of a larger, anti-imperial set of movements that were in solidarity with decolonial/anti-imperial or national liberation struggles in Ireland, the Basque country, Palestine, Algeria, and many more. These extended to anti-nuclear, anti-war, civil rights, and other autonomous movements happening all over the world. These movements saw many successes, yet the struggle against capitalism, economic growth, and ecological destruction continues. The reason to investigate direct action groups like Rote Zora is to consider what can be learned from groups whose legitimacy is often disqualified by the state because of the use of confrontational tactics. Recent degrowth literature has pointed to the lack of recognition and consideration of direct-action groups that are doing the on-the-ground-fighting against large and destructive capitalistic and economically growth-based industries (see Demaria et al. 2019; Dunlap 2020).

This article begins by reviewing the degrowth literature to understand where the gaps are regarding the use of direct action in order to propel the degrowth agenda towards transformational change. To better understand the tactics used by the action group, Rote Zora, I will contextualize the social movement scene that created a breeding ground for new feminist militant groups to emerge in West Germany in the 1970s. Finally, the article takes a deeper look into the commonalities between the envisioned futures of degrowth and Rote Zora to provide a case for why degrowth scholars should align themselves more broadly to autonomist and anonymous direct-action groups of the past and present. What should unite these groups, in the end, is the realization of a common desire for transformational change that is both more socially and environmentally just, which requires critical solidarity and a diversity of tactics. The conclusion is meant to reflect on the use of "violent" tactics and the need for degrowth to align with diverse movements more broadly.

The argument, here, confronts degrowth's ambiguity around a deeper analysis of political struggles, which includes ignoring – or under emphasizing – important struggles and groups of the past, as well as the present. This blind spot is detrimental to degrowth's success as a

transformational movement to stop growth-based neoliberalism. By demonstrating the links between degrowth and a particular feminist militant group that operated from the 1970s to the 1990s, a gap can be bridged both between more feminist ideas and the use of militant tactics as a strategically legitimate means of moving forward the degrowth agenda.

#### DEGROWTH & POLITICAL STRUGGLE

This section asks the question: where does degrowth stand in the reality of on-the-ground political confrontation? As implied in its name, degrowth counters the hegemonic narrative that maintains economic growth is necessary and the best solution to overcoming environmental and social crises. Degrowth's central objective is the reduction in total material and energy throughput to bring the economy into balance with human and nonhuman life on Earth – broadly including nonliving rivers, landscapes, ecosystems, and all else that sustain life (Hickel 2020a). Some end goals of degrowth include "dignified work, less self-competition, more equitable relationships, identities not ranked by individual's achievement, solidarity communities. human rhythms of life, and respect for the natural environments" (Kallis et al. 2020, 109). The end goals are seen as the means to which the desires for socially and ecologically just limits can be achieved (Demaria et al. 2019). Degrowthers emphasize lives lived in harmony with surrounding environments and ecosystems, where people are autonomous from the workings of the capitalist techno-infrastructures and the bureaucracies that run them.

These ideas are opposite to the more popularized notion of green growth, which describes the approach of most governments' environmental policies. The ecomodernist, or green growth, agenda encourages the continuation of economic growth in the name of more renewable and "greener" products as the solution o the current ecological crisis. Ecomodernism encourages technological innovation, continued digitalization, and the absolute decoupling of economic growth from fossil fuel consumption where the former can expand while environmental harm contracts (Pollin 2018). The dominance of

green growth narratives and policy absorb attention away from degrowth and, considering that green growth has been empirically disproven (Parrique 2019; Hickel & Kallis 2020), indicates that governments are lagging to address ecological catastrophe and ushering in a global movement towards transformative change.

This 'transformative change' is at the heart of degrowth since there is a need and call for a complete overhaul of the growth-based neoliberal system that is currently in place. This can be seen by the founder of degrowth, Andre Gorz, who in 1972 first talked about degrowth at a public debate organized by the *Club de Nouvel Observateur*. There, Gorz questioned whether degrowth was "compatible with the (capitalist) system" (Demaria et al. 2019, 434). Parrique (2019, 12:01-12:33) also reinforces the need for "revolutionary emancipation" form the hegemonic growth narrative through the evolved denotation of degrowth that emerged in 2002:

"What people realized is that there is no point advocating for less in a society that culturally glorifies more. So, [degrowth scholars] realized that growth was an ideology with physical infrastructure, mental infrastructure, the way that banks are designed, the way that jobs are being created, the way that pension systems work. [...] So degrowth is not only less, but it should be this emancipation from the objective of growth."

It is unfortunate how distant degrowth is from the mainstream because the logic of being more considerate to ecological and social limits, allowing the global biotic community to recuperate from the damages inflicted by capitalist development, seems obvious. So, how can we advance this agenda?

Jason Hickel (2020b) uses a wonderful analogy of how taking growth away from the center of the economy is like the Copernican Revolution. Before people understood the Earth to be round, there was much that did not add up, like the movement of other planets. Once the idea of a flat Earth was questioned, then disproved, new and easier solutions and imaginaries became possible. So too, with the idea that the economy must not necessarily rely on growth, can we start to imagine easier solutions to the ecological crisis. Demaria et al. (2019) agree and cite Kallis (2018, 432) in saying, "growth is

not only a material and economic process with social and ecological costs, but also a hegemonic idea that obscures more ecologically friendly and egalitarian alternatives." Parrique (2019, 13:00 – 13:25) calls this imagination of degrowth-as-destination as the third denotation of degrowth: "It's not too sexy to just oppose the system and propose nothing else [...] this does not mobilize the people [...] Let's focus on the desirable society that we can get, through this emancipation. This is really when it became a full utopia." A need to convince the public is necessary, but the means to do this is presently being contested among degrowth proponents. For example, as a response to an article written by Hickel (2020a), Ted Trainer (2020, 1) argues that Hickel's perspective "conveys the impression that reduced GDP might not be necessary, it implicitly defines Degrowth in terms of a particular pattern of elements when others are conceivable, and it reinforces the impression that the global South can persist with the conventional basic development paradigm geared to prospering within the global economy."

The degrowth community has done well to agree on the pitfalls of the growth-based imaginary and then further imagine what alternative futures could look like, one that is reliant on a plurality of economies and that prioritize the wellbeing of all Earthly humans and nonhumans. The degrowth network regularly throws around ideas about different strategies to build a post-growth future: "oppositional activism, building alternatives, institutional politics, research dissemination, education and art"; as well as what these futures might look like: "sharing, simplicity, conviviality, care and the commons," "frugal abundance, ecofeminist sufficiency, or prosperity without growth" (D'Alisa et al. 2014 in Demaria et al. 2019, 432; see also Salleh 2009; Jackson 2017; Paech 2012).

What seems to be lacking is the acknowledgment of the different tools and histories of political struggle that can be applied to the denotation of degrowth and emancipation. How can transformational change happen and what tactics need to be employed to ensure a move away from growth-centric economies? According to Wright's (2010) theory of transformation, there are three models or visions for

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Following Kallis' (2020) use of the same social theory of transformation in *The Case for Degrowth*.

the trajectory of systemic transformations beyond capitalism: ruptural (revolutionary socialist/communist), interstitial metamorphosis (anarchist), and/or symbiotic metamorphosis (social democratic). A ruptural transformation's strategic logic towards the state would be to attack it; interstitial logic encourages building alternatives outside of the state; symbiotic logic is keen to use the state and other modalities of centralized power, to struggle on the terrain of those who hold power and reform it (Ibid.). Since the ecological and social issues that we face today are so broad in scope, both spatially and temporally, systemic change on a scale bigger than we have ever seen will be necessary. I proposed that all three of these models for systemic transformation are necessary. Implementing these strategies simultaneously will provide the best chance to dismantle a system that constantly reinforces itself by concentrating power in the hands that want to maintain the system the most.

Kallis et al.'s (2020, 87-88) *The Case for Degrowth* provides many examples of degrowth as alternative lifestyles and praises the significance of "building interstitial alternatives to reduce the dependence of economic growth and perform everyday practices that shift common senses." These include the eco-community network, co-operatives, and other arrangements (Ibid.). With an enthusiastic tone, they also reference the political parties and other political arenas that are bringing degrowth into the debate, like in the UK House of Commons or the New Zealand ruling Labour Party (Ibid.). Working alongside state institutions that are fully engaged within capitalist and neoliberal systems falls within the symbiotic metamorphosis model of transformation.

Kallis et al. (2020, 88) also bring up the "reforms" that need to be advocated through "nonviolent actions, protests, uprisings, strikes, and other forms of ruptural conflict." However, there exists a contradiction in their use of the word "reform" when discussing a revolutionary transformation model, as reform signals working with the system to change it from the inside, while revolution calls for the destruction of the system to build alternatives. To borrow form Rosa Luxemburg's (2007, 65-66) *Reform or Revolution*: "This wall is not overthrown, but is on the contrary strengthened and consolidated by

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Luxemburg writes in the context of a transformation towards socialism.

political power by the proletariat, can break down this wall." Instead of adjusting the system, she argues from a materialist historical perspective, that a revolution is necessary to transform away from capitalism.

Beyond a few sentences, the authors of *The Case for Degrowth* do not go into much detail about what ruptural conflict could look like and what tactics can and should be employed to further the degrowth agenda. In fact, most degrowth literature focuses on building alternatives, doing more research, and providing policy recommendations (see Kallis et al. 2020; Hickel 2020). What garners less attention are ideas of "oppositional activism" as mentioned above. What would this look like and what are some examples of "oppositional activism" in practice? Kallis and colleagues (2020, 88) make quick mention of "non-violent actions, protests, uprising, strikes," but ignore much of the real work that was previously and is presently being done. Attention to a diversity of tactics is lost from much of the degrowth literature.

Demaria and colleagues (2019) and Dunlap (2020) have both pointed to the need for more recognition of the radical and ruptural actions within degrowth literature. In their special issue introduction, Demaria and colleagues were surprised to receive abstracts that focused on more radical ideas of insurgence, resurgence, decolonization, and nowtopias that were more prominently featured than the interstitial based content they were expecting. In their concluding section, citing Nirmal and Rocheleau (2019), Demaria and colleagues (2019, 443) point to the need for more studies on the "less visible movements and peoples throughout the world [who] are also engaged in resurgence and the reconnect to reach or to recover sufficiency and remake territories and worlds threatened by growth-driven development, neoliberal globalization, and climate change."

Dunlap's (2020) article on "Recognizing the 'De' in Degrowth" provides ample examples of these less visible direct-action groups in France, Spain, Italy, and Germany. He mentions the Hambach Forest Occupation in Germany, the NoTAV Movement in Italy, the ZAD Movement in France, and the Anti-MAT Struggle in Catalonia, all

resisting large-scale capitalist development projects, which Dunlap contends are contributing directly to much of what degrowth is calling for. Dunlap (2020) is very critical of how degrowth ignores or minimizes these movements within popular books and how it appears as if degrowth authors are "sanitizing political struggle" (para. 8). Furthermore, given the breadth of degrowth literature that comes out of these European states – that focus on the Latin American Zapatistas and Buen Vivir – there is much irony in omitting struggles occurring in the backyards of degrowth scholars, which deserves critical reflection. Dunlap calls on degrowth to "embrace and celebrate combative movements, spreading the knowledge of their struggles" (para. 19) and to strengthen this connection as they are "logical pathways towards degrowing the techno-capitalist system" (para. 20).

What Demaria and colleagues and Dunlap point to is a missing link between theory and real, on-the-ground action. There is an extreme poverty and disconnect from the academy to political difference, struggle, and diversity in terms of what is going on on-the-ground and how groups are fighting against growth-based, capitalist industries. By making the link between degrowth and Rote Zora, the article intends to assist in building the bridge that Demaria and colleagues and Dunlap have laid the foundations for by: first, drawing parallels between degrowth and Rote Zora and second, demonstrating the benefit and logic for the degrowth network to align themselves with the people that are and have been fighting against mega growth industries and capitalist projects since the 1970s.

# CONTEXTUALIZING THE EMERGENCE OF ROTE ZORA

Anti-imperial movements across the world inspired the rise of urban guerilla groups in Europe in the 1960s. This was particularly prominent in parts of Latin America as anti-imperial struggles began to counter the interference of the United States during the Cold War and in the African continent. There, groups – inspired by Marxism. Leninism, and Maoism – began to rise-up and fight for national independence and decolonization. Western adaptations began to develop and in West Germany, the Red Army Faction (RAF) was formed. RAF was a vanguardist group with a Marxist-Leninist ideology and a centralized structure (Katsiaficas 1997). RAF's embodiment of the idea of militancy internalized the aspect of being a soldier – an armed specialist – that separated them from "the people" that they were fighting for (Smith & Moncourt 2009). These vanguardist and hierarchical tactics received much criticism from the movements at the time (Smith & Moncourt 2009), and direct armed confrontation with the state left them vulnerable to be taken down.

Criticisms of the RAF's ideology and vanguardism resulted in the creation of the Revolutionary Cells (RZ), "the newest name among groups waging small-group warfare on the established system" (Katsiaficas 1997, 132). RZ was a way for people to form their own autonomous groups that select their targets and plan their own attacks as long as the actions fit RZ's politics (Smith & Moncourt, 2009). RZ politics were "defined as anti-imperialism, anti-Zionism, and 'supporting the struggles of workers, wimmin and youth'" (Smith & Moncourt 2009, 437). People were encouraged to form groups to perform militant and anonymous actions rooted in localized class struggles (Katsiaficas 1997). Members came from the local communities instead of identifying themselves strongly as representatives of a certain group, which created wider mobilization as there was a greater connection with the action groups and the "masses," (Smith & Moncourt 2009) as they were called.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Quote within the quote from Autonome Forum 1988. Wimmin was an alternative way of spelling women used by some feminists to avoid the word ending in "men."

The Rote Zora formed as an informal arm of the Revolutionary Cells (RZ), initially known as the Women of the Revolutionary Cells. They were an autonomous women's "grassroots guerilla group" operating with the same tactics and styles of the RZ (Geronimo 2012, 68), but with a feminist politics at the forefront of their actions. They were independent of the RZ, but the two organizations worked closely together in "theoretical and practical matters" (Smith & Moncourt 2009, 438). It was at a time when violence against women was a central topic within the second wave feminist circles and when questions of "how broadly violence had to be defined to tackle visible and invisible forms of abuse" (Karcher 2016, 71). This was the subject of vivid debate in the New Women's Movement in the Federal Republic of Germany. Rote Zora became a militant women's group that claimed responsibility for forty-five attacks and various other offenses in Germany in the 1970s and 80s to fight back against the violence and oppressive treatment of women (Ibid.). No people were harmed in any of their attacks and their campaigns were specifically designed not to harm anyone. A prior member of the group, Corrina Kawaters, stated that they, "made sure that nobody was ever injured. It was more about about property damage. They would never accept victimizing anyone and no one was ever victimized" (Ressler 2000, 16:21 - 16:47). Rote Zora was named after the protagonist in Kurt Held's Die Rote Zora und irhe Bande,4 which told the story of a red-haired Croatian girl who led a gang of orphans committed to righting injustices.

<sup>4</sup> English versions is called *The Outsiders of Uskoken Castle* and was translated by Lynn Aubry and published in 1967. A more direct translation of the title is "Rote Zora and the Gang."

Rote Zora saw itself as a social, revolutionary, feminist liberation movement (Ressler 2000). In an interview for the documentary *Die Rote Zora*, Kawaters put it this way:

"By means of radical militant resistance, it wanted to do away with all repression, be it directed at women or of a general nature. It did not see the use of force against women as an exception but as a universal principle of domination. It thus linked the struggle against the patriarchy and against sexist violence, with the struggle against social power relations and against the social system of the Republic of Germany. It was not interested in obtaining power, but in limiting power and ultimately bringing about a society without domination." (Ressler 2000, 3:49 - 4:23)

Their actions were largely fuelled by second wave feminism and growing frustration women felt with regards to the sexist, patriarchal system in which they lived. "Our dream," explained two group members in an interview with the feminist magazine EMMA in 1984, "is that there are small gangs of women everywhere; and that a rapist, women trafficker, wife beater, porn dealer, creepy gynecologist must fear that a gang of women finds him, attacks him, and humiliates him in public" (in Ressler 2000).<sup>5</sup>

Before moving on, it is important to critique Rote Zora's feminist ideas, since feminism looks a bit different today than they did in the midst of its second wave. First, targeting individual people for acts they deem repressive to women runs contrary to contemporary abolitionist feminism where attack and punishment do not constitute justice (Davis 1981). Second, the pornography industry has changed, and so too have some feminists. The pornography industry is no longer understood as a purely repressive industry that objectifies and exploits women for the profit of others. There is more nuance and consideration for the rights of porn workers, as well as an increase in pornography made for and by women that are aimed at sexually empowering women and their partners (Korsvik 2021).6 Third, and finally, is that second wave feminism is known for being the white woman's feminism that barely considered the intersectionality of experiences across race, gender, sexuality, ability, age, and so on (Davis 1981). Calling in the contentious aspect of Rote Zora's feminist roots is important to understand how degrowth might converge but also diverge from Rote Zora's end goals and objectives.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> Also cited in Kacher 2016.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> Korsvik's book, *Politicizing Rape and Por- nography*, discusses the politicization of pornography from the 1970s onward in the case
of Norway and France. Similar information
was not found for the German context.

The actions and attacks executed by Rote Zora articulate a degrowth practice which degrowthers can learn from. Many of the ideas perpetuated by degrowth proponents can be tied directly to some of the actions performed by Rote Zora. Though their specific reasons may not always match, their broader claims that are anti-imperialist, feminist, anti-capitalist, and against unnecessary growth, align. Below is an analysis of the interconnectedness between degrowth's ideas and Rote Zora's actions

#### Feminist Roots

Many members of the degrowth community have openly aligned the movement with feminism and anti-patriarchal sentiments (Demaria et al. 2019). Degrowth does have – though mostly unacknowledged – feminist roots that can be tied into the ecofeminist critique of growth. Daniel Bendix (2017, 5) notes ecofeminist contributions to degrowth "considers capitalism's distinction between the productive and reproductive sphere and thus its disregard for the material basis of life as fundamental for exploitation not only of nature but also of women and people in the Global South." Like feminist combative tactics that go back to the Suffragettes, the feminist influence is a perspective that degrowth scholarship has so far failed to adequately recognize, and according to Gregotatti and Raphael (2019, 94) "particularly in attempts to delineate the intellectual roots of contemporary degrowth debates."

Rote Zora was a self-identified feminist group that created their own women-only arm away from the Revolutionary Cells because of sexism within the movement and due to the currents of the ongoing second-wave feminist movement. Its actions were directed towards "predominantly patriarchal institutes, companies and persons representing and building up a sexist male society, which is oppressing and exploiting wimmin worldwide" (Autonome Forum 1988). They stemmed from the second wave of feminism that was, "born of the insights and rebellious spirit of the anticolonial revolutions and the students' movement, but even more so as a result of the frustration radical women experienced when the left failed to live up to its pro-

Rote Zora implemented militant campaigns against the pornography industry, sex shops, women trafficking, and the Doctor's Guild (for reasons we shall see later) (Autonome Forum, 1988). The central themes in choosing these were linked to West German feminism and included: violence against women, transnational solidarity, issues around population control, reproductive technologies, and genetic engineering (Karcher 2016). Their actions were mostly targeted towards causing property damage for the purpose of economic sabotage of companies which supported the ideals that sought to control and subordinate woman and nonhumans

### Population Control

Although the *Limits to Growth* (1972) report emerged around the same time as degrowth, the two are distinct on the issue of population control. The report expresses concern over the limitlessness of population growth and how it could not be sustained in a finite planet (Meadows et al. 1972). This Malthusianesque critique is often considered quite problematic because of the policy implications of trying to control a population. Actions like forced sterilization have been used to prevent women from having children, while on the other side, criminalizing abortions made it so that women had to have children. Neither instance gives the women – whose bodies we are talking about – the right to choose, and are part of longstanding traditions of misogyny, racism, white supremacy, eugenics, and so on. Most literature on degrowth expresses a wider concern with social as well as environmental justice and therefore is against population control (Demaria 2019).

Actions against population control were justified as a need to fight a patriarchal system trying to maintain control over women's bodies. For this reason, Rote Zora targeted anti-abortion organizations, companies, and institutions, as well as The Doctor's Guild, "exponents of rape in white trenchcoats" who limited abortion reform and carried out forced sterilisations (Autonome Forum, 1988). The first high explosive attack executed by the group was in 1974 on the Supreme Court building, the day after the court had overturned the abortion law. It followed years of protest and action by the women's liberation movement who, under a unified struggle, campaigned to

repeal §218 of the Basic Law, the paragraph of the constitution banning abortion under any circumstance (Smith & Moncourt 2009). Under this law, women who had an abortion could serve a five-year sentence while the person who performed the abortion could serve up to ten years. The campaign to decriminalize abortion was dealt a major blow when the Federal Constitution Court voted six to two that the legislation decriminalizing abortion violated the Constitution. The next day, bombs went off in the court's chambers in Karlsruhe, and a communique by the Women of the Revolutionary Cell claimed the attack (Katsiaficas 1997). Unfortunately, abortions are still criminally punishable in Germany today (German Criminal Code). Yet, for the argument here, anti-abortion laws are not only attempting to usurp power from women but also institute and force reproduction upon women.

## Fighting for Worker's Rights

The initial proposals by degrowthers to the European Parliament included worktime reduction and a universal basic income (Demaria et al. 2019; Kallis et al. 2020). This is a fundamental aspect of degrowth as it aims to propose an alternative that is both socially and environmentally just. The overall reduction of working hours means less energy consumption, less production, and therefore a more environmentally friendly economy. By working less, the social lives of people are also anticipated to improve.

In the summer of 1987, Rote Zora targeted Adler, a clothing store with poor working conditions for their female employees in South Korea. When twelve South Korean union leaders were fired from Adler, Rote Zora and its Berlin sister group, the Amazons, firebombed 10 Adler outlets in Germany causing millions in damages. This compelled the Adler Corporation to rehire the fired workers and agree to the demands of the South Korean textile workers (Katsiaficas 1997). Parts of degrowth are centrally focused on social justice and equality. The fundamental reason for these attacks can be directly related to the reasons why degrowth calls for a change in working rights, and Rote Zora's tactics were successful in providing people with marginally better working conditions, or at the least, keeping their jobs.

## Against Destructive Industries

Degrowth has also been at the forefront of criticizing eco-modernism's call for green growth. Green growth encourages the shift from fossil fuels to renewable energy sources like wind turbines and solar panels, in order to continue down the path of economic growth (Asafu-Adjaye et al. 2015). Green growth is criticized for perpetuating the problems of the growth paradigm, whereas degrowth calls for a fundamental shift away from this. For example, Dunlap (2018, 2019) and Hickel (2020b) have pointed out green growth's reliance on extractivism in transitioning to new energy sources, and the ongoing on-the-ground resistance to stop these projects. Green growth is criticized for perpetuating similar problems and instead degrowth calls for a fundamental shift away from the capitalist growth paradigm that ecomodernists want to continue to rely on.

Hickel (2020b, 270) provides five steps for the pathway to a post-capitalist future. His fifth step is to "scale down ecologically destructive industries" that are socially less necessary. This proposal comes out of the desire for a more environmentally and socially just world. Industries that are destructive to the environment or to certain social groups need to be met with resistance. This includes any growth-based industry, industries that displace peoples, and industries that destroy and damage ecosystems unnecessarily. Hickel (2020b) also points out that a shift away from the globalization of trade to the localization of production would shift the economy that is based on energy-intensive long distance supply chains to an economy where production happens closer to home.

From 1983-1995, Rote Zora targeted biotechnology and genetic engineering facilities. During this twelve-year period, they attacked Siemens communication technology, a data center of the Association of Credit Reform, the Institute for Breeding Research, a medical institute, two different institutes for genetics, the Society of Biotechnological Research, a shipyard supplying arms to the Turkish regime, and the Berlin Genetics Centre (Rote Zora). These attacks included arson and explosives as means to cause property and economic damage to the companies and institutions involved in what Rote Zora considered to be destructive industries. The reason to target the bio-

<sup>7 &</sup>quot;Notice of Attacks" by Rota Zora were documented on freilassung.de and I was able to translate them using google translate.

"Schering maintains the right to market all commercially viable results achieved from research in the areas of pest control and pharmaceuticals. The main areas of research conform with the company's interest. Their interest has never contributed to the elimination of world hunger or poverty but rather, has been the cause of these problems. The supposed alleviation of these problems through the use of biotechnology will now bring advantages and profit to those responsible for creating them in the first place. An example which illustrates this is the use of fertilizers and pesticides from chemical and seed companies in countries of the so-called "Third World." Gene technology is actually a technology of dominance. Control and subordination are inherent in all of its facets as those are the purposes for which it was originally developed. We maintain that gene technology must be fought as a whole. An articulation of our radical rejection is the bombing of the Berlin Genetics Center on October 17." (Ressler 2000, 0:53 - 2:00)

The specific targeting of biotechnology and genetic engineering labs was due to the belief that the targeted companies were not doing this work for the interest of "the people," but instead for financial self-interest. While there might be reasonable exceptions for biotechnology products, it is clear that the enterprise of genetic control, manipulation, patenting, and marketing is not in the interest of humanity, as commonly marketed. The material (e.g. research labs), personnel (e.g. scientists and administrative staff) and energy intensity (e.g. R&D, powering buildings) of genetically mortified products for profiteering remains another implicit issue connecting the actions of Rota Zora and degrowth. Destructive, economic growth-based industries that reinforced the status quo and continue to fill the pockets of the global elite is a common enemy of both degrowth and Rote Zora.

### CONCLUSION

May Day 1975 marked the start of the Revolutionary Cells' annual newspaper that would explain their positions and actions. It was quickly banned but still broadly distributed and widely read regardless (Smith & Moncourt 2009). May Day 1987 saw a street party turn into a riot – and the following year, a large-scale police crackdown because of the momentum of autonomous groups in West Germany (Katsiaficas 1997). The social movements of the early 1970s engendered a whole new range of tactics to be used in the global struggle against patriarchy, capitalism, imperialism, state control, and ecological degradation. By aligning with a more diverse range of tactics and social movements from the present and past, degrowth stands a better chance at pushing forward its agenda for transformational and radical change. The use of Block Bloc tactics (see Gelderloos 2013; Dupuis-Déri 2014) – promoting anonymity by wearing all black to widen the space of direct participation in combative action - emerged during these May Day protests in Germany, and would popularly re-emerge in the anti-globalization movement, where degrowth would become visible as a political tendency.

What degrowth proponent Naomi Klein (2001, 89) calls for in her piece, "Reclaiming the Commons," is "a movement of radical change, committed to a single world with many worlds in it" and a global movement that must turn into "thousands of local movements." Degrowth had envisioned a future that entails a better work/life, human/non-human balance, and that would celebrate and (claims to) fiercely protect the right to diversity, whether that be cultural, economic, ecological, agricultural, political, or otherwise. With this is mind, it seems all too obvious that the Earth is indeed round, and that alternative futures can easily be imagined. But getting there will require that degrowthers embrace a broader sensitivity to direct action and a diversity of tactics to disrupt the current capitalist system.

But why should we accept "violence" as a legitimate tactic against growth-based industries and the capitalist system that reinforce them? Here we turn to Gelderloos (2013):

"Aside from uncleanliness or hygiene, the principal term used to unleash a moral panic and mobilize elite action was "violence." Among the elite, then as now, in Barcelona as in the English-speaking world, "violence" was a euphemism for a threat to the ruling order and its illusion of social peace, with which the class struggle, the brutality of patriarchy, and the murderousness of colonialism are hidden. The newspapers did not talk about violence when cops killed strikers, when landlords evicted families, or when poor people died of hunger. They talked about violence when workers went on strike, when tenants stopped paying rent, when street vendors refused to surrender their wares to the cops (who would harass them at the behest of the store owners), and when anarchists carried out sabotage or held unpermitted marches."

In this passage, Gelderloos concisely explains the use of the language of "violence" as a cultural construct to serve specific agendas and to reinforce the system already in place. Additionally, Galtung's (1969) theory of structural violence acknowledges the existence of state violence that is too often ignored. According to him, "structural violence" is social injustice where social conditions result in massive discrimination (Galtung 1969). It is for this reason that the use of property damage, sabotage, vandalism, and attacks against infrastructural projects for the purpose of economic and property damage, and as protest to oppressive systems, are justified and should be more regularly considered within degrowth. The role of academics not engaging in these actions, at the least, might be to create a space to support existing movements and struggles in defense of habitats, ecosystems, and against profiteering.

There are many overlaps between the desires of action groups and the degrowth academy, but the means to these ends have been very different. Put simply, degrowthers have written and theorized, discussed, and convened. Certain action groups have bombed buildings, sabotaged pipelines, chained themselves to bulldozers, created blockades, camped out on trees for days, and withstood violence and imprisonment from the state, private security, and police, for trying to defend the land from growth-based industries. Arguably neither set of tactics has been successful in achieving long lasting, transformational change, though all parties involved claim it is necessary. Affinity between these different groups, therefore, has the potential to be very fruitful. On their own, there is less of a chance of success, but coming together and supporting each other through affinity and

solidarity would hugely strengthen the cause. How can degrowth, and the academy, support combative political struggle?

Degrowth would have benefited by aligning itself with the social movements that were happening en masse in the seventies and eighties. Hopefully, it can learn from these past movements and apply the tactics that were successful to the brand that is now "degrowth." As the systematic attacks of logging infrastructure in Chile reminds us (see Protests.media 2021) – among countless other daily acts (see Contra Info, Act For Freedom Now, etc.) – there are many contemporary groups fighting against growth industries that degrowth should get behind if they are serious about transformational change.

#### REFERENCES

Asafu-Adjaye, John, Christopher Foreman, Rachel Pritzker, Linus Blomqvist, David Keith, Joyashree Roy, Stewart Brand et al. 2015. An ecomodernist manifesto. https://www.ecomodernism.org/manifesto-english.

Autonome Forum. 1988. "A Herstory of The Revolutionary Cells and Rote Zora – Armed Resistance in West Germany." Libcom. Accessed May 6, 2021. https://libcom.org/library/herstory-revolutionary-cells-rote-zora-armed-resistance-west-germany.

Bendix, Daniel. 2017. "Reflecting the Post-Development Gaze: The Degrowth Debate in Germany." Third World Quarterly 38 (12): 2617-2633.

Christie, Stuart. ed. 2007. Granny Made Me An Anarchist: General Franco, The Angry Brigade and Me. Oakland: AK Press.

D'Alisa, Giacomo, Federico Demaria, and Giorgios Kallis ed. 2014. Degrowth: A Vocabulary for a New Era. New York: Routledge.

Davis, Angela. 1981. Women, Race & Class. New York: Random House.

Demaria, Federico, Giorgos Kallis, and Karen Bakker. 2019. "Geographies of Degrowth: Nowtopias, Resurgences and the Decolonization of Imaginaries and Places." Environment and Planning ENE: Nature and Space 2 (3): 431–50. https://doi.org/10.1177/2514848619869689.

Democracy Now!. 2021. "Daily Show." Video, May 3, 2021. www.democracynow.org/shows/2021/5/3

Dunlap, Alexander. 2018. "End the "Green" Delusions: Industrial-scale Renewable Energy is Fossil Fuel+." Verso (blog), May 10, 2018. https://www.versobooks.com/blogs/3797-end-the-green-delusions-industrial-scale-renewable-energy-is-fossil-fuel.

———. 2019. Renewing Destruction: Wind Energy Development, Conflict and Resistance in a Latin American Context. London: Rowman & Littlefield.

——. 2020. "Recognizing the "De" in Degrowth." Undisciplined Environments (blog), December 2, 2020. https://undisciplinedenvironments.org/2020/12/02/recognizing-the-de-in-degrowth/.

Dupuis-Déri, Francis. 2014. Who's afraid of the black blocs? Anarchy in action around the world. Oakland: PM Press.

Federal Ministry of Justice and Consumer Protection. 2013. "German Criminal Code." October 10, 2013. http://www.gesetze-im-internet. de/englisch\_stgb/

Galtung, Johan. 1969. "Violence, Peace and Peace Research." Journal of Peace Research 6 (3):167-191.

Gelderloos, Peter. 2013. The Failure of Nonviolence. Chico: AK Press.

Geronimo. 2012. Fire and Flames: A History of the German Autonomist Movement, Oakland: PM Press.

Gregoratti, Catia, and Riya Raphael. 2019. "Chapter 5: The Historical Roots of Feminist 'Degrowth': Maria Mies's and Marilyn Waring's Critiques of Growth." in Towards a Political Economy of Degrowth, edited by Ekaterina Chertkovskaya, Alexander Paulsson, and Stefania Barca. London: Rowman & Littlefield International.

Hickel, Jason. 2020a. "What does degrowth mean? A few points of clarification." Globalizations 0 (0): 1-7 http://doi.org/10.1080/1474773 1.2020.1812222.

\_\_\_\_\_\_. 2020b. Less is More: How Degrowth will Save the World. London: William Heinemann.

Hickel, Jason, and Giorgos Kallis. 2020. "Is green growth possible?" New Political Economy 25 (4): 469-486.

Illich, Ivan. 1973. Tools of Conviviality. New York: Harper & Row

Jackson, Tim. 2017. Prosperity Without Growth: Foundations for the Economy of Tomorrow. London: Routledge.

Kallis, Giorgos. 2018. Degrowth. Newcastle upon Tyne: Agenda Publishing.

Kallis, Giorgos, Susan Paulson, Giacomo D'Alisa, and Federico Demaria. 2020. The Case for Degrowth. Cambridge: Polity Press.

Karcher, Katharina. 2016. "How (Not) to 'Hollaback': Towards a Transnational Debate on the 'Red Zora' and Militant Tactics in the Feminist Struggle against Gender-Based Violence." Feminist Media Studies 16 (1): 70–85. https://doi.org/10.1080/14680777.2015.1093099.

Katsiaficas, Georgy. 2006. The Subversion of Politics: European Autonomous Movements and the Decolonization of Everyday Life. Chico: AK Press

Kauffman, L.A. 2017. Direct Action: Protest and the Reinvention of American Radicalism. London, New York; Verso.

Klein, Naomi. 2001. "Reclaiming the Commons." New Left Review 9: 81-89.

Korskvik, Tine Rogg. 2021. Politicizing Rape and Pornography: 1970s Feminist Movements in France and Norway. Oslo: Kilden Gender Research.

Leonardi, Emanuele. 2019. "Chapter 3: The Topicality of Andre Gorz's Political Ecology: Rethinking Ecologie et liberte (1997) to (Re) Connect Marxism and Degrowth." In towards a Political Economy of Degrowth, edited by Ekaterina Chertkovskaya,

Luxemburg, Rosa. 1900 [1898]. Reform or Revolution. London: Militant Publications.

Meadows, Donella, Dennis Meadows, and Jørgen Randers. 1972. Limits to Growth. New York: Universe Press.

Nirmal, Padini, and Dianne Rocheleau. 2019. "Decolonizing degrowth in the post-development convergence: Questions, experiences, and proposals from two Indigenous territories." Environmental and Planning E: Nature and Space 2 (3): 443–470.

Paech, Niko. 2012. Liberation from Excess: The Road to a Post-Growth Economy. Munich: Oekom.

Parrique, Tim. 2019. "Degrowth: A realistic demand for the impossible." YouTube video, May 6, 2019. https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=VQfV23a5ZNQ

Parrique Tim, Jonathan Barth, Francois Briens, Christian Kerschner, Alejo Kraus-Polk, Anna Kuokkanen, Joachim H. Spangenberg. 2019. "Decoupling Debunked. Evidence and arguments as a sole strategy for sustainability." European Environment Bureau (EEB). https://mk0e-eborgicuypctuf7e.kinstacdn.com/wp-content/uploads/2019/07/Decoupling-Debunked.pdf.

Pollin, Robert. 2018. "De-Growth vs. A Green New Deal." New Left Review 112.

Protests.media. 2021. "Chilean Mapuche Activists Set Fire to Deforestation Machinery in Friere." Protests.media, April 27, 2021. https://protests.media/chilean-mapuche-activists-set-fire-to-deforestation-machinery-in-friere/

Ressler, Oliver, dir. 2000. Die Rote Zora. Vinmeo. 00:28:00. https://vimeo.com/255405120.

Rote Zora. 1983-1995. "Notes of Attack." freilassung. https://freilassung.de.

Salleh, Ariel. 2009. Eco-sufficiency & Global Justice: Women Write Political Ecology. London: Pluto Press.

Smith, J. and Andre Moncourt. 2009. The Red Army Faction, A Documentary History, Volume 1: Projectiles for the People. Montreal: PM Press and Kersplebedeb.

-----. 2013. The Red Army Faction, A Documentary History, Volume 2: Dancing with Imperialism. Montreal: PM Press and Kersplebedeb.

Trainer, Ted. 2021. "What does Degrowth mean? Some comments on Jason Hickel's 'A few points of clarification." Globalizations. DOI:1 0.1080/14747731.2020.1860621

Wright, Erik Olin. 2010. Envisioning Real Utopias. New York: Verso Books.

# KNOWLEDGE, ENERGY, LIFE: POSSIBILITIES FOR CONSERVATION IN POST-DEVELOPMENT

ALEJANDRO RUELAS

#### INTRODUCTION

Saving nature is a moneymaker. As Dan Brockington (2009, 15) puts it. "conservation policies are an ever more prominent part of economic growth strategies." Ecotourism, offsetting of environmental and carbon footprints (Büscher & Fletcher 2015), green grabbing (Fairhead et al. 2012), the alignment of environmental NGOs with corporate interests (Büscher & Fletcher 2020), among other phenomena, have bolstered the entanglement of conservation with neoliberalism, making it into a sophisticated instrument for capital accumulation (Dunlap & Sullivan 2020). In the face of the environmental crisis, the same economic system that ravages nature in search of profit now counts conservation as an increasingly necessary component of so-called "sustainable development" (Brockington & Duffy 2011). Following a critical revision of conservation and its links to capitalism, this essay asks: Is there any way to make conservation compatible with a post-development future rather than a cog in the growth-driven economy?

The meaning of conservation is diffuse. We intuitively understand it as the protection of nature, something that is good to do. On the other hand, it is not uncommon to find the word accompanied by concepts such as "development," "green growth," and even "business model". National Geographic, for instance, defines it as "the act of protecting natural resources for future generations" (National Geographic Society 2019). "Resources": something external to humans that is there to be exploited for our benefit (Sullivan 2017). It seems mainstream conservation, the kind advocated by international NGOs and popularized by global media outlets, follows the logic of extraction and profit. Büscher and Fletcher (2020) further highlight the capitalist

character of the current conservation movement, which, by defining nature as "natural capital," justifies protecting it only as an effort to keep the "environmental services" it provides. Brockington (2009), in turn, recognizes three main types of conservation in its current form: conservation of biodiversity, conservation of landscapes, and conservation of wildlife.

This article is an exploration of other meanings and possibilities. It proposes three alternative kinds of conservation: conservation of knowledge, conservation of energy, and conservation of life. Such conceptual shifts could have practical implications and aid in the transition towards a pluriverse in the terms advocated by post-development thinking. The argument closely follows Büscher and Fletcher's *The Conservation Revolution* (2020) and the case it makes for "convivial conservation." This hugely important book marks an attempt to re-conceptualize conservation away from the growth imperative and beyond the human-nature dichotomy. Another remarkable proposal is Toledo's (2005) bioregional paradigm. The present article attempts to build on their ideas and foster a more explicit dialogue between conservation and post-development.

<sup>1</sup> Even among academic circles, there seems to be confusion as to what exactly degrowth means, which prompts crticism and resistance to the idea. These concerns have been addressed by some of degrowth's advocates, such as Hickel (2020).

But if conservation is so entangled with an economic model that begets environmental catastrophe, why even keep the word? If we are already looking for alternatives to development (Escobar 2011), why hold on to another problematic concept with such a questionable history? Firstly, the word "conservation" carries a clear message with immense narrative power. It succinctly confers a vision of a future in which, despite all odds, things can be similar to what they are today. In short, it gives people hope. Secondly, the conservation movement enjoys an increasing momentum that would be ill-advised to waste. Further, using the popular understanding of conservation as something good (Brockington 2009) might allow for immediate policy changes and support from the wider public. New concepts – such as degrowth— have an extremely hard time catching on because they exist outside of the current frame of mind. Conservation, on the other hand, is right at the center of popular environmental concerns. Thus, coming up with new meanings rather than new words might prove effective at bringing about change in the short term.

Firstly, this article outlines the instances where the links between conservation and neoliberal capitalism are most evident. It connects conservation to the growth economy and shows examples where we can see this brand of environmentalism operate to extract value from nature. Next, it argues for each of the proposed meanings for conservation (as knowledge, energy, and life). These three ideas are so intimately intertwined that, at times, it is hard to distinguish their boundaries: between the knowledge that teaches us how to re-define energy, the energy that connects all forms of life, and the lives that carry with them the wisdom of their heritage.

#### CONSERVATION IN THE GROWTH ECONOMY

In his book *Patas Arriba: Escuela del Mundo al Revés*, Uruguayan author Eduardo Galeano (1998, 10) wrote: "Saving the environment is the most brilliant business of the companies that annihilate it." It is indeed a notable trick. As environmental panic piles up, we are now facing a paradox in which capitalism seems to be the only way to save nature – from capitalism. Multiple authors have pointed out this process of "selling nature to save it," (McAfee 1999) which neoliberalism has intensified giving rise to what some call neoliberal conservation (Sullivan 2006; Igoe & Brockington 2007; Büscher et al. 2012; Dunlap & Sullivan 2020), or a recrudescence of value capture and capital accumulation through the purported protection of nature.

Büscher and Fletcher (2015) propose the term "accumulation by conservation," "ways in which conservation functions as a component of the capitalist world economy, facilitating the internalization of environmental conditions in order to safeguard or expand capital accumulation" (Büscher & Fletcher 2020, 45). Thus, they track the evolution of conservation and place it within regimes of accumulation, from the colonial world system in the late 19th century and its "fortress conservation," to the financial instruments of current day neoliberalism. Following Brockington's claim of intensifying unification of conservation and capitalism (Brockington 2009), I will focus on the later neoliberal stage and briefly outline four instances where this complicity is most evident: 1) offsetting and the financia-

lization of nature; 2) green grabbing; 3) the alignment of NGOs and corporate interests, and 4) ecotourism.

Büscher and Fletcher (2015) argue that the roll-out of the neoliberal period marked a shift in conservation towards the financialization of nature, defined as an "environmental service provider." This entailed the abstraction of conservation from any one place, making it possible to buy conservation assets from anywhere in the world. By construing the world as a fuzzy whole, pulling a sort of unifying god trick (Haraway 1988; see also Søyland, this issue), damages made somewhere can be offset elsewhere through instruments such as carbon markets and "environmental marketplaces." Financial devices such as Payments for Environmental Services (PES) and Reducing Emissions from Deforestation and Forest Degradation in Developing Countries (REDD+) render it possible to damage nature in one place and make up for it in another. This financialization, they posit, "is necessary in order to free capital from the limitations of investment in fixed resources," (Ibid., 287) which has issued a whole new phase of accumulation

Building up from his argument, Dunlap and Sullivan (2020) offer a thorough critique of neoliberal environmental governance and market-based conservation strategies. They highlight how profit-driven conservation tends to deliver all kinds of nefarious effects to rural communities in the global south – disproportionately targeted by conservation policies (Büscher & Fletcher 2020) – and propose the term "accumulation-by-alienation" to highlight the "processes of colonization, state territorialization and security policy" that accompany these commodifying strategies (Ibid., 554).

Fairhead and colleagues (2012, 237) further define dispossession as "green grabbing", or "the appropriation of land and resources for environmental ends." They argue new forms of valuing and trading nature remotely facilitate the circulation of "green capital" – money invested to make a profit from saving nature – and accelerate "the wholesale alienation of land," as well as "the restructuring of rules and authority in the access, use, and management of resources" (Ibid., 238). These land grabs are in turn aided by narratives of local

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> For a soberingly tangible example visit www.ecosystemmarketplace.com.

degradation (Fairhead & Leach 1995; Büscher & Fletcher 2020) and the "green credentials" of conservationists. Thus, scientific authority and the irrefutable urgency of environmental action (Brockington 2009) enable practices with deep colonial histories, deployed to protect nature from humanity. Following the logic of offsetting environmental damage, these governance mechanisms, targeted at rural populations, can be implemented in tandem with development projects to justify investments and collateral destruction.<sup>3</sup>

Environmental NGOs are often mediators in the alienation process. Since it is now more important than ever for businesses to appear environmentally benign, NGOs are trying to "green" capitalism by partnering up with "many of the most environmentally destructive capitalist corporations in the world" (Büscher & Fletcher 2020, 42). The interests of corporations and NGOs have aligned to such an extent that Captain Paul Watson, one of the founders of Greenpeace, has called them "feel good organizations" and "eco-bureaucracies [...] run by business people" (SubMedia 2010). The role of NGOs can be diverse, either as direct enforcers of top-down conservation policies (Domínguez & Luoma 2020), as manufacturers of consent (Osborne 2013), or as brokers for green capital (Fairhead et al. 2012).

Finally, the rise of ecotourism is one of the most conspicuous examples of environmental capitalism. Visiting wilderness has always been a primary goal of conservation. The first nature reserves were enclosures of supposedly pristine nature fenced off for the recreation of privileged classes (Cronon 1996). Protected areas required, and still do, the displacement of indigenous peoples (Dowie 2009), while they limit access to resources (Sosa-Montes et al. 2012) and create an industry that sells short-term visitation. Although tourism, even eco-tourism, markets itself as an environmental saviour, it is often either complicit or directly responsible of the destruction of nature (Büscher & Fletcher 2020). Such industry has lately boomed in the world economy. Tourism is now a pillar of sustainable development (Hall 2019), and as countries put it at the center of their economic growth strategies (Brockington 2009), business is skyrocketing. As of 2019, the ecotourism industry worldwide was estimated at USD 181.1 billion. By 2027, it is forecasted to reach USD 333.8 billion (Statista 2021).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Such is the current narrative around infrastructure development plans in Mexico. See https://www.palcoquintanarroense.com. mx/noticias-de-quintana-roo/fonatur-y-conanp-impulsan-areas-para-la-conservacion-en-comunidades-de-quintana-roo/.

Although it is impossible to discuss each of these points exhaustively here, this brief outline intends to show the deep interconnection between capitalism and mainstream conservation. This is not only the kind of conservation advocated by global NGOs and international development agencies, but also the most widely broadcasted with its celebrity ambassadors, spectacular wildlife documentaries, and catchy slogans calling for 30 by 30 (Nijhuis 2021). It is this narrative power that a conservation movement in post-development must attempt to capture.

# CONSERVATION OF KNOWLEDGE

Conservation has a long colonial history. Since the creation of the first national parks in the United States, it has too often been a synonym for racism, displacement, and domination (Cronon 1996). In his essay *Our National Parks*, John Muir ([1901] in Purdy 2015) wrote: "As to Indians, most of them are dead or civilized into useless innocence." More than a hundred years later, this colonial legacy lives on in narratives of local degradation, green grabbing, and the extermination of ways of life legitimated by the hegemony of Western scientific knowledge.

As Brockington (2009) points out, conservation has the authority of science. Álvarez and Coolsaet (2020) call this the "coloniality of knowledge," where "traditional" knowledge is portrayed as only locally applicable and made inferior to "universal" European science. Although these narratives have been dead wrong before – one landmark example is Fairhead and Leach's (1995) account of the forests of Guinea – conservation policies continue to be implemented vertically and remotely (García-Frapolli et al. 2009). Multiple scholars have analyzed the link between hegemonic ways of knowing in conservation from a decolonial lens and pointed towards viable alternatives found in non-Western worldviews (Domínguez & Luoma 2020; Rubis 2020; López Barreto 2021). At heart, then, "conservation of knowledge" is an argument against epistemic violence – violence exerted against or through knowledge for purposes of domination

(Galván-Álvarez 2010) – in the environmental movement. It is a call for the emergence of situated knowledges (Haraway 1988), of variegated ontologies and epistemologies that provide other forms of valuing and, to echo convivial conservation (Büscher & Fletcher 2020), living with nature.

Post-development scholars have gone on this search for other epistemes and other worlds. Escobar (2016, 23) looks in the global south for "relational ontologies," which are "enacted through an infinite series of practices of all kinds of beings and life forms." These "dense webs of interrelations" are alternatives to the "dominant ontology of capitalist modernity" that rips humanity out of nature and privatizes everything held in common, "even the atmosphere through carbon markets" (Ibid., 23-24). These relational ontologies have practical utility for conservation. Drawing on her fieldwork in west Namibia, Sullivan (2017) shows how different ontologies shape the conception of nature that is lived and that must be conserved or managed. Using the concept "ecologies of selves," she argues that understanding non-humans as possessing agency allows us to get to a non-instrumental ecology. Some of these relational ontologies, she contends, are developed in parts of the world where the Western instrumentalization based on Cartesian views is seen as strange or imported.

When conservation serves "coloniality of knowledge," (Quijano 1999) it not only assimilates nature into the market, it implies the extermination of worlds. In Mexico, conservation policy has been used as a counterinsurgency tactic to pacify indigenous uprisings (Osborne 2013). By declaring nature reserves and enclosing resources in conflict zones, environmental policy and scientific knowledge served to justify warfare on the Zapatista and other communities (Sánchez 1998). In the words of the National Indigenous Congress: "War wants to kill us as peoples and kill us as persons [...] When we say we are peoples, it is because we carry in our blood, in our flesh, and in our skin all the history, all the hope, all the knowledge, culture, language, identity" (CNI 2017).

Although there are many calls to base conservation policy on indigenous knowledge (Denny & Fanning 2016; Reid et al. 2021), a "conservation of knowledge" does not aim to incorporate other visions into policy developed within the capitalist framework. It is an urge to create spaces of "autonomy, ancestral revendications of education, security, justice, spirituality, communication, self-defense, and self-government" (CNI 2017). Perhaps struggles for indigenous land rights in the United States (Wilkinson 2018), movements for self-determination in the Amazon and the Andes (Hidalgo-Capitán & Cubillo-Guevara 2017), or the proposal of biocultural conservation in Mexico (Toledo 2005; Toledo 2013) can provide encouraging opportunities to articulate post-development discourses and help other ways of knowing and living flourish.

In an attempt to make protected areas – one of conservation's main tools to "safeguard" ecosystems – compatible with alternative relationships with the more-than-human world, convivial conservation puts forward the idea of "promoted areas." These are "conceptualized as fundamentally encouraging places where people are considered welcome visitors, dwellers or travelers rather than temporary alien invaders upon a nonhuman landscape," where it is possible to build "long-lasting, engaging and open-ended relationships with nonhumans and ecologies" (Büscher & Fletcher 2020, 265). To complement, I contend these promoted areas should be places necessarily inhabited by people (many reserves were in fact inhabited before being "protected") where relational ontologies and regenerative economies can flourish. As the Zapatista lay out: there should be spaces of *autonomía*, of self-government, and self-determination for those who already live outside of capitalism.

There is a peril in studying subaltern knowledges from academia and hegemonic epistemic positions. Asher and Wainwright (2019, 37) highlight the problems of representation and the risks of being seduced by "the romance of resistance." Drawing on Spivak, they argue that "the proposition that the grounded knowledge of subaltern social groups is the source of alternatives contributes to the problematic notion that 'natives will save us'" (Ibid., 27). This becomes evident in popular social media accounts that echo some post-development ideas while heavily romanticizing indigenous land defenders.<sup>4</sup>

<sup>4</sup> This fragment is taken from the Instagram account of Alice Aedy, British filmmaker and collaborator for outlets such as The Guardian: "These communities are the 'real' experts in environmental conservation, where indigenous people steward the land, we find evidence of richer biodiversity and

Nonetheless, as Donna Haraway (1988) advances in her critique of male science and objectivity, subjugated knowledges are not innocent or exempt from being critically analysed. They are preferred because they are most likely to reveal transformative accounts of the world (Haraway 1988). Based on the work of Boaventura de Sousa Santos, Escobar proposes the Epistemologies of the South can help bridge gaps in current critical theory. This framework attempts to open room to "re-engage with life and attentively walk along the amazing diversity of forms of knowledge held by those whose experiences can no longer be rendered legible by Eurocentric knowledge in the academic mode" (Escobar 2016, 13); in other words, ideas that contain "the seeds for alternative worlds" (Asher & Wainwright 2019, 30).

Ultimately, a "conservation of knowledge" must remain fiercely self-critical. Asher and Wainwright (2019, 30) call for a "histori-co-political perspective to trace the erasure and mobilization of 'culture' in dominant narratives." It is crucial to navigate the question of how conservation can become an ally of social movements in their struggle for other possible worlds.

## CONSERVATION OF ENERGY

It should be clear from the outset: the following is not an argument parallel or complementary to the first law of thermodynamics. It does, however, build on a theory that deals with said law. This will make sense in a minute.

In her book *The Birth of Energy* (2019), Cara Daggett uses the history of thermodynamics to elucidate the metaphors that constructed the political theory of British industrialization and imperialism. Through a historical and epistemological lens, she traces the "genealogy of energy" and how it was articulated with a Protestant industrialist ethic. Energy, she argues, is not something tangible. It is not some-*thing*. It is, at the same time, a quantification of observed effects, a metaphor, a historical interaction, an epistemology, and an object of politics.

Through the first and second laws of thermodynamics - conservation of energy and entropy – she arrives at two central concepts for how the capitalist-imperialist machine conceives energy: 1) work, productive energy channeled through, say, a steam engine; and 2) waste, also called entropic heat, i.e., energy that is dispersed and can no longer be transformed into work. When paired with Protestant values, work was equated with virtue, productivity, and efficiency. On the other hand, entropy was wasteful, an enemy of industry. Together, these two concepts created an understanding of energy that legitimized the imperialist mandate to extract work from laborers in factories and colonies. It also permits for a purely utilitarian valuation of the more-than-human world that is evident in narratives that construct unexploited land as "idle" (Merino-Pérez 2004). Daggett (2019, 111) contends: "Thermodynamics does not simply describe a preexisting thing called energy, but rather invents energy as a unit of accounting (and work and waste), thereby offering new governance strategies that were particularly useful to Victorian industry."

In the face of biological annihilation and climate change, often framed exclusively as a problem with energy-as-fossil-fuels, she argues that "we need not just alternative fuels, but new ways of thinking about, valuing and inhabiting energy systems" (Ibid., 3). Hence, I ask: Could conservation – in the sense I have discussed so far – paired with post-development ideas help us find these new values and relationships?

In a review of Daggett's book, Perkins (2020, 107) observes she chooses to focus on the downsides of growth, consumption, and pollution, and "misses the other way to examine energy: services needed to maintain human life." Although Daggett does hint at other conceptualizations of energy right at the top of her introduction, Perkin's remark is still relevant. His statement, however, can be further corrected. Not *services* or *human life*, but *processes* needed to maintain *life*. Thus, energy is understood as a life-giving force that cycles (Leopold 1989) through biotic communities. Such conceptualization of energy could lead to an economy embedded in natural cycles that conserves energy and enables the indefinite reproduction of life-creating elements and relations.

Different conceptualizations of energy exist in non-Western philosophies (Kaptchuk 1995; Unschuld, Tessenow, & Jinsheng 2011). In a revision of ancient Chinese thought, Padilla (1999) talks about Tao, an incommensurable force that maintains and connects all things, and Qi, a flow of vital energy. Thus, in Taoist tradition, humans are energetic entities connected to all other beings by energy flows (Kaptchuk 1995). It is the interruption of said flows that creates imbalance and sickness. Padilla (1999, 12) links the disruption of energy cycles to modern economics by saying that "[s]o long as the concept of humans as an economic reality goes unchanged, the species will remain bereaved by sickness and will eventually cease to exist." To liberate this blockage, new economies that allow energy to flow freely must be devised.

Ethan Hughes matches this idea with permaculture by calling the universe "a co-creative force," a web of interconnected creative energies (Mann 2015). In essence, permaculture is an ecological design tool that recognizes "economic viability and social justice are interrelated with functioning ecological systems" (Lockyer & Veteto 2013, 76). These ecological systems, in turn, rely on feedback loops that recycle nutrients and energy. With this in mind, Hughes posits that "when we mimic nature in sharing energy, there's abundance [...] A tree doesn't hoard its apples. When it has that abundance, it lets it fly, for humans, for birds, for compost" (Mann 2015). Thus, he points to one of Daggett's primary concerns: waste.

Contrary to the aversion to entropy and waste understood as unusable energy, in natural systems there is no waste. Waste – via compost – is a recycling process, a "sharing of energy" back into the ecosystem carried out by a multitude of species.<sup>5</sup> By redefining waste, it becomes a necessary link in the existence of all beings, one that enables the creation of soil, the nurturing of plants, and the continuation of trophic chains. In short, waste creates life.<sup>6</sup> Based on this understanding, permaculture is well-positioned to generate economies where human processes and needs are embedded in a net that fosters a diversity of interlinked species. It offers a methodology to design systems of human production, consumption and inhabitation (Lockyer & Veteto 2013) that enhance life-creating energy cycles (Kothari

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> https://www.permaculturenews.org/ what-is-permaculture/.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> Recent theories even point to entropy as the origin of life itself. Although I do not deal with them in this article, further information can be found here: https://arxiv.org/abs/0907.0042, and here: https://aeon.co/essays/does-the-flow-of-heat-help-us-understand-the-origin-of-life.

et al. 2019). Examples of these economies have already been implemented and can be found at different scales and with varying degrees of success, from ecovillages to post Cold War Cuba (Lockyer & Veteto 2013; Leahy 2019).

Conservation strategies must integrate regenerative economies to move away from the capitalist apparatus. This seems to be an area that needs further development in new conservation proposals. For instance, while discussing possibilities to fund the transitions from current conservation to their convivial alternative, Büscher and Fletcher (2020, 317) explain: "[C]onvivial conservation explores the possibilities of adapting existing conservation and development funding schemes, particularly payments for environmental services (PES) and cash transfer programmes, towards newly envisioned, convivial ends."

After a lengthy argument to separate conservation from the growth imperative, they appear to concede that their plan needs to be funded by the same economy they intend to escape. Their objective is crucial: to ensure viable livelihoods for those potentially most affected by conservation policies. However, would it not be possible to imagine other ways to achieve this? Permaculture, agroecology (Toledo 2019), bioregionalism (Toledo 2005), alternative currencies (North 2019; Pérez & Gonzales 2020), community economies (Siamanta 2021; López Barreto 2021) and a host of local autonomic practices (as suggested in the above section) might be compatible with conservation and provide tools to create economies outside of capitalism that do not require – or at least minimize the need for – the goodwill of "donors, grants or patrons" (Büscher & Fletcher 2020, 318). Of course, alternatives should be highly aware of and adapted to cultural, political, and biophysical contexts. Nonetheless, the articulation between political ecology and initiatives such as permaculture can serve to empower local communities and develop sustainable livelihoods that challenge the development paradigm (Lockyer & Veteto 2013).

Daggett's analysis of energy points to a second problem. In a revision of current fossil fuel politics (Daggett 2018), she traces the links between work (understood as productive energy), freedom, and masculinity. Work, she argues, is at the core of the white masculine dream of self-sufficiency, a way to escape reciprocity, and a claim to the domination of people and non-humans. Hence, a reconceptualization of energy and work within a "conservation of energy" tends to the opposite – it is a call for radical interdependence, for relocating the economy and building strong communal ties with humans and more-than-humans (Escobar 2015). It is indeed a call for conviviality and a rejection of the industrial society through values such as self-defined work (Illich 1973). As Daggett points out, "the energywork connection cannot claim to be a reflection of the whole truth of energy, much less the cosmos" (Daggett 2019, 111). We require a new conceptualization of energy within biological systems and a form of conservation that, by preserving energy flows, maintains the source of life itself.

#### CONSERVATION OF LIFE

This exercise at reconceptualizing conservation is an attempt to remind the movement of its mission, to trace new paths of meaning that bring it closer to its fundamental goal. Conservation of knowledge offers a way out of epistemic violence in environmentalism, and a road towards autonomy and overdue reparations towards oppressed peoples. Conservation of energy is a proposal to build economies that pursue social justice via enhancing natural systems. These two roads converge in a single purpose – to protect all life.

Conservation is often understood as the preservation of biodiversity and wildlife (Brockington 2009). Guided by a reduction of natural phenomena to scientifically manageable bits and pieces, it makes it its duty to safeguard fractions of nature – species, landscapes, ecosystems – through the creation of reserves and other protected areas. Thus, it objectifies nature and ignores the "social, economic, cultural, and political conditions that connect those isolated fragments." (Toledo 2005, 68) By and large, the story remains that nature needs

protection from humanity (Büscher & Fletcher 2020). For this to work, the premise that nature is something external to humans must be well in place.

Many authors have scrutinized the vast history and ramifications of the human-nature dichotomy. Mueller (2017) traces the invention of "humanity-as-separation" to Descartes' feverish dreams. Moore (2017) points to the Cartesian divide as one of the roots of the Capitalocene. Haraway (2015) uses beautiful metaphors to remind us of our kinship with non-humans. Næss (1995) blazed the trail of northern European Deep Ecology. These are laudable efforts to re-learn what non-Western indigenous peoples and some rural communities within the West seem to have known for long: humans are part of nature and the value of the more-than-human world has nothing to do with the market. For conservation, this means that its job is not to protect some abstracted nature, but to engage with political, economic, cultural, social, and biological entanglements; to look for relations of humans and non-humans, what Anna Tsing (2017) calls "other worldmaking projects."

Rethinking conservation as concerning all life is an opportunity to eschew capitalist dualisms and articulate with other understandings and social movements in the pursuit of alternatives to development. Escobar (2016, 23) groups emerging "knowledges produced in the struggles for the defense of relational worlds" under the category of Transition Discourses (TD), a host of alternatives that includes Buen Vivir, the Rights of Nature, degrowth, *autonomía*, among many others. These are embodied in social movements and communities whose worldviews "go beyond capitalism and human rights, for their struggle is waged 'in the name of life.'" (Escobar in Álvarez & Coolsaet 2020) For many indigenous movements, "in the name of life" means against capitalist development and the growth economy. The National Indigenous Congress puts it plainly: "We are the peoples we still are despite 523 years of extermination, violence, domination, and plunder from capitalism and its allies, the owners of money and power, the representatives of death [...] Because the heart of our Mother Earth lives in the spirit of our peoples." (CNI 2017)

My intention here is not to fetishize indigenous struggles, it is rather to listen to the voices of peoples in resistance<sup>7</sup> to propose a way of thinking about conservation: If conservation is to protect all life, it cannot do so through the capitalist growth economy. If it cannot do it within the capitalist economy and its development model, then it must support the alternatives. Although it may very well be impossible for the conservation movement to immediately break away from capitalism, this mindset might help us imagine policies and mechanisms that contribute to the empowerment of Transition Discourses. Moreover, a "conservation of life" means that purported solutions such as carbon markets, offsetting mechanisms, Payments for Ecosystem Services, nature reserves that displace people, and other instances that protect wildlife or biodiversity somewhere to compensate for death elsewhere are simply not compatible with conservation.

Convivial conservation makes a similar call.8 In its five "elements of a vision," it sets the stage to imagine conservation as part of a convivial reconstruction project "currently (and historically) pushed and supported by many post-colonial, indigenous, emancipatory, youth, progressive and other movements, organizations and individuals around the world" (Büscher & Fletcher 2020, 273). It also offers an interesting reflection regarding the separation of humans and nature. The authors contend a certain amount of human exceptionalism must be retained if we are to highlight "particular threats posed by human action to nonhuman survival" (Ibid., 270). Unless humans are in some way different, they argue, they cannot be made responsible for environmental damage. Although I agree with the political use of this assertion, as Moore (2017) points out, arguing that "humanity" as an undifferentiated whole is to blame for environmental degradation is problematic as it elides important distinctions of class, gender, and race, along with entire colonial histories.

Arne Næss further points to a problem with claiming to defend life. He brings attention to the totems of power and hierarchies that emerge when one analogises nature to humans. "I see an unconditional cult of life as being unethical [...] You see nature a certain way. You see lions and their prey. You begin to say yes to brutality and exploitation" (Næss in Witoszek 2011, 221). This is an important

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> Struggles against murderous capitalist development are not exclusive to indigenous peoples in the Global South (see Mauvaise Troupe Collective; Ross 2018).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> Another proposal that I have not engaged with sufficiently throughout this essay is Toledo's bioregional conservation (Toledo 2005). Through 3 axioms – biosocial, biocultural and bioproductive – it pursues ends very similar to convivial conservation and the argument I have made here

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup> 1) From protected to promoted areas; 2) From saving nature to celebrating human and non-human nature; 3) From touristic voyeurism to engaged visitation; 4) From spectacular to everyday environmentalisms; 5) From privatized expert technocracy to common democratic engagement (Büscher & Fletcher 2020).

observation. Different movements have claimed to protect life – at least, an interpretation of it – and deviated into dangerous categories such as primitivist terrorism and eco-fascism (Savoulian 2019). A "conservation of life" must remain vigilant and self-critical to consciously stay on a path that leads towards plurality, diversity, and conviviality. Like life itself, it is eminently relational and depends on a vast mesh of human and non-human collaborations. It rests on reciprocal care (Siamanta 2021) and a feminist search for "constructing worlds less organized by axes of domination," (Haraway 1988, 585) as it attempts to build inclusive, porous communities, not fortresses. It aims to create spaces where all are entitled to simply be, worlds that are what Chilean artist Beatriz Aurora calls her depictions of Zapatista existence: "an orchestra of life" (in GIAP 2014).

#### CONCLUSION

I have argued for complementary meanings of conservation – rhetorical maneuvers, if you will – to put the word in active dialogue with post-development thinking. I have advocated a "conservation of knowledge" of other ways of knowing and relating to the world, and a "conservation of energy" of that vital force that connects and allows all beings to exist. These two converge in a final meaning, "conservation of life," which is a reminder of what conservation should do, and that it cannot do it if it is tied to an economic system that thrives on death.

Following these ideas and tracing their links to post-development's pluriverse, to the different worlds that are starting to emerge in the wake of a civilizational crisis, one thing becomes clear: conservation must be insurrectionary. I mean this in the original sense of the word that comes from the Latin insurgere – to rise. This is another way of saying that, in the frantic search for ways of avoiding environmental calamity, there is no need to invent anything! Other knowledges already exist. Other understandings of energy are available. Other valuations of the more-than-human world abound under the globalizing veil of capitalism and its claim to scientific truth. Conservation can help them rise, but it can only do so if it breaks ties with the growth madness; if it dares to rebel and revolt.

The time is right for it, too. As it becomes increasingly obvious that the current model is not sustainable, however often we are made to believe otherwise. The call for newfound relationships with nature grows louder, coming from multiple corners. Conservation is a potent movement at the center of these concerns. If we manage to capture some of its strength and steer it in a new direction, we might be able to use the hope and promise it intuitively brings to build autonomies, reciprocity, and futures.

## REFERENCES

Álvarez, Lina, and Brendan Coolsaet. 2020. "Decolonizing Environmental Justice Studies: A Latin American Perspective." Capitalism Nature Socialism 31 (2): 50–69. https://doi.org/10.1080/10455752.2018.1558272.

Arne, Næss. 1995. "The Deep Ecological Movement." In Deep Ecology for the Twenty-First Century, 488. Boston: Sambhala.

Asher, Kiran, and Joel Wainwright. 2019. "After Post-Development: On Capitalism, Difference, and Representation." Antipode 51 (1): 25-44. https://doi.org/10.1111/anti.12430.

Brockington, Dan. 2009. Celebrity and the Environment: Fame, Wealth and Power in Conservation. London: Zed Books.

Brockington, Dan, and Rosaleen Duffy. 2011. "Introduction: Capitalism and Conservation: The Production and Reproduction of Biodiversity Conservation." In Capitalism and Conservation, 1–16. John Wiley & Sons, Ltd. https://doi.org/10.1002/9781444391442.ch.

Büscher, Bram, and Robert Fletcher. 2015. "Accumulation by Conservation." New Political Economy 20 (2): 273–98. https://doi.org/10.10 80/13563467.2014.923824.

------. 2020. The Conservation Revolution: Radical Ideas for Saving Nature beyond the Anthropocene. London; New York: Verso.

Büscher, Bram, Sian Sullivan, Katja Neves, Jim Igoe, and Dan Brockington. 2012. "Towards a Synthesized Critique of Neoliberal Biodiversity Conservation." Capitalism Nature Socialism 23 (2): 4–30. https://doi.org/10.1080/10455752.2012.674149.

CNI. n.d. "¿Qué es el CNI?" Congreso Nacional Indígena (blog). Accessed May 4, 2021. http://www.congresonacionalindigena.org/que-es-el-cni/.

Corral, J.L.P. 1999. Tratado de Sanacion En El Arte Del Soplo. Escuela Neijing. https://books.google.no/books?id=dcYjQwAACAAJ.

Cronon, William. 1996. "The Trouble with Wilderness: Or, Getting Back to the Wrong Nature." Environmental History 1: 7–28. https://doi.org/10.2307/3985059.

Daggett, Cara. 2018. "Petro-Masculinity: Fossil Fuels and Authoritarian Desire." Millennium: Journal of International Studies 47 (1): 25–44. https://doi.org/10.1177/0305829818775817.

\_\_\_\_\_\_. 2019. The Birth of Energy: Fossil Fuels, Thermodynamics, and the Politics of Work. Elements. Durham: Duke University Press.

Denny, Shelley K, and Lucia M Fanning. 2016. "A Mi'kmaw Perspective on Advancing Salmon Governance in Nova Scotia, Canada: Setting the Stage for Collaborative Co-Existence." International Indigenous Policy Journal 7 (3). https://doi.org/10.18584/iipj.2016.7.3.4.

Domínguez, Lara, and Colin Luoma. 2020. "Decolonising Conservation Policy: How Colonial Land and Conservation Ideologies Persist and Perpetuate Indigenous Injustices at the Expense of the Environment." Land 9: 22. https://doi.org/10.3390/land9030065.

Dowie, Mark. 2009. Conservation Refugees: The Hundred-Year Conflict between Global Conservation and Native Peoples. Cambridge, Mass: MIT Press.

Dunlap, Alexander, and Sian Sullivan. 2020. "A Faultline in Neoliberal Environmental Governance Scholarship? Or, Why Accumulation-by-Alienation Matters." Environment and Planning E: Nature and Space 3 (2): 552–79. https://doi.org/10.1177/2514848619874691.

Escobar, Arturo. 2011. Encountering Development: The Making and Unmaking of the Third World. STU-Student edition. Acls Humanities E-Book. Princeton: University Press. http://hdl.handle.net/2027/heb.31025.

——. 2015. "Degrowth, Postdevelopment, and Transitions: A Preliminary Conversation." Sustainability Science 10 (3): 451–62. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11625-015-0297-5.

——. 2016. "Thinking-Feeling with the Earth: Territorial Struggles and the Ontological Dimension of the Epistemologies of the South." AIBR, Revista de Antropología Iberoamericana 11 (1): 11–32. https://doi.org/10.11156/aibr.110102e.

Fairhead, James, and Melissa Leach. 1995. "False Forest History, Complicit Social Analysis: Rethinking Some West African Environmental Narratives." World Development 23 (6): 1032–35.

Fairhead, James, Melissa Leach, and Ian Scoones. 2012. "Green Grabbing: A New Appropriation of Nature?" The Journal of Peasant Studies 39 (2): 237–61. https://doi.org/10.1080/03066150.2012.671770.

Galeano, Eduardo. 1998. Patas Arriba La Escuela Del Mundo Al Revés. Madrid: Siglo XXI España.

Galván-Álvarez, Enrique. 2010. "Epistemic Violence and Retaliation: The Issue of Knowledges in "Mother India" / Violencia y Venganza Epistemológica: La Cuestión de Las Formas de Conocimiento En Mother India." Atlantis 32 (2): 11–26.

García-Frapolli, Eduardo, Gabriel Ramos-Fernández, Eduardo Galicia, and Arturo Serrano. 2009. "The Complex Reality of Biodiversity Conservation through Natural Protected Area Policy: Three Cases from the Yucatan Peninsula, Mexico." Land Use Policy 26 (3): 715–22. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.landusepol.2008.09.008.

GIAP Group. 2014. "Entrevista a Beatriz Aurora." CASA GIAP (blog). May 29, 2014. https://casagiap.org/2014/05/29/entrevista-a-beatriz-aurora/

Hall, C. Michael. 2019. "Constructing Sustainable Tourism Development: The 2030 Agenda and the Managerial Ecology of Sustainable Tourism." Journal of Sustainable Tourism 27 (7): 1044–60. https://doi.org/10.1080/09669582.2018.1560456.

Haraway, Donna. 1988. "Situated Knowledges: The Science Question in Feminism and the Privilege of Partial Perspective." Feminist Studies 14 (3): 575–99. https://doi.org/10.2307/3178066.

——. 2015. "Anthropocene, Capitalocene, Plantationocene, Chthulucene: Making Kin." Environmental Humanities 6 (1): 159–65. https://doi.org/10.1215/22011919-3615934.

Hickel, Jason. 2020. "What Does Degrowth Mean? A Few Points of Clarification." Globalizations 0 (0): 1-7. https://doi.org/10.1080/1474 7731.2020.1812222.

Hidalgo-Capitán, Antonio Luis, and Ana Patricia Cubillo-Guevara. 2017. "Deconstrucción y genealogía del "buen vivir" latinoamericano. El (trino) "buen vivir" y sus diversos manantiales intelectuales." Revue internationale de politique de développement, no. 9 (October). https://doi.org/10.4000/poldev.2517.

Igoe, Jim, and Dan Brockington. 2007. "Neoliberal Conservation: A Brief Introduction." Conservation and Society 5 (4): 432-49.

Illich, Ivan. 1973. Tools for Conviviality. London: Calder & Boyars.

Kaptchuk, Ted. 1995. The Web That Has No Weaver. Translated by Fernando Pardo. Primera. Barcelona: Los Libros de la Liebre de Marzo.

Kothari, Ashish, Salleh Ariel, Arturo Escobar, Federico Demaria, and Alberto Acosta. 2019. Pluriverse: A Post-Development Dictionary. First. New Delhi, India: Tulika Books.

Leahy, Terry. 2019. "Permaculture." In Pluriverse: A Post-Development Dictionary, First, 274-77. New Delhi, India: Tulika Books.

Leopold, Aldo. 1989. A Sand County Almanac, and Sketches Here and There. Special commemorative ed. New York: Oxford University Press.

Lockyer, Joshua, and James R. Veteto, eds. 2013. Environmental Anthropology Engaging Ecotopia: Bioregionalism, Permaculture, and Ecovillages. Studies in Environmental Anthropology and Ethnobiology, v. 17. New York: Berghahn Books.

López Barreto, Mauricio Feliciano. 2021. "LA DECOLONIALIDAD COMO ALTERNATIVA PARA LA CONSERVACIÓN DE LA BIODI-VERSIDAD. EL CASO DE LA MELIPONICULTURA EN LA PENÍNSULA DE YUCATÁN." Península 16: 29–53.

Mann, Scott. 2015. "Necessary Simplicity with Ethan Hughes." Podcast. The Permaculture Podcast. http://www.thepermaculturepodcast. com/2015/episode-1523-ethan-hughes/.

Mauvaise Troupe Collective, and Kristin Ross. 2018. The Zad and NoTAV: Territorial Struggles and the Making of a New Political Intelligence. Verso Books.

McAfee, Kathleen. 1999. "Selling Nature to Save It? Biodiversity and Green Developmentalism." Environment and Planning D: Society and Space 17 (2): 133–54. https://doi.org/10.1068/d170133.

Merino-Pérez, Leticia. 2004. Conservación o deterioro: el impacto de las políticas públicas en las instituciones comunitarias y en las prácticas de uso de los recursos forestales. 1. ed. México, D.F: Secretaría de Medio Ambiente y Recursos Naturales: Instituto Nacional de Ecología: Consejo Civil Mexicano para la Silvicultura Sostenible.

Moore, Jason W. 2017. "The Capitalocene, Part I: On the Nature and Origins of Our Ecological Crisis." The Journal of Peasant Studies 44 (3): 594–630. https://doi.org/10.1080/03066150.2016.1235036.

Mueller, Martin Lee. 2017. Being Salmon, Being Human: Encontering the Wild in Us and Us in the Wild. United States: Chelsea Green Publishing.

Muir, John. 1901. Our National Parks. Boston: Houghton, Mifflin.

National Geographic Society. 2019. "Conservation." National Geographic Society. August 23, 2019. http://www.nationalgeographic.org/encyclopedia/conservation/.

Nijhuis, Michelle. 2021. "What Protecting 30 Percent of the Planet Really Means." Scientific American. 2021. https://www.scientificamerican.com/article/what-protecting-30-percent-of-the-planet-really-means/.

North, Peter. 2019. "Alternative Currencies." In Pluriverse: A Post-Development Dictionary, First, 92-95. New Delhi, India: Tulika Books.

Osborne, Tracey. 2013. "Fixing Carbon, Losing Ground: Payments for Environmental Services and Land (IN)Security in Mexico." Losing Ground 6 (1): 15.

Pérez, Ela, and Adriana Gonzales. 2020. Políticas públicas: estrategias económico alternativas y derechos económicos de las mujeres. Bilbao; Lima: Hegoa; Universidad Nacional Mayor de San Carlos.

Perkins, John H. 2020. "Daggett, Cara New. The Birth of Energy: Fossil Fuels, Thermodynamics, & the Politics of Work." Journal of Environmental Studies and Sciences 10 (1): 106–8. https://doi.org/10.1007/s13412-019-00583-8.

Purdy, Jedediah. 2015. "Environmentalism's Racist History." The New Yorker, August 13, 2015. https://www.newyorker.com/news/news-desk/environmentalisms-racist-history.

Quijano, Aníbal. 1999. "Colonialidad del poder, cultura y conocimiento en América Latina." Dispositio 24 (51): 137-48.

Reid, Andrea J., Lauren E. Eckert, John-Francis Lane, Nathan Young, Scott G. Hinch, Chris T. Darimont, Steven J. Cooke, et al. 2021. "Two-Eyed Seeing': An Indigenous Framework to Transform Fisheries Research and Management." Fish and Fisheries 22 (2): 243–61. https://doi.org/10.1111/faf.12516.

Rubis, June Mary. 2020. "The Orang Utan Is Not an Indigenous Name: Knowing and Naming the Maias as a Decolonizing Epistemology." Cultural Studies 34 (5): 811–30. https://doi.org/10.1080/09502386.2020.1780281.

Sánchez, Consuelo. 1998. "Breve historia del Ejército Zapatista de liberación Nacional." Estudios Latinoamericanos 5 (9): 141. https://doi. org/10.22201/cela.24484946e.1998.9.51740.

Savoulian, Rupen. 2019. "The Far Right's Eco-Fascism — Greenwashing Hate." Green Left. Green Left. Australia. September 6, 2019. https://www.greenleft.org.au/content/far-right-eco-fascism-greenwashing-hate.

Siamanta, Zoi Christina. 2021. "Conceptualizing Alternatives to Contemporary Renewable Energy Development: Community Renewable Energy Ecologies (CREE)," Journal of Political Ecology 28 (1), https://doi.org/10.2458/jpe.2297.

Sosa-Montes, Mauricio, Pedro Durán-Ferman, and Miguel Ángel Hernández-García. 2012. "Relaciones Socioambientales Entre Comunidades Y Áreas Naturales Protegidas. Reserva De La Biosfera Calakmul: Entre El Conflicto Y La Conservación." Revista Chapingo. Serie Ciencias Forestales y del Ambiente 18 (1): 111–21.

Statista. n.d. "Global Ecotourism Market Size 2027." Statista. Accessed May 4, 2021. https://www.statista.com/statistics/1221034/ecotourism-market-size-global/.

SubMedia, 2010. Green Is the Color of Money. Documentary. SubMedia. https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=oInl21livMY.

Sullivan, Sian. 2006. "Elephant in the Room? Problematising "New" (Neoliberal) Biodiversity Conservation." Forum for Development Studies 33 (1): 105–35. https://doi.org/10.1080/08039410.2006.9666337.

——. 2017. "What's Ontology Got to Do with It? On Nature and Knowledge in a Political Ecology of the "Green Economy." Journal of Political Ecology 24 (1). https://doi.org/10.2458/v24i1.20802.

Toledo Manzur, Víctor M. 2013. "El paradigma biocultural: crisis ecológica, modernidad y culturas tradicionales." Sociedad y Ambiente, no. 1 (June): 50–60. https://doi.org/10.31840/sya.v0i1.2.

Toledo, Víctor M. 2005. "Repensar la conservación: ¿áreas naturales protegidas o estrategia bioregional?" Gaceta Ecológica 77: 67-83.

— . 2019. "Agroecology." In Pluriverse: A Post-Development Dictionary, First, 85–88. New Delhi, India: Tulika Books.

Tsing, Anna L. 2017. The Mushroom at the End of the World. New Jersey: Princeton University Press.

Unschuld, Paul, Hermann Tessenow, and Zheng Jinsheng. 2011. Huang Di Nei Jing Su Wen – An Annotated Translation of Huang Di's Inner Classic – Basic Questions. Berkley, California: University of California Press.

Moore, Jason W. 2017. "The Capitalocene, Part I: On the Nature and Origins of Our Ecological Crisis." The Journal of Peasant Studies 44 (3): 594–630. https://doi.org/10.1080/03066150.2016.1235036.

Mueller, Martin Lee. 2017. Being Salmon, Being Human: Encontering the Wild in Us and Us in the Wild. United States: Chelsea Green Publishing.

Muir, John. 1901. Our National Parks. Boston: Houghton, Mifflin.

National Geographic Society. 2019. "Conservation." National Geographic Society. August 23, 2019. http://www.nationalgeographic.org/encyclopedia/conservation/.

Nijhuis, Michelle. 2021. "What Protecting 30 Percent of the Planet Really Means." Scientific American. 2021. https://www.scientificamerican.com/article/what-protecting-30-percent-of-the-planet-really-means/.

North, Peter. 2019. "Alternative Currencies." In Pluriverse: A Post-Development Dictionary, First, 92-95. New Delhi, India: Tulika Books.

Osborne, Tracey. 2013. "Fixing Carbon, Losing Ground: Payments for Environmental Services and Land (IN)Security in Mexico." Losing Ground 6 (1): 15.

Pérez, Ela, and Adriana Gonzales. 2020. Políticas públicas: estrategias económico alternativas y derechos económicos de las mujeres. Bilbao; Lima: Hegoa; Universidad Nacional Mayor de San Carlos.

Perkins, John H. 2020. "Daggett, Cara New. The Birth of Energy: Fossil Fuels, Thermodynamics, & the Politics of Work." Journal of Environmental Studies and Sciences 10 (1): 106–8. https://doi.org/10.1007/s13412-019-00583-8.

Purdy, Jedediah. 2015. "Environmentalism's Racist History." The New Yorker, August 13, 2015. https://www.newyorker.com/news/news-desk/environmentalisms-racist-history.

Quijano, Aníbal. 1999. "Colonialidad del poder, cultura y conocimiento en América Latina." Dispositio 24 (51): 137-48.

Reid, Andrea J., Lauren E. Eckert, John-Francis Lane, Nathan Young, Scott G. Hinch, Chris T. Darimont, Steven J. Cooke, et al. 2021. "Two-Eyed Seeing': An Indigenous Framework to Transform Fisheries Research and Management." Fish and Fisheries 22 (2): 243–61. https://doi.org/10.1111/faf.12516.

Rubis, June Mary. 2020. "The Orang Utan Is Not an Indigenous Name: Knowing and Naming the Maias as a Decolonizing Epistemology." Cultural Studies 34 (5): 811–30. https://doi.org/10.1080/09502386.2020.1780281.

Sánchez, Consuelo. 1998. "Breve historia del Ejército Zapatista de liberación Nacional." Estudios Latinoamericanos 5 (9): 141. https://doi.org/10.22201/cela.24484946e.1998.9.51740.

Savoulian, Rupen. 2019. "The Far Right's Eco-Fascism — Greenwashing Hate." Green Left. Green Left. Australia. September 6, 2019. https://www.greenleft.org.au/content/far-right-eco-fascism-greenwashing-hate.

Siamanta, Zoi Christina. 2021. "Conceptualizing Alternatives to Contemporary Renewable Energy Development: Community Renewable Energy Ecologies (CREE)." Journal of Political Ecology 28 (1), https://doi.org/10.2458/jpe.2297.

Sosa-Montes, Mauricio, Pedro Durán-Ferman, and Miguel Ángel Hernández-García. 2012. "Relaciones Socioambientales Entre Comunidades Y Áreas Naturales Protegidas. Reserva De La Biosfera Calakmul: Entre El Conflicto Y La Conservación." Revista Chapingo. Serie Ciencias Forestales y del Ambiente 18 (1): 111–21.

Statista. n.d. "Global Ecotourism Market Size 2027." Statista. Accessed May 4, 2021. https://www.statista.com/statistics/1221034/ecotourism-market-size-global/.

SubMedia. 2010. Green Is the Color of Money. Documentary. SubMedia. https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=oInl21livMY.

Sullivan, Sian. 2006. "Elephant in the Room? Problematising "New" (Neoliberal) Biodiversity Conservation." Forum for Development Studies 33 (1): 105–35. https://doi.org/10.1080/08039410.2006.9666337.

——. 2017. "What's Ontology Got to Do with It? On Nature and Knowledge in a Political Ecology of the "Green Economy." Journal of Political Ecology 24 (1). https://doi.org/10.2458/v24i1.20802.

Toledo Manzur, Víctor M. 2013. "El paradigma biocultural: crisis ecológica, modernidad y culturas tradicionales." Sociedad y Ambiente, no. 1 (June): 50–60. https://doi.org/10.31840/sya.v0i1.2.

Toledo, Víctor M. 2005. "Repensar la conservación: ¿áreas naturales protegidas o estrategia bioregional?" Gaceta Ecológica 77: 67-83.

— . 2019. "Agroecology." In Pluriverse: A Post-Development Dictionary, First, 85–88. New Delhi, India: Tulika Books.

Tsing, Anna L. 2017. The Mushroom at the End of the World. New Jersey: Princeton University Press.

Unschuld, Paul, Hermann Tessenow, and Zheng Jinsheng. 2011. Huang Di Nei Jing Su Wen – An Annotated Translation of Huang Di's Inner Classic – Basic Questions. Berkley, California: University of California Press.

Wilkinson, Charles. 2018. "At Bears Ears We Can Hear the Voices of Our Ancestors in Every Canyon and on Every Mesa Top: The Creation of the First Native National Monument." Arizona State Law Journal 50: 317.

Witoszek, Nina. 2011. The Origins of the 'Regime of Goodness': Remapping the Cultural History of Norway. Oslo: Universitetsforl.

The Debates in Post-Development & Degrowth Journal, published by *Tvergastein*, is an academic journal dealing with debates and works focused on advancing post-development & degrowth thought. This journal arises as an outcome of the Centre for Development and the Environment (SUM) course 4034: Debates in Post-development & Degrowth, thereby establishing a publishing space for the works emerging from within it. The journal hopes to create the desired academic space to organize the understanding and reconciliation of the present socio-ecological and climate catastrophe, but also to make efforts in subverting this disaster ridden pathway. Let this journal serve as a forum for liberatory experimentation, allowing people to organize and align their thoughts, values and actions to raise awareness and create positive social change wherever they stand.

# Write For Us!

Issue #16: Alternative Futures

For years, for decades, for centuries, we have been infused with the belief that economic growth, endlessly, is what all should serve. It had become the ultimate goal of politics, of the economy, of our labour.

It is the human paradigm of self-serving economic growth that now brings us with alarming speed into a state of the earth that yields suffering for all. For humans, for animals, for plants - for nature. And so we ask, is the endless growth paradigm really irreplaceable, inescapable? We long for your inspiration: If not economic growth, what other potential drivers of political and societal decisions are there? Are there alternatives to this paradigm? Where are they already experienced - in very small places, or at large scale?

We kindly ask for your opinion-pieces, academic articles or artworks on the subject matter: Alternative futures. Please follow this call and give us all inspiration to meet our exciting and unpredictable future.

Deadline for submission: October 1st, 2021. Tvergastein accepts submissions in two categories: Shorter op-ed pieces (2,000-5,000 chars) and longer articles (10,000-20,000 chars) in either English or Norwegian. Creative contributions will also be considered. Contact:

tvergastein.journal@gmail.com Sandakerveien 130, 0484 Oslo, Norway

